ADVANCES IN STEROID-RESPONSIVE ENCEPHALOPATHY

EDITED BY: Xin Tian, Xuefeng Wang and Patrick Kwan PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology and Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-042-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-042-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

ADVANCES IN STEROID-RESPONSIVE ENCEPHALOPATHY

Topic Editors:

Xin Tian, First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, China Xuefeng Wang, First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, China Patrick Kwan, Monash University, Australia

Citation: Tian, X., Wang, X., Kwan, P., eds. (2020). Advances in Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-042-1

Table of Contents

04	Editorial: Advances in Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy
	Xin Tian, Xuefeng Wang and Patrick Kwan
06	Adverse Effects of Immunoglobulin Therapy
	Yi Guo, Xin Tian, Xuefeng Wang and Zheng Xiao
19	Characteristics of Seizure and Antiepileptic Drug Utilization in Outpatients With Autoimmune Encephalitis
	Qi Huang, Meigang Ma, Xing Wei, Yuhan Liao, Hengchang Qi, Yuejuan Wu
	and Yuan Wu
27	Central Nervous System Involvement in ANCA-Associated
	Vasculitis: What Neurologists Need to Know
	Yang Zheng, Yinxi Zhang, Mengting Cai, Nanxi Lai, Zhong Chen and Meiping Ding
38	The Different Clinical Features Between Autoimmune and Infectious
	Status Epilepticus
	Chih-Hsiang Lin, Yan-Ting Lu, Chen-Jui Ho, Fu-Yuan Shih and Meng-Han Tsai
47	Application of Plasma Exchange in Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy
	Yuting Jiang, Xin Tian, Yixue Gu, Feng Li and Xuefeng Wang
64	Neurological Involvement in Primary Systemic Vasculitis
	Shanshan Zhang, Dongli Yuan and Ge Tan
74	Hashimoto's Encephalopathy and Seizure Disorders
	Jie Li and Fengzhen Li
79	Clinical Features, Treatment, and Outcomes Among Chinese Children With Anti-methyl-D-aspartate Receptor (Anti-NMDAR) Encephalitis
	Min Zhang, Wenhui Li, Shuizhen Zhou, Yuanfeng Zhou, Haowei Yang, Lifei Yu, Ji Wang, Yi Wang and Linmei Zhang
88	Analysis of Clinical Characteristics and Poor Prognostic Predictors
	in Patients With an Initial Diagnosis of Autoimmune Encephalitis
	Xiaowei Qiu, Haiqing Zhang, Dongxu Li, Jing Wang, Zhigang Jiang,
	Yuanzhong Zhou, Ping Xu, Jun Zhang, Zhanhui Feng, Changyin Yu and Zucai Xu
98	Pediatric Autoimmune Encephalitis: Case Series From Two Chinese Tertiary Pediatric Neurology Centers

Jianzhao Zhang, Taoyun Ji, Qian Chen, Yanan Jiang, Huan Cheng, Ping Zheng, Wenqiang Ma, Ting Lei, Yao Zhang, Yiwen Jin, Cuijie Wei, Ye Wu, Xingzhi Chang, Xinhua Bao, Yuehua Zhang, Hui Xiong, Xinna Ji, Shuo Feng, Haitao Ren, Jian Yang and Yuwu Jiang

107 Epidemiology of Antibody-Positive Autoimmune Encephalitis in Southwest China: A Multicenter Study

Yixue Gu, Min Zhong, Liang He, Wei Li, Yuanyuan Huang, Jing Liu, Yangmei Chen and Zheng Xiao





Editorial: Advances in Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy

Xin Tian^{1*}, Xuefeng Wang^{1*} and Patrick Kwan^{2,3*}

¹ Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing Key Laboratory of Neurology, Chongqing, China, ² Department of Neuroscience, The Central Clinical School, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³ Departments of Medicine and Neurology, University of Melbourne, Royal Melbourne Hospital, Parkville, VIC, Australia

Keywords: steroid-responsive encephalopathy, mechanism, diagnosis, treatment, prognosis

Editorial on the Research Topic

Advances in Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy

In neurology, "steroid-responsive encephalopathy" is a general term for diseases characterized by diffuse brain injury and responsiveness to steroids. These diseases include autoimmune encephalitis (AE), Hashimoto's encephalopathy (HE), limbic encephalitis, and anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated vacuities encephalopathy, among others. These diseases are common and complicated in clinical management. Further understanding of their epidemiology, pathophysiological mechanism, diagnosis, treatment and prognosis from various perspectives can help improve the insights of clinicians and researchers. To provide a platform for sharing the latest research findings in steroid-responsive encephalopathy, we organized this special issue, in which 11 manuscripts have been accepted for publication, including 6 original research articles, four reviews, and one mini review. To a certain extent, these manuscripts have expanded the current understanding of such diseases.

To date, there have been few large-scale epidemiological investigations of AE in adults or children, and its epidemiological characteristics remain unclear. Gu et al. provided a detailed description of the epidemiological characteristics of 189 patients with antibody-positive AE at six large general hospitals, and they also analyzed the differences in composition ratios, ICU occupancy, ventilator use, tumor and surgery, and prognosis among different age groups, gender groups, antibody groups, and disease characteristics. Separately, Qiu et al. retrospectively analyzed clinical features, laboratory and imaging results, and predictors of poor prognosis in 50 patients with an initial diagnosis of AE at their hospital. The authors found that the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio might have predictive value for poor outcomes in AE and that early initiation of immunotherapy was associated with a good prognosis.

In a study focusing on pediatric AE, Zhang et al. retrospectively analyzed the clinical characteristics of 103 children with AE in two Chinese tertiary pediatric neurology centers, including 89 patients with anti-NMDA receptor (NMDAR) encephalitis, two with anti-LGI1 encephalitis, one with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis, and 11 autoantibody-negative patients with probable AE. Anti-NMDAR encephalitis is the most common form of AE in pediatric patients. Another study by Zhang et al. analyzed the demographic characteristics, clinical features, treatment, and outcomes of 34 children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis treated at Children's Hospital of Fudan University. The authors found that most of the included children were sensitive to first-line immunotherapy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Robert Weissert, University of Regensburg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Xin Tian xintian@cqmu.edu.cn Xuefeng Wang xfyp@163.com Patrick Kwan patrick.kwan@monash.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 05 June 2020 Accepted: 25 June 2020 Published: 06 August 2020

Citation:

Tian X, Wang X and Kwan P (2020) Editorial: Advances in Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy. Front. Neurol. 11:793. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00793

4

and achieved good outcomes, and higher Modified Rankin Scale scores before immunotherapy predicted poor outcomes. In addition, the authors also concluded that long-term use of antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) may not be necessary for pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis.

Many patients with encephalitis have seizures during the development of the disease. Huang et al. followed up 75 outpatients with AE and reported in detail on the characteristics of those patients' seizures and their long-term use of AEDs. That study compared outcomes between patients with early and late AED withdrawal and determined the probable risk factors for seizure relapse and refractory epilepsy. As in Zhang et al. findings on pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis, these AE patients had a high rate of seizure remission after proper immunotherapy, and long-term use of AEDs may not be necessary to control their seizures. Compared with adults, young patients are more likely to become seizure free without AEDs. In addition, Huang et al. also reported that patients with anti-GABA_B receptor (GABA_BR) antibodies, status epilepticus (SE), and cortical abnormalities had an increased risk of developing refractory epilepsy or seizure relapse.

A study by Lin et al. focused on the different clinical signs of infectious and autoimmune SE. These two entities may present with similar symptoms initially but require different treatment strategies. Since the prognosis of SE largely depended on etiology, faster-targeted treatment is required at the initial encounter. On this basis, Lin et al. conducted a retrospective study that included 501 patients with SE within a period of 10.5-years. Their study suggested that autoimmune SE had a relatively early age of onset; that it occurred predominantly in females; and that it often presented as psychosis, non-convulsive SE, and super-refractory SE. A lymphocytic predominance in cerebrospinal fluid was more commonly observed in patients with autoimmune SE than in those with infectious SE. These patient characteristics and signs may help clinicians select initial investigations and ensuing therapies that may improve overall outcomes.

HE has become increasingly recognized as an important and treatable cause of AE. Seizure disorders were observed in \sim 60–70% of patients with HE, and often as the first manifestation of the disease. HE is easily misdiagnosed because of the low incidence and the atypical symptoms. The manuscript by Li et al. discusses HE, the characteristic of its accompanying seizure disorders and the appropriate diagnostic approach.

Many neurologists may have limited experience in treating primary systemic vasculitis (PSV), mainly because most of these patients are diagnosed and managed by rheumatologists. However, PSV can affect every structure in both the central and the peripheral nervous systems, causing various neurological manifestations of dysfunction. Therefore, PSV patients may sometimes be referred to a neurologist first. The clinical manifestations of PSV are often non-specific, and differential diagnosis may be difficult. With these considerations in mind, Zhang et al. provide a comprehensive review of the clinical manifestations of PSV in the nervous system.

ANCA-associated vasculitis (AAV) is a multisystem inflammatory disease that can involve the central nervous

system (CNS). Treatment with steroids, sometimes combined with immunosuppressants, can dramatically improve the outcome. However, for neurologists, the wide clinical spectrum of CNS involvement often complicates the diagnosis and thus delays treatment. Thus, Zheng et al. reviewed the manifestations of CNS involvement in AAV and emphasized ANCA testing, a crucial AAV diagnostic that requires appropriate result interpretation; the authors hoped to increase awareness and expand understanding of AAV-related CNS diseases among neurologists.

Immunoglobulin formulations have been used in an increasing number of diseases. In most cases, such formulations are safe and well-tolerated, but an increasing number of studies have reported potentially adverse effects of immunoglobulin treatment, some of which are severe and even fatal. In Guo et al.'s manuscript, the authors reviewed the incidence, risk factors and clinical characteristics of these adverse immunoglobulin-induced effects and addressed methods to minimize and prevent them.

Plasma exchange is widely used in the treatment of neurological diseases in which autoimmune mechanisms play a leading role. A growing body of research suggests that in the clinical treatment of steroid-responsive encephalopathies such as HE, limbic encephalitis, systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy, and ANCA-associated vacuities encephalopathy, plasma exchange is a safe and effective option when steroids or other immunosuppressive therapies are ineffective in the short term or when contraindications are present. A study by Jiang et al. provides a detailed review of the indications, onset time, course, curative effects, and side effects of plasmapheresis as applied clinically to steroid-responsive encephalopathy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XT, XW, and PK organized this special issue and wrote the editorial. All authors have approved the final version of the editorial.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the authors for contributing their valuable work to this special issue and we thank the reviewers for their constructive comments. We are also grateful to the editorial board for approving this topic and we hope this issue will advance the state of research on steroid-responsive encephalopathy. PK was supported by a Medical Research Future Fund Fellowship (MRF113642).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Tian, Wang and Kwan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Adverse Effects of Immunoglobulin Therapy

Yi Guo^{1†}, Xin Tian^{1†}, Xuefeng Wang^{1,2} and Zheng Xiao^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing Key Laboratory of Neurology, Chongqing, China, ²Center of Epilepsy, Beijing Institute for Brain Disorders, Beijing, China

Immunoglobulin has been widely used in a variety of diseases, including primary and secondary immunodeficiency diseases, neuromuscular diseases, and Kawasaki disease. Although a large number of clinical trials have demonstrated that immunoglobulin is effective and well tolerated, various adverse effects have been reported. The majority of these events, such as flushing, headache, malaise, fever, chills, fatigue and lethargy, are transient and mild. However, some rare side effects, including renal impairment, thrombosis, arrhythmia, aseptic meningitis, hemolytic anemia, and transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI), are serious. These adverse effects are associated with specific immunoglobulin preparations and individual differences. Performing an early assessment of risk factors, infusing at a slow rate, premedicating, and switching from intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) to subcutaneous immunoglobulin (SCIG) can minimize these adverse effects. Adverse effects are rarely disabling or fatal, treatment mainly involves supportive measures, and the majority of affected patients have a good prognosis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thomas G. Forsthuber, University of Texas at San Antonio, United States

Reviewed by:

Mark Gorelik, Baylor College of Medicine, United States Rebecca S. Romero, University of Texas Health Science Center San Antonio, United States

*Correspondence:

Zheng Xiao xiaozhenghf@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 11 February 2018 Accepted: 24 May 2018 Published: 08 June 2018

Citation:

Guo Y, Tian X, Wang X and Xiao Z (2018) Adverse Effects of Immunoglobulin Therapy. Front. Immunol. 9:1299. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01299 Keywords: immunoglobulin, adverse effects, risk factors, preventive measures, premedication

INTRODUCTION

Immunoglobulin, also known as gamma globulin, is a therapeutic preparation comprising pooled blood donated from large numbers of healthy people. IgG is the main component of immunoglobulin, but it also contains small amounts of IgA and varying trace amounts of auxiliary materials (maltose, sucrose, etc.) (1). Applications involving immunoglobulin have expanded to include treatment for immunodeficiency diseases, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP), Kawasaki disease, and neurologic disorders (including Guillain–Barre syndrome, chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy, myasthenia gravis, multiple myositis, multiple sclerosis, and autoimmune encephalitis) (2–8). Although immunoglobulin is well tolerated, adverse effects do occur. The majority of these adverse effects are mild and alleviated after infusion withdrawal, but some rare side effects are serious, including aseptic meningitis, renal impairment, thrombosis, and hemolytic anemia (9). In this paper, we reviewed the incidence, risk factors, clinical manifestations of and preventive measures for adverse effects related to immunoglobulin. The processes employed to minimize adverse reactions are briefly addressed in **Figure 1**.

HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE

In 1890, the German scholar Behring won the 1901 Nobel Prize in medicine for developing a serum therapy for diphtheria, representing a new chapter in the search for immunotherapies (10). In 1941, Cohn et al. (11) successfully developed a process for the large-scale production of human immunoglobulin. Next, immunoglobulin was widely used during World War II. In 1952, Bruton



(12) was the first to use immunoglobulin to treat a patient identified as immunodeficient, and it later became a standard therapy for immunodeficiency diseases. Intramuscular immunoglobulin preparations were not widely applied because of their poor tolerance. Hence, many scholars began to explore intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) preparations. Until 1979, IVIG was approved to treat immunodeficiency disease by the American Food and Drug Administration (13). Imbach et al. (14) then introduced IVIG as a treatment for ITP, with desirable effects. Since then, IVIG has been widely used for an increasing number of diseases.

INCIDENCE OF ADVERSE EFFECTS

Patients who receive immunoglobulin therapy are often treated with immunoglobulin in repeated infusions over a long period of time, and the incidence of adverse effects related to immunoglobulin varies across a wide range. For example, in the study by Matsumoto et al. (15), 14 of 567 (2.5%) patients experienced adverse effects during infusion with IVIG. However, another study reported that 87.5% (14/16) of patients had adverse effects during treatment with repeated infusions of IVIG (16). The majority of studies have focused on the rate of adverse effects in patients receiving multiple infusions over time; however, information regarding the rate of a single infusion is scarce. For subcutaneous immunoglobulin (SCIG) preparations, many studies suggested that the adverse effects of SCIG were much lower than those of IVIG, and the incidence varied across a wide range. However, these studies cannot reveal the occurrence of adverse effects due to multiple interfering factors, such as differences in immunoglobulin preparations, individual differences, or study design variations.

Variations in immunoglobulin brands used may be the main cause for this lack of information regarding the occurrence of adverse effects, considering that different immunoglobulin formulations can have different adverse event profiles. Many clinical trials aimed to evaluate the safety of investigational immunoglobulin products that were not standardized with respect to data collection and provide a definition for adverse effect. Different studies focused on various segments of the population, and these patients had many diseases and fluctuating risk factors. Furthermore, patients who tolerated the infusions may have been shifted from the hospital to home-based infusion therapy, thereby explaining the broad range of adverse effects.

Study design variations also affected the rate of adverse effects. Most trials have involved a limited sample size, and few trials that were performed to support licensed marketed products included a control group. The lack of a control group increases the difficulty involved in unambiguously ascribing causality, and some studies did not report the frequency. In the study design, we advised investigators to predefine the time frame over which adverse effects are considered temporally associated with the infusion of the product (i.e., within 24, 48, or 72 h of the end of the infusion) in the protocol. Based on prior experience with the same products and to include all the adverse effects, *a priori* algorithm for assigning causality was developed to observe adverse effects and preidentify a list of these adverse events, which are presumed to be related to the administration of the test products.

Analyzing the epidemiology of adverse effects in clinical research is important. For patients receiving long-term IVIG replacement, the rate of adverse effects should be calculated according to the infusion times (per infusion, not per patient). Furthermore, a nationwide database for immunoglobulin-related adverse effects should be created, but the following factors that affected the passive reporting of post-marketing surveillance data in this database should be taken into consideration: (1) Some adverse effects occurring during the IVIG infusion may not be associated with IVIG; (2) some adverse events can be duplicated and result in double counting, especially adverse events that last over an extended period of time; and (3) substantial underreporting is likely to occur as it is a voluntary system.

GENERAL RISK FACTORS

Immunoglobulin Preparation-Related Risk Factors

A high concentration of IgA and anti-Rh blood group, D antigen (RhD) increases the occurrence of immunoglobulin-related adverse effects. Manlhiot et al. (17) found that adverse effects were reported more often in patients treated with immunoglobulin products that contained a concentration of IgA higher than 15 μ g/ml (15 VS 8%). Similarly, a high titer of anti-RhD also increased the occurrence of adverse effects; therefore, the level of anti-RhD should be maintained as low as possible (18, 19). However, preparations produced by different manufacturers have different excipients that may increase the rates of specific adverse reactions (20) (**Table 1**).

Patient-Related Risk Factors

Patients who developed adverse effects during a previous course and those receiving a first infusion are at an increased risk of adverse effects. Sherer et al. (21) found that 9 of 10 (90%) patients who experienced an adverse effect during the first treatment course also had adverse effects during subsequent courses. A survey conducted in Iran verified that the risk was higher in patients receiving a first course than in those receiving subsequent treatment courses (16.2 VS 6.9%, respectively) (22).

Some studies have suggested that IgA-deficient patients may be at a higher risk of adverse effects. Iranian researchers found

 TABLE 1 | Components of immunoglobulin products associated with adverse effects.

Component	Patients with increased risk	
Sucrose	Patients with renal failure	
Glucose	Patients with diabetes	
Maltose	Patients with glucose fluctuation	
Sorbitol	Patients with hereditary fructose intolerance	
High IgA	Patients with risk of anaphylaxis	

that the incidence of immunoglobulin-induced adverse effects was higher in patients with primary antibody defects, especially those with low levels of IgA (22, 23). In contrast, Rachid and colleagues found that the role of IgA-deficiency in anaphylaxis in patients during immunoglobulin therapy remains controversial (24, 25). Therefore, immunoglobulin infusion should never be withheld from IgA-deficient patients.

CLASSIFICATION OF ADVERSE EFFECTS

Adverse effects are classified as immediate or delayed depending on the time of occurrence. Immediate adverse effects mainly include flu-like syndrome, dermatologic side effects, arrhythmia, hypotension, and transfusion-related acute lung injury (TRALI). Immediate side effects are categorized as mild, moderate, and severe. Mild adverse effects include light headache, fever, chills, and fatigue; they are alleviated when the infusion is slowed down or when antihistamines and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are administered. Moderate adverse effects include chest pain, anhelation, vomiting, arthralgia, and severe headache; these effects require the infusion to be discontinued or antihistamines and NSAIDs to be administered. Severe adverse effects include hypertension, anaphylaxis, bronchospasm, and altered consciousness; these adverse effects require the infusion to be stopped immediately and for corresponding medical attention to be provided (22).

Immediate Adverse Effects

Flu-Like Symptoms

Flu-like symptoms are the most frequent adverse effects. These include flushing, nausea, fatigue, fever, chills, malaise, and lethargy. One retrospective study showed that 14 of 16 (87.5%) patients developed flu-like symptoms during immunoglobulin administration (16). Bichuetti-Silva et al. (26) found that flu-like symptoms account for more than 80% of immunoglobulininduced adverse effects. These symptoms always occur within the first hour of infusion, and some adverse effects (such as fever or fatigue) may also arise within 24 h. The mechanism underlying these symptoms remains unclear, but it may be associated with the presence of cytokines, such as IL-6, TNF- α , prekallikrein activator, and kallikrein, in immunoglobulin products. The solution media and complement activation of an immunoglobulin preparation may also represent causes of these effects (27, 28). The majority of these symptoms are associated with rapid infusion and develop during the initial period of infusion. Hence, it is recommended that infusion should start at a slow rate for the first 30 min (29).

Dermatological Adverse Effects

The incidence of immunoglobulin-related dermatological adverse effects is nearly 6% (30, 31). The manifestations of dermatological adverse effects vary among individuals and can include urticaria, spot papules, eczema, pompholyx, lichenoid dermatitis, and desquamation. Epidermolysis is observed in some severe cases, and all of these skin lesions can occur in all parts of the body, although the hands and feet are the most common sites. Gerstenblith et al. (32) found that 62.5% of patients had pompholyx alone or a combination including pompholyx on the hands or feet. The mechanism underlying these dermatological adverse effects is unclear. Most of these reactions develop within 2 weeks of immunoglobulin administration. Interestingly, a significant number of patients with skin lesions had neurological disorders, and the repeated administration of a high-dose immunoglobulin infusion within a short period of time may be the cause of this high preponderance (32, 33). Dermatological adverse effects can be successfully treated with corticosteroids. Some severe cases require hospitalization for further management, but there are no reports of deaths resulting from severe adverse reactions of the skin in immunoglobulin-treated patients. Switching to another batch of immunoglobulin product may also reduce adverse effects to some extent (33).

Arrhythmia and Hypotension

Arrhythmia occurring during or after immunoglobulin infusion has been reported in several studies and can include supraventricular tachycardia and bradycardia, while most of the cases had a history of heart disease. In 1997, Savasan et al. (34) showed that arrhythmia developed during IVIG in two children with thrombocytopenia who both had a history of arrhythmia, and the condition was resolved in both cases with antiarrhythmic therapy. In 2015, Tufekci et al. (35) reported that supraventricular tachycardia occurred during IVIG administration in two newborn infants with immune hemolysis. Raheja et al. (36) described a case of asymptomatic bradycardia that occurred after IVIG administration in a female with ITP who reached a lowest heart rate of 30 bpm before returning to baseline levels without any therapy. Although it is not fully understood whether arrhythmia is directly related to immunoglobulin infusion, cardiac monitoring during IVIG infusion is recommended in patients with a history of cardiac disorders.

Hypotension is a rare symptom related to immunoglobulin. Some patients with hypotension also experience anaphylactic shock. Dashti-Khavidaki et al. (22) reported 216 patients who developed adverse effects, and only one of these patients developed hypotension combined with allergy and bronchospasm. Charhon et al. (37) later described a case with hypotension (a decrease in systolic blood pressure from 130–60 mmHg) and an altered mental state during immunoglobulin therapy.

Transfusion-Related Acute Lung Injury

Transfusion-related acute lung injury, a serious blood transfusionrelated adverse effect with high mortality, manifests with acute respiratory distress and noncardiac pulmonary edema within 6 h of transfusion and is the main cause of blood transfusion-related death. Immunoglobulins are blood products and may also be associated with TRALI. In 2001, Risk (38) first reported a 23-year-old male with multifocal motor neuropathy who developed TRALI following IVIG therapy; the patient's condition resolved in 5 days with only nasal oxygen and bed rest. In 2008, Ahituv et al. (39) presented an adolescent patient with ITP who developed TRALI during immunoglobulin infusion. In several cases, patients with Sjögren's syndrome, Guillain–Barre syndrome, lung transplantation, immunodeficiency, or myasthenia gravis have reportedly developed TRALI after immunoglobulin infusion (40–44). Akin to blood-infusion TRALI, immune-mediated processes and the neutrophil-priming hypothesis have been proposed as possible mechanisms (45). TRALI following IVIG is a serious complication that requires urgent treatment. Diagnosing TRALI depends mainly on clinical symptoms that present after blood products are infused in the absence of other evident causes of respiratory insufficiency; a chest radiogram showing diffuse bilateral pulmonary edema is also needed (46). Patients with TRALI often require adjuvant ventilatory therapy and will recover with proper ventilation.

Delayed Adverse Effects

Delayed adverse effects can be severe or even lethal and affect less than 1% of patients. These events include thrombotic events, neurological disorders, renal impairment, hematologic disorders, electrolyte disturbance, and transfusion-related infection.

Thrombotic Events

Thrombotic events are serious adverse effects of immunoglobulin treatment with an estimated incidence of 1-16.9% (47). Daniel et al. (48) reviewed thrombotic adverse events recorded in a large administrative database from 2008 to 2010 and found that 1% (122/11785) of the patients developed immunoglobulin-induced thrombotic events. Ramírez et al. (49) found that thrombotic events affected up to 16.9% of 303 patients who received immunoglobulin infusion. The manifestations of thrombosis, which can occur in arteries, veins, and intracranial vein sinuses, are varied, and arterial thrombotic events (such as stroke, myocardial infarction, and pulmonary embolism) are the most common. A recent review identified 100 cases of thrombotic events related to the administration of immunoglobulin that occurred from 2006 to 2011; among this cohort, 80% of the thrombotic events were stroke and myocardial infarction that occurred within 24 h of completing immunoglobulin administration (50). Risk factors for thrombosis include a first infusion consisting of a large dose, oral contraceptive use, advanced age, prior/current thrombosis, preexisting atherosclerotic disease, elevated serum viscosity, a hereditary hypercoagulable state or ITP. Rajabally et al. (51) found that patients with coronary disease and prior thrombosis who were administered a daily dose \geq 35 g of IVIG had a higher risk of thrombotic events. Daniel et al. (48) also found that advanced age (>45years old), prior thrombotic events, and a hypercoagulable state were risk factors for the development of thrombotic events. Moreover, an increasing number of studies have confirmed that patients with ITP are more likely to develop thrombosis when receiving IVIG (52-55). The presence of four or more risk factors seems to be significantly associated with the onset of immunoglobulin-related thrombotic events (51, 56).

Mechanisms that could potentially trigger thrombotic events include an increase in plasma viscosity, the activation of procoagulant factors, vasospasm, autoimmune vasculitis, and an increased platelet count. Increased plasma viscosity contributes most to the occurrence of thrombotic events. Bentley et al. (57) showed that IVIG can cause plasma viscosity to acutely and cumulatively rise across the complete treatment course. Similarly, Baba et al. (58) also found that increased plasma viscosity was associated with IgG concentrations during or after immunoglobulin infusion. In addition, the average IgG half-life among individuals varied from 23 to 30 days and could be even longer in some cases (59, 60). Thrombotic complications can be prevented or minimized by early assessment in patients suspected of being at high risk, and anti-thrombus treatment is needed in patients with thrombotic complications.

Neurological Disorders

Neurological disorders associated with immunoglobulin treatment include headache, aseptic meningitis, posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES), seizure, and abducens nerve palsy.

Headache post IVIG is a common adverse effect. More than half of patients develop headaches after immunoglobulin administration. Many studies have reported headache as an immunoglobulin-related adverse effect, while no studies have described the characteristics of immunoglobulin-related headache in detail. Headache also has a delayed onset of 6-12 h after an infusion and can last between 24 and 72 h. High-dose immunoglobulin infusion is the main risk factor for headache. Some studies have found that patients with a history of migraine are prone to developing headaches after IVIG infusion (61, 62). Among these studies, the overall incidence of IVIG-related headache in patients with a history of migraine was small, which may be due to the small sample size and patient selection bias. Prophylactic treatment used in several studies included acetaminophen, aspirin, opioids, NSAIDs, propranolol, sumatriptan, and corticosteroids alone or in combination, and all the protocols seemed to be fairly effective in the recruited individuals; however, the best drug for the treatment of immunoglobulin-related headache remains unknown (63). Alternatively, non-pharmacotherapy-related approaches, including a reduction in the infusion rate and switching to an alternative brand of IVIG or SCIG, can also reduce headache to some extent. When a headache lasts for a long time or is resistant to drug therapy, the possibility of aseptic meningitis should not be ignored.

Aseptic meningitis has been identified as an adverse effect of IVIG and affects 0.6-1% of patients. Kemmotsu et al. (64) retrospectively examined 384 patients with Kawasaki disease who received immunoglobulin infusion during 2000-2009 and identified four patients who developed aseptic meningitis, suggesting an overall incidence of 1%. In another retrospectively study, Bharath et al. (65) found that 0.6% (8/1324) of patients developed immunoglobulin-related aseptic meningitis. Several studies have reported that aseptic meningitis appears within 48 h of the initiation of IVIG therapy (64, 66, 67). The most common presenting symptoms of this condition are persistent headache, nausea, vomiting, photophobia, fever, chills, and positive Kernig's and Brudzinski's signs. In addition, in affected patients, lumbar puncture typically produces clear cerebral spinal fluid with an increased level of nucleated cells, high protein content and negative culture results (64, 66). Contributing factors include a large cumulative IVIG dose and a history of migraines. Previous studies have suggested that most patients who develop aseptic meningitis receive 1-2 g/kg immunoglobulin therapy (64, 65). Sekul et al. (66) found that patients with a history of migraines are particularly susceptible to developing aseptic meningitis.

Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome is another neurological disorder that can develop following immunoglobulin therapy. In 2005, Nakajia (68) reported a patient with Miller–Fisher syndrome who developed PRES following IVIG therapy. Stetefeld et al. (69) and Ribeiro et al. (70) later reported additional patients with Miller–Fisher syndrome who developed PRES during immunoglobulin infusion. The clinical manifestations in these patients include an acute onset characterized by headache, generalized seizure, visual impairment, and an altered mental state (69–71). In all of these cases, complete resolution was achieved after immunoglobulin administration ceased. While PRES is a rare complication of IVIG treatment, it should be considered in all cases with disease-typical MRI findings and clinical manifestations.

Few case reports have described patients with IVIG-associated seizures. In 2003, Kao et al. (72) reported a 37-year-old male with myelopathy who developed repetitive generalized tonic-clonic seizures following IVIG therapy. Later, aseptic meningitis was considered the cause of the seizures, and the patient's condition was controlled with valproate. In 2014, Bichuetti-Silva et al. (26) identified a separate case of seizure in a patient with common variable immunodeficiency disease following IVIG infusion, and a history of herpetic encephalitis was later recorded.

Immunoglobulin infusion may rarely be the underlying etiology of abducens nerve palsy. Wright et al. (73) reported a patient with renal transplantation who developed abducens nerve palsy during high-dose IVIG infusion. The patient recovered completely after 2 weeks, and aseptic meningitis was considered the underlying cause. Furthermore, two case reports described patients with Kawasaki disease who developed abducens nerve palsy after IVIG therapy (74, 75). However, whether abducens nerve palsy was directly related to immunoglobulin therapy in these cases is unclear.

Renal Impairment

Renal impairment following immunoglobulin treatment is a rare but dangerous adverse effect. The incidence of immunoglobulinassociated renal impairment has not been accurately determined. The FDA received information related to 114 cases of immunoglobulin-associated renal impairment or acute renal failure that occurred between 1981 and 1998 (76). Moreover, from 1999 to 2005, the French National Security Agency of Medicines and Health Products recorded 91 cases of renal impairment associated with immunoglobulin infusion (77). The precise mechanism underlying IVIG-related renal impairment remains unclear. Potential mechanisms include the precipitation of immune complexes in the glomeruli, osmotic nephritis, immunological hemolysis-associated acute tubular obstruction, and transient vascular ischemia due to a reduction in renal perfusion (78–80).

Patients with advanced age, diabetes, preexisting renal dysfunction, and dehydration have an increased risk of developing renal impairment following immunoglobulin administration. Renal impairment typically develops within 10 days after the start of immunoglobulin infusion. Oliguria, hematuria, a decreased glomerular filtration rate, and elevated serum creatinine levels are typical manifestations of renal impairment. Serum creatinine levels usually peak around day 5, and oliguric renal failure is more common than other types of renal dysfunction (9, 81, 82). Renal function usually returns to normal after IVIG infusion is discontinued or short-term hemodialysis is performed, but a few patients with immunoglobulin-related renal impairment have developed chronic renal insufficiency or died (83, 84). Previous studies have shown that death occurs in 8-15% of these patients, but the majority of patients who die have severe underlying conditions, such as advanced age, uncontrolled diabetes, or prior renal dysfunction; therefore, the cause of this effect needs further study (83, 85, 86). In patients with renal insufficiency, renal function should be closely monitored both before and after treatment (including serum creatinine, blood urea nitrogen levels, and glomerular filtration rate). If renal function progressively declines, the rate of infusion should be reduced or treatment should be discontinued. Epstein et al. (76) verified that sucrose-containing preparations should be avoided because they are associated with a risk of osmotic nephritis. However, Kim et al. (87) found that sucrose-free IVIG could also result in renal impairment.

Hematologic Disorders: Hemolysis and Neutropenia

Hemolysis is an adverse effect related to IVIG administration that occurs in approximately 1.6% of patients but is usually neither recognized nor treated because it lacks clinical symptoms. Hemolysis can result in acute renal failure and thrombosis. In 2008, a case series conducted at Ottawa Hospital identified 16 cases of hemolysis among approximately 1,000 patients who received IVIG infusion (resulting in an incidence of 1.6%) (88). Most cases with hemolysis present no obvious clinical symptoms and are diagnosed with low hemoglobin levels on a blood examination. IVIG infusion-associated hemolysis was observed from 12 h to 10 days after the first infusion of IVIG, with the lowest hemoglobin level occurring between 1 day and 2 weeks after the last IVIG infusion. Hemolysis is a common complication of high-dose IVIG derived from non-group O blood. In a systematic review conducted by Desborough and colleagues, 62 cases of hemolysis were identified, and 97% of those patients had received a high dose of IVIG (at least 2 g/kg). Of those 62 cases, IVIG-induced hemolysis was most common in patients with type A (65%) or AB (26%) blood (89). Several more recent studies have also verified that administration of a high dose of IVIG is a contributing factor in hemolysis (90-92). This effect may be associated with the presence of A and B isoagglutinin (anti-A and anti-B antibodies) in the IVIG product. A recent cohort study found that the risk of hemolysis was lower when donors with high plasma titers of anti-A antibodies were excluded, especially in patients requiring \geq 1.75 g IVIG/kg (93). Abnormal laboratory tests that may indicate hemolysis include decreased hemoglobin and haptoglobin levels, increased lactate dehydrogenase levels, and increased hemobilirubin and reticulocyte counts (94). The management plans generally proposed in affected patients aim to slow down the rate of infusion, switch to another IVIG product, or check the blood type for potential indications for hemolysis. Hemolysis is self-limiting in the majority of mild and moderate cases. However, proper blood transfusion is needed in severe cases when a Coombs test or a direct or indirect antiglobulin test is negative (89, 95, 96).

Immunoglobulin therapy can cause hemolysis, but it can also cause neutropenia (97). In 1998, Majer et al. (98) first described

neutropenia as a complication of IVIG therapy in children with ITP. Veys et al. (99) also reported two cases of neutropenia following IVIG infusion for ITP. In addition, Matsuda et al. (100) and Bajaj et al. (101) reported that patients with neurological disorders could develop neutropenia with IVIG administration. Currently, immunoglobulin-induced neutrophils have been reported only in case reports. This condition usually occurs within 4 days after infusion and recovers spontaneously without infection in 2 weeks. However, premedication with corticosteroids may be an effective measure to prevent neutropenia (98–103).

Electrolyte Disturbance

Electrolyte disturbance is a rare adverse effect of immunoglobulin administration. In 1997, a study that examined variations in serum chemistry among 46 patients receiving IVIG infusion found that sodium and magnesium levels were significantly lower in infused patients (4 and 7% below baseline, respectively) (104). Daphnis et al. (105) retrospectively evaluated a cohort of 66 patients with ITP who received repeated IVIG infusions and found that serum sodium levels fell by 2.7 mmol/l in patients with normal renal dysfunction and 5.7 mmol/l in patients with acute renal failure. These electrolyte disturbances usually have no clinical symptoms, and affected patients generally recover without electrolyte supplementation. With regards to patients with severely compromised renal function, it is recommended that electrolyte levels can be monitored to identify hyponatremia and hyperkalemia.

Infection Risk

The long-term safety of immunoglobulin preparations is excellent. Until recently, the majority of physicians believed that IVIG infusion was associated with no risk of infection. Since immunoglobulins are blood products, there will always be a risk of underlying infection, which may be fatal. Until recently, the most commonly reported infection was the hepatitis C virus. In 1994, the FDA and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention received reports of over 100 cases of acute hepatitis virus infection in recipients of IVIG from several countries (Norway, United States, Europe, and Puerto Rico). The brand names Gammagard and Polygam accounted for the majority of the cases of hepatitis C in both the United States and Europe (106, 107). Razvi et al. (108) reported the outcomes of 58 cases with IVIG-transmitted hepatitis C, and the prognosis of these subjects was poor. Since then, no cases of immunoglobulin-induced hepatitis C have been reported.

Apart from immunoglobulin-transmitted hepatitis C, no cases of IVIG-related hepatitis B virus (HBV) have been reported. However, IVIG-related passive transfer of hepatitis B antibodies has also been reported. Several scholars have reported cases in which the patient developed positive HBV core antibodies and surface antibodies after IVIG infusion, and subsequent multiple tests revealed false-positive results due to immunoglobulin (109, 110). Ramsay and colleagues conducted a cross-sectional study that suggested that HBV antibodies (HBsAb and HBcAb) are common in patients receiving IVIG and who have confounding diagnostic results (111). Thus, the measurement of baseline HBV antibodies should be implemented when commencing immunoglobulin infusion. If the test results are negative, and there is an absence of hepatitis or risk factors, any future positive results in the context of ongoing immunoglobulin therapy should be considered false positives, HBV-DNA levels should be measured, and antiviral treatment should be given cautiously.

Since the introduction of adequate management and advanced testing technologies, no cases of IVIG-related prion disease or HIV transmission have been reported. Radomski et al. (112) found that two dedicated and one supplemental step [solvent/ detergent (S/D) treatment and nanofiltration (20 nm) in combination with ion-exchange chromatography] could prevent pathogen transmission. Although the infection risk is much lower in IVIG than in other blood products, the possibility of infection can never be neglected.

Other Adverse Effects

Other adverse effects of immunoglobulin therapy include uveitis, passively acquired thyroid autoantibodies and reversible splenial lesion syndrome. Kocak et al. (113) reported a case in which a 44-year-old female developed bilateral uveitis following the administration of IVIG for 2 days. The patient was treated with topical corticosteroids and had achieved complete resolution at 1-month follow-up. In 2017, Uchida et al. (114) reported two cases in which thyroid autoantibodies passively acquired following IVIG administration. Finally, Uygur et al. (115) described a case of reversible splenial lesion syndrome caused by IVIG therapy.

PREVENTIVE MEASURES

Risk Assessment and Adequate Monitoring

Immunoglobulins cause various adverse effects; some of these effects are severe and fatal. Hence, a detailed medical history should be obtained in every patient being considered for immunoglobulin treatment. This information should include age, the infusion course of immunoglobulin, concomitant diseases (diabetes, hypertension, coronary heart disease, stroke, thrombotic events, hemadostenosis, etc.), and co-medications (e.g., contraceptive drugs and diuretics). Laboratory tests are also needed, such as a blood group test, routine blood tests, and tests of liver and kidney function. A variety of risk factors must be considered when evaluating possible adverse effects, and special precautions should be considered in patients with a history of allergies or thrombotic events. In these patients who have a heightened risk of developing adverse effects, special monitoring should be employed within the first 24 h following immunoglobulin administration in a hospital. The proposed factors that predispose a patient to immunoglobulin-induced adverse effects are shown in Table 2.

Slowing Down the Infusion Rate

The adverse effects described here are closely related to the rate of immunoglobulin infusion. Hence, slowing down the rate of infusion can greatly reduce the rate of adverse reactions, especially flu-like symptoms, hemolysis, thrombosis, and renal impairment (22, 63, 116). Strictly controlling the infusion rate during the first administration is recommended. During the first infusion, an initial slower rate should be implemented for the first 30 min, and then the rate may be increased if no adverse effects occur (we recommended to the first of the first occur).

TABLE 2	Predisposina	factors for	immunoalobuli	n-induced	adverse effects.

Adverse effect	Predisposing factors		
Flu-like symptoms	High dose, rapid infusion rate, accompanying infection, previous adverse effects		
Dermatological adverse effects	High dose, rapid infusion rate, accompanying infection, male patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy		
Arrhythmia and hypotension	History of heart disease		
Transfusion-related acute lung injury	Rapid infusion rate		
Thrombotic events	High dose, rapid infusion rate, advanced age, being bedridden, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, dyslipidemia, prior/current thrombosis, preexisting atherosclerotic disease, elevated serum viscosity, oral contraceptive use, hereditary hypercoagulable state, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura		
Aseptic meningitis	High dose		
Renal impairment	Rapid infusion rate, advanced age, renal insufficiency, nephrotic syndrome, diabetes mellitus, dehydration, sepsis paraproteinemia, nephrotoxic drugs, hemolysis, sucrose-containing preparations		
Hemolysis	High dose, rapid infusion rate, non-O blood group, underlying inflammatory state		

using the infusion rate according to the instructions provided by different brands). Slowing the rate should be considered if any adverse effects occur. The infusion should be discontinued if slowing the rate does not alleviate these adverse reactions.

Premedication and Prehydration

Premedication with antihistamines, corticosteroids, or NSAIDs can markedly reduce the severity and incidence of IVIG-induced adverse effects. In 1998, Roberton et al. (117) assessed the effect of premedication with methylprednisolone in a large crossover study that included 10 patients who had previously experienced frequent adverse reactions. Methylprednisolone was administered at a dose of 1 mg/kg 20 min prior to IVIG infusion, and the pretreated patients exhibited a marked decrease in the severity of IVIGinduced immediate adverse events (P < 0.01), with only one patient discontinuing IVIG infusion, whereas IVIG was interrupted in 8 of the 10 patients who were not pretreated with methylprednisolone. Souayah et al. (118) examined the safety profile of home infusion of IVIG in patients with neuroimmunologic disorders. In all, 276 patients were premedicated with antihistamines, corticosteroids, or NSAIDs, and the incidence of IVIG-induced adverse effects was significantly lower in the premedicated group than in the non-premedicated group (18.4 VS 27.1%, P = 0.04). However, the results of a separate study indicated that the rate of immunoglobulin-induced immediate adverse events was not altered by premedication (29). With regards to thrombotic events, Huang et al. (119) implemented a protocol in which treatment with antiplatelets and anticoagulation before IVIG infusion eliminated IVIG-related thrombotic events. However, because their sample size was small, further studies are needed to determine the safety and efficacy of this protocol.

Prehydration with normal saline is also used to prevent immunoglobulin-induced adverse effects. Many studies have proposed that prehydration can be helpful for headache, thrombolysis, renal impairment, and hemolysis (63, 120, 121); however, the implementation protocol, the dose of saline (250 or 500 ml, etc.), and the duration of saline infusion remain unclear. All of these studies utilized a protocol that combined hydration and other measures; therefore, the efficacy of prehydration should be further evaluated in a well-designed study.

Switching From IVIG to SCIG or Other Immunoglobulin Preparations

Switching from IVIG to SCIG seems to be an effective strategy that attenuates immunoglobulin-induced adverse effects, especially for patients who have previously experienced severe adverse effects or are at high risk of developing adverse effects. An increasing number of well-designed studies show that SCIG can be used as a treatment for immunodeficiency diseases, multifocal motor neuropathy, chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy, and myasthenia gravis (6, 122-136) (Table 3). The results of two randomized, crossover studies indicate that the rate of systematic adverse effects was lower following SCIG than following IVIG, and no severe adverse effects were reported in patients treated with SCIG (123, 135). However, the sample sizes of these two studies were small (30 and 20). Racosta et al. (137) performed a meta-analysis of reports that explored the efficacy and safety of SCIG VS IVIG and identified a total of 8 studies comprising 138 patients with inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathies. Their results showed that the relative risk of moderate and/or systemic adverse effects was 28% lower in the SCIG group [95% confidence interval, 0.11-0.76]. Due to the small sample size of these studies, the efficiency of SCIG

SCIG dose Reference Sample Diagnosis Study design Rate of side effects Severity Misbah et al. 271.8 ± 139.13 mg/kg 50% had 18 AEs Mild to moderate 8 Multifocal motor neuropathy Prospective, open-label. (range, 100-488 mg/kg) 0.098 per infusion No discontinuations (130)multicenter study Kanegane 25 Primary immunodeficiency Prospective, multicenter, Not mentioned 96.0% had 269 AEs Mild to moderate et al. (133) open-label, single-arm study 0.461 per infusion No discontinuations Empson 35 Primary immunodeficiency Phase III, single-arm, open-Median 6.70 g/week 40% of patients Mild to moderate et al. (131) label, multicenter study (range, 3-13.5 g/week) 0.059 per infusion No discontinuations Hoffmann 2/82 patients had 2AEs 82 Primary and secondary Prospective, observational, 91 ± 31 mg/kg/week Local tissue reactions et al. (128) antibody deficiencies multicenter study 1 patient discontinued Thépot et al. 65 Monocentric, longitudinal 3/65 patients Primary 108 mg/kg (range, Mild to moderate 3 patients switched to (129)hypogammaglobulinemia trial 62-174 mg/kg) intravenous immunoglobulin Berger et al. 51 Primary immunodeficiency Not mentioned 100-200 ma/ka/week 86.3% of patients 1 severe adverse effect (126)0.15 per infusion 2 patients withdrew Spadaro 14 Hypogammaglobulinemia Not mentioned 100 + 4.4 ma/ka/week Not mentioned Not mentioned et al. (134) Harbo et al. 6 6/6 patients had Local tissue reactions Multifocal motor neuropathy Prospective, observational 13-51 a per week (127) studv local tissue reactions 1 patient withdrew Ochs et al. 65 Primary immunodeficiency Prospective, open-label, 158 mg/kg (range, 60/65 patients Mild to moderate multicenter study 155-165 mg/kg) 0.52 per infusion 14 patients withdrew (124)Markvardsen 20 Chronic inflammatory Randomized, single-blind, 0.4 g/kg Not mentioned Not mentioned et al. (132) demyelinating crossover study polyneuropathy van Schaik Chronic inflammatory 172 Randomized, multicenter, 0.2 or 0.4 g/kg 30% in the low-Six (3%) patients had 11 et al. (136) demvelinating double-blind, placeboserious adverse events dose aroup 34% in the highpolyneuropathy controlled, parallel-group, phase III study dose group Beecher 23 Myasthenia gravis Prospective, open-label, 2 g/kg Headache and injection Mild to moderate et al. (6) phase 3 trial No discontinuations site reactions were common Markvardsen 30 Chronic inflammatory Randomized double-blind 4.8-48 a/week 6/15 patients Mild to moderate et al. (135) demyelinating placebo-controlled trial No discontinuations polyneuropathy Primary immunodeficiency Gardulf et al. Not mentioned 165 Not mentioned 17% of patients Mild to moderate (122)0.03 per infusion No discontinuations Eftimov et al. 10 0.46 g/kg/month 9 patients developed Mild to moderate Multifocal motor neuropathy Prospective, open-label,

TABLE 3 | Subcutaneous immunoglobulin (SCIG) treatment in a variety of diseases.

Primary immunodeficiency

30

(125)

(123)

Chapel et al.

noncontrolled study

Randomized, multicenter,

open-label, crossover trial

(range, 0.27-0.62)

Not mentioned

local adverse events

0.1 per infusion

No discontinuations

No discontinuations

Mild to moderate

should be further explored, and more randomized controlled trials with larger samples of patients with various diseases are needed.

It remains unclear how the dose should be adjusted when switching from IVIG to SCIG. Berger and colleagues found that using 137 and 153% of the IVIG dose when switching to SCIG produced the same effect in patients being treated for primary immunodeficiencies (138). Another study concluded that sustained serum IgG levels can be achieved after switching to SCIG despite the use of a reduced immunoglobulin dose in patients with primary hypogammaglobulinemia (129). Individualizing the dosage based on the disease state and the clinical response is preferable to using mean pharmacokinetic parameters when switching from IVIG to SCIG. In addition, more studies focused on pharmacokinetics in immune-mediated diseases are needed.

Detailed information regarding the immunoglobulin preparation should always be recorded, including the manufacturer, batch, and drug instructions. It is clear that the content, composition, and characteristics of each immunoglobulin preparation can adversely affect patients in different manners. Hence, if patients frequently develop adverse effects following administration with an IVIG preparation, switching to another immunoglobulin preparation may lead to fewer adverse effects (62).

Other Measures

Many patients develop immunoglobulin-associated adverse effects, and the majority of these effects are mild to moderate and resolve with appropriate treatment. The observed effects include immediate adverse effects, aseptic meningitis, hemolysis, neutropenia, and electrolyte disturbances. Some of these severe adverse effects should be treated according to the principle underlying the corresponding diseases, such as an effective antithrombotic therapy in patients with thrombosis or short-term renal replacement therapy in patients with severely damaged renal function.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Immunoglobulin preparations have been widely used in a variety of diseases, but controlled studies have not been performed for many diseases, such as myasthenia gravis, some forms of lupus erythematosus, septic syndrome, and polymyositis. The improper usage of immunoglobulin increases the risk of adverse effects to some extent; therefore, further studies are needed to demonstrate the proper indications for the use of immunoglobulin.

The majority of adverse effects are associated with high doses of immunoglobulin; thus, determining individualized dosages to guarantee the efficacy of therapy and minimize adverse effects is an urgent focus. Ameratunga (139) suggested that the initial IVIG dose should be based on adjusted body weight in obese patients with primary immunodeficiency disorders. As this study was a single

REFERENCES

- Barahona Afonso AF, Joao CM. The production processes and biological effects of intravenous immunoglobulin. *Biomolecules* (2016) 6(1):15. doi:10.3390/ biom6010015
- 2. Pecoraro A, Crescenzi L, Granata F, Genovese A, Spadaro G. Immunoglobulin replacement therapy in primary and secondary antibody deficiency:

observation and focused on only obese patients, additional special populations, such as the elderly, should be studied to determine the parameters of individualized dosing for immunoglobulin therapy.

Many measures have been used to prevent or minimize immunoglobulin-related adverse effects, as summarized above. Given that these studies were case controlled or small sample size studies, the efficacy of these measures should be verified by randomized controlled studies or head-to-head studies with larger sample sizes. Simultaneously, the use of only one preventive measure may not prevent adverse effects, and a series of measures serving as a standard protocol may be effective for preventing serious adverse effects, such as combining prehydration with anti-thrombosis to minimize thrombotic events.

Currently, immunoglobulin may be given intravenously or subcutaneously to treat a variety of disorders. However, IVIG and SCIG preparations also result in adverse effects. It is possible that other routes of immunoglobulin administration may reduce the rate of adverse effects. In 1982, Barnes et al. (140) found that oral administration of immunoglobulin could be used for the prevention and treatment of rotavirus diarrhea in low-birth weight babies. Later, several meta-analysis studies concluded that oral administration of immunoglobulin could not prevent rotavirus diarrhea and necrotizing enterocolitis (141, 142). Although these studies have several limitations (small sample size and few well-designed studies), oral administration may be a promising preparation to attenuate the occurrence of adverse effects.

Many factors affect the rate of immunoglobulin-related adverse effects. Several characteristics of newer generation immunoglobulin products should be improved, including specific functions, purity, and biological safety. Thus, advanced separation and purification technologies should be developed.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YG and XT conceived the article and wrote the manuscript. XW and ZX reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the medical research project of Chongqing Health and Family Planning Commission (2013-1-012) and the National Clinical Key Specialty Construction Foundation of China and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 81471320, 8167051933, 81471319, 81671301). The authors have no other relevant affiliations or financial involvement with any organization or entity with a financial interest in or financial conflict with the subject matter or materials discussed in the manuscript apart from those disclosed.

the correct clinical approach. Int Immunopharmacol (2017) 52:136–42. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2017.09.005

 Qin YH, Zhou TB, Su LN, Lei FY, Zhao YJ, Huang WF. The efficacy of different dose intravenous immunoglobulin in treating acute idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura: a meta-analysis of 13 randomized controlled trials. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* (2010) 21(8):713–21. doi:10.1097/MBC. 0b013e3283401490

- Chen S, Dong Y, Yin Y, Krucoff MW. Intravenous immunoglobulin plus corticosteroid to prevent coronary artery abnormalities in Kawasaki disease: a meta-analysis. *Heart* (2013) 99(2):76–82. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2012-302126
- Oaklander AL, Lunn MP, Hughes RA, van Schaik IN, Frost C, Chalk CH. Treatments for chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy (CIDP): an overview of systematic reviews. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2017) 1:Cd010369. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010369.pub2
- Beecher G, Anderson D, Siddiqi ZA. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin in myasthenia gravis exacerbation: a prospective, open-label trial. *Neurology* (2017) 89(11):1135–41. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000004365
- Olyaeemanesh A, Rahmani M, Goudarzi R, Rahimdel A. Safety and effectiveness assessment of intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Med J Islam Repub Iran* (2016) 30:336.
- Iro MA, Martin NG, Absoud M, Pollard AJ. Intravenous immunoglobulin for the treatment of childhood encephalitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2017) 10:Cd011367. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011367.pub2
- Cherin P, Marie I, Michallet M, Pelus E, Dantal J, Crave JC, et al. Management of adverse events in the treatment of patients with immunoglobulin therapy: a review of evidence. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15(1):71–81. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2015.09.002
- Raju TN. Emil Adolf von Behring and serum therapy for diphtheria. Acta Paediatr (2006) 95(3):258–9. doi:10.1111/j.1651-2227.2006.tb02222.x
- Cohn EJ, Oncley JL, Strong LE, Hughes WL, Armstrong SH. Chemical, clinical, and immunological studies on the products of human plasma fractionation. I. The characterization of the protein fractions of human plasma. *J Clin Invest* (1944) 23(4):417–32. doi:10.1172/JCI101508
- 12. Bruton OC. Agammaglobulinemia. Pediatrics (1952) 9(6):722-8.
- Eibl MM. History of immunoglobulin replacement. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am (2008) 28(4):737–64, viii. doi:10.1016/j.iac.2008.06.004
- Imbach P, Barandun S, Baumgartner C, Hirt A, Hofer F, Wagner HP. Highdose intravenous gammaglobulin therapy of refractory, in particular idiopathic thrombocytopenia in childhood. *Helv Paediatr Acta* (1981) 36(1):81–6.
- Matsumoto S, Kobayashi N, Gohya N. Clinical trials of sulfonated immunoglobulin preparation for intravenous administration. II. Adverse reactions. *Eur J Pediatr* (1981) 136(2):167–71. doi:10.1007/BF00441919
- Seidling V, Hoffmann JH, Enk AH, Hadaschik EN. Analysis of high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in 16 patients with refractory autoimmune blistering skin disease: high efficacy and no serious adverse events. *Acta Derm Venereol* (2013) 93(3):346–9. doi:10.2340/00015555-1471
- Manlhiot C, Tyrrell PN, Liang L, Atkinson AR, Lau W, Feldman BM. Safety of intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of juvenile dermatomyositis: adverse reactions are associated with immunoglobulin A content. *Pediatrics* (2008) 121(3):e626–30. doi:10.1542/peds.2007-1218
- Friedman DF, Lukas MB, Larson PJ, Douglas SD, Manno CS. Clinical impact of anti-D in intravenous immunoglobulin. *Transfusion* (1997) 37(4):450–2. doi:10.1046/j.1537-2995.1997.37497265353.x
- Thorpe SJ, Fox BJ, Dolman CD, Lawrence J, Thorpe R. Batches of intravenous immunoglobulin associated with adverse reactions in recipients contain atypically high anti-Rh D activity. *Vox Sang* (2003) 85(2):80–4. doi:10.1046/ j.1423-0410.2003.00336.x
- Lemm G. Composition and properties of IVIg preparations that affect tolerability and therapeutic efficacy. *Neurology* (2002) 59(12 Suppl 6):S28–32. doi:10.1212/WNL.59.12_suppl_6.S28
- Sherer Y, Levy Y, Langevitz P, Rauova L, Fabrizzi F, Shoenfeld Y. Adverse effects of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in 56 patients with autoimmune diseases. *Pharmacology* (2001) 62(3):133–7. doi:10.1159/000056085
- Dashti-Khavidaki S, Aghamohammadi A, Farshadi F, Movahedi M, Parvaneh N, Pouladi N, et al. Adverse reactions of prophylactic intravenous immunoglobulin; a 13-year experience with 3004 infusions in Iranian patients with primary immunodeficiency diseases. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol* (2009) 19(2):139–45.
- Aghamohammadi A, Farhoudi A, Nikzad M, Moin M, Pourpak Z, Rezaei N, et al. Adverse reactions of prophylactic intravenous immunoglobulin infusions in Iranian patients with primary immunodeficiency. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* (2004) 92(1):60–4. doi:10.1016/S1081-1206(10)61711-5
- Rachid R, Castells M, Cunningham-Rundles C, Bonilla FA. Association of anti-IgA antibodies with adverse reactions to gamma-globulin infusion. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2011) 128(1):228–30.e1.doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.01.061

- Rachid R, Bonilla FA. The role of anti-IgA antibodies in causing adverse reactions to gamma globulin infusion in immunodeficient patients: a comprehensive review of the literature. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2012) 129(3): 628–34. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.06.047
- Bichuetti-Silva DC, Furlan FP, Nobre FA, Pereira CT, Goncalves TR, Gouveia-Pereira M, et al. Immediate infusion-related adverse reactions to intravenous immunoglobulin in a prospective cohort of 1765 infusions. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2014) 23(2):442–6. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2014.09.015
- Nydegger UE, Sturzenegger M. Adverse effects of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. *Drug Safety* (1999) 21(3):171–85. doi:10.2165/00002018-199921030-00003
- Knezevic-Maramica I, Kruskall MS. Intravenous immune globulins: an update for clinicians. *Transfusion* (2003) 43(10):1460–80. doi:10.1046/j.1537-2995.2003.00519.x
- Kaba S, Keskindemirci G, Aydogmus C, Siraneci R, Erol Cipe F. Immediate adverse reactions to intravenous immunoglobulin in children: a single center experience. *Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol* (2017) 49(1):11–4.
- Sorensen PS, Wanscher B, Jensen CV, Schreiber K, Blinkenberg M, Ravnborg M, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin G reduces MRI activity in relapsing multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* (1998) 50(5):1273–81. doi:10.1212/ WNL.50.5.1273
- Brannagan TH III. Intravenous gammaglobulin (IVIg) for treatment of CIDP and related immune-mediated neuropathies. *Neurology* (2002) 59(12 Suppl 6): S33–40. doi:10.1212/WNL.59.12_suppl_6.S33
- Gerstenblith MR, Antony AK, Junkins-Hopkins JM, Abuav R. Pompholyx and eczematous reactions associated with intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. J Am Acad Dermatol (2012) 66(2):312–6. doi:10.1016/j.jaad.2010.12.034
- Cohen Aubart F, Barete S, Amoura Z, Frances C, Lyon-Caen O, Lebrun-Vignes B. Intravenous immunoglobulins-induced eczematous eruption: a long-term follow-up study. *Eur J Intern Med* (2009) 20(1):70–3. doi:10.1016/j. ejim.2008.04.022
- Savasan S, Tuzcu V, Warrier I, Karpawich P. Cardiac rhythm abnormalities during intravenous immunoglobulin G infusion for treatment of thrombocytopenia. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol (1997) 19(3):254–7. doi:10.1097/ 00043426-199705000-00015
- Tufekci S, Coban A, Bor M, Yasa B, Nisli K, Ince Z. Cardiac rhythm abnormalities during intravenous immunoglobulin G(IVIG) infusion in two newborn infants: coincidence or association? *Clin Case Rep* (2015) 3(9):731–4. doi:10.1002/ccr3.329
- Raheja H, Kumar V, Hollander G, Shani J, Greenberg Y. Intravenous immunoglobulin-induced profound bradycardia in a patient with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Am J Ther* (2017):1–2. doi:10.1097/ MJT.000000000000654
- Charhon N, Bonnet A, Schmitt Z, Charpiat B. A case of circulatory collapse during intravenous immunoglobulin therapy: a manageable adverse effect! *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med* (2015) 34(2):113–4. doi:10.1016/j.accpm.2014. 08.004
- Rizk A, Gorson KC, Kenney L, Weinstein R. Transfusion-related acute lung injury after the infusion of IVIG. *Transfusion* (2001) 41(2):264–8. doi:10.1046/ j.1537-2995.2001.41020264.x
- Berger-Achituv S, Ellis MH, Curtis BR, Wolach B. Transfusion-related acute lung injury following intravenous anti-D administration in an adolescent. *Am J Hematol* (2008) 83(8):676–8. doi:10.1002/ajh.21185
- Voulgari PV, Paschou S, Svarna E, Tsifetaki N, Drosos AA. Images in rheumatology. Transfusion-related acute lung injury during intravenous immunoglobulin treatment. *J Rheumatol* (2010) 37(1):190–1. doi:10.3899/ jrheum.090725
- 41. Gupta V, Gupta P, Yadav TP. Transfusion related acute lung injury with intravenous immunoglobulin. *Indian Pediatr* (2011) 48(10):807–8.
- 42. Stoclin A, Delbos F, Dauriat G, Brugiere O, Boeri N, Metivier AC, et al. Transfusion-related acute lung injury after intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in a lung transplant recipient. *Vox Sang* (2013) 104(2):175–8. doi:10.1111/j.1423-0410.2012.01645.x
- Quest GR, Gaal H, Clarke G, Nahirniak S. Transfusion-related acute lung injury after transfusion of pooled immune globulin: a case report. *Transfusion* (2014) 54(12):3088–91. doi:10.1111/trf.12731
- Reddy DR, Guru PK, Blessing MM, Stubbs JR, Rabinstein AA, Wijdicks EF. Transfusion-related acute lung injury after IVIG for myasthenic crisis. *Neurocrit Care* (2015) 23(2):259–61. doi:10.1007/s12028-015-0115-z

- Vlaar AP, Juffermans NP. Transfusion-related acute lung injury: a clinical review. Lancet (2013) 382(9896):984–94. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62197-7
- Kumar R, Sedky MJ, Varghese SJ, Sharawy OE. Transfusion related acute lung injury (TRALI): a single institution experience of 15 years. *Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus* (2016) 32(3):320–7. doi:10.1007/s12288-015-0604-4
- Woodruff RK, Grigg AP, Firkin FC, Smith IL. Fatal thrombotic events during treatment of autoimmune thrombocytopenia with intravenous immunoglobulin in elderly patients. *Lancet* (1986) 2(8500):217–8. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(86)92511-0
- Daniel GW, Menis M, Sridhar G, Scott D, Wallace AE, Ovanesov MV, et al. Immune globulins and thrombotic adverse events as recorded in a large administrative database in 2008 through 2010. *Transfusion* (2012) 52(10):2113–21. doi:10.1111/j.1537-2995.2012.03589.x
- Ramírez E, Romero-Garrido JA, López-Granados E, Borobia AM, Pérez T, Medrano N, et al. Symptomatic thromboembolic events in patients treated with intravenous-immunoglobulins: results from a retrospective cohort study. *Thromb Res* (2014) 133(6):1045–51. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2014.03.046
- Funk MB, Gross N, Gross S, Hunfeld A, Lohmann A, Guenay S, et al. Thromboembolic events associated with immunoglobulin treatment. *Vox Sang* (2013) 105(1):54–64. doi:10.1111/vox.12025
- Rajabally YA, Kearney DA. Thromboembolic complications of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in patients with neuropathy: a two-year study. *J Neurol Sci* (2011) 308(1–2):124–7. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2011.05.035
- Ho P, Khan S, Crompton D, Hayes L. Extensive cerebral venous sinus thrombosis after romiplostim treatment for immune thrombocytopenia (ITP) despite severe thrombocytopenia. *Intern Med J* (2015) 45(6):682–3. doi:10.1111/imj.12765
- 53. Moulis G, Audemard-Verger A, Arnaud L, Luxembourger C, Montastruc F, Gaman AM, et al. Risk of thrombosis in patients with primary immune thrombocytopenia and antiphospholipid antibodies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Autoimmun Rev* (2016) 15(3):203–9. doi:10.1016/j. autrev.2015.11.001
- 54. Severinsen MT, Engebjerg MC, Farkas DK, Jensen AO, Norgaard M, Zhao S, et al. Risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with primary chronic immune thrombocytopenia: a Danish population-based cohort study. *Br J Haematol* (2011) 152(3):360–2. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2010.08418.x
- Park KM, Yang EJ, Lim YT. Dural venous sinus thrombosis and pulmonary embolism following immunoglobulin treatment in pediatric patient with immune thrombocytopenic purpura. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol* (2017) 39(8):e508–11. doi:10.1097/MPH.00000000000841
- Takemoto CM, Sohi S, Desai K, Bharaj R, Khanna A, McFarland S, et al. Hospital-associated venous thromboembolism in children: incidence and clinical characteristics. *J Pediatr* (2014) 164(2):332–8. doi:10.1016/j. jpeds.2013.10.025
- Bentley P, Rosso M, Sadnicka A, Israeli-Korn S, Laffan M, Sharma P. Intravenous immunoglobulin increases plasma viscosity without parallel rise in blood pressure. J Clin Pharm Ther (2012) 37(3):286–90. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2710.2011.01287.x
- Baba R, Shibata A, Tsurusawa M. Single high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin therapy for Kawasaki disease increases plasma viscosity. *Circ J* (2005) 69(8):962–4. doi:10.1253/circj.69.962
- 59. Fokkink W, Koch B, Ramakers C, van Doorn PA, van Gelder T, Jacobs BC. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of intravenous immunoglobulin G maintenance therapy in chronic immune-mediated neuropathies. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* (2017) 102(4):709–16. doi:10.1002/cpt.693
- Bonilla FA. Intravenous and subcutaneous immunoglobulin G replacement therapy. *Allergy Asthma Proc* (2016) 37(6):426–31. doi:10.2500/aap.2016. 37.3987
- Brannagan TH III, Nagle KJ, Lange DJ, Rowland LP. Complications of intravenous immune globulin treatment in neurologic disease. *Neurology* (1996) 47(3):674–7. doi:10.1212/WNL47.3.674
- Feldmeyer L, Benden C, Haile SR, Boehler A, Speich R, French LE, et al. Not all intravenous immunoglobulin preparations are equally well tolerated. *Acta Derm Venereol* (2010) 90(5):494–7. doi:10.2340/00015555-0900
- Thornby KA, Henneman A, Brown DA. Evidence-based strategies to reduce intravenous immunoglobulin-induced headaches. *Ann Pharmacother* (2015) 49(6):715–26. doi:10.1177/1060028015576362
- 64. Kemmotsu Y, Nakayama T, Matsuura H, Saji T. Clinical characteristics of aseptic meningitis induced by intravenous immunoglobulin in patients

with Kawasaki disease. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J (2011) 9:28. doi:10.1186/1546-0096-9-28

- Bharath V, Eckert K, Kang M, Chin-Yee IH, Hsia CC. Incidence and natural history of intravenous immunoglobulin-induced aseptic meningitis: a retrospective review at a single tertiary care center. *Transfusion* (2015) 55(11):2597–605. doi:10.1111/trf.13200
- Sekul EA, Cupler EJ, Dalakas MC. Aseptic meningitis associated with high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin therapy: frequency and risk factors. *Ann Intern Med* (1994) 121(4):259–62. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-121-4-199408150-00004
- Jain RS, Kumar S, Aggarwal R, Kookna JC. Acute aseptic meningitis due to intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in Guillain-Barre syndrome. Oxf Med Case Rep (2014) 2014(7):132–4. doi:10.1093/omcr/omu051
- Nakajima M. Posterior reversible encephalopathy complicating intravenous immunoglobulins in a patient with Miller-Fisher syndrome. *Eur Neurol* (2005) 54(1):58–60. doi:10.1159/000087720
- 69. Stetefeld HR, Lehmann HC, Fink GR, Burghaus L. Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome and stroke after intravenous immunoglobulin treatment in Miller-Fisher syndrome/Bickerstaff brain stem encephalitis overlap syndrome. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2014) 23(9):e423–5. doi:10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2014.05.034
- Ribeiro BN, Salata TM, Borges RS, Marchiori E. Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome following immunoglobulin therapy in a patient with Miller-Fisher syndrome. *Radiol Bras* (2016) 49(1):58–9. doi:10.1590/ 0100-3984.2015.0129
- Belmouaz S, Desport E, Leroy F, Teynie J, Hannequin J, Ayache RA, et al. Posterior reversible encephalopathy induced by intravenous immunoglobulin. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2008) 23(1):417–9. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfm594
- Kao CD, Chen JT, Wu ZA, Shan DE, Liao KK. SIADH and seizure associated with immunoglobulin therapy. *Eur J Neurol* (2003) 10(6):748–9. doi:10.1046/j.1351-5101.2003.00695.x
- Wright SE, Shaikh ZH, Castillo-Lugo JA, Tanriover B. Aseptic meningitis and abducens nerve palsy as a serious side effect of high dose intravenous immunoglobulin used in a patient with renal transplantation. *Transpl Infect Dis* (2008) 10(4):294–7. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3062.2007.00294.x
- Rodriguez-Lozano A, Juarez-Echenique JC, Rivas-Larrauri F, Gamez-Gonzalez LB, Yamazaki-Nakashimada M. VI nerve palsy after intravenous immunoglobulin in Kawasaki disease. *Allergol Immunopathol (Madr)* (2014) 42(1):82–3. doi:10.1016/j.aller.2012.08.003
- Emiroglu M, Alkan G, Kartal A, Cimen D. Abducens nerve palsy in a girl with incomplete Kawasaki disease. *Rheumatol Int* (2016) 36(8):1181–3. doi:10.1007/s00296-016-3515-2
- Epstein JS, Zoon KC. Important drug warning: immune globulin intravenous (human) (IGIV) products. *Neonatal Netw* (2000) 19(2):60–2.
- Pharmacovigilance A-CNd. Enqête Officielle Immunoglobulines Humaines: Atteintes Rénales. Direction de l'Evaluation des Médicaments et des Produits Biologiques — Unité de Pharmacovigilance. (2006).
- Rault R, Piraino B, Johnston JR, Oral A. Pulmonary and renal toxicity of intravenous immunoglobulin. *Clin Nephrol* (1991) 36(2):83–6.
- Hansen-Schmidt S, Silomon J, Keller F. Osmotic nephrosis due to high-dose immunoglobulin therapy containing sucrose (but not with glycine) in a patient with immunoglobulin A nephritis. *Am J Kidney Diseases* (1996) 28(3): 451–3. doi:10.1016/S0272-6386(96)90505-3
- Cayco AV, Perazella MA, Hayslett JP. Renal insufficiency after intravenous immune globulin therapy: a report of two cases and an analysis of the literature. J Am Soc Nephrol (1997) 8(11):1788–94.
- Levine AA, Levine TD, Clarke K, Saperstein D. Renal and hematologic side effects of long-term intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in patients with neurologic disorders. *Muscle Nerve* (2017) 56(6):1173–6. doi:10.1002/mus.25693
- Itkin YM, Trujillo TC. Intravenous immunoglobulin-associated acute renal failure: case series and literature review. *Pharmacotherapy* (2005) 25(6):886–92. doi:10.1592/phco.2005.25.6.886
- Orbach H, Tishler M, Shoenfeld Y. Intravenous immunoglobulin and the kidney – a two-edged sword. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* (2004) 34(3):593–601. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2004.06.003
- Orbach H, Katz U, Sherer Y, Shoenfeld Y. Intravenous immunoglobulin: adverse effects and safe administration. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* (2005) 29(3):173-84. doi:10.1385/CRIAI:29:3:173
- Levy JB, Pusey CD. Nephrotoxicity of intravenous immunoglobulin. QJM (2000) 93(11):751–5. doi:10.1093/qjmed/93.11.751

- Bassilios N, Mercadal L, Deray G. Immunoglobulin as a risk factor for contrast media nephrotoxicity. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2001) 16(7):1513–4. doi:10.1093/ndt/16.7.1513
- Kim AS, Broide DH. Acute renal dysfunction caused by nonsucrose intravenous immunoglobulin in common variable immunodeficiency. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* (2017) 118(2):231–3. doi:10.1016/j.anai.2016.11.009
- Daw Z, Padmore R, Neurath D, Cober N, Tokessy M, Desjardins D, et al. Hemolytic transfusion reactions after administration of intravenous immune (gamma) globulin: a case series analysis. *Transfusion* (2008) 48(8):1598–601. doi:10.1111/j.1537-2995.2008.01721.x
- Desborough MJ, Miller J, Thorpe SJ, Murphy MF, Misbah SA. Intravenous immunoglobulin-induced haemolysis: a case report and review of the literature. *Transfus Med* (2014) 24(4):219–26. doi:10.1111/tme.12083
- Bonilla FA. Adverse effects of immunoglobulin G therapy: thromboembolism and haemolysis. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2014) 178(Suppl 1):72–4. doi:10.1111/cei.12518
- Chamouni P, Tamion F, Gueit I, Girault C, Lenain P, Varin R, et al. Adverse effect of polyvalent immunoglobulin in the treatment of Guillain-Barre syndrome. *Transfus Apher Sci* (2003) 28(2):117–24. doi:10.1016/ S1473-0502(03)00012-0
- Mohamed M, Bates G, Eastley B. Massive intravascular haemolysis after high dose intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. *Br J Haematol* (2013) 160(5):570. doi:10.1111/bjh.12182
- Martinez C, Watson DJ, Shebl A, Wallenhorst C, Hubsch A, Simon TL. Impact of screening and exclusion of high anti-A titer donors on the risk of hemolytic anemia with intravenous immunoglobulin treatment – a hospital-based cohort study in the US. *Am J Hematol* (2017) 93(1):E17–20. doi:10.1002/ajh.24931
- Markvardsen LH, Christiansen I, Harbo T, Jakobsen J. Hemolytic anemia following high dose intravenous immunoglobulin in patients with chronic neurological disorders. *Eur J Neurol* (2014) 21(1):147–52. doi:10.1111/ene. 12287
- Wilson JR, Bhoopalam H, Fisher M. Hemolytic anemia associated with intravenous immunoglobulin. *Muscle Nerve* (1997) 20(9):1142–5. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1097-4598(199709)20:9<1142::AID-MUS8>3.0.CO;2-8
- Kim NY, Kim JH, Park JS, Kim SH, Cho YK, Cha DH, et al. A 2-month-old boy with hemolytic anemia and reticulocytopenia following intravenous immunoglobulin therapy for Kawasaki disease: a case report and literature review. *Korean J Pediatr* (2016) 59(Suppl 1):S60–3. doi:10.3345/kjp. 2016.59.11.S60
- Markvardsen LK, Jakobsen J. Relative leucopenia and hemolytic anemia following infusion of immunoglobulin. *Eur J Neurol* (2017) 24(12):e85. doi:10.1111/ene.13444
- Majer RV, Green PJ. Neutropenia caused by intravenous immunoglobulin. Br Med J (1988) 296(6631):1262. doi:10.1136/bmj.296.6631.1262-a
- Veys PA, Macey MG, Owens CM, Newland AC. Neutropenia following intravenous immunoglobulin. *Br Med J* (1988) 296(6639):1800. doi:10.1136/ bmj.296.6639.1800-a
- 100. Matsuda M, Hosoda W, Sekijima Y, Hoshi K, Hashimoto T, Itoh S, et al. Neutropenia as a complication of high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in adult patients with neuroimmunologic disorders. *Clin Neuropharmacol* (2003) 26(6):306–11. doi:10.1097/00002826-200311000-00009
- 101. Bajaj NP, Henderson N, Bahl R, Stott K, Clifford-Jones RE. Call for guidelines for monitoring renal function and haematological variables during intravenous infusion of immunoglobulin in neurological patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2001) 71(4):562–3. doi:10.1136/jnnp.71.4.562
- 102. Singh A, Arif F, Smith SD. Intravenous immunoglobulin-induced reversible neutropenia in a renal transplant patient. *Clin Nephrol* (2005) 64(3):246–8. doi:10.5414/CNP64246
- Khan S, Dore PC, Sewell WA. Intravenous immunoglobulin-induced neutropenia. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* (2010) 21(5):892–3. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3038.2009.00885.x
- 104. Koffman BM, Dalakas MC. Effect of high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin on serum chemistry, hematology, and lymphocyte subpopulations: assessments based on controlled treatment trials in patients with neurological diseases. *Muscle Nerve* (1997) 20(9):1102–7. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1097-4598(199709)20:9<1102::AID-MUS2>3.0.CO;2-C
- 105. Daphnis E, Stylianou K, Alexandrakis M, Xylouri I, Vardaki E, Stratigis S, et al. Acute renal failure, translocational hyponatremia and hyperkalemia

following intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. *Nephron Clin Pract* (2007) 106(4):c143–8. doi:10.1159/000104424

- 106. From the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Outbreak of hepatitis C associated with intravenous immunoglobulin administration United States, October 1993-June 1994. JAMA (1994) 272(6):424–5. doi:10.1001/jama.272. 6.424
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Outbreak of hepatitis C associated with intravenous immunoglobulin administration – United States, October 1993-June 1994. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep (1994) 43(28):505–9.
- Razvi S, Schneider L, Jonas MM, Cunningham-Rundles C. Outcome of intravenous immunoglobulin-transmitted hepatitis C virus infection in primary immunodeficiency. *Clin Immunol* (2001) 101(3):284–8. doi:10.1006/ clim.2001.5132
- 109. Benwell N, Boan P, Raby E, McGettigan B. False positive hepatitis B virus core and surface antibodies due to intravenous immunoglobulin. *Intern Med J* (2017) 47(1):119–20. doi:10.1111/imj.13314
- 110. Parker S, Gil E, Hewitt P, Ward K, Reyal Y, Wilson S, et al. Case report: passive transfer of hepatitis B antibodies from intravenous immunoglobulin. *BMC Infect Dis* (2014) 14:99. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-14-99
- 111. Ramsay I, Gorton RL, Patel M, Workman S, Symes A, Haque T, et al. Transmission of hepatitis B core antibody and galactomannan enzyme immunoassay positivity via immunoglobulin products: a comprehensive analysis. *Clin Infect Dis* (2016) 63(1):57–63. doi:10.1093/cid/ciw222
- Radomski KU, Lattner G, Schmidt T, Romisch J. Pathogen safety of a new intravenous immune globulin 10% liquid. *BioDrugs* (2017) 31(2):125–34. doi:10.1007/s40259-017-0212-y
- Kocak ED, Wang BZ, Hall AJ. Bilateral uveitis following intravenous immunoglobulin administration. *Am J Ophthalmol Case Rep* (2017) 6:74–6. doi:10.1016/ j.ajoc.2017.03.005
- 114. Uchida Y, Kato D, Adachi K, Toyoda T, Matsukawa N. Passively acquired thyroid autoantibodies from intravenous immunoglobulin in autoimmune encephalitis: two case reports. *J Neurol Sci* (2017) 383:116–7. doi:10.1016/j. jns.2017.11.002
- 115. Uygur Kucukseymen E, Yuksel B, Genc F, Ozaydin Goksu E, Yildiz S, Bicer Gomceli Y. Reversible splenial lesion syndrome after intravenous immunoglobulin treatment for Guillain-Barre syndrome. *Clin Neuropharmacol* (2017) 40(5):224–5. doi:10.1097/WNF.00000000000236
- Berger M. Principles of and advances in immunoglobulin replacement therapy for primary immunodeficiency. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am* (2008) 28(2):413–37, x. doi:10.1016/j.iac.2008.01.008
- 117. Roberton DM, Hosking CS. Use of methylprednisolone as prophylaxis for immediate adverse infusion reactions in hypogammaglobulinaemic patients receiving intravenous immunoglobulin: a controlled trial. *Aust Paediatr J* (1988) 24(3):174–7.
- 118. Souayah N, Hasan A, Khan HM, Yacoub HA, Jafri M. The safety profile of home infusion of intravenous immunoglobulin in patients with neuroimmunologic disorders. *J Clin Neuromuscul Dis* (2011) 12(Suppl 4):S1–10. doi:10.1097/CND.0b013e3182212589
- Huang L, Kanellis J, Mulley W. Slow and steady. Reducing thrombotic events in renal transplant recipients treated with IVIg for antibody-mediated rejection. *Nephrology* (2011) 16(2):239–42. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1797.2010.01399.x
- 120. Mignogna MD, Fortuna G, Leuci S, Ruoppo E, Adamo D, Fedele S. Analysis of thromboembolic risk related to high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin treatment: a preliminary clinical study of 10 patients with autoimmune mucocutaneous blistering diseases. *Clin Exp Dermatol* (2009) 34(2):145–50. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2230.2008.02809.x
- Lasica M, Zantomio D. Severe intravenous immunoglobulin-induced hemolysis with pigment nephropathy managed with red cell exchange. *J Clin Apher* (2016) 31(5):464–6. doi:10.1002/jca.21416
- 122. Gardulf A, Andersen V, Bjorkander J, Ericson D, Froland SS, Gustafson R, et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin replacement in patients with primary antibody deficiencies: safety and costs. *Lancet* (1995) 345(8946):365–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(95)90346-1
- 123. Chapel HM, Spickett GP, Ericson D, Engl W, Eibl MM, Bjorkander J. The comparison of the efficacy and safety of intravenous versus subcutaneous immunoglobulin replacement therapy. *J Clin Immunol* (2000) 20(2):94–100. doi:10.1023/A:1006678312925
- 124. Ochs HD, Gupta S, Kiessling P, Nicolay U, Berger M, Subcutaneous IgG Study Group. Safety and efficacy of self-administered subcutaneous immunoglobulin

in patients with primary immunodeficiency diseases. J Clin Immunol (2006) 26(3):265-73. doi:10.1007/s10875-006-9021-7

- 125. Eftimov F, Vermeulen M, de Haan RJ, van den Berg LH, van Schaik IN. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin therapy for multifocal motor neuropathy. *J PeripherNervSyst*(2009)14(2):93–100.doi:10.1111/j.1529-8027.2009.00218.x
- 126. Berger M, Murphy E, Riley P, Bergman GE. Improved quality of life, immunoglobulin G levels, and infection rates in patients with primary immunodeficiency diseases during self-treatment with subcutaneous immunoglobulin G. *South Med J* (2010) 103(9):856–63. doi:10.1097/SMJ.0b013e3181eba6ea
- Harbo T, Andersen H, Jakobsen J. Long-term therapy with high doses of subcutaneous immunoglobulin in multifocal motor neuropathy. *Neurology* (2010) 75(15):1377–80. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181f735ce
- Hoffmann F, Grimbacher B, Thiel J, Peter HH, Belohradsky BH. Home-based subcutaneous immunoglobulin G replacement therapy under real-life conditions in children and adults with antibody deficiency. *Eur J Med Res* (2010) 15(6):238–45. doi:10.1186/2047-783X-15-6-238
- 129. Thepot S, Malphettes M, Gardeur A, Galicier L, Asli B, Karlin L, et al. Immunoglobulin dosage and switch from intravenous to subcutaneous immunoglobulin replacement therapy in patients with primary hypogammaglobulinemia: decreasing dosage does not alter serum IgG levels. J Clin Immunol (2010) 30(4):602–6. doi:10.1007/s10875-010-9417-2
- 130. Misbah SA, Baumann A, Fazio R, Dacci P, Schmidt DS, Burton J, et al. A smooth transition protocol for patients with multifocal motor neuropathy going from intravenous to subcutaneous immunoglobulin therapy: an open-label proof-of-concept study. *J Peripher Nerv Syst* (2011) 16(2):92–7. doi:10.1111/j.1529-8027.2011.00330.x
- 131. Empson MB, Tang ML, Pearce LK, Rozen L, Gold MS, Katelaris CH, et al. Efficacy, safety and pharmacokinetics of a novel subcutaneous immunoglobulin, Evogam(R), in primary immunodeficiency. *J Clin Immunol* (2012) 32(5):897–906. doi:10.1007/s10875-011-9641-4
- 132. Markvardsen LH, Debost JC, Harbo T, Sindrup SH, Andersen H, Christiansen I, et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin in responders to intravenous therapy with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyradiculoneuropathy. *Eur J Neurol* (2013) 20(5):836–42. doi:10.1111/ene.12080
- 133. Kanegane H, Imai K, Yamada M, Takada H, Ariga T, Bexon M, et al. Efficacy and safety of IgPro20, a subcutaneous immunoglobulin, in Japanese patients with primary immunodeficiency diseases. J Clin Immunol (2014) 34(2):204–11. doi:10.1007/s10875-013-9985-z
- Spadaro G, Pecoraro A, De Renzo A, Della Pepa R, Genovese A. Intravenous versus subcutaneous immunoglobulin replacement in secondary hypogammaglobulinemia. *Clin Immunol* (2016) 166-167:103–4. doi:10.1016/j.clim. 2016.04.001

- 135. Markvardsen LH, Sindrup SH, Christiansen I, Olsen NK, Jakobsen J, Andersen H, et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin as first-line therapy in treatment-naive patients with chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy: randomized controlled trial study. *Eur J Neurol* (2017) 24(2):412–8. doi:10.1111/ene.13218
- 136. van Schaik IN, Bril V, van Geloven N, Hartung H-P, Lewis RA, Sobue G, et al. Subcutaneous immunoglobulin for maintenance treatment in chronic inflammatory demyelinating polyneuropathy (PATH): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Neurol* (2018) 17(1):35–46. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30378-2
- Racosta JM, Sposato LA, Kimpinski K. Subcutaneous versus intravenous immunoglobulin for chronic autoimmune neuropathies: a meta-analysis. *Muscle Nerve* (2017) 55(6):802–9. doi:10.1002/mus.25409
- Berger M, Rojavin M, Kiessling P, Zenker O. Pharmacokinetics of subcutaneous immunoglobulin and their use in dosing of replacement therapy in patients with primary immunodeficiencies. *Clin Immunol* (2011) 139(2):133–41. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2011.01.006
- Ameratunga R. Initial intravenous immunoglobulin doses should be based on adjusted body weight in obese patients with primary immunodeficiency disorders. *Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol* (2017) 13:47. doi:10.1186/ s13223-017-0220-y
- 140. Barnes GL, Doyle LW, Hewson PH, Knoches AM, McLellan JA, Kitchen WH, et al. A randomised trial of oral gammaglobulin in low-birth-weight infants infected with rotavirus. *Lancet* (1982) 1(8286):1371–3. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(82)92496-5
- 141. Foster JP, Seth R, Cole MJ. Oral immunoglobulin for preventing necrotizing enterocolitis in preterm and low birth weight neonates. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2016) 4:CD001816. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD001816.pub3
- Pammi M, Haque KN. Oral immunoglobulin for the prevention of rotavirus infection in low birth weight infants. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2011) (11):Cd003740. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003740.pub2

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Guo, Tian, Wang and Xiao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Characteristics of Seizure and Antiepileptic Drug Utilization in Outpatients With Autoimmune Encephalitis

Qi Huang, Meigang Ma, Xing Wei, Yuhan Liao, Hengchang Qi, Yuejuan Wu and Yuan Wu*

Department of Neurology, First Affiliated Hospital, Guangxi Medical University, Nanning, China

Autoimmune encephalitis (AE) is one kind of encephalitis that associates with specific neuronal antigens. Most patients with AE likely suffer from seizures, but data on the characteristics of seizure and antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) utilization in this patient group remains limited. This study aimed to report the clinical status of seizure and AEDs treatment of patients with AE, and to evaluate the relationship between AEDs discontinuation and seizure outcomes. Patients with acute neurological disorders and anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), y-aminobutyric acid B receptor (GABA_BR), leucine-rich glioma inactivated 1, or contactin-associated protein-like 2 (CASPR2) antibodies were included. As patients withdrew from AEDs, they were divided into the early withdrawal (EW, AEDs used <3 months) and late withdrawal (LW, AEDs used >3 months) groups. Seizure remission was defined as having no seizures for at least 1 year after the last time when AEDs were administered. Seizure outcomes were assessed on the basis of remission rate. The factors affecting the outcomes were assessed through Spearman analysis. In total, we enrolled 75 patients (39 patients aged <16 years, male/female = 39/36) for follow-up, which included 67 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 4 patients with anti-GABABR encephalitis, 2 patients with anti-voltage-gated potassium channel encephalitis, and 2 patients with coexisting antibodies. Among the 34 enrolled patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis who were withdrawn from AEDs, only 5.8% relapse was reported during the 1-year follow-up, with no significant difference in the percentage of relapse between the EW and LW groups (P = 0.313). Fifteen patients (an average age of 6.8, 14 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis and 1 patient with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis) presented seizure remission without any AEDs. Seventy five percent of patients with anti-GABABR antibodies developed refractory seizure. Other risk factors which contributed to refractory seizure and seizure relapse included status epilepticus (P = 0.004) and cortical abnormalities (P = 0.028). Given this retrospective data, patients with AE have a high rate of seizure remission, and the long-term use of AEDs may not be necessary to control the seizure. Moreover, seizures in young patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis presents self-limited. Patients with anti-GABABR antibody, status epilepticus, and cortical abnormalities are more likely to develop refractory seizure or seizure relapse.

Keywords: autoimmune encephalitis, outpatients, seizure remission, antiepileptic drug withdrawal, refractory seizure

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xin Tian, First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Ché Serguera, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France Anil Chauhan, Saint Louis University, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Yuan Wu nwuyuan90@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 24 June 2018 Accepted: 10 December 2018 Published: 08 January 2019

Citation:

Huang Q, Ma M, Wei X, Liao Y, Qi H, Wu Y and Wu Y (2019) Characteristics of Seizure and Antiepileptic Drug Utilization in Outpatients With Autoimmune Encephalitis. Front. Neurol. 9:1136. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01136

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune encephalitis (AE) is kind of encephalitis which associates with humoral or cellular responses against specific neuronal antigens (1, 2). The clinical characteristics of these patients include seizure, abnormal behavior, speech dysfunction, movement disorders, and autonomic dysfunction (3). With the development of biochemical assays, several antibodies, such as the anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), anti-y-aminobutyric acid B receptor (GABABR), anti-leucinerich glioma inactivated 1 (LGI1), and anti-contactin-associated protein-like 2 (CASPR2) antibodies, have emerged as the leading causes of AE. Therapeutic regimens included firstline immunotherapy (steroids, intravenous immunoglobulin, plasmapheresis), and second-line immunotherapy (rituximab, cyclophosphamide). Despite the severity of the disease in acute phase, most patients recover after proper immunotherapy and intensive support (4).

In acute phase, seizure is a highly prevalent symptom, and parts of patients develop status epilepticus (SE) (5–7). Hence, multiple anti-epileptic drugs (AEDs) are often necessary to control the attacks. However, based on the previous studies and data from our center, most patients likely recover completely after adequate immunotherapy, and seizure is rarely reported in the chronic phase (5, 8, 9). Considering the adverse events of AEDs, some patients stop taking AEDs at the early stage. However, an instructional database describing the long-term use of AEDs with AE is lacking.

This retrospective study aimed to report the seizure characteristics and long-term use of AEDs in outpatients with AE. Our secondary goals included assessing the outcomes between patients with early and late AEDs withdrawal, and determining the probable risk factors for seizure relapse and refractory seizures.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

This study was conducted in compliance with the ethical standards of Guangxi Medical University. Written consents were obtained from the patients.

The antibodies, including NMDAR, GABA_BR, LGI1, and CASPR2, were detected in patients' cerebrospinal fluid and serum samples. The anti-NMDAR antibody was detected by specific staining against NMDAR isolated from rat' hippocampus and cerebellum, and positive cell-based assay with HEK293 cells transfected with NR1. Other antibodies were detected using transfected HEK293 cells with the respective target proteins.

Patients with acute neurological disorders of either sex or any age were considered eligible for this study if they presented any positive antibodies from January 2012 to May 2017. The exclusion criteria included (1) patients diagnosed with epilepsy, cerebral infarction, cerebral trauma, cerebral tumor, and other nervous system disease prior to the onset of encephalitis, (2) patients with evidence of infectious encephalitis, for example, viral, bacteria, mycobacterium tuberculosis, or fungal, (3) patients in the acute phase of autoimmune encephalitis and still required hospitalization. Immunotherapies were used in the acute phase (**Figure 3A**). The decisions about the type and duration of immunotherapy were based on the clinical symptoms, curative, and side effects. The available onset medical data (seizure characteristics, AEDs utilization, and electroencephalogram/neuroimaging findings) were recorded. The electroencephalogram and neuroimaging findings were recorded in the acute phase of the disease.

Definitions

The chronic stage of AE was defined by 3 months after the onset of AE symptoms. SE was defined as continuous seizure activity lasting >5 min or recurrent seizures without regaining consciousness between seizures for >5 min (10). Refractory seizure was defined as an uncontrolled seizure after treatment by more than three standard therapeutic schedules (11). Seizure remission was defined as having no seizure for at least 1 year after the last time when AEDs were used (12). Seizure with focal characteristics was defined as a partial seizure or a patient with seizure and hemiplegia or hemianesthesia.

Outcome Assessment and Grouping

AEDs utilization and seizure outcomes were assessed through outpatient services and/or telephone interview. AEDs utilization in the chronic stage (time of continuation/withdrawal) and outcomes (refractory, relapse, or remission) data were collected on patients. Before evaluating the outcomes, the patients who discontinued AEDs were observed for at least 1 year after the last AEDs use.

Patients who withdraw AEDs were divided into two groups based on the duration of AEDs use. The early withdrawal (EW) group had AEDs withdrawn within 3 months, and the late withdrawal (LW) group had AEDs withdrawn after 3 months. Outcomes were assessed based on seizure remission rate and the modified Rankin Scale (mRS) (13).

Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 22. The skewness and kurtosis coefficients were used to evaluate whether the quantitative data fit a normal distribution. Data were regarded as a normal distribution if the skewness and kurtosis coefficients <1. For the data that did not fit this criterion, we used the Mann–Whitney test to evaluate significance. Other data was compared using a *t*-test or a Fisher's exact test. The factors affecting the outcomes were assessed through Spearman analysis.

RESULTS

We identified 83 patients with AE. **Figures 1**, **2** show a summary of these patients. In the charts reviewed, 5 patients were lost and 3 patients died of severe pneumonia. As a result, 75 patients were enrolled to follow-up. Among the 75 patients, 12 continued taking AEDs, 15 were not given any AEDs, and 37 patients who withdrew from AEDs were followed up for at least 1 year (**Figure 1**). The group with AEDs withdrawal





FIGURE 2 | Summary of the presenting patients and outcomes in accordance with the involved antibodies. No AEDs, No AED was given and no relapse was reported. Early withdrawal (EW), AEDs weaned within 3 months and no relapse was reported. Late withdrawal (LW), AEDs weaned after 3 months and no relapse was reported.

included 34 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 1 with anti-LGI1 encephalitis, 1 with anti-GABA_BR encephalitis, and 1 patient presented coexisting antibodies of anti-LGI1 and CASPR2 (**Figure 1**).

Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis

Among the patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 14 were not given any AEDs, in which 7 suffered from one-time seizure attack at the onset of the encephalitis. Compared to the patients with AEDs, the majority of this group was considerably young (6.8 ± 3.26 , P = 0.004, **Table 1**) and less likely to have repetitive seizures (P = 0.038, **Table 1**). The median duration of follow up was 20 months (range: 14–36 months), and no relapse was reported. Furthermore, 12 patients (85.7%) had good outcomes with a 0 mRS score; the remaining 2 patients presented with cognitive dysfunction.

Among the 34 patients (20 men and 14 women, 23 in EW and 11 in LW) who were discontinued from AEDs, 7 patients (20.6%) did not report seizure, and 5 patients (14.7%) reported a onetime seizure at the onset. Two patients in the EW group reported hemianesthesia before presenting seizures. The occurrence of SE was 32.4% in total. Eighteen patients had an magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan and abnormalities were found in 33.3% of the patients, including 4 patients with white matter changes and 2 patients with cortical mass (Table 1). The patterns of AEDs selection and discontinuation were variable (Figure 3B). Monotherapy was the most common selection, with 69.5% in the EW group and 63.9% in the LW group. At the early stage, carbamazepine (n = 11) and oxcarbazepine (n = 16) were the most chosen AEDs. Valproic acid was among the most commonly continued therapies over the course of follow-up (Figure 3B). Seven patients without seizure were treated with AEDs upon onset. Five of these discontinued AEDs within 1 month, and the remaining 2 patients underwent LW because of frequent subclinical discharge.

The patients' data were compared between the EW and LW groups (**Table 1**). No statistically significant difference was observed between the two groups in terms of age (P = 0.935), sex (P = 0.458), seizure characteristics (P = 0.359), antibody

	No AEDs (14 patients)	Early withdraw (23 patients)	Late withdraw (11 patients)	P1	P2
Sex (male/female)	7/7	15/8	5/6	0.474	0.458
Age (Ave \pm SD)	6.8 ± 3.26	21.0 ± 16.19	21.4 ± 11.89	0.004	0.935
Seizure frequency				0.038	0.359
None	4	5	2		
Once	7	2	3		
Repeated	3	16	6		
Seizure with focal characters	0	2	0	0.322	0.313
Status epilepticus(Yes/No)	0/14	6/17	5/6	0.024	0.259
Antibody titer				0.129	0.727
1:10	6	3	1		
1:32	7	19	10		
1:100	1	1	0		
MRI abnormalities				0.400	0.329
None	4	6	6		
White matter	3	3	1		
Cortex	3	2	0		
Anti-epileptic drugs				-	0.934
1 kind	-	16	7		
2 kinds	-	5	3		
3 or more kinds	-	2	1		
Followed up					
Median duration (months)	20 (14–36)	36 (15–50)	32 (17–62)		
Relapse	-	2/21	0/11	-	0.313
mRS score (≤1/>1)	12/2	22/1	9/2	0.398	0.239

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics and outcomes of patients with anti-NMDA encephalitis.

AED, Antiepileptic drug. P1, P-value among No AED, Early withdraw, and late withdraw group. P2, P-value between Early withdraw, and late withdraw group.

titers (P = 0.727), SE (P = 0.259), MRI findings (P = 0.329), or AEDs selection (P = 0.934). The medium durations of follow up were 36 months (range: 15–50 months) and 32 months (range: 17–62 months) for the EW and LW groups, respectively. 2 patients in the EW group relapsed in the first month after drug discontinuation. No remarkable difference in the percentage of relapse was observed between the two groups.

Detail of patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis was presented in **Supplementary File 1**.

Other AEs

A 44-year-old woman who was diagnosed with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis presented lethargy and headache without seizure at the onset. She did not take any AEDs. No relapse was reported during her 16-month follow up. A 72-year-old man with anti-LGI1 encephalitis and a 35-year-old woman with anti-GABA_BR encephalitis presented frequent seizures at onset and underwent an AED withdrawal 3 and 6 months later, respectively. No relapse was reported during their 1-year follow up. The other two elder patients (50 and 64 years-old, respectively) with anti-GABA_B encephalitis presented refractory seizures (**Figure 2**).

We also reviewed 2 coexisting AE. One is a 30-yearold female who presented with anti-NMDAR and GABA_BR encephalitis. She had a seizure 10 years ago before she was diagnosed with AE through CSF detection. Her EEG presented δ brushes with generalized paroxysmal θ activities. The brain MRI was unremarkable. She developed refractory seizures after being treated by oxcarbazepine, carbamazepine, and clonazepam. The other patient was a 43-year-old woman with LGI1 and CASPR2 antibodies. She presented repeated generalized tonicclonic seizure and paroxysmal speech dysfunction. Bilateral paracentral lesion was found in the MRI scan. She was given levetiracetam and valproic acid. The AEDs were withdrawn 2 years later, and no relapse was reported during her 1-year follow up (**Figure 2**).

Risk Factors

Among the 12 patients who remained on AEDs, 9 patients presented refractory seizure, including 6 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 2 patients with anti-GABA_BR encephalitis, and 1 patient with anti-NMDAR and GABA_BR encephalitis (**Figure 2**). Among patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, refractory seizures occurred more often in the patients younger than 30 years of age (**Figure 2**), and who presented repetitive seizures and SE, moreover, 4 patients (66%) showed cortical abnormalities on the MRI scan.

By combining the data of the 2 relapse cases, we evaluated the risk factors that contributed to the worse outcomes of anti-NMDAR encephalitis. The patients with relapse or refractory seizure were more likely to be accompanied with cortical lesions on MRI (P = 0.028) and SE (P = 0.004) than those who reached seizure remission (**Table 2**). Moreover, the seizures with



TABLE 2 | Spearman analysis of factors associated with outcomes.

	Refractory Seizure/P	Relapse/P	Both/P
Sex	0.571	0.859	0.516
Age	0.528	0.116	0.259
Antibody titers	0.640	0.590	0.555
Seizure with focal characters	< 0.001	0.769	0.099
Status epilepticus	< 0.001	0.415	0.004
MRI abnormalities	0.010	0.961	0.028

focal characteristics (P < 0.001), SE (P < 0.001), and MRI abnormalities (P = 0.010) were significantly associated with refractory seizure (**Table 2**). For other kinds of AEs, we found 3 patients with anti-GABA_BR encephalitis (75% in all, including 1

patient with concomitant disease) developed refractory seizure; this number is much higher than those of others.

DISCUSSIONS

Parts of AE have been linked to cell surface antigens, which included voltage-gated potassium channel (VGPC, e.g., LGI1 and CASPR2), NMDAR, and GABA_BR (14). To evaluate the AEDs utilization associated with AE, we focused on seizure in a cohort of patients with anti-NMDAR, anti-GABA_BR, anti-LGI1, and CASPR2 encephalitis. This study demonstrated low recurrence rates in young patients with AE who experienced first unprovoked seizures and highlighted an overall remission rate of 94% after the patients discontinued AEDs therapy. No difference was noted between the EW (≤ 3

months) and LW (>3 months) of AEDs. Moreover, a higher number of patients with anti-GABA_BR antibody, SE, cortical abnormalities, and focal neurological dysfunction experienced refractory seizure or seizure relapses compared to those who did not.

Seizure Remission in Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis

Since 2005, the characteristics and long-term outcomes of anti-NMDAR encephalitis have aroused public attention due to the high incidence in young patients with serious neurological dysfunctions (15). According to a previous study, we found that the probable predicted factors for poor outcomes in the acute phase included older age, altered consciousness, and SE, and the process of terminating SE was particularly important for anti-NMDAR encephalitis (5). By evaluating patients through the mRS score, the other multi-institutional study which included clinical data from 577 patients with anti-NMDAR antibodies observed that 81% of the patients responded to immunotherapy (8). Seizure occurs as a prominent feature in AE (16), whether long-term AEDs are necessary after patients achieving good outcomes has not been established (14, 16).

AEDs withdrawal after a successful seizure control may prevent adverse side effects and excessive cost. However, the studies which have evaluated the safety of AEDs weaning in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis are rare. One study demonstrated that no difference in seizure recurrence between 1 and 2 years of AEDs therapy in children with viral encephalitis (17), and the relative risk factors might have included EEG abnormalities or HIV infection (18). However, the duration of AEDs in anti-NMDAR encephalitis tended to be shorter (19). Among the 34 enrolled patients with AEDs withdrawal, only 5.8% suffered from relapse during the follow up. Moreover, no difference was found between the EW (\leq 3 months) and LW (>3 months) groups, which is consistent with that of a previous study (16).

Information regarding AEDs use in adolescents and adults with anti-NMDAR encephalitis has been reported previously, but data from younger children remain limited (16). In the present study, we enrolled 14 young patients with average age of 6.8 (range: 3-12 years). Compared with the older age group, the young group was more likely be seizure free during the long-term follow-up without AEDs, even if they suffered onetime seizure attacks at the onset. The key treatment decisions after the first unprovoked seizure are a controversial issue in children (20, 21). In some epilepsy syndromes, such as in benign childhood epilepsy with centrotemporal spikes or childhood absence epilepsy, remission is a regular feature of the natural history, whereas juvenile myoclonic epilepsy or other symptomatic epilepsies have long been considered to present in AEDs continuation (22). By using the statistical methods for survival analysis, one study indicated that the cumulative risk of repetitive seizure in children was 29% in the first year and elevated to 45% within the 10-year follow up (23). However, the factors associated with recurrences after the first seizure are complex. The probable risk factors may include age (24) and etiology (25). For anti-NMDA encephalitis, our data indicated that seizure in young patients tended to be self-limited. Moreover, some scholars indicate that a cognitive comorbidity likely accompany with the initial seizure if AEDs are not used (26). However, evaluation of mRS score revealed that the majority of children in this group presented normal daily activities.

Although our data supports that seizure remission is common and that long-term use of AEDs may not be necessary, the significance of immunotherapy cannot be ignored to control the seizure. Numerous studies demonstrated that it is the immunotherapies that control the symptoms in anti-NMDAR encephalitis (5, 8, 9). Moreover, one retrospective study which focused on the outcome of AEDs alone in controlling the seizure of patients with anti-VGPC-complex antibodies indicated that only 23.5% of patients became seizure free compared with 61.5% of patients with immunotherapy (14).

Seizure Remission in Anti-GABABR, LGI1, and CASPR2 Encephalitis

Anti-GABA_BR, LGI1, and CASPR2 antibodies have been recently detected in patients with limbic encephalitis (27). Seizures are frequently reported in limbic encephalitis, but autonomic and psychiatric symptoms are more highlighted. In these antibody-mediated seizures, remission rate is variable, and may be related to complications, immunotherapy, and ICU management (7).

Although rare, seizure with additional auto-antibodies may be a other probable risk factor. LGI1 and CASPR2 are the extracellular domains of VGPC. The coexistence of anti-LGI1 and anti-CASPR2 encephalitis may contribute to seizure, cognitive disturbance, movement disorders, and pain (7). Besides AEDs use, the empirical approach to seizure control is corticosteroid treatment (28, 29). A GABABR antibody is rarely accompanied with other antibodies in a same patient, and a probable reason may involve different genetic predispositions (30, 31). In our study, the presented patients developed refractory seizure and severe cognitive dysfunction. One possible mechanism of AEDs resistance may be associated with different interaction sites, as anti-NMDAR antibodies have been suggested to decrease the synaptic levels of receptors, whereas the anti-GABA_BR antibody would further alter the synaptic function (32).

Risk Factors for Refractory Seizure and Seizure Relapse

As AEDs are supposedly unnecessary to seizure outcomes in AE after appropriate immunotherapy, we evaluate the other probable independent risk factors that contribute to refractory seizure and seizure relapse. In addition to involving the anti-GABA_BR antibody, our result shows that patients with SE, cortical abnormalities in MRI, and focal neurological dysfunction are more likely to develop worse outcomes than those who did not accompany these findings. SE has been proven to be an independent risk factor in major types of epilepsy (33, 34). The complications of SE, such as severe pneumonia and ICU admission, have also contributed to poor outcomes (5). Cortical abnormalities seem positively correlate with refractory seizure. By using structural MRI scans, one study demonstrated a strong association between incomplete recovery and superficial white matter lesions (35). This observation indicates that the injured connection between adjacent cortices may play a crucial role in seizure control after AE.

LIMITATIONS

This study has some limitations. First, we tried to discuss the risk factors of seizure outcomes for AE after appropriate immunotherapy. However, as antibodies were not measured at later time points, the direct relationship between persistent antibody levels and seizure outcomes remained unclear. A previous study presented that the neurological recovery accompanied with reduced antibody titer (15), while the correlation between antibody titer and refractory seizure showed unremarkable in our study. One probability which caused the difference might involve the time when antibody was measured. Though the seizure outcomes were assessed based on the data of outpatients, the patients who developed refractory seizure might have persistent higher titer level than those who did not. Second, as the relapse rate was altered with the follow-up period (23), long follow-up times are necessary. However, 54-100% of seizures after AE occurred within the first year, and new-onset seizure after 1 year of follow up was rare (36-38). Third, the results were limited because of the relatively small cohort. Combined with the previous data (16), a probable correlation between seizure remission and AED utilization was noted, and further trials and meta-analysis are needed to confirm these results.

REFERENCES

- 1. Gaspard N. Autoimmune epilepsy. Continuum (2016) 22:227–45. doi: 10.1212/CON.0000000000272
- Holz K, Prinz M, Brendecke SM, Holscher A, Deng F, Mitrucker HW, et al. Differing outcome of experimental autoimmune encephalitis in macrophage/neutrophil- and T cell-specific gp130-deficient mice. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:836. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00836
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Irani SR, Bera K, Waters P, Zuliani L, Maxwell S, Zandi MS, et al. Nmethyl-D-aspartate antibody encephalitis: temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic disorder of both sexes. *Brain* (2010) 133 (Pt 6):1655–67. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq113
- Huang Q, Wu Y, Qin R, Wei X, Ma M. Clinical characteristics and outcomes between children and adults with anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate receptor encephalitis. J Neurol. (2016) 263:2446–55. doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8282-1
- Troscher AR, Klang A, French M, Quemada-Garrido L, Kneissl SM, Bien CG, et al. Selective limbic blood-brain barrier breakdown in a feline model of limbic encephalitis with LGI1 antibodies. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1364. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01364
- Binks SNM, Klein CJ, Waters P, Pittock SJ, Irani SR. LGI1, CASPR2 and related antibodies: a molecular evolution of the phenotypes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr. (2018) 89:526–34. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-315720

CONCLUSION

Patients with AE have a high rate of seizure remission after proper immunotherapies. The long-term use of AEDs appears not be necessary to control their seizures. Compared with adults, young patients are more likely to become seizure free without AEDs. The risk factors that contribute to refractory seizure or seizure relapse may include anti-GABA_BR encephalitis, SE, and cortical abnormalities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QH is the first author of this manuscript. YuaW is the corresponding author of this manuscript, they contributed to the study design, data collection and analysis, and draft writing of this work. MM, XW, and YL have revised and improved the manuscript. HQ and YueW contributed in the data collection and figures. All authors have seen and agreed on the finally submitted version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China Grants (No. 81760242), Natural Science Foundation of Guangxi Grants (No. 2017GXNSFAA198047), and China Association Against Epilepsy-UCB Science Foundation (No. 2017003).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2018.01136/full#supplementary-material

- Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangue T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1
- Zekeridou A, Karantoni E, Viaccoz A, Ducray F, Gitiaux C, Villega F, et al. Treatment and outcome of children and adolescents with N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *J Neurol.* (2015) 262:1859–66. doi: 10.1007/s00415-015-7781-9
- Sakellariou DF, Kostopoulos GK, Richardson MP, Koutroumanidis M. Topography of generalized periodic epileptiform discharges in postanoxic nonconvulsive status epilepticus. *Epilepsia Open* (2017) 2:472–5. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12073
- 11. Cooper YA, Pianka ST, Alotaibi NM, Babayan D, Salavati B, Weil AG, et al. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for the treatment of drug-resistant epilepsy: a systematic review and individual participant data meta-analysis of real-world evidence. *Epilepsia Open* (2018) 3:55–65. doi: 10.1002/epi4.12092
- Yu P, Zhou D, Liao W, Wang X, Wang Y, Wang T, et al. An investigation of the characteristics of outpatients with epilepsy and antiepileptic drug utilization in a multicenter cross-sectional study in China. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2017) 69:126–32. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.09.021
- Saver JL, Filip B, Hamilton S, Yanes A, Craig S, Cho M, et al. Improving the reliability of stroke disability grading in clinical trials and clinical practice: the Rankin Focused Assessment (RFA). *Stroke* (2010) 41:992–5. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.571364

- Feyissa AM, Lopez Chiriboga AS, Britton JW. Antiepileptic drug therapy in patients with autoimmune epilepsy. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* (2017) 4:e353. doi: 10.1212/NXI.0000000000 00353
- Dalmau J, Gleichman AJ, Hughes EG, Rossi JE, Peng X, Lai M, et al. Anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. *Lancet Neurol.* (2008) 7:1091–8. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70224-2
- Liu X, Yan B, Wang R, Li C, Chen C, Zhou D, et al. Seizure outcomes in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis: a follow-up study. *Epilepsia* (2017) 58:2104–11. doi: 10.1111/epi.13929
- Singhi PD, Dinakaran J, Khandelwal N, Singhi SC. One vs. two years of antiepileptic therapy in children with single small enhancing CT lesions. J Trop Pediatr. (2003) 49:274–8. doi: 10.1093/tropej/49.5.274
- Singhi P. Infectious causes of seizures and epilepsy in the developing world. Dev Med Child Neurol. (2011) 53:600-9. doi: 10.1111/j. 1469-8749.2011.03928.x
- Miya K, Takahashi Y, Mori H. Anti-NMDAR autoimmune encephalitis. *Brain* Dev. (2014) 36:645–52. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2013.10.005
- Beghi E, Ciccone A. Recurrence after a first unprovoked seizure. Is it still a controversial issue? First Seizure Trial Group (first). *Seizure* (1993) 2:5–10. doi: 10.1016/S1059-1311(05)80096-2
- Wendt WL, Dang LT, Rogers AJ. What happens next? Recurrence rates for first unprovoked seizures in children. *Acad Emerg Med.* (2018) 25:362–4. doi: 10.1111/acem.13374
- Wolf P. Remission of epilepsy as a function of time. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2016) 61:46–50. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.04.043
- Shinnar S, Berg AT, O'Dell C, Newstein D, Moshe SL, Hauser WA. Predictors of multiple seizures in a cohort of children prospectively followed from the time of their first unprovoked seizure. *Ann Neurol.* (2000) 48:140–7. doi: 10.1002/1531-8249(200008)48:2<140::aid-ana2>3.0.co;2-y
- Goldberg LR, Kernie CG, Lillis K, Bennett J, Conners G, Macias CG, et al. Early recurrence of first unprovoked seizures in children. *Acad Emerg Med.* (2018) 25:275–82. doi: 10.1111/acem.13341
- Mahamud Z, Burman J, Zelano J. Risk of epilepsy after a single seizure in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol.* (2018) 25:854–60. doi: 10.1111/ ene.13618
- Jason EA, Tomson T, Carlsson S, Tedroff K, Amark P. Neurodevelopmental comorbidities and seizure control 24 months after a first unprovoked seizure in children. *Epilepsy Res.* (2018) 143:33–40. doi: 10.1016/j. eplepsyres.2018.03.015
- Boronat A, Sabater L, Saiz A, Dalmau J, Graus F. GABA(B) receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis and anti-GAD-associated neurologic disorders. *Neurology* (2011) 76:795–800. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31820 e7b8d
- Irani SR, Michell AW, Lang B, Pettingill P, Waters P, Johnson MR, et al. Faciobrachial dystonic seizures precede Lgi1 antibody limbic encephalitis. *Ann Neurol.* (2011) 69:892–900. doi: 10.1002/ana.22307

- Irani SR, Stagg CJ, Schott JM, Rosenthal CR, Schneider SA, Pettingill P, et al. Faciobrachial dystonic seizures: the influence of immunotherapy on seizure control and prevention of cognitive impairment in a broadening phenotype. *Brain* (2013) 136 (Pt 10):3151–62. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt212
- Mueller SH, Farber A, Pruss H, Melzer N, Golombeck KS, Kumpfel T, et al. Genetic predisposition in anti-LGI1 and anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *Ann Neurol.* (2018) 83:863–9. doi: 10.1002/ana.25216
- Petit-Pedrol M, Armangue T, Peng X, Bataller L, Cellucci T, Davis R, et al. Encephalitis with refractory seizures, status epilepticus, and antibodies to the GABAA receptor: a case series, characterisation of the antigen, and analysis of the effects of antibodies. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:276–86. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70299-0
- Hughes EG, Peng X, Gleichman AJ, Lai M, Zhou L, Tsou R, et al. Cellular and synaptic mechanisms of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *J Neurosci.* (2010) 30:5866–75. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0167-10.2010
- Bleck TP. Status epilepticus and the use of continuous EEG monitoring in the intensive care unit. *Continuum* (2012) 18:560–78. doi: 10.1212/ 01.CON.0000415428.61277.90
- 34. Chen W, Su Y, Jiang M, Liu G, Tian F, Ren G. Status epilepticus associated with acute encephalitis: long-term follow-up of functional and cognitive outcomes in 72 patients. *Eur J Neurol.* (2018) 25:1228–34. doi: 10.1111/ene.13678
- Phillips OR, Joshi SH, Narr KL, Shattuck DW, Singh M, Di Paola M, et al. Superficial white matter damage in anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr.* (2018) 89:518–25. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2017-316822
- Appenzeller S, Cendes F, Costallat LT. Epileptic seizures in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Neurology* (2004) 63:1808–12. doi: 10.1212/01. WNL.0000144178.32208.4F
- 37. Omori N, Narai H, Tanaka T, Tanaka S, Yamadori I, Ichimura K, et al. Epstein-Barr virus-associated T/NK cell-type central nervous system lymphoma which manifested as a post-transplantation lymphoproliferative disorder in a renal transplant recipient. J Neurooncol. (2008) 87:189–91. doi: 10.1007/s11060-007-9504-2
- Kishitani T, Matsunaga A, Ikawa M, Hayashi K, Yamamura O, Hamano T, et al. Limbic encephalitis associated with anti-NH2-terminal of alpha-enolase antibodies: a clinical subtype of Hashimoto encephalopathy. *Medicine* (2017) 96:e6181. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000006181

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Huang, Ma, Wei, Liao, Qi, Wu and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Central Nervous System Involvement in ANCA-Associated Vasculitis: What Neurologists Need to Know

Yang Zheng¹, Yinxi Zhang¹, Mengting Cai¹, Nanxi Lai², Zhong Chen^{1,2*} and Meiping Ding^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, Second Affiliated Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, ² Department of Pharmacology, Key Laboratory of Medical Neurobiology of the Ministry of Health of China, College of Pharmaceutical Sciences, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China

Objective: To provide a comprehensive review of the central nervous system (CNS) involvement in anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitis (AAV), including the pathogenesis, clinical manifestations, ancillary investigations, differential diagnosis, and treatment. Particular emphasis is placed on the clinical spectrum and diagnostic testing of AAV.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xin Tian, First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, China

Reviewed by: Tatsuro Misu

Tatsuro Misu, Tohoku University, Japan Moussa Antoine Chalah, Hôpitaux Universitaires Henri Mondor, France

*Correspondence:

Zhong Chen chenzhong@zju.edu.cn Meiping Ding dmp-neurology@zju.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 06 October 2018 Accepted: 17 December 2018 Published: 10 January 2019

Citation:

Zheng Y, Zhang Y, Cai M, Lai N, Chen Z and Ding M (2019) Central Nervous System Involvement in ANCA-Associated Vasculitis: What Neurologists Need to Know. Front. Neurol. 9:1166. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01166 **Recent Findings:** AAV is a pauci-immune small-vessel vasculitis characterized by neutrophil-mediated vasculitis and granulomatousis. Hypertrophic pachymeninges is the most frequent CNS presentation. Cerebrovascular events, hypophysitis, posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES) or isolated mass lesions may occur as well. Spinal cord is rarely involved. In addition, ear, nose and throat (ENT), kidney and lung involvement often accompany or precede the CNS manifestations. Positive ANCA testing is highly suggestive of the diagnosis, with each ANCA serotype representing different groups of AAV patients. Pathological evidence is the gold standard but not necessary. Once diagnosed, prompt initiation of induction therapy, including steroid and other immunosuppressants, can greatly mitigate the disease progression.

Conclusions and Relevance: Early recognition of AAV as the underlying cause for various CNS disorders is important for neurologists. Ancillary investigations especially the ANCA testing can provide useful information for diagnosis. Future studies are needed to better delineate the clinical spectrum of CNS involvement in AAV and the utility of ANCA serotype to classify those patients.

Evidence Review: We searched Pubmed for relevant case reports, case series, original research and reviews in English published between Sep 1st, 2001 and Sep 1st, 2018. The following search terms were used alone or in various combinations: "ANCA," "proteinase 3/PR3-ANCA," "myeloperoxidase/MPO-ANCA," "ANCA-associated vasculitis," "Wegener's granulomatosis," "microscopic polyangiitis," "Central nervous system," "brain" and "spinal cord". All articles identified were full-text papers.

Keywords: anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies, vasculitis, granulomatosis with polyangiitis, microscopic polyangiitis, central nervous system

27

INTRODUCTION

Central nervous system (CNS) vasculitis, with its myriad and evolving presentations, always poses a great diagnostic challenge for neurologists. It occurs either as part of a systemic vasculitis, or a primary disorder restricted to the CNS (1). Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA) associated vasculitis (AAV), a systemic small-vessel vasculitis, is characterized by pathogenic ANCA production (1). In the clinical practice, AAV mainly includes granulomatosis with polyangiitis (GPA), microscopic polyangiitis (MPA) and eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (EGPA) (1). Timely recognition and diagnosis of AAV is important, since the progressive disease can be dramatically mitigated by prompt use with steroid and other immunosuppressive agents.

Neurologic involvement is not uncommon in AAV throughout the disease course, ranging from 22 to 54% in patients with GPA (2–5) and 34 to 72% in those with MPA (2–4). CNS is affected in <15% of patients with AAV (5) but accounts for much of the morbidity in those patients (1–3, 7–10). However, the heterogeneous CNS symptoms in AAV may hinder early diagnosis among neurologists, causing treatment delays and disease progression, leading to relapses, or even death.

Therefore, this review aims to increase the awareness of AAV among neurologists. We mainly focus on GPA and MPA, which have distinctive features compared with EGPA (6–10). This review comprehensively illustrates the pathogenesis, CNS manifestations, ancillary investigations, and treatment algorithms warranted for AAV patients with CNS involvement. In particular, we put a special emphasis on its clinical spectrum and the utility of ACNA testing in diagnosing and subtyping those patients.

PATHOPHYSIOLOGY

A basic understanding of how pathogenic ANCAs are induced, take effect and invade the CNS helps to understand its manifestations and illuminate potential targets for treatment in AAV. Pathogenic ANCAs, targeting mainly at proteinase 3 (PR3) and myeloperoxidase (MPO) expressed by innate immune cells, are the major contributor to the pathogenesis of AAV, according to in vitro and in vivo experimental data (11). An overview of the pathophysiology is shown in Figure 1. Pathogenic ANCAs are induced by the interplay of multiple environmental, genetic, and immunological factors (8, 11, 15). An encounter with the antisense peptides of PR3 or MPO triggers the immunological self-amplication network (11). The antigen-recognition capability of each individual, however, is more likely genetically determined (8). In addition, the generation of pathogenic ANCAs is further facilitated by an impaired immunological regulation, as in the pathogenesis of the few treatable neurological disorders (16-19). The function of regulatory T (T_{REG}) cells and regulatory B cells with CD5 expression are suppressed, whereas the circulating effector memory T cells (T_{EM}) (20) and ANCA-producing B cells (15) are proliferated and activated.

Following the generation of pathogenic ANCAs, different pathways lead to the two major pathological changes in AAV, namely vasculitis, and granulomatosis. Neutrophils, activated by pathogenic ANCAs and fueled by the alternative complement pathway (13), play the central role. Activated neutrophils can transmigrate the vessel wall and undergo respiratory burst, degranulation, neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), apoptosis and necrosis (14), causing disruptions of the endothelium and thus activation of the coagulation cascade, leading to fibroid necrosis at sites of vasculitic inflammation. This neutrophilactivation process is further augmented by the complement system, especially the alternative pathway, with C5a playing a key role in-between (13). By contrast, the pathogenesis of extravascular granulomatosis is less well-understood. Current thinking holds that the chronic inflammation is initiated by the acute neutrophil-mediated necrosis (21). Subsequently, defects in the cell death machinery and aberrant reaction of monocytes and macrophages contribute to the chronic inflammation and granulomatosis formation in AAV.

CNS can be affected in AAV through one of the following pathways (22, 23): (1) inflammation, obstruction or increased permeability of the small to medium-sized cerebral vessels due to systemic vasculitis; (2) infiltration or compression of granulomatous pathology from adjacent structures; (3) granulomatous lesions developing *de novo* within the CNS. Mechanisms vary according to the specific CNS structures involved. In general, extra-axial lesions involving the dura, or pituitary gland are mainly attributed to granulomatous inflammation, while parenchyma pathologies are mediated by vasculitis and breakdown of blood brain barrier (24). However, it remains unclear whether pathogenic ANCAs are produced intrathecally or from the systemic circulation and how the two ANCA serotypes contribute to different CNS manifestations.

THE MANY FACES OF AAV WITH CNS INVOLVEMENT

Epidemiology

AAV, especially GPA and MPA, is a multisystem disease. Up to 40–50% of patients have a remitting-relapsing course (7, 12). The onset of CNS flare is mostly acute or subacute, depending on the specific neurological syndrome. CNS symptoms usually present late in the disease course (5, 25). No gender predilection is observed and most patients tend to have their first CNS flare in the middle age (5, 25, 26).

Overview of Systemic AAV

It is of great help to know the accompanying systemic symptoms at the time of or prior to CNS flare. A longterm history of constitutional symptoms like fever, weight loss, fatigue and arthralgia are often suggestive of an autoimmune etiology. In addition, organs susceptible to AAV damage include ear, nose and throat (ENT), lung and kidney (6). ENT involvement for over 3 months, presenting as chronic sinusitis, otitis media, or mastoiditis, is diagnostic of AAV, (3, 7, 24). History of renal dysfunction (proteinuria, hematuria



FIGURE 1 Pathogenesis of anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitides (AAV). The left side of the diagram (with blue background) represents the blood stream and the right (with orange background) the interstitial tissue, separated by a line of endothelial cells. ANCAs are autoantibodies directed against proteins in the cytoplasmic granules of neutrophils. The two antigenic targets are proteinase 3 (PR3) and myeloperoxidase (MPO) normally expressed on the surface or inside the cytoplasm of resting neutrophils (11, 12). The interplay among genetic, environmental, and immunological factors contributes to the high membrane expression and release of PR3 and MPO, leading to the production and proliferation of pathogenic ANCAs. Primed neutrophils are activated by ANCAs and transmigrate the vessel wall, undergoing respiratory bursts, degranulation, and neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) generation (11), which are further augmented by the alternative complement pathway (13). The neutrophil-mediated processes are the major contributor to the injury and inflammation of the endothelial cells lining the vascular wall in the early phase (14). Monocytes are subsequently recruited at sites of acute inflammation and necrosis, inducing the development of granulomatous inflammation mainly mediated by an exaggerated monocyte/macrophage reaction (11). Potential treatment targets are illustrated by red arrows in the figure, including the T-cell and B-cell dysregulation, environmental triggers (microbes, drugs), aberrant activation of alternative complement pathway and NETs. ANCA, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody; MPO, myeloperoxidase; PR3, proteinase 3; NET, neutrophil extracellular trap.

and acute kidney failure) and pulmonary problems (pulmonary nodules, infiltration, alveolar hemorrhage, chronic cough, asthma, or rarely respiratory failure) were also frequently reported. Therefore, for patients suspected with AAV, an investigation of systemic symptoms is warranted. Manifestations highly suggestive of AAV are listed in **Table 1**.

Clinical and Imaging Spectrum of CNS Involvement in AAV

CNS presentations in AAV patients vary, including headache, ischemic infarction, intracranial hemorrhage, encephalopathy (seizures, neuropsychiatric disorders, confusion, or altered consciousness), and rarely spinal cord symptoms. Those symptoms are caused by the involvement of corresponding CNS structures including the dura mater, brain parenchyma, pituitary gland, spinal cord, and leptomeninges with decreasing frequency.

Brain Parenchyma Involvement

(a) Cerebrovascular events

Ischemic infarctions and intracranial hemorrhages, though rare, can be the initial presentation of AAV and are always associated with significant morbidity (29–31). Timely recognition of AAV as the underlying cause is difficult at the first visit in the emergency room due to its rarity. Therefore, the distinguishing features of AAVrelated strokes can aid in early diagnosis and improve

• •	
Involved organ	Manifestations
Constitutional symptoms	Fever, weight loss, polyarthralgia, polymyalgia, malaise, polyarthritis
Ear nose and throat (ENT)	Chronic sinusitis*, chronic otitis media*, chronic mastoiditis*, bloody nasal discharge/crusts/ulcers/granuloma*, subglottic stenosis*
Trachea and lung	Hemoptysis (due to pulmonary hemorrhage* or tracheobronchial disease), lung nodules*, cough, dyspnea, pleuritic pain
Kidney	Glomerulonephritis (especially rapidly progressive glomerulonephritis)*
Skin	Leukocytoclastic angiitis* (typically palpable purpura involving the lower extremities with focal necrosis and ulceration)
Eye and orbit	Epislceritis/scleritis*, uveitis, conjunctivitis, corneal ulceration, retinal vasculitis, optic neuropathy, retro-orbital mass or inflammation*
Peripheral nervous system	Mononeuritis multiplex*, cranial neuropathies*
Gastrointestional tract	Diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, gastrointestinal hemorrhage; Elevated liver enzymes
Cardiovascular	Ischemic cardiac pain, cardiomyopathy, congestive heart failure, loss of pulses, valvular heart disease, pericarditis

TABLE 1 | Systemic manifestations of AAV other than CNS#.

[#]The table is adapted from previous reviews on related topics (6, 12, 27).

*Clinical features highly suggestive of AAV (6, 28).

AAV, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis; CNS, central nervous system.

prognosis. Ischemic infarctions typically present as an isolated or multiple lesions affecting the white matter, since distal penetrating vessels are predominantly affected. Medullary and pontine infarctions were also reported in some cases (29, 30). Ischemic infarctions caused by AAV are typically resistant to antiplatelet therapy and tend to recur without proper immunosuppressive therapy. Patients with AAV are also at an increased risk of hemorrhagic transformation after reperfusion therapy of ischemic stroke (32). Hemorrhagic events occur less often. They more often affect the brain parenchyma (31), and sometimes the subarachnoid space (33). Brain Imaging findings usually correspond to the specific disease in each patient, involving ischemic, hemorrhagic lesions, or variable degrees of smallvessel diseases affecting both white and gray matter (34). Nonspecific white matter lesions with T2 hyperintensities can appear in the periventricular, subcortical regions, the basal ganglia, the mesencephalon and pons.

(b) Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome

Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES) is a rare yet unique complication in the late phase of AAV (35, 36). Clinically, this entity typically presents with an acute onset. Symptoms are generalized and include encephalopathy, seizures, headache and visual disturbance. Brain imaging typically reveals findings consistent with vasogenic edema, predominantly involving the bilateral parieto-occipital regions. Most patients with PRES have a dramatic improvement within days to weeks, with only the supportive therapy. Symptoms may recur when the underlying AAV is not well-controlled.

(c) Isolated parenchymal mass lesions

Isolated parenchymal mass lesions were very rarely reported in AAV (37–39), which often present with a discrete granuloma. Symptoms vary depending on the location of lesions, with seizures as the most frequent presentation (38). Brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of isolated parenchymal granulomas reveals a well-delineated mass with a high signal intensity on T2-weighted images and enhancement on gadolinium-enhanced sequences (39).

(d) Cognitive impairment

Cognitive decline, though mostly subclinical and mild, can occur in AAV patients as well, with an estimated prevalence of 30% (40). According to one study of 13 AAV patients (40), the pattern of cognitive impairment, mainly affecting abstract reasoning, attention and non-verbal memory, is different from that of age-related dementia. On brain MRI, multiple white matter lesions, mainly located in the periventricular or juxtacortical areas, are often associated with the cognitive impairment (40).

Brain Meninges Involvement

Pachymeninges is affected more frequently than leptomeninges (41). The frequency of hypertrophic pachymeningitis (HP) in adult AAV ranges from 18 to 35%, depending on the methodology of studies and the sample populations selected (41, 42). Manifestations of AAV-related pachymeningitis vary depending on the location and extent of inflammation. Headache, the dominant symptom of HP, is often severe and resistant to analgesics (22). Besides, neck stiffness is not commonly seen along with headache. Cranial nerves may be compressed by the thickened dura mater and cause symptoms such as visual loss, double vision, and facial palsies. Other times the pachymeningeal inflammation may infiltrate the brain parenchyma and cause impaired consciousness and seizures (24, 42). Notably, an entity named "CNS-limited AAV" was recently proposed by Yoloseki et al. for patients with MPO-ANCApositive hypertrophic pachymeningitis, characterized by an elderly female predominance, less severe neurological damages, and lower rates of developing into the generalized disease (24). Yet it remains unclear whether the "CNS-limited AAV" represents a novel AAV phenotype or merely a transient disease stage (24).

Imaging studies are valuable in identifying hypertrophic thickening of the dura mater, monitoring disease activity and assessing the damage of adjacent structures. On brain MRI and computed tomography (CT) scans, HP typically shows linear thickening of dura mater or a bulging mass with enhancement. Gadolinium-enhanced T1-weighted MR imaging offers certain advantages over other sequences in identifying active inflammation of the thickened dura mater with superior spatial resolution. The brain pachymeningitis can involve the tentorium cerebelli, cranial fossa, cavernous sinus, falx cerebri, or convexity with no site preference. Additionally, brain-imaging studies can help assess the potential sinonasal and orbital involvement, a common occurrence in AAV. Additionally, the damage of adjacent bone structures is prominent on brain CT scans (41, 43).

Pituitary Gland and Stalk Involvement

Inflammation of the pituitary, termed hypophysitis, is rarely seen in AAV, yet requiring special consideration (44-46). Constitutional symptoms including fatigue, lethargy, headache, weight loss, and appetite loss frequently occur. Endocrine disturbances most commonly include diabetes insipidus, and hypogonadism (45). Other less common ones include hypothyroidism, adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) deficiency and growth hormone (GH) deficiency (45, 47). Pituitary stalk compression resulting from pituitary enlargement may cause hyperprolectinemia as well (22). Visual deficits result with optic chiasm compression (45). Outcome of hypopituitarism is less favorable, despite the treatment with immunosuppressive agents. Pituitary dysfunction tends to persist, even though other systemic symptoms can come to remission after standard treatment (45, 46).

Brain MRI typically shows an enlarged pituitary gland or thickened stalk with peripheral enhancement on post-contrast sequences. Other findings include the lack of posterior pituitary hyperintensity on T1 images. Normal MRI, as reported in some cases, does not exclude pituitary involvement (47).

Spinal Cord Involvement

In general, spinal cord is rarely involved in AAV (48). The three possible mechanisms underlying spinal cord involvement include necrotizing inflammation of the spinal vasculature, compression of the spinal cord by inflamed thickened meninges as well as the formation of primary spinal granulomas (48). Clinical syndromes of the spinal cord include hypertrophic pachymeningitis (41, 48) and compressive myelopathy (49). Contrast-enhanced MRI of the spinal cord is of great diagnostic value and biopsy is often warranted to confirm the diagnosis.

Non-CNS Entities Highly Associated With CNS Involvement

(a) Cranial neuropathy

Cranial neuropathies are rarely the only manifestation in AAV, but rather coexist with other CNS symptoms such as headache and systemic symptoms. Previous investigations found a prevalence between 2 and 10% of cranial neuropathies in patients diagnosed with GPA (50) and MPA (51, 52). Commonly affected cranial nerves in AAV include cranial nerve II–VIII (50). Bulbar palsy, by contrast, is less commonly involved (53).

(b) Orbital disease

Eye involvement was reported in around 30–50% of patients diagnosed with GPA (54), with the orbit and sclera most frequently involved. MPA, by contrast, rarely impair eye movement (52). Symptoms vary and typically include proptosis, diplopia, decreased vision and orbital pain (55), resulting from compressions of ocular granuloma, granulomatous inflammation of the optic nerve and ischemic optic neuropathy due to vascular occlusion (56). MR imaging and CT can help reveal mucosal and bony lesions in the orbit and rule out continuous extension.

(c) Parasinal disease

For patients with CNS manifestations suspected of AAV, an evaluation of paranasal sinuses is a must. Findings indicative of granulomatosis in the paranasal sinuses include a softtissue mass, thickening of the sinus wall, or "ground-glass" material in the lumen (34). As in orbital involvement, noncontrast CT scan has its diagnostic value in evaluating the nasal cavity, paranasal sinuses, mastoids and temporal bone, due to a better resolution of mucosal and bony pathologies compared with MRI (43). Brain MRI may also aid in the evaluation of soft tissue masses within those cavities.

Differences Between ANCA Serotypes

There is an increasing consensus that the ANCA serotype, either MPO-ANCA or PR3-ANCA, has a crucial role in AAV (12). Distinctively, previous studies revealed that the ANCA serotype represents two separate groups of patients in epidemiology, genetic background, clinical features, laboratory features as well as prognosis. We summarized the differences between MPOand PR3-ANCA positive AAV in Table 2. Specifically, for AAV patients with CNS involvement, the ANCA serotype matters as well (24). Though the two serotypes tended to affect the nervous system with a similar frequency (57), they differ in the pattern and severity of CNS involvement. According to one study of patients with HP in Japan, MPO-ANCA-positive HP had an elderly female predominance, more frequently had lesions limited to the dura mater and upper airways, and was less likely to have a generalized systemic progression. On the contrary, PR3-ANCA-positive HP tended to have more severe neurological damages and a generalized disease progression (24). However, evidence remains limited to patients with HP. Extrapolation of the utility of ANCA serotype in other CNS manifestations remains to be further studied.

DIAGNOSIS

The diagnosis of CNS involvement in AAV, similar to the disease overall, requires consideration of clinical, serological, radiographic, and, when available, pathological evidence (61). In patients with established AAV, new-onset neurologic deficits with abnormal radiological and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) findings are suggestive of CNS involvement. For patients without established underlying disease, neurologic symptoms closely compatible with CNS syndromes known to arise in AAV warrant further investigations for the systemic disease. In either case, ancillary tests are of important value in making the

Features	PR3-ANCA-positive AAV	MPO-ANCA-positive AAV
Pathophysiology (12, 57)	Apoptosis of endothelial cells; Release of sFlt1 by monocytes; No established mouse model	Production of intracellular oxidants; No induction of release of sFlt1 by monocytes; Pathogenicity of autoantibody proved in mouse models
Epidemiology (12, 57)	Northern Europe, America and Australia	Southern Europe and Asia
Genetic background (8, 12, 57)	HLA-DP, SERPINA1, PRTN3	HLA-DQ, CTLA4
Clinical features (12, 57–59)	More ENT involvement; Cavititating pulmonary lesions, nodules and masses; More organs involved	More often renal-limited; Fibrosing pulmonary lesions and patchy infiltrates
Pathological features (12)	Granuloma and vasculitis	Granuloma and fibrosis
Response to induction therapy (12, 60)	Better response to rituximab than cyclophosphamide	Increased risk of initial treatment failure
Long-term outcome (12)	More relapses Better prognosis	Less relapses Higher risk of long-term kidney and alveolar damage Worse prognosis

PR3, proteinase 3; MPO, myeloperoxidase; ANCA, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; AAV, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; ENT, ear, nose and throat.

Box 1 | Investigations in AAV-related CNS involvement.

ANCA immunoassays (MPO- and PR3- ANCA testing)

CBC, CMP, CRP, ESR (to evaluate the organ functions and the state of inflammation)

Autoimmune panel, complement levels (to differentiate from other inflammatory conditions)

Endocrine panel (to evaluate the pituitary function)

Screening for HIV, hepatitis, and tuberculosis

Analysis of cerebrospinal fluid (measure inflammatory mediators and degradation proteins, assess the blood-brain barrier and exclude infection) Chest CT

Brain imaging (CT; MRI, suggested sequences include T1/T2 weightedimaging, FLAIR, DWI, SWI and contrast enhanced T1 sequences) Biopsy

AAV, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis; ANCA, antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; MPO, myeloperoxidase; PR3, proteinase 3; CBC, complete blood count; CMP, comprehensive metabolic panel; CRP, C reactive protein; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; CT, computed tomography; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; FLAIR, fluid-attenuating inversion recovery; DWI, diffusion-weighted imaging; SWI, susceptibility-weighted imaging.

diagnosis and excluding other causes of the CNS abnormalities (**Box 1**). This section describes workup that can aid in the diagnosis of AAV with CNS involvement, and with special interest, pays extra attention to the value of ANCA testing in-between.

ANCA Serology

ANCA testing is strongly recommended for patients with clinical features suggestive of AAV (**Table 1**) (6, 62). Its value lies mainly in AAV screening, and when positive, warrants further investigations for confirmative diagnosis. Positivity of the test is highly suggestive of AAV but not diagnostic by itself (6). However, the combination of ANCA positivity and certain clinical features are sufficient for AAV diagnosis, according to the widely-used classification algorithm proposed by Watts (28). A negative ANCA immunoassay, which occurs in up to half

of pathologically diagnosed GPA and MPA, does not exclude AAV (6, 63). The negativity may be related to the limited sensitivity of ANCA testing, especially at the early stage of disease without systemic involvement (7). The diagnosis of AAV cannot be excluded merely based on a negative ANCA test. Therefore, biopsy of the affected organ is required for seronegative patients (6).

Regarding the testing techniques of ANCA, the most recent consensus recommended high-quality antigen-specific immunoassays for MPO- and PR3- ANCAs detection (6). ELISAs are the preferred screening methodology with a high sensitivity and specificity. Indirect immunofluorescence (IIF) for cytoplasmic ANCA (C-ANCA) and perinuclear ANCA (P-ANCA) detection is no longer prioritized as the screening test, given its large variability and poor diagnostic accuracy (6). When necessary, performing another assay or testing with another different methodology can yield higher sensitivity and specificity (6). In cases of emergency such as pulmonary-renal syndrome, rapid screening assays for ANCAs, including dot blots and biochip technology, are also available (64).

Controversy remains in the role of ANCA levels in monitoring disease activity and prediction of prognosis (63). Published studies reveal inconsistent results regarding the role of ANCA levels in predicting clinical relapse and reflecting disease activity (65-67). A meta-analysis in 2012 concluded that both a rise in ANCA and persistently positive ANCA were strongly associated with disease relapse and had a modest predictive value (66). Furthermore, results from a recent single-center study indicated that the predictive value of ANCA was only significant in renalinvolved AAV, compared with those without renal involvement (68). Overall, current thinking holds that ANCA levels alone are helpful but not sufficient to determine relapse or reflect disease activity (6), and ANCA testing is not recommended to guide clinical decisions on treatment (61). Nevertheless, severe relapses are unlikely without elevated ANCA levels (69). The significance of serial monitoring remains to be proven.

Other Laboratory Investigations

A diligent workup should be ordered for patients suspected of AAV, including complete blood count (CBC), complete metabolic profile (CMP), acute phase reactants, the autoimmune panel, the endocrine panel, the complement level and investigations for potential infections. For patients with endocrine dysfunction or abnormal pituitary on MRI, levels of pituitary hormones also need to be investigated. Laboratory tests typically show elevated markers of inflammation. Leukocytosis, thrombocytosis, normochromic normocytic anemia, elevated erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive protein (CRP) values are indicative of the diagnosis (3, 7). Kidney functions, including serum creatinine and urinalysis, are warranted for the evaluation of renal injury. Regarding the autoimmune panel, autoantibodies other than ANCAs can be present (63), including antinuclear antibodies, rheumatoid factors, IgG4, anti-glomerular basement membrane antibodies and antiphospholipid antibodies, with unknown significance (63). Lastly, for differential diagnosis, investigations for potential infections (tuberculosis, human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis) and complement levels are also required.

Cerebrospinal Fluid

Lumbar puncture is warranted for suspected patients as well. CSF analysis has a high sensitivity but low specificity in the diagnosis of AAV-related CNS disease. Most had mild lymphocyte-predominant pleocytosis, elevated protein levels and normal glucose level (7, 25, 37). Therefore, a normal CSF analysis makes the diagnosis of AAV less likely. Infectious etiology and flow cytometry for atypical cancer cells should be tailored to clinical manifestations and risk factors.

Pathology

Histopathology is the gold standard for diagnosis of small vessel vasculitis. Samples can be taken from affected organs, most commonly the kidney and the skin. Lung and nasal biopsies are rarely performed, limited by the high rate of false negatives. Brain biopsies can also be taken from corresponding structures including the dura, brain parenchyma and the overlying leptomeninges. Typically two types of pathological findings have been described: (1) necrotizing vasculitis affecting small to medium vessels; (2) granulomatosis with inflammatory cell infiltration (monocytes, plasma cells, eosinophils, and polymorphonuclear leukocytes) (41). Fibrinoid necrosis and edema were also detected in some cases. In patients of HP, fibrosis of the dura mater was always present as well (24, 41). A negative yield of biopsy, however, does not exclude the diagnosis of AAV due to its segmental nature of lesions.

Differential Diagnosis

AAV must be distinguished from ANCA-positive conditions where ANCA does not exert a direct role in pathophysiology (**Box 2**). Multiple conditions other than AAV show an elevated titer of serum ANCAs. Nonetheless, ANCAs do not mediate a direct pathogenic role, but rather indicate a chronic immune response of neutrophil cell death most times (63). Compared with the mimics, a high level and affinity of ANCAs and clinical

Box 2 Conditions other than AAV with positive ANCA immunoassays $^{\#}.$
Vasculitis of other causes
Anti-GBM disease, IgA-vasculitis*
Gastrointestinal diseases
Ulcerative colitis, Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis, Inflammatory liver disease
Systemic inflammatory conditions
IgG4-related disease, Rheumatoid arthritis, Systemic lupus erythematous
Infection
Infective endocarditis, Tuberculosis, HIV, Amoeba infection
Malignancies
Hematological neoplasia
Drugs
Hydralazine, Propylthiouracil, Levamisole, Minocycline, Cocaine.
#The box is based upon previous reviews on related topics (6, 27). Serum
ANCAs should be tested according to the algorithm proposed by the 2017
consensus on testing of ANCAs (6).
*IgA-vasculitis can show positive IgA-ANCAs in the active stage of disease,
but IgG-ANCAs were rarely reported (27).
AAV, anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis; ANCA, anti-
neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies; GBM, glomerular basement membrane;
HIV, human immunodeficiency virus.

features suggestive of AAV are important clues for the correct diagnosis (6).

Differential diagnosis can be further narrowed down to entities with both similar CNS manifestations and ANCA positivity. These mainly include systemic inflammatory diseases (IgG4 related-disease, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, Bechet syndrome), infective diseases (tuberculosis, human immunodeficiency virus) and malignancies (lymphoma).

In particular, diagnosis of AAV can be especially difficult at an early stage with only CNS presentations and a seronegative ANCA test, which may be an under-recognized common occurrence (24). Characteristics and diagnostic criteria of this entity remain to be elucidated. Differential diagnosis is therefore protean, varying according to the specific CNS manifestation of the patient. We suggest a thorough investigation of systemic involvement to exclude alternative causes including infection and malignancy. In particular, A continued monitoring of ANCA testing may be useful for those with idiopathic hypertrophic pachymeningitis (24). Most importantly, biopsy of the lesion is highly recommended in such cases to confirm the diagnosis.

TREATMENT

Treatment should be started in a timely manner for patients highly suspected of AAV, even in the absence of pathological evidence. Steroid is an essential part of therapy, with the addition of a well-chosen immunosuppressant critical to prevent relapses and achieve remission of CNS symptoms in the long run. The treatment algorithm is shown in **Figure 2**. There are two phases of treatment, namely remissioninduction and remission-maintenance. The choice of regimen in each phase depends mainly on the disease stage of the



patient, as per the European Renal Association-European Dialysis and Transplant Association (ERA-EDTA) management recommendations for AAV (61). Generally, CNS involvement is regarded as an organ-threatening manifestation in AAV, especially for those with meningeal inflammation or retro-orbital disease. Remission-induction treatment for organ-threatening AAV typically consists of high-dose glucocorticoids and oral or intravenous (IV) cyclophosphamide (CYC) (1), termed CYCbased therapy. Glucocorticoids usually start with the dose of 1g intravenous methylprednisolone on 3 consecutive days, followed with 1 mg/kg daily oral corticosteroids (up to 80 mg per day), and a gradual reduction to daily dose of 7.5 to 10 mg within 3-5 months (7, 10). CYC can be given either intravenously in pulses or orally. The intravenous CYC, at a dose of 15 mg/kg (up to 1200 mg), are prescribed every 2 weeks initially and every 3 weeks from the 4th pulse. Daily oral CYC is given at a dose of 2 mg/kg/d. The CYC-based therapy is effective in 70-90% of patients (70), and the oral regimen can better prevent relapses (71). However, the daily oral regimen, compared with intravenous CYC, also poses more safety issues due to the cumulative toxicity (71, 72) including infertility, bladder hemorrhage, severe cytopenias, serious infection, and an increased risk of malignancy. Apart from the most recognized CYC-based therapy, the identification of the important role of B cells in the pathogenesis of AAV facilitated the use of rituximab (RTX) as an alternative to CYC (73). Two large randomized trials revealed RTX (375 mg/m², once a week for four infusions) to be equivalent to CYC in terms of efficacy and safety in remission induction for AAV among treatment-naïve patients, and likely superior for relapsing disease (74).

Once complete remission (absence of any disease activity, usually attained after 8–12 weeks of treatment) is achieved, patients should be started with maintenance therapy to prevent further relapses, which should be continued for at least 24 months (61). In the remission maintenance phase, the induction regimen is switched to a combination of low-dose glucocorticoids and an oral immunosuppressive agent such as azathioprine (AZA), methotrexate (MTX), mycophenolate mofetil (MMF), or RTX (61). AZA (2 mg/kg/day) is the most commonly used immunosuppressive agent for remission maintenance, with MTX (20–25 mg/kg/week) as a similar alternative (72). AZA, with a lower relapse rate, is generally preferred over MMF. However, the relapse rate remains as high as 40% by 2 years despite the maintenance therapy with AZA or MTX (75). RTX is a

potentially safer maintenance drug with a higher efficacy (76). However, the utility and toxicity profile of RTX require further confirmation (76–80). In addition, the adjunctive use of plasma exchange (PLEX) (7 sessions over 2 weeks) in AAV patients with severe renal dysfunction and/or alveolar hemorrhage seems reasonable in the short-term, but remains elusive in the long run (81).

Another issue to tackle in AAV is the treatment response. Refractory to remission-induction treatment is defined as follows: (1) unchanged or increased disease activity after 4 weeks of treatment (2) <50% reduction in the disease score [e.g., Birmingham Vasculitis Activity Score (BVAS)] after 6 weeks of treatment (3) Presence of at least one major or three minor items on the disease activity score after over 12 weeks of treatment (61, 82). For AAV patients refractory to therapy, reevaluation and optimization of treatment, in close collaboration with experts, are recommended (61). Adjunctive intravenous immunoglobulin may help for those with persistent low disease activity (61, 83). Furthermore, relapses are not uncommon in AAV. Major relapses with organ- or life-threatening conditions are treated as per new disease, while non-severe relapses should be managed with an escalation or modification of the previous immunosuppressive regimen (61).

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

For neurologists, prompt diagnosis of AAV in patients with CNS presentations allows timely treatment and thus a dramatic improvement in prognosis. A myriad of CNS presentations including hypertrophic pachymeningitis, ischemic stroke, intracranial hemorrhage and pituitary dysfunction, combined

REFERENCES

- Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Bacon PA, Basu N, Cid MC, Ferrario F, et al. 2012 revised International Chapel Hill consensus conference nomenclature of vasculitides. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2013) 65:1–11. doi: 10.1002/art.37715
- Sada K, Yamamura M, Harigai M, Fujii T, Dobashi H, Takasaki Y, et al. Classification and characteristics of Japanese patients with antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis in a nationwide prospective, inception cohort study. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2014) 16: R101. doi: 10.1186/ar4550
- Zhang W, Zhou G, Shi Q, Zhang X, Zeng XF, Zhang FC. Clinical analysis of nervous system involvement in ANCA-associated systemic vasculitides. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2009) 27(1 Suppl 52):S65–9.
- Agard C, Mouthon L, Mahr A, Guillevin Lc. Microscopic polyangiitis and polyarteritis nodosa: how and when do they start? *Arthrit Rheum.* (2003) 49:709–15. doi: 10.1002/art.11387
- Graf J. Central nervous system disease in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies-associated vasculitis. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* (2017) 43:573–8. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2017.06.006
- Bossuyt X, Cohen Tervaert JW, Arimura Y, Blockmans D, Flores-Suarez LF, Guillevin L, et al. Position paper: Revised 2017 international consensus on testing of ANCAs in granulomatosis with polyangiitis and microscopic polyangiitis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2017) 13:683–92. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2017.140
- Kallenberg CG. Key advances in the clinical approach to ANCAassociated vasculitis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2014) 10:484–93. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2014.104

with certain systemic symptoms, raise the suspicion of AAV. Further ancillary tests are required, among which ANCA testing yields a great diagnostic value. ANCA positivity strongly suggests the diagnosis of AAV but ANCA negativity does not rule out the diagnosis. Once diagnosed, early treatment with steroid and immunosuppressant is essential to prevent neurological relapses and sequelae.

Recent evidence suggests the presence of "CNS-limited AAV" as a distinct subset in AAV. Efforts to better elucidate its phenotypic features, optimal treatment and long-term outcome are an important focus of future research. Furthermore, accumulating studies suggest that PR3-ANCAs and MPO-ANCAs define distinctive conditions among patients with AAV. Whether the same rule applies to the neurological conditions in CNS-involved AAV, however, remains unknown. Continued attempts are needed to validate the utility of ANCA specificity in classifying CNS manifestations, guiding treatment decisions, and predicting prognosis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YZ: contributed to data collection, conception of the work and drafting the manuscript. YxZ: conception of the work and revising the manuscript. MC: revising the manuscript and figures. NL: revising the manuscript and tables. ZC and MD: revising the manuscript and final approval of the version to be published.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant numbers 81671283; 81872844).

- Lyons PA, Rayner TF, Trivedi S, Holle JU, Watts RA, Jayne DR, et al. Genetically distinct subsets within ANCA-associated vasculitis. N Engl J Med. (2012) 367:214–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1108735
- van der Geest KSM, Brouwer E, Sanders JS, Sandovici M, Bos NA, Boots AMH, et al. Towards precision medicine in ANCA-associated vasculitis. *Rheumatology* (2018) 57:1332–9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ kex367
- Sznajd J, Mukhtyar C. How to treat ANCAassociated vasculitis: practical messages from 2016 EULAR/ERAEDTA recommendations. *Pol Arch Med Wewn* (2016) 126:781–8. doi: 10.20452/pamw.3598
- Jennette JC, Falk RJ. Pathogenesis of antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody-mediated disease. Nat Rev Rheumatol. (2014) 10:463–73. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2014.103
- Cornec D, Gall EC-L, Fervenza FC, Specks U. ANCA-associated vasculitis

 clinical utility of using ANCA specificity to classify patients. Nat Rev Rheumatol. (2016) 12:570–9. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2016.123
- Chen M, Jayne DRW, Zhao M-H. Complement in ANCA-associated vasculitis: mechanisms and implications for management. *Nat Rev Nephrol.* (2017) 13:359–67. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2017.37
- Soderberg D, Segelmark M. Neutrophil extracellular traps in ANCA-Associated Vasculitis. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:256. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00256
- Dumoitier N, Terrier B, London J, Lofek S, Mouthon L. Implication of B lymphocytes in the pathogenesis of ANCA-associated vasculitides. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2015) 14:996–1004. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2015.06.008
- 16. Feng B, Tang Y, Chen B, Xu C, Wang Y, Dai Y, et al. Transient increase of interleukin-1beta after prolonged febrile seizures promotes
adult epileptogenesis through long-lasting upregulating endocannabinoid signaling. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:21931. doi: 10.1038/srep21931

- Zhao J, Wang Y, Xu C, Liu K, Wang Y, Chen L, et al. Therapeutic potential of an anti-high mobility group box-1 monoclonal antibody in epilepsy. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2017) 64:308–19. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.02.002
- Crisp SJ, Kullmann DM, Vincent A. Autoimmune synaptopathies. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2016) 17:103–17. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2015.27
- Berlit P. Diagnosis and treatment of cerebral vasculitis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. (2010) 3:29–42. doi: 10.1177/1756285609347123
- Morgan MD, Day CJ, Piper KP, Khan N, Harper L, Moss PA, et al. Patients with Wegener's granulomatosis demonstrate a relative deficiency and functional impairment of T-regulatory cells. *Immunology* (2010) 130:64–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03213.x
- Petersen HJ, Smith AM. The role of the innate immune system in granulomatous disorders. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:120. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00120
- Holle JU, Gross WL. Neurological involvement in Wegener's granulomatosis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* (2011) 23:7–11. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e3283 4115f9
- Drachman DA. Neurological Complications of Wegener's Granulomatosis. Arch Neurol. (1963) 8:145–55. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1963.00460020045003
- Yokoseki A, Saji E, Arakawa M, Kosaka T, Hokari M, Toyoshima Y, et al. Hypertrophic pachymeningitis: significance of myeloperoxidase anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody. *Brain* (2014) 137(Pt 2):520–36. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt314
- Fragoulis GE, Lionaki S, Venetsanopoulou A, Vlachoyiannopoulos PG, Moutsopoulos HM, Tzioufas AG. Central nervous system involvement in patients with granulomatosis with polyangiitis: a single-center retrospective study. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2018) 37:737–47. doi: 10.1007/s10067-017-3835-y
- Seror R, Mahr A, Ramanoelina J, Pagnoux C, Cohen P, Guillevin L. Central nervous system involvement in Wegener granulomatosis. *Medicine* (2006) 85:54–65. doi: 10.1097/01.md.0000200166.90373.41
- Weiner M, Segelmark M. The clinical presentation and therapy of diseases related to anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCA). *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:978–82. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.07.016
- Watts R, Lane S, Hanslik T, Hauser T, Hellmich B, Koldingsnes W, et al. Development and validation of a consensus methodology for the classification of the ANCA-associated vasculitides and polyarteritis nodosa for epidemiological studies. *Ann Dis.* (2006) 66:222–7. doi: 10.1136/ard.2006.054593
- Yanagiha K, Ishii K, Ueno T, Marushima A, Tamaoka A. Medial medullary infarction caused by antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-related vasculitis: Case report and review of the literature. *Medicine* (2017) 96:e7722. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000007722
- Chen NC, Lai PH, Fang HC, Chou KJ, Chen CL. Microscopic polyangiitis with an initial presentation of pontine infarction. *Am J Med Sci.* (2012) 344:163–5. doi: 10.1097/MAJ.0b013e3182536789
- Iglesias E, Eleftheriou D, Mankad K, Prabhakar P, Brogan PA. Microscopic polyangiitis presenting with hemorrhagic stroke. J Child Neurol. (2014) 29:NP1-4. doi: 10.1177/0883073813488661
- 32. Ito Y, Suzuki K, Yamazaki T, Yoshizawa T, Ohkoshi N, Matsumura A. ANCA-associated vasculitis (AAV) causing bilateral cerebral infarction and subsequent intracerebral hemorrhage without renal and respiratory dysfunction. *J Neurol Sci.* (2006) 240(1–2):99–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2005.07.003
- Aratani S, Sakai Y, Tsuruoka S. A case of microscopic polyangiitis with subarachnoid hemorrhage and cardiovascular complications. J Nippon Med Sch. (2017) 84:251–5. doi: 10.1272/jnms.84.251
- Abdel Razek AA, Alvarez H, Bagg S, Refaat S, Castillo M. Imaging spectrum of CNS vasculitis. *Radiographics* (2014) 34:873–94. doi: 10.1148/rg.344135028
- Fuentes AG, Komarla A, Gomez JI. Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome in a patient with ANCA-associated vasculitis. *Rheumatol Int.* (2012) 32:2529–30. doi: 10.1007/s00296-010-1367-8
- Patel UV, Patel NJ. Posterior reversible leukoencephalopathy syndrome as a presenting manifestation of p-ANCA-associated vasculitis. *BMJ Case Rep.* (2014) 2014;bcr2013202022. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2013-202022
- De Luna G, Terrier B, Kaminsky P, Le Quellec A, Maurier F, Solans R, et al. Central nervous system involvement of granulomatosis with polyangiitis:

clinical-radiological presentation distinguishes different outcomes. *Rheumatology* (2015) 54:424–32. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keu336

- Spisek R, Kolouchova E, Jensovsky J, Rusina R, Fendrych P, Plas J, et al. Combined CNS and pituitary involvement as a primary manifestation of Wegener granulomatosis. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2006) 25:739–42. doi: 10.1007/s10067-005-0065-5
- 39. Berlis A, Petschner F, Botefur IC, Spreer J. Wegener granuloma in the fourth ventricle. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2003) 24:523–5.
- Mattioli F, Capra R, Rovaris M, Chiari S, Codella M, Miozzo A, et al. Frequency and patterns of subclinical cognitive impairment in patients with ANCA-associated small vessel vasculitides. *J Neurol Sci.* (2002) 195:161–6. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(02)00015-1
- Yonekawa T, Murai H, Utsuki S, Matsushita T, Masaki K, Isobe N, et al. A nationwide survey of hypertrophic pachymeningitis in Japan. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2013) 85:732–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-306410
- 42. Choi HA, Lee MJ, Chung CS. Characteristics of hypertrophic pachymeningitis in patients with granulomatosis with polyangiitis. *J Neurol.* (2017) 264:724–32. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8416-0
- 43. Pakalniskis MG, Berg AD, Policeni BA, Gentry LR, Sato Y, Moritani T, et al. The many faces of granulomatosis with polyangiitis: a review of the head and neck imaging manifestations. *Am J Roentgenol.* (2015) 205:W619–29. doi: 10.2214/AJR.14.13864
- Kapoor E, Cartin-Ceba R, Specks U, Leavitt J, Erickson B, Erickson D. Pituitary dysfunction in granulomatosis with polyangiitis: the mayo clinic experience. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2014) 99:3988–94. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1962
- Esposito D, Trimpou P, Giugliano D, Dehlin M, Ragnarsson O. Pituitary dysfunction in granulomatosis with polyangiitis. *Pituitary* (2017) 20:594–601. doi: 10.1007/s11102-017-0811-0
- Yong TY, Li JY. Pituitary involvement in granulomatosis with polyangiitis. J Clin Rheumatol. (2014) 20:123–4. doi: 10.1097/RHU.000000000000092
- 47. De Parisot A, Puechal X, Langrand C, Raverot G, Gil H, Perard L, et al. Pituitary involvement in granulomatosis with polyangiitis: report of 9 patients and review of the literature. *Medicine* (2015) 94:e748. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000748
- Decker ML, Emery DJ, Smyth PS, Lu J-Q, Lacson A, Yacyshyn E. Microscopic polyangiitis with spinal cord involvement: a case report and review of the literature. J Stroke Cereb Dis. (2016) 25:1696–704. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2016.01.034
- Nair RP, Kongwad LI. Nontuberculous antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodypositive pachymeningitis presenting as high cervical myelopathy. World Neurosurg. (2017) 107:1042 e1– 1042.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.wneu.2017.08.035
- Soderstrom A, Revaz S, Dudler J. Cranial neuropathies in granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's): a case-based review. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2015) 34:591–6. doi: 10.1007/s10067-013-2420-2
- Gwathmey KG, Burns TM, Collins MP, Dyck PJ. Vasculitic neuropathies. Lancet Neurol. (2014) 13:67–82. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70236-9
- Guillevin L, Durand-Gasselin B, Cevallos R, Gayraud M, Lhote F, Callard P, et al. Microscopic polyangiitis: clinical and laboratory findings in eighty-five patients. *Arthritis Rheum*. (1999) 42:421–30.
- Nowack R, Wachtler P, Kunz J, Rasmussen N. Cranial nerve palsy in Wegener's granulomatosis–lessons from clinical cases. J Neurol. (2009) 256:299–304. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-0121-1
- Kubaisi B, Abu Samra K, Foster CS. Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's disease): An updated review of ocular disease manifestations. *Intractable Rare Dis Res.* (2016) 5:61–9. doi: 10.5582/irdr.2016.01014
- Papaliodis GN. Ophthalmologic manifestations of systemic vasculitis. Curr Opin Ophthalmol. (2017) 28:613–6. doi: 10.1097/ICU.00000000000422
- Vodopivec I, Lobo AM, Prasad S. Ocular inflammation in neurorheumatic disease. Semin Neurol. (2014) 34:444–57. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1390393
- Hilhorst M, van Paassen P, Tervaert JW, Limburg Renal R. Proteinase 3-ANCA Vasculitis versus Myeloperoxidase-ANCA Vasculitis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2015) 26:2314–27. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014090903
- 58. Lionaki S, Blyth ER, Hogan SL, Hu Y, Senior BA, Jennette CE, et al. Classification of antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody vasculitides: the role of antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibody specificity for myeloperoxidase or proteinase 3 in disease recognition and prognosis. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2012) 64:3452–62. doi: 10.1002/art.34562

- Mahr A, Katsahian S, Varet H, Guillevin L, Hagen EC, Hoglund P, et al. Revisiting the classification of clinical phenotypes of antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis: a cluster analysis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2013) 72:1003–10. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201750
- Unizony S, Villarreal M, Miloslavsky EM, Lu N, Merkel PA, Spiera R, et al. Clinical outcomes of treatment of anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitis based on ANCA type. Ann Rheum Dis. (2016) 75:1166–9. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-208073
- Yates M, Watts RA, Bajema IM, Cid MC, Crestani B, Hauser T, et al. EULAR/ERA-EDTA recommendations for the management of ANCA-associated vasculitis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2016) 75:1583–94. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2016-209133
- Basu N, Watts R, Bajema I, Baslund B, Bley T, Boers M, et al. EULAR points to consider in the development of classification and diagnostic criteria in systemic vasculitis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2010) 69:1744–50. doi: 10.1136/ard.2009.119032
- Wiik AS. Autoantibodies in ANCA-associated vasculitis. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* (2010) 36:479–89. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2010.05.001
- Csernok E, Moosig F. Current and emerging techniques for ANCA detection in vasculitis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2014) 10:494–501. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2014.78
- Segelmark M, Phillips BD, Hogan SL, Falk RJ, Jennette JC. Monitoring proteinase 3 antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies for detection of relapses in small vessel vasculitis. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* (2003) 10:769–74. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.10.5.769-774.2003
- 66. Tomasson G, Grayson PC, Mahr AD, Lavalley M, Merkel PA. Value of ANCA measurements during remission to predict a relapse of ANCA-associated vasculitis–a meta-analysis. *Rheumatology* (2012) 51:100–9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ker280
- 67. Morgan MD, Szeto M, Walsh M, Jayne D, Westman K, Rasmussen N, et al. Negative anti-neutrophil cytoplasm antibody at switch to maintenance therapy is associated with a reduced risk of relapse. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2017) 19:129. doi: 10.1186/s13075-017-1321-1
- Kemna MJ, Damoiseaux J, Austen J, Winkens B, Peters J, van Paassen P, et al. ANCA as a predictor of relapse: useful in patients with renal involvement but not in patients with nonrenal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2015) 26:537–42. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013111233
- Specks U. Accurate relapse prediction in ANCA-associated vasculitisthe search for the Holy Grail. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2015) 26:505–7. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014080817
- Jones RB, Tervaert JW, Hauser T, Luqmani R, Morgan MD, Peh CA, et al. Rituximab versus cyclophosphamide in ANCA-associated renal vasculitis. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:211–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0909169
- Harper L, Morgan MD, Walsh M, Hoglund P, Westman K, Flossmann O, et al. Pulse versus daily oral cyclophosphamide for induction of remission in ANCA-associated vasculitis: long-term follow-up. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2012) 71:955–60. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2011-200477
- 72. Pagnoux C, Mahr A, Hamidou MA, Boffa JJ, Ruivard M, Ducroix JP, et al. Azathioprine or Methotrexate Maintenance for ANCA-Associated

Vasculitis. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:2790-803. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa08 02311

- Jennette JC, Falk RJ. B cell-mediated pathogenesis of ANCAmediated vasculitis. Semin Immunopathol. (2014) 36:327–38. doi: 10.1007/s00281-014-0431-y
- Stone JH, Merkel PA, Spiera R, Seo P, Langford CA, Hoffman GS, et al. Rituximab versus cyclophosphamide for ANCA-associated vasculitis. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:221–32. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0909905
- Tanna A, Pusey C. Clinical trials. Rituximab for maintenance of remission in AAV. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2015) 11:131–2. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2014.254
- Pendergraft WF, Cortazar FB, Wenger J, Murphy AP, Rhee EP, Laliberte KA, et al. Long-term maintenance therapy using rituximab-induced continuous Bcell depletion in patients with ANCA vasculitis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2014) 9:736–44. doi: 10.2215/CJN.07340713
- 77. Cartin-Ceba R, Golbin JM, Keogh KA, Peikert T, Sanchez-Menendez M, Ytterberg SR, et al. Rituximab for remission induction and maintenance in refractory granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's): ten-year experience at a single center. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2012) 64:3770–8. doi: 10.1002/art.34584
- Rhee EP, Laliberte KA, Niles JL. Rituximab as maintenance therapy for antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2010) 5:1394–400. doi: 10.2215/CJN.08821209
- Besada E, Koldingsnes W, Nossent JC. Long-term efficacy and safety of pre-emptive maintenance therapy with rituximab in granulomatosis with polyangiitis: results from a single centre. *Rheumatology* (2013) 52:2041–7. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ket257
- Guillevin L, Pagnoux C, Karras A, Khouatra C, Aumaitre O, Cohen P, et al. Rituximab versus azathioprine for maintenance in ANCA-associated vasculitis. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:1771–80. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1404231
- Matthew J. Koster KJW. Recent advances in understanding and treating vasculitis. *F1000Research* (2016) 5:1436. doi: 10.12688/f1000research. 8403.1
- Hellmich B, Flossmann O, Gross WL, Bacon P, Cohen-Tervaert JW, Guillevin L, et al. EULAR recommendations for conducting clinical studies and/or clinical trials in systemic vasculitis: focus on anti-neutrophil cytoplasm antibody-associated vasculitis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2007) 66:605–17. doi: 10.1136/ard.2006.062711
- Fortin PM, Tejani AM, Bassett K, Musini VM. Intravenous immunoglobulin as adjuvant therapy for Wegener's granulomatosis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2013) CD007057. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007057

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zheng, Zhang, Cai, Lai, Chen and Ding. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Different Clinical Features Between Autoimmune and Infectious Status Epilepticus

Chih-Hsiang Lin¹, Yan-Ting Lu¹, Chen-Jui Ho¹, Fu-Yuan Shih² and Meng-Han Tsai^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan, ² Department of Neurosurgery, Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, College of Medicine, Chang Gung University, Kaohsiung, Taiwan

Objective: The prognosis of status epilepticus (SE) is highly related to the underlying etiology. Inflammation of the central nervous system (CNS), including infection and autoimmune encephalitis, is one of the treatable conditions causing SE. The initial presentation of infectious and autoimmune CNS disorders can be quite similar, which may be difficult to differentiate at the beginning. However, treatment for these entities can be quite different. In this study, we aim to identify the differences in clinical features among patients with infectious and autoimmune SE, which could help the clinicians to select initial investigation and ensuing therapies that may improve overall outcomes.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patrick Kwan, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Sonja Hochmeister, Medical University of Graz, Austria Adam Strzelczyk, Universitätsklinikum Frankfurt, Germany

> *Correspondence: Meng-Han Tsai menghan@cgmh.org.tw

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 11 July 2018 Accepted: 09 January 2019 Published: 13 February 2019

Citation:

Lin C-H, Lu Y-T, Ho C-J, Shih F-Y and Tsai M-H (2019) The Different Clinical Features Between Autoimmune and Infectious Status Epilepticus. Front. Neurol. 10:25. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00025 **Methods:** This was a retrospective study that included 501 patients with SE within a period of 10.5-years. Patients with inflammatory etiology were collected and separated into infectious and autoimmune SE. The symptoms at onset, SE semiology, status epilepticus severity score, and END-IT score at admission, treatment for SE, and outcome (modified Rankin Scale) on discharge and last follow-up were recorded. Data on the first cerebrospinal fluid, electroencephalography, and magnetic resonance imaging were also collected.

Results: Forty-six (9.2%) of the 501 patients had SE with inflammatory etiology. Twenty-five (5%) patients were autoimmune SE and 21 (4.2%) were infectious SE. Patients with autoimmune SE have younger age and female predominance. As for clinical presentations, psychosis, non-convulsive SE, and super refractory SE were more common in patients with autoimmune SE. Nevertheless, the prognosis showed no difference between the two groups.

Conclusion: The different initial clinical presentations and patient characteristics may provide some clues about the underlying etiology of SE. When inflammatory etiology is suspected in patients with SE, younger age, female sex, psychosis, non-convulsive SE, and super refractory SE are clinical features that suggest an autoimmune etiology.

Keywords: status epilepticus, inflammatory, autoimmune, infection, autoantibody

INTRODUCTION

Status epilepticus (SE) is a neurological emergency associated with significant morbidity and mortality that usually requires admission to an intensive care unit (1-3). The goal when treating SE is to terminate the clinical and electrographic seizure activities as soon as possible (4). Even though antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) can be used to control seizures (5), the prognosis of SE is highly related to age and the underlying etiology (6–8). To further improve outcomes, targeted management of the underlying causes may be required (4, 9).

Brain inflammation can also cause SE (10, 11), including central nervous system (CNS) infections and autoimmune encephalitis (12). These conditions can be treated and may result in significantly different outcomes (13-15). Altered mental status is the most common initial presentation of inflammatory SE (12). However, it is an ambiguous sign that provides little information on the underlying etiology. Currently available investigations could help in initial differential diagnosis but have some limitations. Laboratory tests such as bacterial or viral culture, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for specific pathogens, or autoantibody testing may not be immediately available (13, 16) and the results may take a few days or weeks to return. Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) studies are useful to confirm the diagnose of bacterial infections, but are less effective in distinguishing between viral infections and autoimmune processes (13, 17). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can provide evidence of CNS inflammation, but not the underlying cause of the inflammation (18). Electroencephalography (EEG) may sometimes show patterns that suggest a specific diagnosis, such as extreme delta brush in patients with anti-N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) receptor encephalitis, but the findings are mostly non-specific (19).

Only two studies have specifically addressed the differences between infectious and autoimmune etiology. Spatola et al. were the first to report that patients with an infectious etiology were older in age and had a more severe clinical presentation at first encounter (20). Subsequently, Shin et al. found that patients with an autoimmune etiology were younger (11). Herein, we retrospectively reviewed our patients with SE and an inflammatory etiology over a 10.5-year period. We aimed to identify the presenting factors that may assist clinicians in differentiating the two entities earlier, which may lead to faster targeted treatment and better patient outcomes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

We retrospectively reviewed the medical records of all patients with SE admitted to the Neurological Intensive Care Unit at Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital between January 2006 and July 2016. This study was approved by the Chang Gung Medical Foundation Institutional Review Board.

Definitions and Criteria

SE was defined as 5 min or more of continuous clinical and/or electrographic seizure activity or recurrent seizure activity

without recovery (returning to baseline) between seizures (21). Refractory SE was defined as SE not responded to first-line therapy (benzodiazepine) or second-line therapy and requiring general anesthesia (22). Super refractory SE was defined as SE continues 24 h or more after the onset of anesthesia, including those cases in which the SE recurs on the reduction or withdrawal of anesthesia (22). The semiology and etiology of SE were classified according to the International League Against Epilepsy Task Force report (23).

Inflammatory SE was defined as SE due to acute inflammation of the brain parenchyma, with or without the involvement of the meninges (12), and further divided into SE due to CNS infection and autoimmune SE. Autoimmune SE included autoimmune encephalitis and systemic autoimmune disorders causing SE (23). Patients with an identified etiology for SE such as cerebrovascular disease, intracranial tumor, head trauma, metabolic disturbance, alcohol-related, AED withdrawal, neurodegenerative disease, mitochondrial disease, and medically refractory epilepsy were excluded. Patients with an unknown etiology and those without CSF data were also excluded from this study.

Autoimmune SE was defined as suggested by previous experts' consensus (16):

- 1. Subacute onset (rapid progression of fewer than 3 months) of working memory deficits (short-term memory loss), altered mental status, or psychiatric symptoms.
- 2. At least one of the followings:
 - New focal CNS findings
 - Seizures not explained by a previously known seizure disorder
 - CSF pleocytosis (white blood cell count of more than five cells per mm3)
 - MRI features suggestive of encephalitis
- 3. Reasonable exclusion of alternative causes

SE patients who had positive neuronal surface auto-antibodies testing (EUROIMMUN, Autoimmune Encephalitis Mosaic 6 assay, Germany) in serum or CSF were also considered as autoimmune SE.

Infectious SE was diagnosed if microbiologic studies demonstrated an infectious agent. Those without evidence of microbiologic studies would have to fulfill one of the underlying criteria (20): (1) fever>38.5°C, (2) increased white blood cell count or C-reactive protein, (3) findings highly suggestive of a bacterial infection, such as turbid CSF, neutrophilic pleocytosis, or low CSF to serum glucose ratio (<0.5), or (4) clinical picture suggestive of a viral origin plus lymphocytic pleocytosis on CSF study with positive PCR result or serology test shows a 4-fold increase of viral antibodies 3 weeks after the onset of illness (24).

Clinical information was recorded using a standardized evaluation form, including the symptoms at onset, SE semiology and classification, status epilepticus severity score (STESS) (25) and the END-IT score (26) at admission, treatment for SE, and outcome at discharge and last follow-up. A STESS score \geq 3 (25) or an END-IT score \geq 3 (26) suggested a poor outcome. Data on the first acquired CSF, EEG, and MRI studies were collected. The EEG was described according to



the 2012 American Clinical Neurophysiology Society's (ACNS) Standardized Critical Care EEG Terminology (27), which we categorized into background slowing activity, sporadic epileptiform discharge, periodic discharge, and electrographic seizures (11). MRI findings including the location and symmetry of signal changes on fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) and diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) were recorded (10). Clinical outcomes at discharge and the last follow-up were graded using the modified Rankin Scale (mRS). A good outcome was defined as an mRS score ≤ 3 and a poor outcome was defined as an mRS score ≥ 3 .

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows (version 22; IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States). To compare demographic data between infectious and autoimmune groups, categorical variables were assessed using Chi-square or Fisher exact tests, and continuous variables were compared using the Mann-Whitney *U*-test. p < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

During the 10.5-year study period (January 2006–June 2016), 501 patients with SE were reviewed, of whom 46 (9.2%) had an inflammatory etiology, including 25 females (54.3%) and 21 males (45.7%). Of the excluded patients, 237 had cerebrovascular disease, 77 had metabolic disturbances, 43 had head trauma, 39 had intracranial tumors, 11 had AED withdrawal, 11 had alcohol-related SE, three had neurodegenerative diseases, two had mitochondrial diseases, and three had medically refractory epilepsy. Of the three patients with medically refractory epilepsy, two had Dravet syndrome and one had focal cortical dysplasia. Patients without CSF data (n = 21) and those with an unknown etiology (n = 8) were also excluded (**Figure 1**).

The clinical characteristics of the 46 patients with inflammatory SE are presented in **Table 1**. Among the 46 patients, 25 (54.3%) had autoimmune SE, and 21 (45.7%) had infectious SE. In the patients with autoimmune SE, five were related to anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, four were related to Hashimoto encephalopathy, one was related to CNS lupus, one was related to anti-collapsin response mediator protein 5 encephalitis, and 14 were diagnosed according to the criteria of autoimmune encephalitis (16). Of these 14 patients, five had received cell-based anti-neuronal antibody assays with negative results. The remaining nine patients did not receive anti-neuronal auto-antibody tests as the test was not available at the time of diagnosis. With regards to the patients with infectious SE, six had bacterial infections, 12 had viral infections, two had cryptococcal meningitis, and one had Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease.

The clinical features of infectious and autoimmune SE are compared in Table 2. The median age at onset of the patients with autoimmune SE was younger than that of the patients with infectious SE (32 vs. 56, p = 0.015), and more of the patients with autoimmune SE were female compared to those with infectious SE (68.0 vs. 38.1%, p = 0.043). The initial presentation of both groups was similar, including the STESS and END-IT score at admission, onset symptoms, and latency of seizures after the initial symptoms. Psychosis was the presenting symptom only in the autoimmune SE group (24.0 vs. 0.0%, p = 0.025) and non-convulsive SE was more prevalent among the patients with autoimmune SE compared to those with infectious SE (32.0 vs. 4.8%, p = 0.027). Refractory SE occurred more commonly in the autoimmune SE than in the infectious SE group, but the difference was not statistically significant (88.0 vs. 66.7%, p = 0.081). Super refractory SE was more common in the autoimmune SE group than in the infectious SE group (41.3 vs. 19.0%, p = 0.007). The number of AEDs used was similar between both groups, but the use of general anesthesia was more common in the autoimmune SE group than in the infectious SE group (64.0 vs. 23.8%, p = 0.006). However, the duration of admission or ICU stay, mRS score at discharge, and mortality rate during admission were similar between the two groups. The sensitivity and specificity for STESS to predict the outcome at discharge were 70.6 and 44.8%, respectively, compared to 68.8 and 45.5% at last follow-up. The sensitivity and specificity for the END-IT score to predict the outcome at discharge were 9.4 and 100.0%, respectively, compared to 21.4 and 100.0% at last follow-up.

The results of CSF and EEG are presented in Table 3 and the MRI findings are summarized in Table 4. Patients with infectious SE had a higher median CSF protein level (93.0 mg/dL vs. 34.8 mg/dL, p = 0.014), higher median white blood cell count (20 vs. 3 cell/mm³, p = 0.011), higher percentage of neutrophilic predominance (52.9 vs. 15.4%, p = 0.034), and higher percentage of low CSF/blood glucose ratio (56.3 vs. 24.0%, p = 0.036) compared to the patients with autoimmune SE, who had a higher percentage of lymphocytic predominance (84.6 vs. 47.1%, p = 0.034). There was no significant difference in IgG index between the two groups. The autoimmune SE group tended to have a higher rate of background slowing activity in the first EEG, but the difference between autoimmune and infection was not statistically different (56.0 vs. 28.6%, p = 0.081). The presence of sporadic epileptiform discharge, periodic discharge, or electrographic seizure was similar among the two groups in the first EEG study. With regards to the first MRI findings, an abnormal FLAIR signal was observed in 11 patients with autoimmune SE and eight patients with infectious SE. A restricted diffusion signal on DWI was found in 14 patients with autoimmune SE and 10 patients with infectious SE. However, there were no significant differences in abnormalities in the FLAIR and DWI signals between the two groups. Detailed descriptions of the locations of the abnormal signals on FLAIR and DWI are presented in Table 4.

DISCUSSION

Inflammatory SE is a previously under-recognized subgroup of SE. In the current study, 9.2% of all cases of SE were related to an inflammatory etiology, which is in accordance with previous studies (range from 6 to 12.8%) (11, 20). Inflammatory SE has two main etiologies, infectious, and autoimmune SE, which is at times difficult to differentiate at the initial presentation. We found that younger age, female sex, the presence of psychosis, nonconvulsive SE, lymphocytic predominance in CSF were more commonly observed in the patients with autoimmune SE, while a high CSF total protein level, pleocytosis, and reduced glucose ratio were more common in those with infectious SE. EEG and MRI are important tools to confirm the diagnosis of SE and exclude structural lesions (19, 28), but were not particularly helpful in the current study. TABLE 1 | Demographic data of inflammatory SE patients.

	Patients ($n = 46$
Onset age (years)	45 (28–60)
Female	25 (54.3)
Onset symptom	
Fever	24 (52.2)
Decreased consciousness	17 (37.0)
Seizure	10 (21.7)
Upper respiratory tract infection	8 (17.4)
Headache	6 (13.0)
Psychosis	6 (13.0)
Fatigue	3 (6.5)
Cognitive decline	1 (2.2)
Latency of seizure after onset symptoms (days)	3 (0–7)
STESS \geq 3 at admission	18 (39.1)
END-IT score ≥3 at admission	43 (93.5)
SE with prominent motor symptoms	37 (80.4)
Generalized convulsive SE	25 (54.3)
Epilepsia partialis continua	6 (13.0)
Focal onset evolving into bilateral convulsive SE	4 (8.7)
Myoclonic SE with coma	1 (2.2)
Hyperkinetic SE	1 (2.2)
Non-convulsive SE	9 (19.6)
Non-convulsive SE with coma	6 (13.0)
Myoclonic absence status	1 (2.2)
Non-convulsive SE without impairment of consciousness	1 (2.2)
Aphasic status	1 (2.2)
Number of AEDs used	3 (2-3)
Refractory SE	36 (78.3)
Super refractory SE	19 (41.3)
Required general anesthesia for SE control	21 (45.7)
Death during admission	13 (28.3)
Days of admission	39 (26-79)
Days in ICU	33.5 (11-60)
More than two AEDs at discharge	17 (36.9)
Good outcome at discharge (mRS<3)	17 (36.9)
Good outcome at last follow up (mRS<3)	16 (34.8)

Continuous variables were presented as median (interguartile range)

Categorical variables were presented as n (%).

AED, antiepileptic drug; ICU, intensive care unit; mRS, modified Rankin Scale; SE, status epilepticus; STESS, status epilepticus severity score.

Among all patients with SE, infection accounted for 4.2% and autoimmune accounted for 5%. This suggests that autoimmune SE is as common as infectious SE (20, 29), and therefore clinical features that can distinguish the two entities are important for intensive care physicians who care for patients with SE. We observed some differences in the presenting features of those with autoimmune and infectious SE. The age at onset was younger in the patients with autoimmune SE, which has also been reported in two previous studies (11, 20). Female predominance was also observed in the autoimmune SE group in this study, which is in accordance with previous reports that reported females predominance in autoimmune encephalitis and systemic autoimmune disorders (14, 30, 31). TABLE 2 | Comparison of the clinical features of autoimmune and infectious SE.

	Autoimmune SE ($n = 25$)	Infectious SE $(n = 21)$	<i>p</i> -value	OR (95% CI)
Onset age (years)	32 (23–49.5)	56 (36.5–68.5)	0.015	
Female	17 (68.0)	8 (38.1)	0.043	0.29 (0.09–0.98)
Onset symptom				
Fever	13 (52.0)	11 (52.4)	0.979	0.99 (0.31–3.15)
Decrease consciousness	9 (36.0)	8 (38.1)	0.883	0.91 (0.28–3.04)
Seizure	6 (24.0)	4 (19.0)	0.685	1.34 (0.32–5.58)
Upper respiratory tract infection	5 (20.0)	3 (14.3)	0.611	1.50 (0.31–7.19)
Headache	2 (8.0)	4 (19.0)	0.268	0.37 (0.06–2.26)
Psychosis	6 (24.0)	0 (0.0)	0.025	
Fatigue	1 (4.0)	2 (9.5)	0.450	0.4 (0.03–4.70)
Cognitive decline	0 (0.0)	1 (4.8)	0.806	0.41 (0.01–11.68)
Latency of seizure after onset symptoms (days)	3 (0–7)	2 (0-8.5)	0.892	
STESS \geq 3 at admission	11 (44.0)	7 (33.3)	0.460	1.57 (0.47–5.23)
END-IT score ≥3 at admission	23 (92.0)	20 (95.2)	1.000	1.74 (0.15–20.65)
SE with prominent motor symptoms	17 (68.0)	20 (95.2)	0.027	0.11 (0.01–0.94)
Generalized convulsive SE	11	14		
Epilepsia partialis continua	3	3		
Focal onset evolving into bilateral convulsive SE	2	2		
Myoclonic SE with coma	0	1		
Hyperkinetic SE	1	0		
Non-convulsive SE	8 (32.0)	1 (4.8)	0.027	9.41 (1.07–83.01)
Non-convulsive SE with coma	5	1		
Myoclonic absence status	1	0		
Non-convulsive SE without impairment of consciousness	1	0		
Aphasic status	1	0		
Number of AED used	3 (2–3)	3 (1–3)	0.159	
Refractory SE	22 (88.0)	14 (66.7)	0.081	3.67(0.81–16.59)
Super refractory SE	15 (41.3)	4 (19.0)	0.007	6.38 (1.65–24.63)
Required general anesthesia for SE control	16 (64.0)	5 (23.8)	0.006	5.69 (1.56–20.76)
Death during admission	5 (20.0)	8 (38.1)	0.175	0.41 (0.11–1.52)
Days of admission	40 (21–91)	33 (26–77.5)	0.817	
Days in ICU	34 (10.5-63.5)	33 (15–57)	0.869	
More than two AEDs at discharge	11 (44.0)	6 (28.6)	0.280	1.96 (0.57–6.74)
Good prognosis at discharge (mRS<3)	11 (44.0)	6 (28.6)	0.280	1.96 (0.57–6.74)
Good prognosis at last follow up (mRS<3)	10 (66.7)	6 (50.0)	0.381	2.00 (0.42-9.52)

Continuous variables were presented as median (interquartile range).

Categorical variables were presented as n (%).

AED, antiepileptic drug; CI, confidence interval; ICU, intensive care unit; mRS, modified Rankin Scale; OR, odds ratio; SE, status epilepticus; STESS, status epilepticus severity score.

The onset symptoms of autoimmune SE can be various. Alteration in mental status is the cardinal symptom (12), but provides little information about the underlying etiology. In our patients, the presenting symptoms of inflammatory SE included fever, decreased consciousness, seizure, upper respiratory tract infection, headache, psychosis, fatigue, and cognitive decline. Of note, psychosis was present only in those with autoimmune SE and not in those with infectious SE. Other studies have also reported that psychosis is the dominant presenting symptom among patients with autoimmune encephalitis (14, 29, 32, 33). In addition, we found that more of the patients with autoimmune SE had non-convulsive SE compared to those with infectious SE, which was not reported in the two previous studies (11, 20). This may be due to the difficulty in recognizing non-convulsive

SE clinically without EEG monitoring or because it was not specifically looked for. Super refractory SE was also more prevalent in the autoimmune SE group, which may be due to the difficulty in making a diagnosis and the ineffectiveness of traditional SE treatment to control seizure activity without immunotherapy (34). When non-convulsive SE or psychosis followed by SE occurs in patients with a young age and female sex, autoimmune SE should be considered.

CSF studies are an important tool to identify the cause of SE, however, such studies can be challenging clinically. Neutrophilic predominant pleocytosis usually points toward a bacterial infection or the early stage of viral encephalitis, especially in the first 24 to 48 hours (24). Lymphocytic predominant pleocytosis was associated with autoimmune SE in our study,

	Autoimmune SE $(n = 25)$	Infectious SE ($n = 21$)	p-value	OR (95% CI)
The first CSF findings				
CSF protein (mg/dL)	34.8 (23.5–110.9)	93.0 (38.1–260.9)	0.014	
CSF WBC count (cell/mm ³)	3 (0–18)	20 (2.5–536)	0.011	
Neutrophilic predominance	2 (15.4)	9 (52.9)	0.034	0.162 (0.03–0.96)
Lymphocytic predominance	11 (84.6)	8 (47.1)	0.034	6.19 (1.04–36.78)
^a CSF/Blood glucose ratio <0.5	6 (24.0)	9 (56.3)	0.036	0.25 (0.06-0.95)
^b lgG index >0.6	11 (55.0)	4 (66.7)	0.612	0.61 (0.09-4.14)
The first EEG finding				
Normal	1 (4.0)	3 (14.3)	0.318	0.25 (0.02-2.61)
Background slowing activity	14 (56.0)	6 (28.6)	0.081	0.51 (0.24-1.09)
Sporadic epileptiform discharge	2 (8.0)	4 (19.0)	0.239	2.38 (0.48–11.74)
Periodic discharge	3 (12.0)	3 (14.3)	0.769	1.19 (0.27–5.29)
Electrographic seizure	5 (20.0)	5 (23.8)	0.688	1.19 (0.4–3.56)

TABLE 3 | The findings of the first cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and electroencephalography (EEG) studies.

Continuous variables were presented as median (interquartile range).

Categorical variables were presented as n (%).

Cl, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio; SE, status epilepticus; WBC, white blood cell.

a The CSF/blood glucose ratio was available in 16 patients with infectious and all patients with autoimmune etiology.

b The IgG index was available in six patients with infectious and 20 patients with autoimmune etiology.

but it was also often seen in cases of viral encephalitis-related SE (17, 24). Intensive care physicians often face a dilemma over whether to use antiviral therapy or immunotherapy when the diagnosis is unclear. Other parameters of the CSF can aid in the differential diagnosis, as our data suggested that the patients with an infectious etiology usually had a higher CSF protein level, although prolonged SE itself may result in a milder elevation of lactate and/or total protein levels. This was also reported by Oyanguren et al. who found similar white blood cell count between patients with viral infections and autoimmune processes, but that the protein level was higher in those with a CNS viral infection (35). Therefore, a high protein level in patients with lymphocytic predominance pleocytosis may suggest a viral etiology.

MRI can aid in the search for the etiology of SE, but with limitations. Limbic encephalitis may present as an increased FLAIR/T2 signal or abnormal DWI in the medial temporal lobes (36–38), and it can be used in helping to make the diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis (16). Prolonged SE itself can also cause similar changes to some viral infectious in MRI signal with DWI abnormalities in the hippocampus and pulvinar (39), particularly herpes simplex encephalitis (18). Furthermore, these MRI patterns may not be present in all types of autoimmune SE and one study reported that 60% of the MRI findings in patients with anti-NMDA encephalitis may have been normal (14). Our data showed that no specific MRI findings could differentiate autoimmune and infectious SE.

EEG is routinely used to evaluate patients with seizures or disturbed consciousness. Slow background activity was more dominant in autoimmune patients compared with other etiologies of seizure (40), although we found no statistical difference in EEG findings between the two groups. Our study showed that at an early stage of inflammatory SE, it remains difficult to differentiate the two entities using currently available para-clinical investigations. The early use of auto-antibody assays may be needed when autoimmune SE is suspected clinically.

We found that general anesthesia was more commonly used in the patients with autoimmune SE. This is in accordance with previous studies in which patients with autoimmune SE were less responsive to AEDs (11, 20, 30, 41). The reason why AEDs are less effective for autoimmune SE remains to be clarified, although it is well-known that the treatment of autoimmune SE requires prompt immunotherapy (14, 15), which may then reduce the use of general anesthesia.

The functional outcomes were similar in both infectious and autoimmune groups with a similar mRS score at discharge and similar mortality rate during admission. However, most of our patients had a poor outcome at discharge or last follow-up (63.0 and 65.2%, respectively). Our study showed that the predictive values of STESS and END-IT scores were not in the same direction. That is, STESS was more sensitive but END-IT was more specific in terms of predicting the outcomes at discharge. More studies may be needed to compare the use of these two scores. In addition to functional impairments, a recent study reported that patients also had substantial impairments in their quality of life after SE (42). Our patients with autoimmune SE had a mortality rate of 20%, which is similar to other studies ranging from 10 to 23% (20, 30, 43). A recent population-based study conducted in Germany reported a hospital mortality rate for all types of SE of 14.8% with a higher rate in those with refractory SE and super refractory SE (15.0 and 39.9%, respectively) (44). The higher mortality rate in patients with autoimmune etiology compared to those with all-cause SE may be related to the high percentage of super refractory SE among patients with an autoimmune etiology. This higher mortality rate compared to all-cause SE emphasize the need for rapid recognition of the condition and prompt treatment toward the underlying causes in addition to standard SE care.

TABLE 4 | The findings of magnetic resonance imaging study.

	Autoimmune SE (<i>n</i> = 25)	Infectious SE (<i>n</i> = 21)	<i>p</i> -value	OR (95% CI)
FLAIR and T2 abnormalities	11 (44)	8 (38.1)	0.685	1.28 (0.39–4.17)
Lateralization		- ()		
Unilateral	5 (20.0)	3 (14.3)	0.729	0.72 (0.11-4.62)
Bilateral	6 (24.0)	5 (23.8)		- ()
Location	× ,	× ,		
Temporal lobe	9 (36)	5 (23.8)		
Mesial temporal lobe	7 (28)	4 (19)		
Lateral temporal lobe	2 (8)	1 (4.8)		
Frontal lobe	6 (24)	3 (14.3)		
Parietal lobe	7 (28)	2 (9.5)		
Occipital lobe	7 (28)	4 (19)		
Basal ganglion	O (O)	2 (9.5)		
Multiple lobes	7 (28)	3 (14.3)	0.367	2.10 (0.41-10.66
DWI abnormalities	14 (56)	10 (50)	0.688	1.27 (0.39-4.14)
Lateralization				
Unilateral	5 (35.7)	6 (60)	0.408	0.37 (0.07–1.97)
Bilateral	9 (64.3)	4 (40)	0.408	2.7 (0.51–14.37)
Location				
Temporal lobe	11 (78.6)	7 (70)		
Mesial temporal lobe	7 (50)	3 (30)		
Lateral temporal lobe	4 (28.6)	5 (50)		
Frontal lobe	6 (42.9)	5 (50)		
Parietal lobe	6 (42.9)	5 (50)		
Occipital lobe	5 (35.7)	5 (50)		
Basal ganglion	O (O)	4 (40)		
Multiple lobes	11 (78.6)	6 (60)	0.393	2.44 (0.41–14.75

Categorical variables were presented as n (%).

Cl, confidence interval; DWI, diffusion-weighted imaging; FLAIR, fluid-attenuated inversion recovery; OR, odds ratio; SE, status epilepticus.

The limitations of this study are that it was conducted at a single hospital and that the design was retrospective. In addition, the study was started before the availability of recent autoimmune encephalitis screening tests and immunotherapies, which may have affected the outcomes.

In conclusion, we observed that patients with autoimmune SE had a younger age at onset, female predominance, and often presented with psychosis, super-refractory SE and nonconvulsive SE. The initial clinical investigations including EEG and MRI only provided limited information about the underlying etiology. CSF tests were helpful in diagnosing bacterial infectious-related SE but had difficulty in differentiating viral encephalitis and autoimmune SE. Since these two etiologies have different treatment strategies and the presenting symptoms are quite similar (12, 29), it is important to differentiate the two conditions as soon as possible. The patient characteristics and presenting features identified in our study may provide clinicians with some clues about the underlying etiology. Empiric treatment can be given based on these clinical clues while waiting for the results of more definitive diagnostic tests such as viral serology tests and neuronal surface auto-antibody screening.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study is approved by the Chang Gung Medical Foundation Institutional Review Board (IRB No.: 103-3665B and 201800677B0).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have read and approved the final manuscript. C-HL contributed to clinical data analysis and draft of the manuscript. Y-TL, C-JH, and F-YS had contributions to clinical data acquisition and analysis. M-HT had substantial contributions to the conception and design of the study, data analysis, critical revision, and final approval of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by research grant CMRPG8G0131 to C-HL from Kaohsiung Chang Gung Memorial Hospital, Taiwan.

REFERENCES

- Bermeo-Ovalle A, Bleck T. Status epilepticus in the intensive care unit. Semin Neurol. (2016) 36:550–9. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1592357
- Wu YW, Shek DW, Garcia PA, Zhao S, Johnston SC. Incidence and mortality of generalized convulsive status epilepticus in California. *Neurology* (2002) 58:1070–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.58.7.1070
- Lv RJ, Wang Q, Cui T, Zhu F, Shao XQ. Status epilepticus-related etiology, incidence and mortality: a meta-analysis. *Epilepsy Res.* (2017) 136:12–7. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2017.07.006
- 4. Glauser T, Shinnar S, Gloss D, Alldredge B, Arya R, Bainbridge J, et al. Evidence-based guideline: treatment of convulsive status epilepticus in children and adults: report of the guideline committee of the American epilepsy society. *Epilepsy Curr.* (2016) 16:48–61. doi: 10.5698/1535-7597-16.1.48
- Jagoda A, Riggio S. Refractory status epilepticus in adults. Ann Emerg Med. (1993) 22:1337–48. doi: 10.1016/S0196-0644(05)80120-9
- Tsai MH, Chuang YC, Chang HW, Chang WN, Lai SL, Huang CR, et al. Factors predictive of outcome in patients with de novo status epilepticus. QJM (2009) 102:57–62. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcn149
- Koubeissi M, Alshekhlee A. In-hospital mortality of generalized convulsive status epilepticus: a large US sample. *Neurology* (2007) 69:886–93. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000269791.96189.70
- Rossetti AO, Hurwitz S, Logroscino G, Bromfield EB. Prognosis of status epilepticus: role of aetiology, age, and consciousness impairment at presentation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2006) 77:611–5. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2005.080887
- 9. Seinfeld S, Goodkin HP, Shinnar S. Status epilepticus. *Cold Spring Harb* perspect Med. (2016) 6:a022830. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a022830
- Singh TD, Fugate JE, Rabinstein AA. The spectrum of acute encephalitis: causes, management, and predictors of outcome. *Neurology* (2015) 84:359–66. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001190
- Shin JW, Koo YS, Kim YS, Kim DW, Kim KK, Lee SY, et al. Clinical characterization of unknown/cryptogenic status epilepticus suspected as encephalitis: a multicenter cohort study. J Neuroimmunol. (2018) 315:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.12.004
- Venkatesan A, Tunkel AR, Bloch KC, Lauring AS, Sejvar J, Bitnun A, et al. Case definitions, diagnostic algorithms, and priorities in encephalitis: consensus statement of the international encephalitis consortium. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2013) 57:1114–28. doi: 10.1093/cid/cit458
- Suthar R, Sankhyan N. Bacterial Infections of the central nervous system. Indian J Pediatr. (2018) 86:60–9. doi: 10.1007/s12098-017-2477-z
- Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangue T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1
- Shin YW, Lee ST, Park KI, Jung KH, Jung KY, Lee SK, et al. Treatment strategies for autoimmune encephalitis. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. (2018) 11:1756285617722347. doi: 10.1177/1756285617722347
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Armangue T, Leypoldt F, Dalmau J. Autoimmune encephalitis as differential diagnosis of infectious encephalitis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2014) 27:361–8. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0000000000087
- Sureka J, Jakkani RK. Clinico-radiological spectrum of bilateral temporal lobe hyperintensity: a retrospective review. *Br J Radiol.* (2012) 85:e782–92. doi: 10.1259/bjr/30039090
- Lancaster E. The diagnosis and treatment of autoimmune encephalitis. J Clin Neurol. (2016) 12:1–13. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2016.12.1.1
- Spatola M, Novy J, Du Pasquier R, Dalmau J, Rossetti AO. Status epilepticus of inflammatory etiology: a cohort study. *Neurology* (2015) 85:464–70. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001717
- Brophy GM, Bell R, Claassen J, Alldredge B, Bleck TP, Glauser T, et al. Guidelines for the evaluation and management of status epilepticus. *Neurocrit Care* (2012) 17:3–23. doi: 10.1007/s12028-012-9695-z

- 22. Ferlisi M, Shorvon S. The outcome of therapies in refractory and superrefractory convulsive status epilepticus and recommendations for therapy. *Brain* (2012) 135(Pt 8):2314–28. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws091
- Trinka E, Cock H, Hesdorffer D, Rossetti AO, Scheffer IE, Shinnar S, et al. A definition and classification of status epilepticus–Report of the ILAE task force on classification of status epilepticus. *Epilepsia* (2015) 56:1515–23. doi: 10.1111/epi.13121
- Tuppeny M. Viral meningitis and encephalitis. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am. (2013) 25:363–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2013.04.003
- Rossetti AO, Logroscino G, Milligan TA, Michaelides C, Ruffieux C, Bromfield EB. Status Epilepticus Severity Score (STESS): a tool to orient early treatment strategy. J Neurol. (2008) 255:1561–6. doi: 10.1007/s00415-008-0989-1
- Gao Q, Ou-Yang TP, Sun XL, Yang F, Wu C, Kang T, et al. Prediction of functional outcome in patients with convulsive status epilepticus: the END-IT score. *Crit Care* (2016) 20:46. doi: 10.1186/s13054-016-1221-9
- Hirsch LJ, LaRoche SM, Gaspard N, Gerard E, Svoronos A, Herman ST, et al. American clinical neurophysiology society's standardized critical care EEG terminology: 2012 version. J Clin Neurophysiol. (2013) 30:1–27. doi: 10.1097/WNP.0b013e3182784729
- Heine J, Pruss H, Bartsch T, Ploner CJ, Paul F, Finke C. Imaging of autoimmune encephalitis–Relevance for clinical practice and hippocampal function. *Neuroscience* (2015) 309:68–83. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.05.037
- Saraya A, Mahavihakanont A, Shuangshoti S, Sittidetboripat N, Deesudchit T, Callahan M, et al. Autoimmune causes of encephalitis syndrome in Thailand: prospective study of 103 patients. *BMC Neurol.* (2013) 13:150. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-13-150
- Holzer FJ, Rossetti AO, Heritier-Barras AC, Zumsteg D, Roebling R, Huber R, et al. Antibody-mediated status epilepticus: a retrospective multicenter survey. *Eur Neurol.* (2012) 68:310–7. doi: 10.1159/000341143
- Gubbels Bupp MR, Potluri T, Fink AL, Klein SL. The confluence of sex hormones and aging on immunity. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1269. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01269
- Hao Q, Wang D, Guo L, Zhang B. Clinical characterization of autoimmune encephalitis and psychosis. *Compr Psychiatry* (2017) 74:9–14. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2016.12.006
- Lim JA, Lee ST, Jung KH, Kim S, Shin JW, Moon J, et al. Anti-N-methyld-aspartate receptor encephalitis in Korea: clinical features, treatment, and outcome. J Clin Neurol. (2014) 10:157–61. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2014.10.2.157
- Varley J, Taylor J, Irani SR. Autoantibody-mediated diseases of the CNS: structure, dysfunction and therapy. *Neuropharmacology* (2018) 132:71–82. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.04.046
- Oyanguren B, Sanchez V, Gonzalez FJ, de Felipe A, Esteban L, Lopez-Sendon JL, et al. Limbic encephalitis: a clinical-radiological comparison between herpetic and autoimmune etiologies. *Eur J Neurol.* (2013) 20:1566–70. doi: 10.1111/ene.12249
- Lai M, Hughes EG, Peng X, Zhou L, Gleichman AJ, Shu H, et al. AMPA receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis alter synaptic receptor location. *Ann Neurol.* (2009) 65:424–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.21589
- Lai M, Huijbers MG, Lancaster E, Graus F, Bataller L, Balice-Gordon R, et al. Investigation of LGI1 as the antigen in limbic encephalitis previously attributed to potassium channels: a case series. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:776–85. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70137-X
- Hoftberger R, Titulaer MJ, Sabater L, Dome B, Rozsas A, Hegedus B, et al. Encephalitis and GABAB receptor antibodies: novel findings in a new case series of 20 patients. *Neurology* (2013) 81:1500–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a9585f
- Mendes A, Sampaio L. Brain magnetic resonance in status epilepticus: a focused review. Seizure (2016) 38:63–7. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2016.04.007
- Limotai C, Denlertchaikul C, Saraya AW, Jirasakuldej S. Predictive values and specificity of electroencephalographic findings in autoimmune encephalitis diagnosis. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2018) 84:29–36. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.04.007
- Dubey D, Blackburn K, Greenberg B, Stuve O, Vernino S. Diagnostic and therapeutic strategies for management of autoimmune encephalopathies. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2016) 16:937–49. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2016.1189328
- 42. Kortland LM, Knake S, von Podewils F, Rosenow F, Strzelczyk A. Socioeconomic outcome and quality of life in adults after status epilepticus: a

multicenter, longitudinal, matched case-control analysis from Germany. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:507. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00507

- Holzer FJ, Seeck M, Korff CM. Autoimmunity and inflammation in status epilepticus: from concepts to therapies. *Expert Rev Neurother*. (2014) 14:1181–202. doi: 10.1586/14737175.2014. 956457
- 44. Strzelczyk A, Ansorge S, Hapfelmeier J, Bonthapally V, Erder MH, Rosenow F. Costs, length of stay, and mortality of super-refractory status epilepticus: a population-based study from Germany. *Epilepsia* (2017) 58:1533–41. doi: 10.1111/epi. 13837

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lin, Lu, Ho, Shih and Tsai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Application of Plasma Exchange in Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy

Yuting Jiang^{1†}, Xin Tian^{1†}, Yixue Gu¹, Feng Li¹ and Xuefeng Wang^{1,2*}

¹ Chongqing Key Laboratory of Neurology, Department of Neurology, the First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ² Center of Epilepsy, Beijing Institute for Brain Disorders, Beijing, China

Plasma exchange has been widely used in autoimmune neurological diseases and is the standard treatment for myasthenia gravis crisis and Guillain-Barre syndrome. A growing body of research suggests that, in the clinical application of steroid-responsive encephalopathy, such as for Hashimoto's encephalopathy, limbic encephalitis, systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy, ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy, and acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, plasma exchange is a safe, and effective option when steroids or other immunosuppressive therapies are ineffective in the short term or when contraindications are present. Additionally, plasma exchange can also be used alone or in combination with steroids, immunoglobulins, or other immunosuppressive agents to treat steroid-responsive encephalopathy. This paper reviews the clinical application of plasma exchange in steroid-responsive encephalopathy, including its indications, onset time, course, curative effects, and side effects.

Keywords: plasma exchange, steroid, clinical practice, course, onset time, side effects

INTRODUCTION

Plasma exchange is also known as therapeutic plasma exchange (1). The seventh special issue of the Therapeutic Apheresis in Clinical Practice treatment guidelines, published in 2016 by the American Society for Apheresis, defines plasma exchange as a therapeutic procedure in which the patient's blood is separated into plasma and other blood components by medical devices, and then the plasma is removed and replaced by a replacement solution such as a colloidal solution (albumin and/or plasma) or a combination of crystal/colloidal solutions, thus eliminating or reducing unwanted substances (2). Castillo et al. (3) considered encephalopathy to be accompanied by cognitive impairment and one or more of the following: (i) neuropsychiatric symptoms (hallucinations or delusions and paranoia); (ii) myoclonus; (iii) seizure; and/or (iv) focal neurologic deficits. Steroid responsiveness refers to the complete or nearly complete return to normal neurological baseline status after steroid treatment, while steroid unresponsiveness refers to lack of improvement after at least 4–6 weeks of a sufficient dose of steroids (4). In this paper, steroidresponsive encephalopathy is a general term used to describe diseases characterized by diffuse brain injury and their responsiveness to steroids. These diseases include Hashimoto's encephalopathy, limbic encephalitis, systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy, ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy, and acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Plasma exchange is a rapid-onset, safe, and effective option for patients with steroid-responsive encephalopathy who fail to

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabienne Brilot. University of Sydney, Australia

Reviewed by:

Ludger Tebartz Van Elst. Freiburg University Medical Center, Germany Demet Demirkol, Istanbul University, Turkey

*Correspondence:

Xuefena Wana xfyp@163.com

[†]These author have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the iournal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 October 2018 Accepted: 07 February 2019 Published: 27 February 2019

Citation:

Jiang Y, Tian X, Gu Y, Li F and Wang X (2019) Application of Plasma Exchange in Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy. Front. Immunol. 10:324. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00324

47

respond to steroids in the short term or for patients who are unable to tolerate the side effects of steroid therapies. It can also be used as an initial treatment (see **Table 1**).

HISTORY OF PLASMA EXCHANGE

Plasma exchange dates back to 1914. Able et al. (18) described the separation of cell components and plasma from the blood of dogs with uremia. The separated components were mixed with replacement solution and then returned to the subject. Regular plasma exchange began to be used in humans in 1952. Researchers found that repeated plasma exchange reduced the amount of pathological proteins in patients with multiple myeloma (19). In 1960, Schwab and Fahey (20) reported that plasma exchange in Waldenstrom's macroglobulin and hyperviscosity syndrome achieved good therapeutic effects. Therefore, plasma exchange became the standard treatment for Waldenstrom's macroglobulin. In the 1980s, studies reported that plasma exchange was an effective treatment for systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy and acute disseminated encephalomyelitis; thereafter, plasma exchange began to be used as a treatment for steroid-responsive encephalopathy (4, 21).

UNKNOWN MECHANISMS OF PLASMA EXCHANGE OR POTENTIALLY INVOLVED MECHANISMS UNDER EXPLORATION

Clearing Pathogenic Antibodies From Plasma

The mechanism of plasma exchange for treating systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy is the rapid removal of pathogenic autoantibodies such as anti-nuclear antibodies from the blood (22). Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (ANCAs) play an important role in the pathogenesis of ANCA-related vasculitis encephalopathy, and the clearance of pathogenic antibodies from blood by plasma exchange can improve the therapeutic effects (2). Plasma exchange can also effectively remove pathogenic antibodies and can be combined with immunotherapy to suppress the production of autoantibodies and effectively treat limbic encephalitis (23). The mechanism of plasma exchange for treating acute disseminated encephalomyelitis is the removal of autoantibodies (antibodies against myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein) as well as complement components and cytokines (4).

Increasing the Susceptibility of Antibody-Producing Cells to Immunosuppressant and Chemotherapeutic Drugs

Plasma exchange can also induce proliferation of antibodyproducing cells and increase the synthetic ability of antibodies as well as the susceptibility of antibody-producing cells to immunosuppressive or chemotherapy drugs (23). Studies have reported that plasma exchange can increase the synthetic activity of B cells and increase the susceptibility of antibody-producing cells to immunosuppressive agents (24).

Removing Immune Complexes From Plasma and Enhancing the Function of Macrophages and Monocytes

Plasma exchange can not only directly promote the removal of immune complexes from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (22) but also upregulate red blood cell (RBC) complement receptors and increase the binding of RBC and immune complexes to remove immune complexes from the circulation. Steven et al. (25) studied the effect of plasma exchange on monocyte function and found that monocytes significantly increased their bactericidal effect by increasing the level of proteolytic enzymes in immune-complexmediated diseases.

Removing Pathogenic Cytokines and Adhesion Molecules From Plasma

The concentration of soluble adhesion molecules ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 may be decreased after plasma exchange in patients with ANCA-associated vasculitis (26). Yeh et al. (27) found that double-filtration plasmapheresis can effectively remove IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, tumor necrosis factor alpha, and interferon gamma from the serum of patients.

CLINICAL APPLICATION OF PLASMA EXCHANGE IN STEROID-RESPONSIVE ENCEPHALOPATHY

Indications of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy

Therapeutic plasma exchange is an established treatment method for known or suspected immune-mediated diseases (28). In 2016, the American Society for Apheresis published treatment guidelines for plasma exchange based on evidence-based medical research and proposed that Hashimoto's encephalopathy is a category II indication for plasma exchange and that the recommended level is 2C. Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis is a category I indication, and the recommended level is 1C. Plasma exchange for the treatment of severe systemic lupus erythematosus, including systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy, is a category II indication, and the recommended level is 2C (2). Plasma exchange for the treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis is a class II indication, and the recommended level is 2C (2) (See **Tables 2, 3**).

Volume, Interval Time, and Frequency of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Steroid-Responsive Encephalopathy

The efficacy of plasma exchange is often related to the volume of plasma exchanged, which is dependent on the estimated plasma volume of the patient. The formula for estimating the plasma volume of the patient uses the patient's weight and hematocrit: EPV= $[0.065 \times \text{wt (kg)}] \times [1\text{-Hct}]$. This formula provides a reliable prediction of the therapeutic effect in clinical

References	Diagnosis	Numbe	Number Clinical feature	Failed treatments	Process of plasma exchange	Side effects	Therapeutic effect
Nagpal and Pande (5)	Hashimoto's encephalopathy	One	52-year-old female, aphasia, memory loss, and tremor	Corticosteroids, thyroxine	Three plasma exchange procecures; the volume of Plasma exchanged per procedure was 1.8 L.	Not mentioned	After the third plasma exchange, all neuropsychiatric symptoms improved.
Gul et al. (6)	Hashimoto's encephalopathy	Two o	Case 1: 8-year-old female, status epilepticus Case 2: 17-year-old female, status epilepticus	Antiepileptic drugs, immunoglobulin, steroids Immunoglobulin, Antiepileptic druas,	Five sessions Five sessions	Not mentioned Not mentioned	Status epilepticus was controlled after plasma exchange. After plasma exchange, epilepsy was controlled without recurrence.
Simmons and Staley (7)	Hashimoto's encephalopathy	Two	Case 1: 55-year-old female, gait ataxia, memory loss, mood	steroids Mycophenolate, mofetil	Five sessions; the volume of plasma exchanged per session was one times the plasma volume	Slight citrate toxicity	Three months after plasma exchange, the patient's gait ataxia improved without obvious changes in daily activities.
			Case 2: 49-year-old female, insomnia, altered state of consciousness, mental symptoms	Steroids, immunoglobulin	Two courses courses no. 1 (one times the plasma volume/session for five sessions), the second and third course were all (one times the plasma volume/session for three sessions	Transient hypotension, headache	After the first plasma exchange, orientation and daily activity improved, and the anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody was reduced from > 1,000 units before plasma exchange to 286 units. The anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody was 538 units at 1 month after the first course of plasma exchange, the psychiatric symptoms were improved after the second and third courses, and the anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody was <63 units after the third course of blasma exchance
Endres et al. (8)	Hashimoto's encephalopathy	One	55-year-old female, rapid progressive dementia, stupor, silence	Antidepressants, antipsychotics, steroids	Five sessions	Not mentioned	After plasme exchange, all symptoms were significantly improved, but verbal fluency was still lacking.
Tran et al. (9)	Hashimoto's encephalopathy	O	72-year-old female, cerebellar ataxia, cognitive dysfunction	Steroids, mycophenolate, immunoglobulin	Induction period: Two sessions/week for 6 weeks and then one procedure/week (1.5 times the plasma volume for 6 weeks, followed by 2 sessions/week (one times the plasma volume) and then 1 procedure/week. After 9.5 months, readjust to two sessions/week	Citrate toxicity somnolence lower limb spasm	Clinical symptoms were alleviated after the induction of plasma exchange, the patient could walk normally, and memory was restored. Anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody levels decreased, but when the plasma exchange sessions were reduced to one procedure/week, and the patient experienced recurrence. Therefore, plasma exchange was administered at the rate of 2 sessions/week, and lively).

(Continued)

49

References	Diagnosis	Number	Number Clinical feature	Failed treatments	Process of plasma exchange	Side effects	Therapeutic effect
Batra et al. (10)	Anti-NMDA receptor limbic encephalitis	One	34-year-old female, abnormal mental behavior,	Acyclovir, immunoglobulin	 2 times the plasma volume/ procedure for five sessions, once every other day, with 5% albumin as the replacement fluid 	Not mentioned	Symptoms improved significantly after 1 month, and antibody tests were negative. Symptoms were significantly relieved.
Mazzi et al. (11)	Nonparaneoplastic limbic encephalitis associated with the anti-GAD antibody	One	21-year-old female, intractable epilepsy, memory loss	Antiepileptics, steroids, immunoglobulin	Sixteen sessions with 1.4 times the plasma volume replaced during each procedure	Not mentioned	Seizures were significantly reduced after the third plasma exchange session.
Martin et al. (12)	Anti-VGKC antibody-positive limbic encephalitis	One	69-year-old male, memory loss, Abnormal mental behavior	Steroids, immunoglobulin, mycophenolate, mofetil	One time the plasma volume/session (2 sessions/week) for 6 weeks	Not mentioned	Anti-VGKC antibody levels decreased, and clinical symptoms were well controlled.
Özkale et al. (13)	Two cases of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis One case of serologic negative Autoimmune Limbic encephalitis One case of paraneoplastic limbic Encephalitis	Four	Headache, Status epilepticus psychiatric symptom	Steroid, immunoglobulin	Six sessions on average	mentioned	The neurological symptoms of all patients improved after plasma exchange.
Hussein et al. (14)	Systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy	One	17-year-old female headache, double vision, facial paralysis	Oyclosporin	Six sessions	Not mentioned	Cyclophosphamide and methylprednisolone (1 g/d for 3 days) combined with six plasma exchange resulted in significant improvement in clinical symptoms.
Bartolucci et al. (15)	Systemic lupus enythematosus encephalopathy	Ten	Average age: 30 Female: 8, male: 2 psychiatric symptoms, aseptic meningitis, cognitive decline	Not mentioned	Three sessions/week for three weeks and then two or three sessions/week, according to the clinical outcome	Not mentioned	After plasma exchange, 54% (7/13) had complete remission, and 46% (6/13) had partial remission. The European consensus lupus activity score (ECLAM) and systematic lupus activity index (SLEDA) decreased to 1.2 and 3.9 respectively from 6.9 and 30.7.Disappeared upon head MRI examination, and consciousness level and mental strate began to recover. The PR3-ANCA antibody decreased from 164 U/ml to 15.7 U/ml.
Shinozaki et al. (16)	Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis	One	Headache, confused and delirious state, no eyelash, corneal or light reflexes	Intravenous methylprednisolone (1,000 mg per day for 5 days)	Plasma exchange (PE) plus continuous hemodiafiltration using 1.5 times the circulating plasma volume, daily PE with CHDF for 3 days	Not mentioned	On the day after initiation of SPE + CHDF, the patient's corneal and bilateral light reflexes were dramatically recovered.
Balestri et al. (17)	Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis	one	An eight-year-old female, comatose and generalized tonic-clonic seizures, unable to raise her head, walk, or speak, and facial paresis	Methylprednisolone, immunoglobulin, and Interferon beta-1b	Six courses with 1,400 cc of plasma exchanged once every 2 days)	Not mentioned	Dramatic recovery was observed over the next 2 weeks, and the patient was able to walk, speak, and raise her left forearm.

TABLE 1 | Continued

TABLE 2 | Category of recommendation for plasma exchange (2).

Category for plasma exchange	Detailed description
I	Plasma exchange is used as first-line treatment alone or in conjunction with other treatments.
II	Plasma exchange is used as second-line treatment alone or in conjunction with other treatments.
III	The optimal role of plasma exchange has not been determined, and decisions should be personalized.
IV	Published evidence confirms or suggests that plasma exchange is ineffective or even harmful and that IRB approval is required if it is to be used in these circumstances.

applications. In general, macromolecular substances (immune globulin, lipoprotein cholesterol, cold globulin, etc.) inside and outside of blood vessels become slowly redistributed, achieving a gradual balance. Thus, clearance during a single treatment is limited. One is the concentration of substances in the blood vessels, while the other is the volume of plasma exchanged. Based on these two factors, the percentage of the decrease in pathogenic substances after treatment compared with the pretreatment level can be determined as follows: $X_1 = X_{0e} - V_e$ /EPV, where X_1 is the final plasma concentration, X_{0e} is the initial plasma concentration, Ve is the volume of plasma exchange, and EPV is the estimated plasma volume of patients. If the volume of plasma exchange is equal to the patient's EPV, pretreatment values will drop by 63%, and if the volume of plasma exchange is equal to 1.4 times the EPV, pretreatment values will drop by 75%. However, in the process of a single exchange, the volume of plasma exchanged is further increased. As a result, the pretreatment level decreases less, and thus, the exchange volume would increase, subsequently increasing the duration of treatment and associated costs. For most indications of plasma exchange (including Hashimoto's encephalopathy, limbic encephalitis, systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy, ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy, acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, etc.), the volume of plasma exchanged per treatment is 1-1.5 times the plasma volume (30). For a single plasma exchange treatment, this volume will not cause reductions in the overall load of the serum levels caused by partial rebound. Several consecutive plasma exchange sessions, separated by 24-48 h, can remove a substantial percentage of the total body burden. In general, if the rate of production is moderate, then at least five sessions within 7-10 days are required to remove 90% of the patient's initial overall load, and additional sessions will be needed if the production is rapid (30).

Curative Effects

Cook et al. (31) retrospectively analyzed plasma exchange for the treatment of 10 Hashimoto's encephalopathy cases and showed that 90% of the symptoms of Hashimoto's encephalopathy significantly improved after plasma exchange. Neuwelt (32) reported the use of plasma exchange in eight systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy patients who failed to respond to

TABLE 3 Recommende	TABLE 3 Recommended levels for plasma exchange (2, 29).	, 29).				
Recommendation	Grade 1A	Grade 1B	Grade 1C	Grade 2A	Grade 2B	Grade 2C
The quality of evidence	RCT without significant limitation or overwhelming evidence from observational studies.	RCT has important limitations (inconsistent results, methodological defects) or exceptionally strong evidence from observational studies.	Case series or observational studies.	RCT without significant limitation or overwhelming evidence from observational studies.	RCT has important limitations (inconsistent results, methodological defects) or exceptionally strong evidence from observational studies.	Case series or observational studies.
Detailed description	Strong recommendation, high-quality evidence.	Strong recommendation, moderate-quality evidence.	Strong recommendation, low-quality, or very low-quality evidence.	Weak recommendation, high-quality evidence.	Weak recommendation, moderate-quality evidence.	Weak recommendation, low-quality, or very low-quality evidence.

cyclophosphamide, among whom six were completely relieved of their clinical symptoms. In 2010, a non-blinded prospective study by Wong et al. (33) included nine cases of limbic encephalitis with positive anti-VGKC antibody, and each patient underwent five plasma exchange sessions combined with steroid and immunoglobulin treatment. After treatment, the VGKC antibody titer of all patients returned to normal within 1–4 months. After 1–3 months, clinical and cognitive tests showed that memory function had improved. After 6–9 months, the swelling subsided, and the signal was recovered on brain MRI.

Adverse Reactions

Plasma exchange is a relatively safe treatment, mostly with reports of only mild side effects, of which the most common are hypotension, hypocalcemia, urticaria, bleeding (due to loss of platelets or clotting factors), and arrhythmia. These adverse reactions are mainly related to anticoagulants, the replacement fluid used, and central venous catheterization. The incidence of hypocalcemia is 1.5-9% and is related to citrate. The main symptoms include paresthesia, muscle spasm, and arrhythmia. In addition, acid-base imbalance can be induced by citrate. The use of albumin as a replacement fluid may lead to the consumption of clotting factors and immunoglobulin and thus increase the risk of bleeding and infection. Fresh frozen plasma used as a replacement solution may cause HIV and hepatitis virus infection (34). Adverse reactions associated with central venous catheterization include infection, sepsis, thrombosis, and pneumothorax. Hemolysis and hypotension may occur, but the incidence of serious side effects such as severe hypotension, acute pulmonary edema, myocardial infarction, and death is 1.6-22% (35). In 2007, the world plasma exchange registry reported that the incidence of side effects from plasma exchange was 5.7% and that no death occurred in 838 patients who underwent plasma exchange; a plasma exchange team in Canada analyzed 91,000 sessions of plasma exchange and found that the incidence of serious side effects caused by plasma exchange was 0.4%. In addition, blood transfusion-related side effects are more common when plasma is used as the replacement fluid (36). Basic-Jukic et al. (34) studied the side effects of plasma exchange in the treatment of neurological diseases, including 152 patients from January 1982 to December 2003, with a total of 4,857 plasma exchanges performed. The incidence of side effects was 4.74% (231/4857), and the side effects were mostly mild to moderate. In summary, a few studies have reported on the side effects of plasma exchange for steroid-responsive encephalopathy, the results indicate that plasma exchange may be a safe treatment for steroid-responsive encephalopathy.

APPLICATION OF PLASMA EXCHANGE IN DIFFERENT TYPES OF STEROID-RESPONSIVE ENCEPHALOPATHY

Application of Plasma Exchange in Hashimoto's Encephalopathy

Hashimoto's encephalopathy (also known as autoimmune thyroiditis-related steroid-responsive encephalopathy) was first

reported by the British scholar Brain in 1966. Hashimoto's encephalopathy is related to Hashimoto's thyroiditis, as antithyroid antibodies were found in serum. The patients' thyroid function can be classified as normal, hypothyroidism or hyperthyroidism (37, 38). The clinical manifestations mainly include two types: vasculitis type, mainly including recurrent stroke-like episodes, seizures, and mental abnormality, and diffuse progressive type, which manifests as cognitive dysfunction (including memory and language dysfunction) dementia, behavior change, confusion, mental derangement, and coma (5). The most common clinical manifestations are seizures, followed by psychiatric symptoms (39). Elevated levels of anti-thyroid peroxidase antibodies (anti-TPOAb) and/or anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (anti-TgAb) are important laboratory characteristics for the diagnosis of Hashimoto's encephalopathy; elevated antithyroid peroxidase antibody levels are most common and are observed in 86% of patients with Hashimoto's encephalopathy, while 48% of the patients with Hashimoto's encephalopathy have elevated anti-thyroglobulin antibody levels (6). Although the pathophysiological mechanism of Hashimoto's encephalopathy is still not clear, high concentrations of anti-thyroid antibodies and effective treatment with immunosuppressive agents both support the important role of autoimmune mechanisms in Hashimoto's encephalopathy (40), which is the theoretical basis of plasma exchange in the treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy. Although steroids are the first-line treatment for Hashimoto's encephalopathy (41), no randomized controlled trials have been performed, so the optimal dose and duration of steroids remain unclear. Steroid responsiveness is determined by the dose and administration method. Usually, intravenous methylprednisone (500-1,000 mg/d) is administered for 3-7 days, followed by oral prednisone 1-2 mg/kg/d for 6-8 weeks, and in most cases, clinical improvement is observed within the first 4-6 weeks of treatment (4). When patients are unable to tolerate the side effects of steroid or have no response to steroids in the short term, plasma exchange can be performed to improve treatment efficacy. Moreover, a few reports have demonstrated that plasma exchange can be used for the initial treatment (39).

History of Plasma Exchange as a Treatment for Hashimoto's Encephalopathy

In 2001, Boers and Colebatch (42) was the first to report that plasma exchange could effectively treat Hashimoto's encephalopathy that failed to respond to corticosteroids. The author reported a 47-year-old Uruguayan man who was treated for upper limb postural tremor and gait disorder. During hospitalization, the patient developed seizures, short-term memory impairment, visual hallucination, auditory hallucinations, and paranoid delusions. Electroencephalogram (EEG) showed diffuse slow wave activity but no epileptic discharge. Cerebrospinal fluid showed increased pressure and protein (1.06 g/l), but other cerebrospinal fluid examinations (including polymerase chain reaction of herpes simplex virus), brain magnetic resonance plain scan, and enhancement showed no abnormalities. Examinations for thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) were normal, but the levels of microsomal antibodies and anti-thyroglobulin antibodies significantly increased, so

the diagnosis of Hashimoto's encephalopathy was established after ruling out other causes. Intravenous methylprednisolone was initiated, but 4 weeks later, the patient still experienced tremor and difficulty eating and dressing himself, so four plasma exchange sessions were performed with the exchange of 1.5-2 times the estimated plasma volume per session. After the first plasma exchange, the patient's condition improved, and after the fourth plasma exchange, the patient was able to dress, eat, talk, and work independently; in addition, his antibody levels decreased. Afterward, the patient experienced two relapses, and the symptoms were relieved after plasma exchange. Multiple studies have subsequently supported this treatment (5, 6, 40, 43-45). Nieuwenhuis et al. (45) reported a 48-year-old patient with subacute Hashimoto's encephalopathy, and the main manifestations were rapid progressive dementia, visual hallucinations, and myoclonus. Plasma exchange was used as the initial treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy, and clinical symptoms relieved after the first plasma exchange.

Onset Time of Plasma Exchange for Hashimoto's Encephalopathy

Most of the cases in which plasma exchange used to treat Hashimoto's encephalopathy showed positive effects after the first plasma exchange. Clinical symptoms of Hashimoto's encephalopathy were found to be improved after the first plasma exchange in a report by Boers and Colebatch (42). In addition, Bektas et al. (43) reported one Hashimoto's encephalopathy in which the patient's status epilepticus was controlled after the first plasma exchange.

The Course of Plasma Exchange for Hashimoto's Encephalopathy

Most studies on plasma exchange for Hashimoto's encephalopathy lack a specific description of the number of plasma exchange sessions used. Nieuwenhuis et al. (45) used three sessions plasma exchange to treat Hashimoto's encephalopathy successfully. Bektas et al. (43) used nine sessions plasma exchange, while Nagpal and Pande (5) and Gul Mert et al. (6) reports that the number of plasma exchange sessions for the treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy should be five. These results are consistent with the American Society for Apheresis, which recommends a total of 3–9 sessions plasma exchange for Hashimoto's encephalopathy, with the most common number of plasma exchange being five and exchanges being performed once every other day. The volume of plasma exchanged per treatment should be 1–1.5 times the estimated plasma volume, and albumin should be used as the replacement solution (2, 5, 31, 45).

Clinical Practice of Plasma Exchange for Hashimoto's Encephalopathy

Hussain et al. (44) reported a case of 54-year-old woman with hypothyroidism who presented with progressive cognitive impairment, gait disturbance, and seizures; based on an antithyroid microsomal antibody titer of 1:1,600 and the presence of head abnormalities on MRI without other reasons for cognitive impairment, a definite diagnosis of Hashimoto's encephalopathy was made. The patient began oral prednisone at a dose of 60

mg/d, and her cognitive function, apraxia, and gait disorder improved, but memory impairment remained. Because the patient could not tolerate the side effects of prednisone, the dose was gradually reduced to 15 mg/d. As the patient's cognitive function and gait disorder worsened with the reduction in the dose of prednisone, plasma exchange was performed, with five sessions per course and two courses of plasma exchange at intervals of 5 months. Four weeks after the first course of treatment, the patient's cognitive function markedly improved, and anti-thyroid microsomal antibody levels were reduced to 1:400. Cognitive function began to decline a few months later, but after the patient underwent the second course of plasma exchange, cognitive function continuously improved. Pari et al. (40) reported a 19-year-old girl who had been in good health but experienced a seizure. One month later, she had difficulty finding words and understanding language, along with symptoms of confusion, and disorientation. Electroencephalogram showed a non-convulsive status epilepticus, with a slightly elevated number of cells in CSF, with normal glucose and protein levels. PCR analysis of herpes simplex virus, adenovirus and enterovirus in cerebrospinal fluid were all negative. Brain MRI was normal. An 18F-FDG PET on the left temporal lobe, insula, temporoparietal junction, the right side of the parietal lobe metabolism reduced, diagnosis of Hashimoto's encephalopathy, intravenous methylprednisolone 1 g/d for 8 days, but no obvious improvement was observed. Electroencephalogram improved after five plasma exchange sessions, antithyroglobulin antibody, and thyroid peroxidase antibody, respectively pretreatment of >1,000 IU/ml (normal <4.1 IU/ml), 519 IU/ml (normal for <5.6 IU/ml) dropped to 462 IU/ml, 30 IU/ml. Symptoms of difficulty finding words and understanding speech also improved. In most studies, steroids work within the first 4-6 weeks, while other studies have shown that the time to complete recovery may range from 4 months to 10 years (4). However, in this case, the course of steroids was shorter. If used for a longer duration, the effect may be more pronounced. The patient may be responsive to steroid treatment, but if the clinical symptoms are severe or worsen, plasma exchange can be used to quickly relieve these symptoms. Cook et al. (31) retrospectively analyzed a study on the treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy with plasma exchange in 10 cases and showed that 90% of patients had significantly improved symptoms after plasma exchange. Because plasma exchange alone or with other treatments have been used as the second-line treatment for Hashimoto's encephalopathy, in 2016, the American Society for Apheresis published treatment guidelines for plasma exchange and proposed that Hashimoto's encephalopathy is a category II indication of plasma exchange. Moreover, because only observational studies or case series have reported the efficacy of plasma exchange on Hashimoto's encephalopathy and randomized controlled studies are lacking, the recommended level is 2C (2). This study was supported by Simmons and Staley (the volume of plasma exchanged per treatment was 1.0 times the plasma volume) (7) and Endres et al. (8). In addition, Tran et al. (9) found that longterm plasma exchange can be used for maintenance treatment in patients with Hashimoto's encephalopathy accompanied by cerebellar ataxia.

Plasma Exchange in Combination With Other Drugs for Hashimoto's Encephalopathy

Plasma exchange is usually combined with steroid, immunoglobulin, and antiepileptic drugs as well as immunosuppressants to treat Hashimoto's encephalopathy (5, 39, 44). Bektas et al. (43) reported a 12-year-old patient with Hashimoto's encephalopathy that mainly manifested status epilepticus, but after the first plasma exchange, his status epilepticus was controlled; subsequently, prednisone combined with a total of nine sessions plasma exchange resulted in normal mental and neurological status in 2 months. Gul et al. (6) also reported two successful cases in which plasma exchange combined with steroid, intravenous immunoglobulin, and antiepileptic drugs to treat Hashimoto's encephalopathy.

However, at present, only case reports and case analyses have shown that plasma exchange is effective at treating Hashimoto's encephalopathy, and because plasma exchange was initiated after failure to respond to steroids or immunoglobulin therapy in most of the studies, we cannot completely rule out the delayed effects of steroids. Nevertheless, because of the narrow time window between clinical symptom improvement and plasma exchange, plasma exchange can be considered for the treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy when steroids are ineffective in the short term or when patients cannot tolerate the side effects of steroids, and a few studies have shown that plasma exchange is effective as an initial treatment for Hashimoto's encephalopathy.

Side Effects of Plasma Exchange for Hashimoto's Encephalopathy

Plasma exchange is a relatively safe and effective treatment. The application of plasma exchange for the treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy is rare, and few studies have evaluated the occurrence of side effects from plasma exchange in Hashimoto's encephalopathy patients. Hussain et al. (44) reported a 54-year-old patient with Hashimoto's encephalopathy treated with plasma exchange who developed a urinary tract infection.

Application of Plasma Exchange for Limbic Encephalitis

Limbic encephalitis is a neuropsychiatric disease characterized by inflammation of the limbic system, including the hippocampus, amygdala, and less frequently the frontobasal and insular regions. The clinical manifestations are subacute onset of cognitive impairment (mainly short-term memory loss), epilepsy, and mental disorder (46, 47). Radja et al. (48) reported that 97% of VGKC-associated limbic encephalitis presented with memory impairment, 85% with seizures, and 33% with emotional change. Brain MRI may present edema or inflammation that occur selectively on unilateral or bilateral limbic systems, especially in the medial temporal region (49). Electroencephalogram usually shows focal or diffuse slow waves or epileptiform discharge (50), and cerebrospinal fluid usually shows lymphocytosis, slight protein elevation, oligoclonal band positivity, and an increase in the IgG index (51, 52). Limbic encephalitis can be divided into infectious and autoimmune limbic encephalitis according to the etiology. Infectious limbic encephalitis is usually caused by the direct invasion of the brain by pathogens such as herpes simplex virus, while autoimmune limbic encephalitis is caused by an autoimmune disorder and can be divided into paraneoplastic and non-paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis (50).

In 1968, Corsellis et al. (53) used the term "limbic encephalitis" for the first time to describe six patients characterized by progressive memory loss, confusion, and seizures. Of those patients, four had tumors, and three had bronchial carcinomas. An autopsy found that the limbic gray matter in all patients' temporal lobes exhibited inflammation and degeneration, indicating that there was a link between limbic encephalitis and tumors. Gultekin et al. (52) analyzed the relationship between 50 cases of limbic encephalitis and tumors and found that limbic encephalitis commonly occurs with small cell lung cancer (52%, 68/132), testicular cancer (11%, 14/132), and thymoma (5%, 6/132). There were also reports of paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, neuroblastoma, colon cancer, ovarian cancer, breast cancer, prostate cancer, etc. Since 1988, several studies have confirmed that patients with tumors outside the central nervous system but have neuropsychiatric symptoms have antitumor and brain tissue antibodies in their serum, including anti-Hu, anti-Yo, anti-CRMP5, anti-Ri, anti-Ma2, and anti-amphiphysin antibodies. Since 2000, studies have shown that some limbic encephalitis are detected antibodies against neuronal cell-surface antigens or antibodies against neuronal ion channels, including voltagegated potassium channels and ligand-gated ion channels and antibodies against VGKC, NMDA, and AMPA receptors, thus providing a therapeutic basis for plasma exchange (47, 50).

History of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Limbic Encephalitis

Buckley et al. (54) first reported that plasma exchange successfully treated a case of limbic encephalitis. The report described a 47year-old female stylist with myasthenia gravis. Thymoma was removed 4 years after she was diagnosed with myasthenia gravis, and after her diagnosis of myasthenia gravis for 10 years, her symptoms of myasthenia gravis recurred, the following year, the patient exhibited significant short-term memory loss, irritability, disorientation, inattention, and slowed thinking. The doses of cyclophosphamide and prednisone were reduced, and the patient started using loxapine (fourth generation antipsychotic medication), but her mental status did not improve significantly. After 7 weeks, the patient was transferred to the intensive care unit due to myasthenia crisis, and the myasthenia gravis symptoms were relieved with increased immunosuppression, but her mental status still did not improve. Brain CT and MRI were normal, while cerebrospinal fluid cytology and PCR of herpes simplex virus were negative. The electroencephalogram showed nonspecific slow waves. In the first 10 years after the diagnosis of myasthenia gravis, the VGKC antibody was normal, and significantly increased (750 pM) after the onset of psychiatric symptoms, so the patient was diagnosed with anti-VGKC receptor limbic encephalitis. The myasthenia gravis symptoms and limbic system symptoms improved after six sessions of plasma exchange. Jaben and Winters (55) studied the treatment of five anti-VGKC antibody-related diseases with

plasma exchange, of those, four were anti-VGKC antibodyrelated limbic encephalitis with the main clinical manifestations of memory impairment, seizures, and personality changes. All patients were given 1.0 times the plasma volume during each session every other day for a total of 5-6 sessions. Among these patients, three limbic encephalitis were treated with other immunosuppressive agents at the same time, and one significantly experienced symptom relief with plasma exchange alone. Although there have been a number of cases in which plasma exchange was used to treat limbic encephalitis, plasma exchange in combination with steroid and immunoglobulins have also been used to treat all types of limbic encephalitis. Steroid and immunoglobulin treatments are first-line therapy for limbic encephalitis whereas plasma exchange is not (56). Rather, it is implemented when steroid and immunoglobulin therapy has no obvious effect in the short term, alternatively, plasma exchange may be used in combination with steroid and immunoglobulin to treat limbic encephalitis.

Onset Time of Plasma Exchange for Limbic Encephalitis

At present, most studies that describe plasma exchange for limbic encephalitis lack a description of the onset time of plasma exchange. Schimme et al. (57) reported a 12-year-old girl with NMDA receptor encephalitis performed with eight sessions of plasma exchange over 13 days. The patient's clinical symptoms markedly improved after the second plasma exchange, and her ability to walk was partially recovered. This treatment schedule was consistent with the onset time of plasma exchange for anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis that was unresponsive to immunoglobulin (0.4 g/kg/d for 5 days) combined with methylprednisolone (1 g/d for 5 days) in the short term, as reported by Wang et al. (58) in 2015, consciousness was regained after the second plasma exchange. Mazzi et al. (11) reported a case of non-paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis with anti-GAD antibody, in which seizures were significantly reduced by the third plasma exchange. Rypulak et al. (59) reported a 23-year-old patient with NMDA receptor encephalitis who received plasma exchange, and after the third session, the patient's neurological symptoms significantly improved. The GCS score increased to 11 points from 6 points.

The Course of Plasma Exchange for Limbic Encephalitis

In the study of Batra et al. (10) and Jaben and Winters (55), the number of plasma exchange sessions used to treat limbic encephalitis ranged from 5 to 6. In 2016, the American Society for Apheresis recommended the use of plasma exchange once every other day to treat anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, and the volume of plasma exchanged per session was 1–1.5 times the plasma volume. Albumin was used as the replacement fluid, and a total of 5–6 sessions were performed. For the treatment of paraneoplastic neuropathy (PNS), including paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis, plasma exchange is recommended once daily or every other day for a total of 5–6 sessions, and the volume of plasma exchanged per procedure should be 1–1.5 times the plasma volume (2).

Clinical Practice of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Limbic Encephalitis

Plasma exchange is initiated when steroid and immunoglobulin treatments fail to treat limbic encephalitis, alternatively, it can be combined with steroid and immunoglobulin treatments. Therefore, plasma exchange is usually not the first choice. However, at present, no randomized controlled trials have analyzed the therapeutic effect of plasma exchange on limbic encephalitis. In 2011, Markakis et al. (60) reported a case of a 48-year-old female who presented with mental disorders and disorientation 2 years before admission; the patient rapidly developed anterograde amnesia, irritability, hallucinations, refractory temporal lobe seizure, and obvious short-term memory loss in a few weeks. The enhanced T2 weighted sequence of brain MRI suggested bilateral temporal lobe swelling and revealed a high signal intensity in the medial temporal lobe. High concentrations of anti-GAD antibodies were found in serum and cerebrospinal fluid. A diagnosis of anti-GAD antibody-associated limbic encephalitis was established. After methylprednisolone (1 g/d for 5 days) failed, plasma exchange was initiated, each session involved the replacement of 1.2 times the plasma volume. After a total of seven sessions, the epilepsy was under control, but the patient's cognitive function did not improve. Subsequently, the patient underwent one plasma exchange session every 3 weeks along with oral prednisone (1 mg/kg, gradually reduced to 0.25 mg/kg, for at least 1 year). The seizures did not recur, and a simple intelligence test showed that language and visual memory improved, in addition, anti-GAD antibody levels were reduced at the 1-year follow-up. Mccarthy et al. (61) reported one case of a 32-year-old pregnant woman with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, in the first 2 weeks of pregnancy, a new symptom developed, continuous daily headache, and in the maternity clinic, the patient experienced a rapid onset of visual and auditory hallucinations, illusions, irritability, paranoid, delusional within 24 h. One week later, the patient lost consciousness, and seizures began to occur. Brain MRI was normal, EEG showed diffuse slow waves, and cerebrospinal fluid protein was elevated to 726 mg/l (normal is 150-450 mg/l). Steroids were initiated (methyl prednisolone 1 g/d for 5 days, then slowly reduced), but the patient became aggravated, and hence stayed in the intensive care unit. After plasma exchange (1.5 times the plasma volume per session), the patient's symptoms improved significantly, and after 8 weeks, the symptoms of encephalopathy were completely resolved. Van Ael et al. (62) used steroids to treat a 26-year-old woman with GAD antibody limbic encephalitis, but the treatment was unsuccessful. Plasma exchange was subsequently initiated, and marked improvements in clinical symptoms, including memory, seizures, and imaging findings were observed. At the 14-month follow-up, the level of GAD antibody, which was initially >7,000 IU, was decreased by plasma exchange to <1,000 IU. Moreover, several other studies have shown that plasma exchange is more effective than intravenous immunoglobulin and steroids for the treatment of limbic encephalitis, including in pregnant women (10, 12, 61, 63). Korff et al. (64) found that plasma exchange was the most effective at reducing antibody levels in limbic encephalitis.

Plasma Exchange in Combination With Other Drugs for the Treatment of Limbic Encephalitis

Plasma exchange is rarely used alone in the treatment of limbic encephalitis, but it is often used in combination with other immunomodulatory therapies such as steroids and/or immunoglobulin. Vincent et al. (65) analyzed the clinical features and treatment of 10 cases of anti-VGKC-antibody-associated limbic encephalitis. Among those cases, seven were treated with plasma exchange combined with steroids or immunoglobulin, and the results showed that four patients experienced a significant curative effect, two patients experienced a slight curative effect, and only one patient did not experience an effect. Desena et al. (66) analyzed the use of plasma exchange to treat 14 cases of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, including three adults, 10 patients began plasma exchange after failure to respond to steroids, and the results showed that 7/10 NMDA receptor encephalitis patients who underwent plasma exchange exhibited an average increase in the modified Rankin scale of 0.4, and 3/10 patients exhibited an average increase in the modified Rankin scale of 0.1 after treatment with steroids. The results indicated that plasma exchange combined with steroids was more effective than steroids alone for the treatment of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis.

However, no randomized controlled trials have been performed to support the therapeutic effect of plasma exchange on limbic encephalitis, and plasma exchange is primarily initiated when the patient exhibits no response to steroid treatment in the short term (perhaps because steroid treatment requires a longer time period to elicit effects). Thus, the therapeutic effect of steroid treatment cannot be completely excluded, especially when it is combined with plasma exchange or immunoglobulin, so improvements in the patient's condition should not be attributed solely to plasma exchange. However, the patients receiving plasma exchange had better outcomes, and plasma exchange exhibited a time-dependent effect. The coincidence was small, and a few cases reported plasma exchange as the initial treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy. Therefore, plasma exchange may be considered when patients have contraindications to steroid treatment or slow onset time in the short term, but randomized controlled trials are needed for confirmation.

Side Effects of Plasma Exchange for Limbic Encephalitis

Supplej et al. (67) analyzed the efficacy and side effects of plasma exchange for pediatric NMDA receptor encephalitis and showed two cases of transient hypotension that improved after rehydration therapy and blood vessel vasopressors, one case of allergic reaction and shock because of autonomic dysfunction, and one case of pulmonary embolism. Wong et al. (33) prospectively studied nine VGKC antibody-positive limbic encephalitis patients who underwent five sessions of plasma exchange with 50 ml/kg of plasma volume exchanged per session. Side effects associated with plasma exchange were observed in two patients: one had methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus septicemia and vertebral body inflammation, while the other had femoral artery puncture hematoma, deep vein thrombosis, and pulmonary embolism, which improved after treatment. Miyauchi et al. (68) reported an 11-year-old patient with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis who developed hypotension shock ~1h after plasma exchange, but the patient's condition improved after rescue. Rypulak et al. (59) reported that hemodynamic instability and coagulation dysfunction occur after treatment of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis with plasma exchange, and a prolonged interval between plasma exchange sessions can help prevent unwanted side effects. Therefore, the vital signs of patients, especially patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis, should be closely monitored.

Application of Plasma Exchange in Systemic Lupus Encephalopathy

Systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy, also known as neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus (NPSLE), is a common neurological complication of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (69), patients with NPSLE present a variety of neuropsychological symptoms, including aseptic meningitis, cerebrovascular disease, demyelination, headaches, movement disorders, seizures, confusion, anxiety, cognitive decline, and mood disorders (70), and NPSLE is the main cause of disability and death in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. The pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric lupus involves a variety of inflammatory factors, autoantibodies, vascular lesions caused by immune complexes, and neuronal dysfunction mediated by autoantibodies (71). For many years, steroids as the first-line drug for systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy, often intravenous methylprednisolone (1,000 mg for 3 d), and then oral prednisone (1 mg/kg/d) gradually tapered and stopped within 3-12 months, but long-term use of the steroid has obvious side effects. When SLE encephalopathy has contraindications to steroid, or steroid is not sufficient or ineffective in the short term, plasma exchange may be a rapid-onset, safe, and effective option (72). In 2016, the American Society for Apheresis (ASFA) recommended plasma exchange as a class II indication for severe SLE, including lupus encephalopathy, and the recommended level is 2C (2).

History of Plasma Exchange for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Encephalopathy

In 1976, Jones et al. (71) treated eight SLE patients with plasma exchange and found that plasma exchange can reduce the level of immune complexes in SLE. In 1981, Evans et al. (21) reported a 44-year-old nurse who developed systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy 12 years after the diagnosis of SLE, the disease mainly manifests as schizophrenia-like psychosis, personality changes, mood changes, cognitive disorders, delusions, hallucinations, and irrational thoughts and behaviors. High doses of antipsychotic medications such as thiazine, chlorpromazine, and haloperidol combined with prednisone at 200 mg/day failed to treat the patient's mental symptoms. Immune complex levels were significantly increased in the blood and cerebrospinal fluid, and electroencephalograms showed irregular delta waves of 7–8 Hz per s, hence, four sessions of plasma exchange were performed after 35–38 days.

An obvious improvement in the patient's mental status was observed 3 days after the fourth plasma exchange. Four weeks later, the dose of prednisone was reduced to 15 mg/d, and all the antipsychotic drugs were stopped at the same time, the patient's mental function and EEG performance gradually returned to normal, and the levels of immune complex and anti-neuronal antibody decreased correspondingly, indicating that plasma exchange can effectively treat lupus encephalopathy in patients with high levels of circulating immune complexes. In 1988, Unterweger et al. (73) reported a case of a 15-year-old girl with lupus encephalopathy. Three years after diagnosis of SLE, the patient manifested a severe depressive episode accompanied by suicidal ideation, disorientation, and delusional behavior, hence, steroids were initiated. After 7 days, the patient still had clinical manifestations of encephalopathy, mainly dementia, and delusions. The symptoms still did not significantly improve within 3 weeks of continued steroids. Therefore, plasma exchange was performed once every 2 days, with a total of five sessions performed over 10 days. The levels of circulating immune complexes decreased, antibody levels decreased, and the symptoms were relieved. Two weeks after the last plasma exchange session, the patient had recovered completely, and based on the results of psychological testing, the patient's attention and memory had returned to normal. Since then, studies have reported that plasma exchange can effectively treat systemic lupus encephalopathy (15, 69, 71, 74, 75). Plasma exchange has recently been reported to successfully treat one lupus encephalopathy case with catatonia as the main manifestation, avoiding the use of electroshock treatment (76). But no randomized controlled trials have confirmed the effect of plasma exchange on systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy.

The Course of Plasma Exchange for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Encephalopathy

Kato et al. (77) reported three sessions of plasma exchange for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus encephalopathy, and Hussein et al (44) and Perisse et al (76) successfully treated systemic lupus encephalopathy using six sessions. Most studies reporting the use of plasma exchange for lupus encephalopathy lack a specific description of their methods. According to the reports on plasma exchange, for other immune mechanisms mediated neurological diseases, and according to studies reporting the plasma exchange clearance kinetics of immunoglobulin, it should be performed once daily or every other day, with the volume of plasma exchanged per procedure at 1–1.5 times the estimated plasma volume, and a total of 3–6 sessions of plasma exchange.

Clinical Practice of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Encephalopathy

Mild SLE encephalopathy needs only symptomatic treatment, but for severe SLE encephalopathy (disturbance of consciousness, seizures, severe depression, psychotic symptoms, etc.) and lupus encephalopathy in which steroids and cyclophosphamide

have contraindications, high concentrations of immune complexes, and steroids have no obvious curative effect in the short term. Plasma exchange can treat lupus encephalopathy effectively, safely, and quickly (78-80). By removing pathogenic autoantibodies, immunoglobulin, immune complexes, and toxins, plasma exchange can also increase the function of regulatory T cells (23, 78). Kato et al. (77) reported a 48year-old male with lupus encephalopathy that manifested as organic encephalopathy syndrome, specifically exhibiting mental behavior abnormalities, disorientation, memory, and intelligence impairments. Plasma exchange was performed after steroid treatment was deemed ineffective. After the first plasma exchange, the patient's consciousness improved, and their clinical symptoms were relieved. Subsequently, the steroid treatment was continued. Three days after the first plasma exchange session, a second plasma exchange session was conducted, the patient's disorientation was immediately alleviated. Quinter-Del-Rio AI et al. (79) studied a 14-year-old girl with SLE encephalopathy presenting with seizure, after steroid treatment failed, the clinical symptoms were significantly relieved with plasma exchange (1 session/d for 4 days). Gokhale et al. (69) reported three cases of lupus encephalopathy, two of which presented with status epilepticus. Plasma exchange combined with cyclophosphamide was initiated when steroid and cyclophosphamide treatment failed, and the clinical symptoms of all three patients were significantly relieved. Some scholars believe that the combination of synchronous plasma exchange and cyclophosphamide is effective for the treatment of SLE encephalopathy. Neuwelt (32) studied 26 patients who met the 1999 American Society of Rheumatology diagnostic criteria for lupus encephalopathy and treated them with plasma exchange with or without cyclophosphamide. Symptoms were relieved in 74% of patients. Euler et al (80) used plasma exchange and cyclophosphamide to treat 14 cases of severe SLE, of which 12 had complete remission of clinical symptoms within 6 years of follow-up after cessation of treatment.

SLE encephalopathy has various clinical manifestations, and its pathogenesis and pathophysiological mechanisms are still being explored. Although plasma exchange has been shown to be effective at treating SLE encephalopathy, there is a lack of randomized controlled trials to support the efficacy of plasma exchange. Thus, clinicians must weigh the pros and cons of the risk and costs, as well as other factors, to determine whether plasma exchange should be performed. In addition, large-sample, multicenter, randomized controlled trials are still needed to confirm the therapeutic effect of plasma exchange.

Side Effects of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Encephalopathy

Although plasma exchange does have a few side effects, potential life-threatening side effects are very rare, and their incidence is <0.15% (75). Bartolucci et al. (15) analyzed the side effects of plasma exchange as adjuvant treatment for lupus encephalopathy and found five cases: one case of transient hypocalcemia, one case of venous fistula of the indwelling venous catheter, one case of allergic skin reaction to albumin, and two cases of central venous catheter infection.

Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of ANCA-associated Vasculitis Encephalopathy

ANCA-associated vasculitis includes granulomatosis with polvangiitis (GPA: formerly Wegener's granulomatosis), microscopic polyangiitis (MPA), and eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (EGPA: formerly Churg-Strauss syndrome), which is a group of systemic vasculitis characterized by oligovascular oligoimmune necrosis inflammation. ANCAs can be detected in the serum of most patients (81). ANCAassociated vasculitis can lead to systemic organ damage, mainly renal and lung, of which renal damage is more prevalent (70%) (81). However, the manifestations that cause central nervous system damage are not common, with an incidence of \sim 5–15%. In addition, there is no significant difference in the incidence of each type of ANCA-related vasculitis-induced central nervous system damage. Usually, central nervous system damage is caused by cerebral or spinal vasculitis and granulomas, and the clinical manifestations are complex, ranging from headache to cognitive impairment, memory loss, epilepsy, disturbance of consciousness, paresthesia, etc. (81). Encephalopathy is not a disease, rather, it is a clinical syndrome that describes global brain dysfunction. Mental status alteration is the most typical manifestation, and changes in personality and/or behavior can indicate deterioration in cognitive functioning, a reduction in the level of consciousness, and specific localizing features of injury, such as seizures, ataxia, tremor, and other focal motor signs. There may also be systemic symptoms, such as headache, fever, vomiting, and loss of appetite. In summary, ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy is a global brain dysfunction caused by ANCA-associated vasculitis (82).

Untreated ANCA-associated vasculitis usually leads to death, with a mortality rate as high as 90% in the natural course of 2 years, since the 1950s, when steroids became the basic treatment for ANCA-associated vasculitis, the five-year survival rate has increased to 48%, and after the 1980s, when steroids began to be combined with cyclophosphamide to treat ANCAassociated vasculitis, symptoms could be relieved in 80-90% of patients (83). Because ANCAs play an important role in the pathogenesis of disease, the use of plasma exchange to clear pathogenic antibodies from circulation, and increase the ability of the reticuloendothelial system to clear immune complexes can be combined with immunosuppressive agents for the treatment of severe ANCA-associated vasculitis (84), such as ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy. However, due to the low incidence of ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy, systematic studies on the treatment of ANCAassociated vasculitis encephalopathy by plasma exchange are lacking. There is currently no description of the specific dose and course of plasma exchange for ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy. According to the reports on plasma exchange for other immune mechanisms mediating neurological diseases, it may be recommended once daily or every other day, with the volume of plasma exchanged per session at 1-1.5 times the estimated plasma volume, and a total of five sessions of plasma exchange should be performed.

Clinical Practice of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of ANCA-associated Vasculitis Encephalopathy

The treatment of ANCA-associated vasculitic encephalopathy with plasma exchange is uncommon. In 2000, Deshpande et al. (85) reported a 15-year-old girl with renal failure who developed lethargy for 3 months and suffered from decreased appetite and vomiting in the week prior to admission. At 24 h after admission, renal biopsy showed that 29 of 43 glomeruli contained a mixture of fibrous crescents and cells. The patient was diagnosed with microscopic polyangiitis, and the patient was discharged after her condition improved. Three weeks after discharge, the patient had a severe headache and blurred vision, and blood pressure was 139/92 mmHg. Subsequently, the patient experienced three epileptic seizures, followed by a loss of consciousness, and irritability. Phenytoin and carbamazepine were used to control the seizures, and T2-weighted and T2 FLAIR sequences of brain MRI showed multiple increased signal intensities in the peripheral gray matter of the cerebral hemisphere, especially in the occipital cortex. Vasculitis caused widespread cerebral ischemia. EEG indicated changes consistent with encephalopathy. Headache, disturbance of consciousness, and blurred vision were relieved after the first plasma exchange session, the patient then underwent three sessions of plasma exchange, performed every other day, and after five consecutive plasma exchange sessions, cyclophosphamide was administered intravenously. After 2 months, the abnormal signals on brain MRI showed improvement. Nishio et al (86) reported reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome caused by vascular damage from Wegener's granulomatosis. A female with Wegener's granulomatosis presented severe headache, nausea, and seizures after severe intestinal complications. Blood pressure was 126/60 mmHg, brain CT showed low-density shadows in the bilateral posterior parietal and occipital lobes, and brain MRI showed high-intensity signals on the T2-weighted sequence in the bilateral occipital white matter, parietal lobe, and frontal lobe. Cerebrospinal fluid was normal. Thus, the diagnosis was reversible posterior white matter encephalopathy syndrome. Two courses of methylprednisolone combined with plasma exchange were administered, followed by intravenous cyclophosphamide at 400 mg/week. After 13 days, brain MRI showed that the abnormal signal had almost completely disappeared. The patient's consciousness and mental status also began to recover, and the concentration of PR3-ANCA antibodies decreased from 164 to 15.7 U/ml, and the intestinal symptoms were relieved. However, studies that treat ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy with plasma exchange are very rare, so more studies are needed in the future to provide supporting evidence of the therapeutic effect of plasma exchange.

Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Acute Demyelinating Encephalomyelitis

Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis is an immune-mediated single-phase acute inflammatory demyelinating disease of the central nervous system, which mainly affects the white matter of the brain, brainstem and spinal cord (87). It is common

in children and young adults, and most cases occur after viral or bacterial infections or within 2-4 weeks of vaccination (<5%) This disease can exhibit acute or subacute onset, with clinical manifestations of encephalopathy (disturbance of consciousness and behavior change) and multifocal neurological defects. In 2007, an international pediatric multiple sclerosis research group noted that encephalopathy not explained by fever is a necessary clinical manifestation of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (87, 88), and in the prodromal stage, upper respiratory tract infection, and gastrointestinal symptoms are usually observed. The diagnosis is mainly based on clinical manifestations and imaging examination. Typical cerebrospinal fluid changes include increased pressure, increased lymphocytes, increased protein (usually <1.0 mg/l), and normal glucose. The gamma globulin and IgG levels in cerebrospinal fluid can increase, as can myelin basic protein, with a rare oligoclonal band. Electroencephalography examination presents a slow wave on imaging and is of great value in the diagnosis of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, especially brain MRI, which can detect multiple or extensive white matter or deep gray matter lesions (thalamus and basal ganglia) within 5-14 days after the onset of symptoms (88, 89).

The pathogenesis of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis is not very clear. Cell-mediated immune dysfunction may play a main role. Humoral factors, including antibodies, complement, immune complex, and cytokines, also play an important role (78), so priority is given to immune modulators (90). No randomized controlled trials have been performed on children or adults to determine the best treatment for ADEM. Systemic intravenous large doses of corticoids are currently considered to be firstline therapy (89). Early intravenous methylprednisolone can shorten the course of the disease. Plasma exchange has been reported to be effective in the treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis when the diagnosis of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis is delayed and cannot be early except for infectious diseases where steroid cannot be used, where there are contraindications to steroid, or where the effects of steroid are not obvious in the short term (90).

History of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis

In 1981, Newton et al. successfully treated the first case of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis caused by acute infection through plasma exchange alone (4). Subsequently, Cotter et al. (91) reported the case of a 22-year-old male with acute disseminated encephalomyelitis caused by mycoplasma pneumoniae infection. Eight days after onset, the patient improved after plasma exchange alone. Several studies have shown that plasma exchange can effectively treat acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. However, the current therapeutic effect of plasma exchange lacks the support of randomized controlled trials.

Onset Time of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis

Plasma exchange for the treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis usually takes effect after the first plasma

exchange (88). Kanter et al. (92) reported that plasma exchange for the treatment of two cases of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, in which one improved neurological function within a few hours during the first plasma exchange. Shah et al. (93) noted, in their study of plasma exchange for the treatment of one acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, that the neurological deficit was improved after the first plasma exchange, which was supported by findings reported in the study by Yi et al. (94).

Course of Plasma Exchange for the Treatment of Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis

The course of plasma exchange for the treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis has not been determined. Borras-Novell et al. (90) and Stricker et al. (95), in the study of plasma exchange for treating acute fulminant disseminated encephalomyelitis, included four cases of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. The number of plasma exchange sessions was 3–10, predominantly 5, and plasma exchange was performed once daily with the volume of plasma exchanged per procedure set at one times the plasma volume, with 5% albumin used as replacement fluid, and all patients improved. Therefore, for the treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, 3–10 sessions are recommended, typically five, performed once a day or every other day, with the volume of plasma exchanged per sessions set at one times the plasma volume and albumin used as the replacement fluid.

Clinical Practice of Plasma Exchange in Acute Disseminated Encephalomyelitis

Miyazawa et al. (96) reported an eleven-year-old patient with acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. Brain MRI revealed extensive multiple high-intensity lesions in the white matter on T2-weighted imaging. Intravenous immunoglobulin (0.125 g/kg/d for 3 days) was administered after 10 days of illness, and 11 days after onset, oral prednisone was initiated at a dose of 60 mg/d, but the patient did not improve. Twelve days after onset, intravenous methylprednisolone was administered (1,000 mg/d) for 3 days. Fourteen days after onset, the patient became comatose, and spinal magnetic resonance T2 weighted images showed cervical segmental spinal cord swelling and abnormally high signal because of the patients' neurologic deterioration. At 17-20 days after onset, three plasma exchange sessions were started using 5% albumin as the replacement fluid. She regained full consciousness, and MRI improved. Lin et al. (97) described plasma exchange for the successful treatment of two cases of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, including a 26-year-old woman who had a history of rubella vaccination, characterized by disturbance of consciousness, speech, ataxia, and myoclonus. Brain magnetic resonance T2 weighted images revealed highintensity signals in the brain stem, cerebellum, basal ganglia, thalamus, and white matter of the cerebral ventricles. Initially, she received intravenous methylprednisolone (1,000 mg/d for 5 days and then 500 mg/d for 2 days) and then oral prednisone. However, her neurological function began to deteriorate, and one seizure occurred after 3 days of intravenous methylprednisolone. Five sessions of plasma exchange were initiated, with one session performed every 2 days, and 5% of albumin was used as the replacement fluid. Her symptoms were alleviated after the third plasma exchange. Another a 65-year-old patient presented with acute disseminated encephalomyelitis, unconsciousness, speech disorder, emotional dissonance, and slow movement. T2weighted images of the brain magnetic resonance showed highintensity signals in the bilateral cerebral hemisphere, an elevated number of cells in the cerebrospinal fluid, normal glucose, and moderately elevated protein levels. She received five plasma exchange sessions (once every 2 days, with 5% albumin as the replacement fluid). After the fourth plasma exchange, her symptoms began to resolve.

Since most studies have shown that the standard dose of immunoglobulin for the treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis is 0.4 g/kg/d for 5 days, steroids are usually administered intravenously at a dose of 20-30 mg/kg/d for (3-5 days), followed by oral prednisone at a dose of 1-2 mg/kg/d (87). Miyazawa and Lin et al reported that a poor response to intravenous immunoglobulin and steroids may be related to inadequate immunoglobulin and steroid dosing. Even so, the delayed effects of steroid and immunoglobulin treatments cannot be excluded as a component of symptom resolution because of the narrow time window between symptom improvement and plasma exchange, indicating that plasma exchange can effectively treat fulminant acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. In addition, Stricker et al. (95) reported four cases of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis due to delayed diagnosis and cannot exclude infection, which were significantly improved by plasma exchange alone. Keegan et al. (98) reviewed 59 cases of acute and severe central nervous system demyelination treated with plasma exchange at the Mayo clinic, including 10 patients with acute disseminated encephalomyelitis (ADEM), of whom 40% experienced symptom relief. Therefore, plasma exchange treatment for acute disseminated encephalomyelitis is effective, and few side effects have been reported. However, there is still a lack of support from randomized controlled studies.

REFERENCES

- Schwartz J. Evidence-based guideline update: plasmapheresis in neurologic disorders. *Neurology*. (2011) 77:e105-6; author reply: e6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318230b33f
- Schwartz J, Padmanabhan A, Aqui N, Balogun RA, Connelly-Smith L, Delaney M, et al. Guidelines on the use of therapeutic apheresis in clinical practice-evidence-based approach from the writing committee of the american society for apheresis: the seventh special issue. J Clin Apheresis. (2016) 31:149–62. doi: 10.1002/jca.21470
- Castillo P, Woodruff B, Caselli R, Vernino S, Lucchinetti C, Swanson J, et al. Steroid-responsive encephalopathy associated with autoimmune thyroiditis. *Arch Neurol.* (2006) 63:197–202. doi: 10.1001/archneur.63.2.197
- Mocellin R, Walterfang M, Velakoulis D. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: epidemiology, pathogenesis and management. CNS Drugs. (2007) 21:799– 811. doi: 10.2165/00023210-200721100-00002
- 5. Nagpal T, Pande S. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: response to plasma exchange. *Neurol. India.* (2004) 52:245–7.
- Gul Mert G, Horoz OO, Herguner MO, Incecik F, Yildizdas RD, Onenli Mungan N, et al. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: four cases and review of literature. *Int J Neurosci.* (2014) 124:302–6. doi: 10.3109/00207454.2013.836706

Other types of steroid-responsive encephalopathy are very rarely reported, including hypoglycemic encephalopathy (99) and steroid-responsive encephalopathy caused by cholesterol thrombosis (100), and currently, there are no reports on the effects of plasma exchange therapy on these types.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, plasma exchange is a widely accepted treatment method for autoimmune neurological diseases because it is safe, rapid-onset, and effective. Plasma exchange may be effective for patients with steroid-responsive encephalopathy who do not respond to treatment with steroids in the short term or those who have contraindications for steroid treatment, including patients with Hashimoto's encephalopathy, limbic encephalitis, SLE encephalopathy, ANCA-associated vasculitis encephalopathy, or acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. The main limitation of this study is the lack of systematic treatments reported in the literature. The current data are almost entirely derived from case reports and case analyses. Moreover, plasma exchange is often applied in combination with steroids and other immunosuppressive agents, hence, no high-quality evidence is available to prove the efficacy of plasma exchange on steroidresponsive encephalopathy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YJ, XT, and XW provided the initial idea and outline of content for the manuscript. All authors contributed content and critically reviewed and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Clinical Key Specialty Construction Foundation of China and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Nos. 81471319, 81671301).

- Simmons SC, Staley EM, Dorn DP, Nails AP, Marques MB, Pham HP et al. Therapeutic plasma exchange For Hashimoto's encephalopathy. *J Clin Apher*. (2018) 33:444–6. doi: 10.1002/jca.21597
- Endres D, Vry MS, Dykierek P, Riering AN, Lungen E, Stich O, et al. Plasmapheresis responsive rapid onset dementia with predominantly frontal dysfunction in the context of Hashimoto's encephalopathy. *Front Psychiatry*. (2017) 8:212. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00212
- Tran MH, Mkhikian H, Sy M, Perez-Alvarez I, Demetriou M. Long-term plasma exchange as maintenance therapy for cerebellar-type Hashimoto's encephalopathy, a case report. *Transfus Apher Sci.* (2018) 57:418–20. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2018.05.027
- Batra R, Pang Y, Friedman MT. Therapeutic plasma exchange in anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate-receptor (anti-NMDA-R) encephalitis associated with benign ovarian teratoma. *J Clin Apher.* (2012) 27:227–8. doi: 10.1002/jca.21212
- Mazzi G, Roia DD, Cruciatti B, Mata S, Catapano R. Plasma exchange for anti-GAD associated non paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis. *Transfus Apher Sci.* (2008) 39:229–33. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2008.09.005
- Martin IW, Martin CL, Dunbar NM, Lee SL, Szczepiorkowski ZM. Therapeutic plasma exchange as a steroid-sparing therapy in a patient with limbic encephalitis due to antibodies to voltage-gated potassium channels. J Clin Apher. (2016) 31:63–5. doi: 10.1002/jca.21395

- Ozkale M, Erol I, Ozkale Y, Kozanoglu I. Overview of therapeutic plasma exchange in pediatric neurology: a single-center experience. *Acta Neurol Belgica*. (2018) 118:451–8. doi: 10.1007/s13760-018-0961-5
- Hussein M, Mooij J, Roujouleh H. Cerebral lupus in patients whilst on treatment for lupus nephritis with cyclosporine. J Clin Neurosci. (2003) 10:104–6. doi: 10.1016/S0967-5868(02)00260-6
- Bartolucci P, Brechignac S, Cohen P, Le Guern V, Guillevin L. Adjunctive plasma exchanges to treat neuropsychiatric lupus: a retrospective study on 10 patients. *Lupus*. (2007) 16:817–22. doi: 10.1177/0961203307081840
- Shinozaki K, Oda S, Sadahiro T, Nakamura M, Abe R, Nakamura S, et al. A case report of plasmapheresis in the treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2008) 12:401–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-9987.2008.00617.x
- Balestri P, Grosso S, Acquaviva A, Bernini M. Plasmapheresis in a child affected by acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Brain Dev.* (2000) 22:123– 6. doi: 10.1016/S0387-7604(99)00115-1
- Abel JJ, Rowntree LG, Turner BB. Plasma removal with return of corpuscles (plasmaphaeresis). The journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics Vol. V. No. 6, July, 1914. *Transfusion Sci.* (1990) 11:166–77.
- Adams WS, Blahd WH, Bassett SH. A method of human plasmapheresis. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. (1952) 80:377–9. doi: 10.3181/00379727-80-19629
- Schwab PJ, Fahey JL. Treatment of Waldenstrom's macroglobulinemia by plasmapheresis. N Engl J Med. (1960) 263:574–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJM196009222631202
- Evans DT, Giles M, Horne DJ, d'Apice AJ, Riglar A, Toh BH. Cerebral lupus erythematosus responding to plasmaphaeresis. *Postgraduate Med J.* (1981) 57:247–51. doi: 10.1136/pgmj.57.666.247
- 22. Popescu A, Kao AH. Neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2011) 9:449–57. doi: 10.2174/157015911796557984
- Winters JL. Plasma exchange: concepts, mechanisms, and an overview of the American Society for Apheresis guidelines. *Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program.* (2012) 2012:7–12. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2012.1.7
- Dau PC. Increased antibody production in peripheral blood mononuclear cells after plasma exchange therapy in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (1995) 62:197–200. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(95)00121-4
- 25. Steven MM, Tanner AR, Holdstock GE, Cockerell R, Smith J, Smith DS, et al. The effect of plasma exchange on the *in vitro* monocyte function of patients with immune complex diseases. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1981) 45:240–5.
- Tesar V, Jelinkova E, Masek Z, Jirsa M Jr, Zabka J, Bartunkova J, et al. Influence of plasma exchange on serum levels of cytokines and adhesion molecules in ANCA-positive renal vasculitis. *Blood Purif.* (1998) 16:72–80. doi: 10.1159/000014316
- Yeh JH, Wang SH, Chien PJ, Shih CM, Chiu HC. Changes in serum cytokine levels during plasmapheresis in patients with myasthenia gravis. *Eur J Neurol.* (2009) 16:1318–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2009.02729.x
- Natarajan N, Weinstein R. Therapeutic apheresis in neurology critical care. J Intensive Care Med. (2005) 20:212–25. doi: 10.1177/088506660 5276816
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* (2008) 336:924–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39489.470347.AD
- Kaplan AA. Therapeutic plasma exchange: a technical and operational review. J Clin Apheresis. (2013) 28:3–10. doi: 10.1002/jca.21257
- Cook MK, Malkin M, Karafin MS. The use of plasma exchange in Hashimoto's encephalopathy: a case report and review of the literature. *J Clin Apheresis* (2015) 30:188–92. doi: 10.1002/jca.21353
- 32. Neuwelt CM. The role of plasmapheresis in the treatment of severe central nervous system neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2003) 7:173–82. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-0968.2003.00032.x
- Wong SH, Saunders MD, Larner AJ, Das K, Hart IK. An effective immunotherapy regimen for VGKC antibody-positive limbic encephalitis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2010) 81:1167–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.178293
- Basic-Jukic N, Kes P, Glavas-Boras S, Brunetta B, Bubic-Filipi L, Puretic Z. Complications of therapeutic plasma exchange:

experience with 4857 treatments. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2005) 9:391-5. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-9987.2005.00319.x

- 35. Kaynar L, Altuntas F, Aydogdu I, Turgut B, Kocyigit I, Hacioglu SK, et al. Therapeutic plasma exchange in patients with neurologic diseases: retrospective multicenter study. *Transfusion Apher Sci.* (2008) 38:109–15. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2007.11.002
- Casian A, Jayne D. Plasma exchange in the treatment of Wegener's granulomatosis, microscopic polyangiitis, Churg-Strauss syndrome and renal limited vasculitis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol.* (2011) 23:12–7. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e32834120c1
- Brain L, Jellinek EH, Ball K. Hashimoto's disease and encephalopathy. *Lancet*. (1966) 2:512–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(66)92876-5
- Riangwiwat T, Sangtian J, Sriphrapradang C. Steroid-responsive encephalopathy: an under recognised aspect of Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *BMJ Case Rep.* (2015) 2015:bcr2014208969. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2014-208969
- Chong JY, Rowland LP, Utiger RD. Hashimoto encephalopathy: syndrome or myth? Arch Neurol. (2003) 60:164–71. doi: 10.1001/archneur.60.2.164
- Pari E, Rinaldi F, Premi E, Codella M, Rao R, Paghera B, et al. A followup (1)(8)F-FDG brain PET study in a case of Hashimoto's encephalopathy causing drug-resistant status epilepticus treated with plasmapheresis. J Neurol. (2014) 261:663–7. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-7228-0
- Laurent C, Capron J, Quillerou B, Thomas G, Alamowitch S, Fain O, et al. Steroid-responsive encephalopathy associated with autoimmune thyroiditis (SREAT): characteristics, treatment and outcome in 251 cases from the literature. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:1129–33. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.008
- Boers PM, Colebatch JG. Hashimoto's encephalopathy responding to plasmapheresis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2001) 70:132. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.70.1.132
- Bektas O, Yilmaz A, Kendirli T, Siklar Z, Deda G. Hashimoto encephalopathy causing drug-resistant status epilepticus treated with plasmapheresis. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2012) 46:132–5. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2011.11.009
- Hussain NS, Rumbaugh J, Kerr D, Nath A, Hillis AE. Effects of prednisone and plasma exchange on cognitive impairment in Hashimoto encephalopathy. *Neurology*. (2005) 64:165–6. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000148580.98997.C5
- Nieuwenhuis L, Santens P, Vanwalleghem P, Boon P. Subacute Hashimoto's encephalopathy, treated with plasmapheresis. Acta Neurolog Belgica. (2004) 104:80–3.
- Mori M, Kuwabara S, Yoshiyama M, Kanesaka T, Ogata T, Hattori T. Successful immune treatment for non-paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis. J Neurol Sci. (2002) 201:85–8. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(02)00188-0
- Honnorat J. Autoimmune limbic encephalitis: an expanding concept. Lancet Neurol. (2010) 9:24–5. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70333-3
- Radja GK, Cavanna AE. Treatment of VGKC complex antibody-associated limbic encephalitis: a systematic review. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2013) 25:264–71. doi: 10.1176/appi.neuropsych.13020022
- Dirr LY, Elster AD, Donofrio PD, Smith M. Evolution of brain MRI abnormalities in limbic encephalitis. *Neurology*. (1990) 40:1304–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.40.8.1304
- Vedeler CA, Storstein A. Autoimmune limbic encephalitis. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl. (2009) 120:63–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2009.01204.x
- Lawn ND, Westmoreland BF, Kiely MJ, Lennon VA, Vernino S. Clinical, magnetic resonance imaging, and electroencephalographic findings in paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis. *Mayo Clin Proceed.* (2003) 78:1363–8. doi: 10.4065/78.11.1363
- Gultekin SH, Rosenfeld MR, Voltz R, Eichen J, Posner JB, Dalmau J. Paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis: neurological symptoms, immunological findings and tumour association in 50 patients. *Brain.* (2000) 123 (Pt 7):1481–94. doi: 10.1093/brain/123.7.1481
- Corsellis JA, Goldberg GJ, Norton AR. "Limbic encephalitis" and its association with carcinoma. *Brain.* (1968) 91:481–96. doi: 10.1093/brain/91.3.481
- Buckley C, Oger J, Clover L, Tuzun E, Carpenter K, Jackson M, et al. Potassium channel antibodies in two patients with reversible limbic encephalitis. *Ann Neurol.* (2001) 50:73–8. doi: 10.1002/ana.1097
- 55. Jaben EA, Winters JL. Plasma exchange as a therapeutic option in patients with neurologic symptoms due to antibodies to voltage-gated potassium

channels: a report of five cases and review of the literature. *J Clin Apher.* (2012) 27:267–73. doi: 10.1002/jca.21233

- Gastaldi M, Thouin A, Vincent A. Antibody-mediated autoimmune encephalopathies and immunotherapies. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2016) 13:147– 62. doi: 10.1007/s13311-015-0410-6
- Schimmel M, Bien CG, Vincent A, Schenk W, Penzien J. Successful treatment of anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis presenting with catatonia. *Arch Dis Childhood*. (2009) 94:314–6. doi: 10.1136/adc.2008.149021
- Wang RJ, Chen BD, Qi D. Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis concomitant with multifocal subcortical white matter lesions on magnetic resonance imaging: a case report and review of the literature. *BMC Neurol.* (2015) 15:107. doi: 10.1186/s12883-015-0366-5
- Rypulak E, Borys M, Piwowarczyk P, Fijalkowska M, Potrec B, Sysiak J, et al. Successful treatment of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis with a prompt ovarian tumour removal and prolonged course of plasmapheresis: a case report. *Mol Clin Oncol.* (2016) 5:845–9. doi: 10.3892/mco.2016.1054
- Markakis I, Alexopoulos H, Poulopoulou C, Akrivou S, Papathanasiou A, Katsiva V, et al. Immunotherapy-responsive limbic encephalitis with antibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase. *J Neurol Sci.* (2014) 343:192–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014.05.032
- McCarthy A, Dineen J, McKenna P, Keogan M, Sheehan J, Lynch T, et al. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis with associated catatonia during pregnancy. J Neurol. (2012) 259:2632–5. doi: 10.1007/s00415-012-6561-z
- Van Ael Y, Amir R, Cras P. Anti-GAD antibodies, a rare cause of limbic encephalitis: a case report. *Acta Neurol Belgica*. (2016) 116:105–7. doi: 10.1007/s13760-015-0493-1
- 63. Shahani L. Steroid unresponsive anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis during pregnancy successfully treated with plasmapheresis. *BMJ Case Rep.* (2015) 2015:bcr2014208823. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2014-208823
- 64. Korff CM, Parvex P, Cimasoni L, Wilhelm-Bals A, Hampe CS, Schwitzgebel VM, et al. Encephalitis associated with glutamic acid decarboxylase autoantibodies in a child: a treatable condition? *Arch Neurol.* (2011) 68:1065–8. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.177
- 65. Vincent A, Buckley C, Schott JM, Baker I, Dewar BK, Detert N, et al. Potassium channel antibody-associated encephalopathy: a potentially immunotherapy-responsive form of limbic encephalitis. *Brain*. (2004) 127 (Pt 3):701–12. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh077
- 66. DeSena AD, Noland DK, Matevosyan K, King K, Phillips L, Qureshi SS, et al. Intravenous methylprednisolone versus therapeutic plasma exchange for treatment of anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antibody encephalitis: a retrospective reiview. J Clin Apher. (2015) 30:212–6. doi: 10.1002/jca.21363
- Suppiej A, Nosadini M, Zuliani L, Pelizza MF, Toldo I, Bertossi C, et al. Plasma exchange in pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis: a systematic review. *Brain Dev.* (2016) 38:613–22. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2016.01.009
- Miyauchi A, Monden Y, Osaka H, Takahashi Y, Yamagata T. A case of anti-NMDAR encephalitis presented hypotensive shock during plasma exchange. *Brain Dev.* (2016) 38:427–30. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2015.10.009
- Gokhale YA, Bhide S, Rajadhyaksha S, Bichile LS, Hase NK. Plasmapheresis: an adjunct therapy in severe progressive neuropsychiatric lupus. J Assoc Phys India. (2001) 49:986–9.
- The American College of Rheumatology nomenclature and case definitions for neuropsychiatric lupus syndromes. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1999) 42:599–608. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(199904)42:4<599::AID-ANR2>3.0.CO;2-F
- Jones JV, Cumming RH, Bucknall RC, Asplin CM. Plasmapheresis in the management of acute systemic lupus erythematosus? *Lancet.* (1976) 1:709– 11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(76)93088-9
- Magro-Checa C, Zirkzee EJ, Huizinga TW, Steup-Beekman GM. Management of neuropsychiatric systemic lupus erythematosus: current approaches and future perspectives. *Drugs*. (2016) 76:459–83. doi: 10.1007/s40265-015-0534-3
- Unterweger B, Klein G, Fleischhacker WW. Plasma exchange for cerebral lupus erythematosus. *Biol Psychiatry*. (1988) 24:946–7. doi: 10.1016/0006-3223(88)90233-8
- 74. Barath S, Soltesz P, Kiss E, Aleksza M, Zeher M, Szegedi G, et al. The severity of systemic lupus erythematosus negatively correlates with the increasing number of CD4+CD25(high)FoxP3+ regulatory T cells during repeated

plasmapheresis treatments of patients. *Autoimmunity*. (2007) 40:521–8. doi: 10.1080/08916930701610028

- Cid J, Carbasse G, Andreu B, Baltanas A, Garcia-Carulla A, Lozano M. Efficacy and safety of plasma exchange: ann 11-year single-center experience of 2730 procedures in 317 patients. *Transfus Apher Sci.* (2014) 51:209–14. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2014.08.018
- Perisse D, Amoura Z, Cohen D, Saintigny P, Mekhloufi F, Mazet P, et al. Case study: effectiveness of plasma exchange in an adolescent with systemic lupus erythematosus and catatonia. J Am Acad Child Adoles Psychiatry. (2003) 42:497–9. doi: 10.1097/01.CHI.0000046820.95464.86
- 77. Kato T, Shiratori K, Kobashigawa T, Hidaka Y. Systemic lupus erythematosus with organic brain syndrome: serial electroencephalograms accurately evaluate therapeutic efficacy. *Internal Med.* (2006) 45:95–9. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.45.1363
- Lassmann H, Brunner C, Bradl M, Linington C. Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis: the balance between encephalitogenic T lymphocytes and demyelinating antibodies determines size and structure of demyelinated lesions. *Acta Neuropathol.* (1988) 75:566–76. doi: 10.1007/BF00686201
- Quintero-Del-Rio AI, Van M. Neurologic symptoms in children with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Child Neurol. (2000) 15:803–7. doi: 10.1177/088307380001501207
- Euler HH, Schroeder JO, Harten P, Zeuner RA, Gutschmidt HJ. Treatment-free remission in severe systemic lupus erythematosus following synchronization of plasmapheresis with subsequent pulse cyclophosphamide. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1994) 37:1784–94. doi: 10.1002/art.1780371212
- Lally L, Spiera R. Current therapies for ANCA-associated vasculitis. Annu Rev Med. (2015) 66:227–40. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-011514-023051
- Davies E, Connolly DJ, Mordekar SR. Encephalopathy in children: an approach to assessment and management. Arch Dis Childhood. (2012) 97:452–8. doi: 10.1136/adc.2011.300998
- Rubio-Agusti I, Salavert M, Bataller L. Limbic encephalitis and related cortical syndromes. *Curr Treat Options Neurol.* (2013) 15:169–84. doi: 10.1007/s11940-012-0212-7
- 84. Ribi C, Cohen P, Pagnoux C, Mahr A, Arene JP, Puechal X, et al. Treatment of polyarteritis nodosa and microscopic polyangiitis without poor-prognosis factors: a prospective randomized study of one hundred twenty-four patients. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2010) 62:1186–97. doi: 10.1002/art. 27340
- Deshpande PV, Gilbert R, Alton H, Milford DV. Microscopic polyarteritis with renal and cerebral involvement. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2000) 15:134–5. doi: 10.1007/s004670000428
- Nishio M, Yoshioka K, Yamagami K, Morikawa T, Konishi Y, Hayashi N, et al. Reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome: a possible manifestation of Wegener's granulomatosis-mediated endothelial injury. *Modern Rheumatol.* (2008) 18:309–14. doi: 10.3109/s10165-008-0052-1
- Pohl D, Tenembaum S. Treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Curr Treat Options Neurol.* (2012) 14:264–75. doi: 10.1007/s11940-012-0170-0
- Krupp LB, Tardieu M, Amato MP, Banwell B, Chitnis T, Dale RC, et al. International pediatric multiple sclerosis study group criteria for pediatric multiple sclerosis and immune-mediated central nervous system demyelinating disorders: revisions to the 2007 definitions. *Multiple Scler.* (2013) 19:1261–7. doi: 10.1177/1352458513484547
- Gray MP, Gorelick MH. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Pediatr Emergency Care*. (2016) 32:395–400. doi: 10.1097/PEC.00000000000825
- Borras-Novell C, Garcia Rey E, Perez Baena LF, Jordan Garcia I, Catella Cahiz D, Cambra F. Therapeutic plasma exchange in acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in children. J Clin Apher. (2015) 30:335–9. doi: 10.1002/jca.21388
- Cotter FE, Bainbridge D, Newland AC. Neurological deficit associated with Mycoplasma pneumoniae reversed by plasma exchange. Br Med J. (1983) 286:22. doi: 10.1136/bmj.286.6358.22
- Kanter DS, Horensky D, Sperling RA, Kaplan JD, Malachowski ME, Churchill WH Jr. Plasmapheresis in fulminant acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Neurology*. (1995) 45:824–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 45.4.824

- Shah AK, Tselis A, Mason B. Acute disseminated encephalomyelitis in a pregnant woman successfully treated with plasmapheresis. J Neurol Sci. (2000) 174:147–51. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(00)00260-4
- 94. Yi CH, La Vega-Talbott M, Friedman MT. Treatment of acute disseminated encephalomyelitis with plasmapheresis in a 16-year-old female, a case report and literature review. *J Clin Apher.* (2014) 29:339–40. doi: 10.1002/jc a.21327
- Stricker RB, Miller RG, Kiprov DD. Role of plasmapheresis in acute disseminated (postinfectious) encephalomyelitis. J Clin Apher. (1992) 7:173–9. doi: 10.1002/jca.2920070403
- Miyazawa R, Hikima A, Takano Y, Arakawa H, Tomomasa T, Morikawa A. Plasmapheresis in fulminant acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. *Brain Dev.* (2001) 23:424–6. doi: 10.1016/S0387-7604(01)00256-X
- Lin CH, Jeng JS, Yip PK. Plasmapheresis in acute disseminated encephalomyelitis. J Clin Apher. (2004) 19:154–9. doi: 10.1002/jca.20022
- Keegan M, Pineda AA, McClelland RL, Darby CH, Rodriguez M, Weinshenker BG. Plasma exchange for severe attacks of CNS demyelination: predictors of response. *Neurology*. (2002) 58:143–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.58.1.143

- Mathur JL, Rajabi F, Schroeder A, Becker TK. Case of steroidresponsive encephalopathy from hypoglycaemia. *BMJ Case Rep.* (2017) 2017:bcr-2017-221262. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2017-221262
- Laloux P. Steroid-responsive leucoencephalopathy due to cholesterol embolism. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2007) 78:112. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.105981

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jiang, Tian, Gu, Li and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neurological Involvement in Primary Systemic Vasculitis

Shanshan Zhang¹, Dongli Yuan² and Ge Tan^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ² The Institute of Medical Information, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China

Primary systemic vasculitis can affect every structure in both the central and peripheral nervous system, causing varied neurological manifestations of neurological dysfunction. Early recognition of the underlying causes of the neurological symptoms can facilitate timely treatment and improve the prognosis. This review highlights the clinical manifestations of primary systemic vasculitis in the nervous system.

Keywords: primary systemic vasculitis, central nervous system, peripheral nervous system, neurological involvement, clinical manifestation

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patrick Kwan, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Ché Serguera, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France Ulises Gomez-Pinedo, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria del Hospital Clínico San Carlos, Spain

> *Correspondence: Ge Tan titot@sina.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 09 August 2018 Accepted: 09 April 2019 Published: 26 April 2019

Citation:

Zhang S, Yuan D and Tan G (2019) Neurological Involvement in Primary Systemic Vasculitis. Front. Neurol. 10:430. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00430 INTRODUCTION

Primary systemic vasculitis (PSV) can be defined as a heterogeneous group of uncommon diseases characterized by blood vessel inflammation and necrosis. Unlike secondary systemic vasculitis, which usually results from infections, connective tissue diseases, neoplasms, and drugs, PSV is considered to occur with no identified etiology (1). Nevertheless, recent researches have demonstrated that PSV might be associated with farming (2), silica exposure (2, 3), solvent exposure and hydrocarbons (2, 4, 5), allergy and family history of atopy (2, 6). Despite of unknown causes, two mechanisms, deposition of immune complexes and cell-mediated immunity, were found to possibly participate in the pathophysiology of PSV by causing immunological inflammation and necrosis of the vessel wall (7). And according to the classification criteria revised in 1990 by The American College of Rheumatology (8) and in 1994 and 2012 by the Chapel Hill Consensus Conferences (9, 10), the classification of PSV is based primarily on the major size of the affected vessels, although these disease-affected arteries may have overlaps in diameter.

Many neurologists have limited knowledge of PSV because most of these patients are treated by rheumatologists. However, both the central nervous system (CNS) and peripheral nervous system (PNS) are major targets in PSV and may become involved in the earliest stages; thus, patients may be referred to a neurologist first. Since the clinical manifestations of PSV are often non-specific, the differential diagnosis may be challenging.

CNS damage was reported to occur in 24% of cases with PSV, commonly due to antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitis and polyarteritis nodosa. The range of clinical expressions of PSV's CNS damage is relatively wide, including cerebrovascular manifestations such as hemorrhagic and ischemic stroke caused by intra/extra-cerebral vascular stenosis, aneurysm, and sinus venous thrombosis, meningeal and brain parenchymal involvement resulted from granulomatosis and perivasculitis, and encephalopathy due to cytokine damage.

Compared with the frequency of central vasculitic involvement, vasculitic peripheral neuropathies are more common and have been reported to occur in 37% of patients with PSV (11), and 25% of patients experience symptoms of peripheral neuropathy at initial presentation (12). Generally, vasculitic peripheral neuropathies result from the inflammation of precapillary arteries in the nerves, such as eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (60–80% of patients),

64

polyarteritis nodosa (50–100% of patients), granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis, 13–26.6% of cases), cryoglobulinemia (70% of cases), and microscopic polyangiitis (6–18% of cases), usually presenting in a uniform pattern such as multiplex mononeuropathy (accounting for 59–85% of cases) and symmetric polyneuropathy (41% of cases) (11–13). Nerve conduction studies have revealed a much higher frequency of peripheral neurological involvement than that in clinical case series and studies. Asymptomatic vasculitic neuropathy was detected in 21 of 270 cases (7.8%) of biopsy-proven vasculitis (14).

In addition, the introduction of nerve sonography, singlephoton emission computed tomography (SPECT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), magnetic resonance angiography (MRA), magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS), and apparent diffusion coefficient (ADC) have greatly improved the diagnostic rate and accuracy of vasculitic neuropathy.

SEARCH STRATEGY

We performed an advanced literature search in PubMed and EMBASE for the period January 1, 1990, through September 1, 2017, using as a search query "systemic vasculitis" "nervous system." Eligible studies were included according to the following criteria. Only human studies that were written in English were considered. All patients included in the studies were diagnosed according to the classification criteria defined by the American College of Rheumatology or the Chapel Hill Consensus Conference. Retrospective and prospective studies were included to determine the frequency of neurological manifestations. Case reports and case series were added in the reference list only when unusual features were described. Pediatric studies were excluded because the clinical features of children and newborns are different.

LARGE-VESSEL VASCULITIS

Large vessels were defined as the aorta, vena cava, and their major branches. Large-vessel vasculitis is composed of Takayasu arteritis and giant cell arteritis.

Takayasu Arteritis

Takayasu arteritis (TA) is a rare type of primary chronic inflammatory disease, causing stenosis, occlusion and aneurysm of arteries. TA mainly affects large-caliber arteries such as the aorta and its major branches in patients younger than 40 years old (more than 90% of patients are younger than 40), with a female predominance (female to male ratio is 10:1), and is more common in Asians (1). Studies have shown that more than half of patients with TA show neurological manifestations (15, 16) that range from dizziness/headaches to ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke.

Dizziness and headache are the most common complaints in patients with TA with neurological complications, accounting for \sim 78.1% (214/274) and 25.5% (70/274), respectively (16). However, headache and dizziness do not necessarily indicate CNS involvement. Visual disturbances affect 4.6–59.3% of patients,

and 4–21.9% of TA patients with neurological manifestations were found to have syncope as the main manifestation.

Cerebrovascular complications have always been the focus of researchers. Transient ischemic attack accounts for 3-22.2% of the nervous system manifestations caused by TA. Stroke, as the most severe complication of TA, was found to occur in 10-20% of cases (16-18). Due to lack of knowledgement, the median and average delay between symptom onset and the diagnosis of TA are 2 years (19) and 52.4 months (16), respectively, which delays the treatment of vasculitis. The majority of the strokes caused by TA are ischemic strokes, mostly due to multiple and severe stenosis or occlusive lesions in the aortic arch and its major branches. Couture and colleagues (19) evaluated the impact of stroke on the prognosis of TA patients, and after a median of seven years of follow-up, 59% of the patients had neurological deficits, 35% suffered from stroke recurrence and 24% had epilepsy. However, cerebral aneurysms and subarachnoid hemorrhage are rarely observed in TA patients. The incidence of aneurysm in TA patients is no higher than that in the general population. However, when such incidents occur, aneurysms in TA patients have a high rate of multiplicity and commonly occur in the vertebrobasilar arterial system (20). Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES) is an uncommon neurological complication in TA patients, mainly affecting women under the age of 30, presenting as headache, epilepsy, and neurological deficits in most patients. The pathophysiological mechanism has been suggested to be both endothelial injury and hypertension caused by TA, and the use of immunosuppressants such as cyclosporine and tacrolimus may also be a factor in the development of PRES since they can also induce endothelial dysfunction (21).

In addition, rare complications such as Horner's syndrome and intracranial granulomatosis have been reported as initial manifestations of TA. Other unusual neurological manifestations of TA that have been reported include brachial plexus palsy due to axillary artery aneurysm, unilateral sensorineural hearing loss, subclavian stealing syndrome, Moya-Moya syndrome, multiple cranial nerve palsies, cavernous sinus syndrome, and hypertrophic pachymeningitis.

Giant Cell Arteritis

Giant cell arteritis (GCA) is the most common large vasculitis in Western countries and mainly affects extracranial branches of the carotid artery and/or the aorta and its large arterial branches, usually affecting people over the age of 50 (22).

Neuro-ophthalmological manifestation is the most frequent and serious event among neurological complications of GCA, accounting for 20–28.8% of affected patients (23, 24), with 15% of them suffering from permanent visual loss (25). Visual symptoms may be caused by ischemic optic neuropathy and retinal ischemia, among which anterior ischemic optic neuropathy accounts for the largest proportion.

Cerebrovascular disease is another severe neurological manifestation, occurring in \sim 5% of all GCA-related neurological complications. According to recent studies, the risk ratio of cerebrovascular accident in patients with GCA vs. non-GCA comparators was 1.40 (26), and the risk of cerebrovascular

complications was higher during the first year (or month) after GCA diagnosis (27, 28), which means that cerebrovascular events often occur during the active period of the disease. Epidemiological study shows that stroke is observed in 1-3% of patients (25), among which cerebral infarction is the most common (58%), followed by subarachnoid hemorrhage (24%), and cerebral hemorrhage (18%) (29). The main reasons are considered to be, on the one hand, ischemia or occlusion caused by direct involvement of carotid and vertebrobasilar arteries and, on the other hand, atherosclerotic changes of the vessels caused by chronic inflammation. The incidence of vertebrobasilar artery vascular accident in patients with GCA (35%) has been shown to be higher than that of the general population (which is usually <15%) (27, 28), and one study showed that audiovestibular dysfunction is not uncommon in GCA patients (30). It is interesting to note that in a retrospective study (25), researchers found that most GCA patients who experienced a vertebrobasilar stroke had neurological symptom onset after the start of corticosteroid treatment. However, it is still being debated whether this situation is due to a direct effect of vasculitis or vascular occlusion promoted by the effects of corticosteroids.

Peripheral nervous system involvement was found in 1– 14% of GCA patients, presenting as cranial neuropathies, multiple mononeuropathy, or polyneuropathies (24); existing case reports include multiple cranial nerve palsy, trigeminal autonomic cephalalgia, occipital neuralgia, Horner syndrome, peroneal nerve palsy, cervical radiculopathy, brachial plexopathy, hypertrophic pachymeningitis, and cavernous sinus syndrome.

MEDIUM-VESSEL VASCULITIS

Medium vessels refer to the main visceral arteries and veins and their initial branches. Medium-vessel vasculitis consists of polyarteritis nodosa and Kawasaki disease.

Polyarteritis Nodosa

Polyarteritis nodosa (PAN) is a rare systemic necrotizing vasculitis mainly involving medium and small vessels, causing microaneurysm, stenosis, and thrombosis, therefore leading to ischemia or hemorrhage of the supplied tissues. PAN affects women more often than men, usually with an onset between 40 and 50 years of age (31). The condition may affect any organ; however, the most frequently affected organs are the peripheral nerves, followed by muscles, joints, kidneys, skin, gastrointestinal tract, and heart (32).

Involvement of the CNS has been reported to exist in 20– 40% of PAN cases (33) and mainly occurs at late stages (2–3 years) (34). CNS involvement has been recognized as a sign of a poor prognosis, and the expected mortality rate at 5 years is 26% (35, 36). The most common manifestation of CNS involvement includes diffuse encephalopathy and a deficit of focal neurological function. Diffuse encephalopathy may present as new onset seizure and headache, reduced level of consciousness or altered vision, among which some of the cases also suffer from reversible encephalopathy syndrome (37–39). The main manifestations of focal CNS involvement include cerebral infarction (which occurs in 13–17% of PAN patients), hemorrhage, multifocal encephalopathy and episodes of neurological dysfunction that mimic multiple sclerosis (33, 40). Intracranial hemorrhage is a rare complication of PAN, and subarachnoid hemorrhage and intracerebral hemorrhage caused by aneurysms have been reported in PAN cases. The features of these aneurysms were found to be multiple, small in size, and equally located in the infratentorial and supratentorial arteries (41).

Reichart et al. (33) investigated early lacunar strokes complicating PAN and revealed that 33.3% (5/15) of strokes occurred within 1 month after the onset of PAN and 15% (2/13) shortly after the initiation of corticosteroids; ischemic strokes occurred during corticosteroid treatment in 77% (10/13) of the patients, 80% (8/10) of which occurred within 6 months after corticosteroid initiation and 50% (5/10) within 3 weeks. Combined with the results of prior studies showing that all strokes occurred while the patients were under adequate corticosteroid treatment, it was suggested that the promoting effect of corticosteroids in stroke might work by two mechanisms (33). For one thing, corticosteroids promote platelet aggregation in cerebral medium-sized arteries by increasing thromboxane A2, quickly causing a lacunar stroke. Lacunar strokes appearing 1 or more months after initiation of corticosteroids can be explained by the promoting effect of corticosteroids on thrombotic microangiopathies.

PNS involvement is the most common complication of PAN and occurs in 60–70% of cases; it has an onset early in the course of the disease, mostly within a few months of diagnosis (42). The common patterns of PNS involvement include mononeuropathy, polyneuropathy and mononeuritis multiplex, the pathophysiology of which has been recognized as vasculitis of the vasa nervorum. Sudden onset asymmetrical sensorimotor mononeuritis multiplex, which mainly affects the lower extremities, and insidious symmetrical peripheral neuropathy are typical and common in PAN (31). In addition, patients with PAN may also develop pachymeningitis (43) and present with headache or cranial nerve palsy. Sudden bilateral hearing loss (44) and visual alterations caused by optic neuropathy (45) have also been reported.

Kawasaki Disease

Kawasaki disease (KD) is a systemic vasculitis that mainly affects medium-sized vessels, occurring predominately in children under 5 years of age. Neurological complications of KD have been described in children, such as encephalopathy, seizures, cerebral infarction, intracranial hemorrhage, ataxia, and cranial nerve palsy (46). However, although rare cases of first onset have also been reported in adult patients, most reported cases are in young adults and the manifestations are due to late-onset sequelae instead of new-onset active disease. We found one case (47) describing a 20-year-old young adult with a history of KD suffering from subarachnoid hemorrhage due to an intracranial aneurysm with a stalk-like narrow neck, located at the trunk of the middle cerebral artery. As the researchers mentioned, coronary aneurysms in KD also arise in places where no branch exists. Therefore, non-bifurcation intracranial aneurysm might be related to KD and might cause intracranial hemorrhage in young adults as a late sequela.

Small-Vessel Vasculitis

Small-vessel vasculitis refers to necrotizing inflammation in the wall of small intraparenchymal arteries, arterioles, capillaries, and venules, and to a secondary degree in medium-size arteries. Vascular and perivascular inflammation leads to fibrinoid necrosis and consequently vascular necrosis, occlusion and thrombosis (10). The disease consists of two major groups, ANCA-associated vasculitis and immune complex small-vessel vasculitis.

ANCA-Associated Vasculitis

ANCA-associated vasculitis is defined as necrotizing small-vessel vasculitis with few or no immune deposits, mostly associated with myeloperoxidase (MPO) ANCA or proteinase 3 (PR3) ANCA (10). Among the cases of ANCA-associated vasculitis, CNS involvement is more common in granulomatosis with polyangiitis (GPA) and microscopic polyangiitis (MPA) than it is in eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (EGPA) (48). Nevertheless, peripheral nerve involvement is more prevalent in EGPA than are MPA and GPA (49).

Granulomatosis With Polyangiitis (Wegener's)

Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (GPA) is characterized by necrotizing granulomatous inflammation usually associated with antibodies against PR3 and most commonly involves the upper and lower respiratory tract, and sinonasal inflammation and necrotizing glomerulonephritis are frequently present (10). Neurological complications have been shown to be present in 29–50% of all cases (50–52).

CNS involvement occurs in 7-11% of GPA patients (50, 53, 54), and when isolated cranial nerve palsies are included, the rate is 8-28% (51, 54). Since GPA can commonly involve sinonasal structures and cause granulomatous inflammation, which is capable of invading neighboring structures, the orbit, mastoid, optic nerve, chiasma, cranial nerves, meninges, and pituitary gland might be compromised, presenting as oculomotor dysfunction, mastoiditis, visual disturbances, cranial nerve palsy, headache, and endocrine dysfunction. In addition, small and medium arteries in the cranium can be involved, causing ischemia, or hemorrhage in different vascular territories (55). Cranial nerve palsy was reported to occur in 4.7-6% of GPA patients, among which the most commonly affected cranial nerves are II, VI, and VII (50, 51). The pituitary has been reported to be affected in 1.1-1.3% of GPA patients (56, 57). Meningeal pachymeningitis usually occurs i4n the early stages of GPA, with lower incidences of accompanying systemic symptoms (58), which is perhaps due to granulomatous erosion of the skull base in the early phase and may lead to a delay of diagnosis (52). The most common symptom is headache, followed by cranial nerve palsy and symptoms due to venous sinus occlusion. Vasculitis involvement can cause ischemic and hemorrhagic complications of the brain and spinal cord (58). Dysfunction of intracranial arteries may cause PRES, presenting as various symptoms (59-62). Hypophysitis has been

widely reported as one of the CNS complications of GPA, and its clinical manifestations vary according to the specific sites involved. Panhypopituitarism might occur as a consequence of granulomatous inflammation of both the anterior and posterior pituitary (56). Anterior pituitary involvement may influence the release of antidiuretic hormone and present as diabetes insipidus, which was shown to occur in 47 of 58 GPA patients (81%) with sellar involvement, according to an analysis of cases performed by Peters et al. (63). Posterior pituitary inflammation may cause diminished secretion of many hormones, leading to secondary hypogonadism (occurred in 32 out of 58 sellar involved GPA patients, 55%), secondary hypothyroidism (20 out of 58 sellar involved GPA patients, 34.5%), secondary adrenal insufficiency, secondary growth hormone deficiency (19 of 58 sellar involved GPA patients, 32.8%). Compression of the pituitary stalk can result in hyperprolactinemia (5 of 58 sellar involved GPA patients, 8.6%) and galactorrhea, and visual alteration may occur if the optic chiasm is compressed (56, 57).

PNS complications have been reported to occur in 11–44% of GPA patients (54), which occurs milder and later in the course of the disease than in other ANCA-associated vasculitis (64), presenting mainly as recurrent mononeuropathies, mononeuritis multiplex, or symmetric polyneuropathy due to ischemia caused by vasculitic inflammation of the vasa nervorum. As the most frequent manifestation, distal symmetrical sensory neuropathy was reported in 7–10% of cases, followed by motor mononeuritis multiplex in 2–12% (51, 53). Commonly, peroneal (90–95%), tibial (38–55%), ulnar (35–45%), and median (26–36%) nerves are involved (29, 51).

Eosinophilic Granulomatosis With Polyangiitis (Churg-Strauss)

The characteristics of eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (EGPA) is an eosinophil-rich and granulomatous inflammation that often involves the respiratory tract and is associated with asthma and eosinophilia (10).

Neurological involvement is common in EGPA, accounting for up to 60% of cases and usually manifesting as peripheral neuropathy that tends to present before visceral involvement (29). Therefore, early detection of peripheral nerve involvement is fundamental for early diagnosis and treatment of EGPA. The most common peripheral neurological manifestation is multiple mononeuropathy (accounting for 68% of cases with peripheral neuropathy), followed by distal symmetric polyneuropathy (28%) and asymmetric polyneuropathy (4%) (65). Since mononeuritis multiplex is typical in acute systemic vasculitis, the initial symptoms commonly present as dysesthesia, paresthesia, and edema in distal limbs, especially the lower limbs. The condition will gradually progress into asymmetrical polyneuropathy and may affect motor nerves, leading to muscle atrophy. Electrophysiological studies have shown decreases in the amplitude of sensory nerve action potentials and compound muscle action potentials, indicating the presence of axonal injury (66).

CNS involvement in EGPA is rather rare, accounting for only 6–10% of all cases (67). Cerebral infarctions and intracerebral hemorrhage resulting from intracranial vasculitis are the most common CNS presentations of EGPA. In addition, rarer manifestations have been noted, such as subarachnoid hemorrhage, cranial nerve palsy, encephalopathy, epilepsy, hydrocephalus, headache, sinus venous thrombosis, spinal hemorrhage, meningeal involvement, and optic neuropathy.

Microscopic Polyangiitis

Microscopic polyangiitis (MPA) presents with nongranulomatous inflammation with few or no immune deposits in the walls of the affected vessels, mainly associated with antibodies against MPO. Necrotizing glomerulonephritis and alveolar hemorrhage are common complications (10). Peripheral neurological involvement occurs in 55 to 79% of cases with MPA, with no special manifestations compared with those of other ANCA-associated types of vasculitis (mainly presenting as polyneuropathy and mononeuropathy); (64). CNS involvement in MPA is rare and was reported to be able to manifest as intracerebral infarction or hemorrhage, subarachnoid hemorrhage, hypertrophic pachymeningitis, PRES or spinal cord involvement (68).

Immune Complex Small-Vessel Vasculitis

Immune complex small-vessel vasculitis is characterized by moderate to marked deposits of immunoglobulin and/or complement components in the small vessel walls.

Antiglomerular Basement Membrane Disease

Antiglomerular basement membrane (anti-GBM) disease, also called Goodpasture syndrome, is a vasculitis affecting glomerular capillaries and/or pulmonary capillaries with deposition of anti-GBM autoantibodies on GBM, accounting for 5% of adult patients with glomerulonephritis and leading to acute renal failure in approximately half of the patients. Lung involvement results in pulmonary hemorrhage, and renal involvement leads to glomerulonephritis with necrosis and crescents, which are the classic presentations of anti-GBM disease (10, 69). Neurological involvement is uncommon. According to the rare cases reported (69-73), PRES is the most frequent neurological complication. All patients reported are younger than 40 and they all manifested as hypertension, renal failure, and seizures. Destruction of the blood-brain barrier resulting from inflammatory endothelial injury and increased capillary filtration due to hypertension are important factors in the pathophysiology of PRES in GBM patients.

Cryoglobulinemic Vasculitis

Cryoglobulinemic vasculitis (CV) is defined as vasculitis with cryoglobulin immune deposits affecting small vessels (predominantly capillaries, venules, or arterioles) caused by chronic inflammation, autoimmune disorders, and lymphoproliferative disorders, frequently involving skin, glomeruli, and peripheral nerves (10). Most cases of cryoglobulinemic vasculitis result from infection, B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders and autoimmune diseases, among which hepatitis C virus infection is the cause in \sim 80% of cases (74). In a study of 242 cases with non-infectious mixed cryoglobulinemia vasculitis (75), 117 patients (48%) were found to have no identified causal factor, also defined as idiopathic. However, no study has evaluated the neurological involvement of idiopathic cryoglobulinemia vasculitis alone. For patients with mixed CV, PNS involvement is not uncommon and typically starts with polyneuropathy that affects the sensory nerves initially and later the motor nerves, predominantly involving the lower limbs. CNS involvement is rare, and studies have shown that mixed CV may cause cerebrovascular events, PRES, hydrocephalus and intracranial hypertension (29, 76).

IgA Vasculitis (Henoch-Schönlein Purpura)

IgA vasculitis (IgAV) is characterized by IgA1-dominant immune deposits affecting small vessels, often involving the skin and gastrointestinal tract and frequently causing arthritis (10). The majority (75%) of cases occur in young people no more than 20 years of age (77), and CNS involvement has been reported to manifest as headache, decreased consciousness, seizures, focal neurological deficits, and visual and verbal abnormalities. However, PNS involvement has been documented as neuropathies of the brachial plexus and facial, peroneal, femoral and ulnar nerve, and in addition, Guillain-Barre syndrome and mononeuritis multiplex (78). Rare cases of IgAVinduced neurological manifestations have been reported in adult patients as ischemic stroke, axonal sensorimotor polyneuropathy (79, 80), mononeuritis multiplex (81, 82), acoustic neuritis, facial nerve palsy (83), intracerebral hemorrhage (84), anterior ischemic optic neuropathy (85), focal seizures (86), and encephalopathy (87).

Hypocomplementemic Urticarial Vasculitis (anti-C1q Vasculitis)

Hypocomplementemic urticarial vasculitis (HUV) is a kind of vasculitis accompanied by urticaria and hypocomplementemia affecting cutaneous small vessels and is associated with anti-C1q antibodies, commonly causing urticaria and multiorgan involvement such as glomerulonephritis, arthritis, obstructive pulmonary disease, and ocular inflammation (10). HUV may be induced by connective tissue diseases, infections (such as hepatitis B, hepatitis C and infectious mononucleosis), neoplasms and drugs; however, most cases of HUV are idiopathic (88). Neurological involvement has been occasionally reported as pseudotumor cerebri (89), lower cranial nerve (VIII, IX, and X) palsies (90) and peripheral nerve involvement such as asymmetrical multifocal axonal sensory neuropathy.

VARIABLE-VESSEL VASCULITIS

Variable-vessel vasculitis refers to vasculitis with no predominant type of vessel involved that can affect vessels of any size (small, medium, and large) and type (arteries, veins, and capillaries) (10).

Behçet's Syndrome

Behçet's syndrome is a vasculitis occurring in patients with Behçet's disease (BD) and can affect arteries or veins and lead to a relapsing inflammatory disorder in almost any tissue, with oral and genital ulcerations and uveitis as its most typical symptoms

~

(41). Neurological manifestations of BD, which are called neuro-BD (NBD), occur in 1.3–59% of all cases and usually affect patients aged between 20 and 40 years, with a male predominance (the male to female ratio is 2.8:1) (91–95). NBD commonly appears 3–6 years after other systemic involvement (92, 96, 97) and is considered to be caused by perivasculitis.

The manifestations of neurological involvement can be caused by either CNS parenchymal inflammation or vascular complications in the nervous system, with a reported prevalence of 67-76 vs. 12-20% in all NBD cases (93, 98). The former is considered to be caused by small vasculitis, leading to axonal damage and gliosis, frequently affecting the brain stem (occurs in 25-50% of all parenchymal NBD cases) (92, 93, 99, 100), thalamus and basal ganglia, and, only rarely, the white matter and spinal cord. The main clinical manifestations are subacute cranial neuropathy, ophthalmoparesis, meningoencephalitis, and alteration of cerebellar, pyramidal and extrapyramidal function. Uncommon symptoms such as subcortical dementia, stroke and transverse myelitis have also been reported (91, 101). Vascular complications mainly result from cerebral venous thrombosis (CVT) due to large vessels endothelial cell activation, and rarely, aneurysms due to perivasculitis to the vasa nervorum (91). CVT in BD mainly causes focal neurological deficits and seizures in young men (102). However, not all epileptic seizures in NBD patients result from CVT, and brainstem lesions may also lead to complex partial seizures (103).

In addition, perivasculitis to the vasa nervorum may also cause PNS involvement. However, this condition is extremely rare and was found in merely 8 out of 1,031 cases (0.8%); thus, its relationship with BD is still doubtful (91).

Cogan Syndrome

Cogan syndrome (CS) is a sequence of clinical manifestations due to a chronic immunological inflammatory multisystem disease of unknown origin, characterized by recurrent episodes of keratitis, vestibuloauditory dysfunction, and systemic vasculitis, frequently leading to visual loss, vertigo, sensorineural hearing loss, tinnitus and systemic manifestations (10). The syndrome mainly affects children and young adults with an average age at onset of 38 years (SD, 15.1 years; range, 9–70 years) (104).

It is worth noting that complications of the eyes and ears do not always occur at the same time (sometimes up to 9 years apart) (105) and in 20% of cases, vestibuloauditory symptoms can be the only presentation (104). Therefore, although the vestibuloauditory involvement in Cogan syndrome is mainly due to inflammation of inner ear structures rather than neurological involvement (105), its manifestations can be easily misdiagnosed as central acute vestibular syndrome of vascular origin, Ménière's disease or vestibular migraine, which are common in neurological out-patients. According to a study that enrolled 60 cases of CS at Mayo Clinic (104), all cases suffered from hearing loss, 90% of the cases experienced vertigo, and tinnitus (80%), ataxia (53%), and oscillopsia (25%) were also common during the course of the disease. Hearing loss is typically sudden, mainly involves bilateral high frequencies, and the decline in hearing fluctuates and progresses gradually. Vestibular function is commonly damaged bilaterally (accounting for 74% of cases that underwent a caloric test) and vestibular symptoms may last for days to weeks (sometimes indefinitely) with no resolution (104, 106). The vestibuloauditory symptoms listed above may recur in 1-13 years after onset (occurs in 22% of patients) (107).

PSV	CNS involvement	PNS involvement
Takayasu arteritis	Dizziness (78.1%), headache (25.5%); visual disturbances (4.6–59.3%); syncope (4–21.9%); stroke (10–20%);	Rare
Giant cell arteritis	Neuro-ophthalmological damage (20–28.8%), stroke (1–3%), vertebrobasilar artery vascular accident (35%);	1–14% of cases; cranial neuropathies, multiple mononeuropathy, polyneuropathies;
Polyarteritis nodosa	20–40% of cases; Diffuse encephalopathy, cerebral infarction (13–17%);	60–70% of cases; Mononeuropathy, polyneuropathy, mononeuritis multiplex;
Granulomatosis with polyangiitis	8–28% of cases; Cranial nerve palsy (4.7–6%, mainly II, VI, and VII), pituitary damage (1.1–1.3%), meningeal pachymeningitis, ischemic, and hemorrhagic complications of brain and spinal cord, PRES	11–44% of cases; Recurrent mononeuropathies, mononeuritis multiplex, symmetric polyneuropathy
Eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis	6–10% of all cases; Cerebral infarctions and intracerebral hemorrhage	~60% of cases; Multiple mononeuropathy (68% of PNS cases), distal symmetric polyneuropathy (28%) and asymmetric polyneuropathy (4%)
Microscopic polyangiitis	Rare	55–79% of cases; polyneuropathy, mononeuropathy
Behçet's syndrome	CNS parenchymal inflammation (67–76% of all NBD cases): subacute cranial neuropathy, ophthalmoparesis, meningoencephalitis, alteration of cerebellar, pyramidal, and extrapyramidal function; Vascular complications in the nervous system (12–20% of all NBD cases): cerebral venous thrombosis, aneurysms	Extremely rare: 0.8% of BD cases
Cogan syndrome	Ischemic stroke (2.5–3%), encephalitis (5–6%), meningitis (5–22%), encephalopathy, myelopathy, optic nerve disorders, aneurysm, and cerebral venous thrombosis	Peripheral neuropathy (1–12.5%), cranial neuropathy (1–10%, mainly II, V, VI, and VII) and myopathy

Neurological involvement was reported in 29–56% of cases and usually occurs after eye and ear manifestations (106, 108). CNS involvement may manifest as ischemic stroke (accounting for 2.5–3% of cases reported), encephalitis (5–6%), meningitis (5–22%), encephalopathy, myelopathy, optic nerve disorders, aneurysm, and cerebral venous thrombosis. PNS conditions in Cogan syndrome patients have been reported as peripheral neuropathy (1–12.5%, frequently mononeuritis multiplex), cranial neuropathy (1–10%, mainly cranial nerve II, V, VI, and VII) and myopathy (106).

CONCLUSION

Neurological involvement is a common complication of PSV (Table 1), and neurologists play an important role in the identification and diagnosis of PSV patients with otherwise

REFERENCES

- Gonzalez-Gay M, Garcia-Porrua C. Epidemiology of the vasculitides. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* (2001) 27:729–49. doi: 10.1016/S0889-857X(05)70232-5
- Lane SE, Watts RA, Graham B, Innes NJ, Scott DGI. Are environmental factors important in primary systemic vasculitis? A case-control study. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2014) 48:814–23. doi: 10.1002/art.10830
- Mulloy KB. Silica exposure and systemic vasculitis. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2003) 111:1933–8. doi: 10.1289/ehp.6400
- Nuyts GD, Van VE, De VA, Daelemans RA, Rorive G, Elseviers MM, et al. Wegener granulomatosis is associated to exposure to silicon compounds: a case-control study. *Nephrol Dial Transpl.* (1995) 10:1162– 5. doi: 10.1093/ndt/10.7.1162
- Steenland NK, Thun MJ, Ferguson CW, Port FK. Occupational and other exposures associated with male end-stage renal disease: a case/control study. *Am J Public Health.* (1990) 80:153. doi: 10.2105/AJPH. 80.2.153
- Cuadrado MJ, D'Cruz D, Lloyd M, Mujic F, Khamashta MA, Hughes GRV. Allergic disorders in systemic vasculitis: a case-control study. *Br J Rheum*. (1994) 33:749. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/33.8.749
- Sampaio L, Silva LG, Terroso G, Nadais G, Mariz E, Ventura F. Vasculitic neuropathy. Acta Reumatol Port. (2011) 36:102–9.
- Bloch DA, Michel BA, Hunder GG, McShane DJ, Arend WP, Calabrese LH, et al. The American College of Rheumatology 1990 criteria for the classification of vasculitis. Patients and methods. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1990) 33:1068–73. doi: 10.1002/art.1780330803
- Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Andrassy K, Bacon PA, Churg J, Gross WL, et al. Nomenclature of systemic vasculitides. Proposal of an international consensus conference. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1994) 37:187–92. doi: 10.1002/art.1780370206
- Rasmussen N. The 2012 revised international chapel hill consensus conference nomenclature of the vasculitides. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2013) 71:16. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-eular.1540
- Pena CE, Pera M, Marcos J, Salas A, Testi A, Garcia MA. Peripheral neurological involvement in primary systemic vasculitis. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2015) 74:295–6. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-eular.2855
- Wolf J, Schmitt V, Palm F, Grau AJ, Bergner R. Peripheral neuropathy as initial manifestation of primary systemic vasculitides. J Neurol. (2013) 260:1061–70. doi: 10.1007/s00415-012-6760-7
- Finsterer J. Systemic and non-systemic vasculitis affecting the peripheral nerves. Acta Neurologica Belgica. (2009) 109:100–13.
- Kurt S, Alsharabati M, Lu L, Claussen GC, Oh SJ. Asymptomatic vasculitic neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve.* (2015) 52:34–8. doi: 10.1002/mus. 24494

unexplained neurological symptoms as their chief complaint. This article summarizes the neurological manifestations of PSV and hopes to improve neuroscientists' understanding of this broad range of diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SZ conceived the article and wrote the manuscript. DY and GT reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to the Chongqing Science and Technology Commission, Chongqing Education Commission and the Chongqing Health and Family Planning Commission for funding this project.

- Kim HJ, Suh DC, Kim JK, Kim SJ, Lee JH, Choi CG, et al. Correlation of neurological manifestations of Takayasu's arteritis with cerebral angiographic findings. *Clin Imaging*. (2005) 29:79–85. doi: 10.1016/j.clinimag.2004.04.026
- Yang L, Zhang H, Jiang X, Song L, Qin F, Zou Y, et al. Clinical features and outcomes of Takayasu arteritis with neurological symptoms in China: a retrospective study. *J Rheum.* (2015) 42:1846–52. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.150097
- Duarte MM, Geraldes R, Sousa R, Alarcão J, Costa J. Stroke and transient ischemic attack in takayasu's arteritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. (2016) 25:781–91. doi: 10.1016/j. jstrokecerebrovasdis.2015.12.005
- Park MC, Lee SW, Park YB, Chung NS, Lee SK. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of Takayasu's arteritis: analysis of 108 patients using standardized criteria for diagnosis, activity assessment, and angiographic classification. *Scand J Rheumatol.* (2005) 34:284. doi: 10.1080/0300974051 0026526
- Couture P, Chazal T, Rosso C, Haroche J, Léger A, Hervier B, et al. Cerebrovascular events in Takayasu arteritis: a multicenter casecontrolled study. *J Neurol.* (2018) 265:757–63. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-8 744-8
- Takayama K, Nakagawa H, Iwasaki S, Taoka T, Myouchin K, Wada T, et al. Multiple cerebral aneurysms associated with Takayasu arteritis successfully treated with coil embolization. *Rad Med Med Imaging Rad Oncol.* (2008) 26:33–8. doi: 10.1007/s11604-007-0184-9
- Camara-Lemarroy CR, Lara-Campos JG, Perez-Contreras E, Rodriguez-Gutierrez R, Galarza-Delgado DA. Takayasu's arteritis and posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome: a case-based review. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2013) 32:409–15. doi: 10.1007/s10067-012-2151-9
- Buttgereit F, Dejaco C, Matteson EL, Dasgupta B. Polymyalgia rheumatica and giant cell arteritis: a systematic review. *JAMA*. (2016) 315:2442– 58. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.5444
- Salvarani C, Cimino L, Macchioni P, Consonni D, Cantini F, Bajocchi G, et al. Risk factors for visual loss in an Italian population-based cohort of patients with giant cell arteritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2005) 53:293– 7. doi: 10.1002/art.21075
- Pfadenhauer K, Roesler A, Golling A. The involvement of the peripheral nervous system in biopsy proven active giant cell arteritis. J Neurol. (2007) 254:751–5. doi: 10.1007/s00415-006-0428-0
- Gonzalez-Gay MA, Vazquez-Rodriguez TR, Gomez-Acebo I, Pego-Reigosa R, Lopez-Diaz MJ, Vazquez-Tri-anes MC, et al. Strokes at time of disease diagnosis in a series of 287 patients with biopsy-proven giant cell arteritis. *Medicine*. (2009) 88:227. doi: 10.1097/MD.0b013e3181a f4518

- Ungprasert P, Wijarnpreecha K, Koster MJ, Thongprayoon C, Warrington KJ. Cerebrovascular accident in patients with giant cell arteritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Semi Arthritis Rheum.* (2016) 46:361–6. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2016.07.005
- Chazal T, Couture P, Rosso C, Haroche J, Léger A, Hervier B, et al. Cerebrovascular events are associated with lower survival in giant cell arteritis: a case-controlled multicenter study. *Joint Bone Spine*. (2018) 85:383–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2017.05.017
- Pego-Reigosa R, Garcia-Porrua C, Piã±Eiro A, Dierssen T, Llorca J, Gonzalez-Gay MA. Predictors of cerebrovascular accidents in giant cell arteritis in a defined population. *Clini Exp Rheumatol.* (2004) 22:13–7.
- Rossi CM, Di Comite G. The clinical spectrum of the neurological involvement in vasculitides. J Neurol Sci. (2009) 285:13–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2009.05.017
- Amordorado JC, Llorca J, Garciaporrua C, Costa C, Perezfernandez N, Gonzalezgay MA. Audiovestibular manifestations in giant cell arteritis: a prospective study. *Medicine*. (2003) 82:13– 26. doi: 10.1097/00005792-200301000-00002
- Minagar A, Fowler M, Harris MK, Jaffe SL. Neurologic presentations of systemic vasculitides. *Neurol Clin.* (2010) 28:171–84. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2009.09.015
- Lhote F, Cohen P, Guillevin L. Polyarteritis nodosa, microscopic polyangiitis and Churg-Strauss syndrome. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. (1998) 19:27– 45. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1009380
- Reichart MD, Bogousslavsky J, Janzer RC. Early lacunar strokes complicating polyarteritis nodosa: thrombotic microangiopathy. *Neurology*. (2000) 54:883–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.54.4.883
- Moore PM, Cupps TR. Neurological complications of vasculitis. Ann Neurol. (2010) 14:155–67. doi: 10.1002/ana.410140202
- Gomes V, Capela C, Rodrigues C, Gonc, alves F. Polyarteritis nodosa with central and peripheral neurological involvement. *Eur J Intern Med.* (2013) 24:e118. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2013.08.300
- Guillevin L, Lhote F, Gayraud M, Cohen P, Jarrousse B, Lortholary O, et al. Prognostic factors in polyarteritis nodosa and Churg-Strauss syndrome. A prospective study in 342 patients. *Medicine*. (1996) 75:17– 28. doi: 10.1097/00005792-199601000-00003
- Arai M, Shigeno K, Wada M. [A reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome in a patient with classical polyarteritis nodosa]. *Rinsho* shinkeigaku. (1997) 37:64–6.
- Navinan MR, Subasinghe CJ, Kandeepan T, Kulatunga A. Polyarteritis nodosa complicated by posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome: a case report. *BMC Res Notes*. (2014) 7:89. doi: 10.1186/1756-05 00-7-89
- Stanzani L, Fusi L, Gomitoni A, Roncoroni M, Villa P, Grampa G. A case of posterior reversible encephalopathy during polyarteritis nodosa vasculitis. *Neurol Sci.* (2008) 29:163–7. doi: 10.1007/s10072-00 8-0929-y
- Ueno KI, Matsushima A, Hineno A, Fukushima K, Tazawa KI, Matsuda M, et al. Polyarteritis nodosa with central nervous system involvement mimicking relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis. *Modern Rheumatol.* (2014) 24:525–8. doi: 10.3109/14397595.2013.852849
- Oomura M, Yamawaki T, Naritomi H, Terai T, Shigeno K. Polyarteritis nodosa in association with subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Intern Med.* (2006) 45:655–8. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.45.1632
- 42. Ribi C, Cohen P, Pagnoux C, Mahr A, Arène JP, Puéchal X, et al. Treatment of polyarteritis nodosa and microscopic polyangiitis without poor-prognosis factors: a prospective randomized study of one hundred twenty-four patients. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2010) 62:1186–97. doi: 10.1002/art. 27340
- Song JS, Lim MK, Park BH, Park W. Acute pachymeningitis mimicking subdural hematoma in a patient with polyarteritis nodosa. *Rheumatol Int.* (2005) 25:637–40. doi: 10.1007/s00296-005-0615-9
- Rubin F, Tran Khai Hoan N, Bonfils P. Sudden bilateral hearing loss revealing polyarteritis nodosa. *Eur Ann Otorhinol Head Neck Dis.* (2014) 131:265– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.anorl.2014.03.003
- 45. Vazquez-Romo KA, Rodriguez-Hernandez A, Paczka JA, Nu-o-Suarez MA, Rocha-Mu-oz AD, Zavala-Cerna MG. Optic neuropathy secondary to

polyarteritis nodosa, case report, and diagnostic challenges. *Front Neurol.* (2017) 8:490. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2017.00490

- Alves NR, Magalhaes CM, Almeida Rde F, Santos RC, Gandolfi L, Pratesi R. Prospective study of Kawasaki disease complications: review of 115 cases. *Rev Assoc Med Bras.* (1992) 57:295–300.
- Ishida A, Matsuo S, Kawamura S, Nishikawa T. Subarachnoid hemorrhage due to nonbranching aneurysm of the middle cerebral artery in a young adult with a history of Kawasaki disease. *Surg Neurol Int.* (2014) 5:5. doi: 10.4103/2152-7806.125285
- Graf J. Central nervous system disease in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies-associated vasculitis. *Rheum Dis Clini North Am.* (2017) 43:573– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2017.06.006
- Imboden JB. Involvement of the peripheral nervous system in polyarteritis nodosa and antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies-associated vasculitis. *Rheum Dis Clini North Am.* (2017) 43:633–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2017. 06.011
- De Groot K, Schmidt DK, Arlt AC, Gross WL, Reinhold-Keller E. Standardized neurologic evaluations of 128 patients with Wegener granulomatosis. *Arch Neurol.* (2001) 58:1215– 21. doi: 10.1001/archneur.58.8.1215
- Nishino H, Rubino FA, DeRemee RA, Swanson JW, Parisi JE. Neurological involvement in Wegener's granulomatosis: an analysis of 324 consecutive patients at the Mayo Clinic. *Ann Neurol.* (1993) 33:4–9. doi: 10.1002/ana.410330103
- Choi HA, Lee MJ, Chung CS. Characteristics of hypertrophic pachymeningitis in patients with granulomatosis with polyangiitis. *Cephalalgia*. (2016) 36:169–70. doi: 10.1177/0333102416670318
- Stone JH. Limited versus severe Wegener's granulomatosis: baseline data on patients in the Wegener's granulomatosis etanercept trial. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2003) 48:2299. doi: 10.1002/art.11075
- Reinholdkeller E, Beuge N, Latza U, De GK, Rudert H, Nölle B, et al. An interdisciplinary approach to the care of patients with Wegener's granulomatosis: long-term outcome in 155 patients. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2000) 43:1021–32. doi: 10.1002/1529--0131(200005)43:5<1021::AID-ANR10>3.0. CO;2-J
- Seror R, Mahr A, Ramanoelina J, Pagnoux C, Cohen P, Guillevin L. Central nervous system involvement in wegener granulomatosis. *Medicine*. (2006) 85:54–65. doi: 10.1097/01.md.0000200166.90373.41
- Kapoor E, Cartin-Ceba R, Specks U, Leavitt J, Erickson B, Erickson D. Pituitary dysfunction in granulomatosis with polyangiitis: the mayo clinic experience. J Clini Endocrinol Metabol. (2014) 99:3988–94. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1962
- 57. De Parisot A, Puechal X, Langrand C, Raverot G, Gil H, Perard L, et al. Pituitary involvement in granulomatosis with polyangiitis: report of 9 patients and review of the literature. *Medicine*. (2015) 94:e748. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000748
- De Luna G, Terrier B, Kaminsky P, Le Quellec A, Maurier F, Solans R, et al. Central nervous system involvement of granulomatosis with polyangiitis: clinical-radiological presentation distinguishes different outcomes. *Rheumatology*. (2015) 54:424–32. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ keu336
- Arteaga-Müller G, Camara-Lemarroy CR, Rizo-Topete L, Guerrero-González E, Sánchez-Martinez C, Cruz-Valdez J. Granulomatosis with polyangiitis and posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome. *J Neurol Sci.* (2016) 362:204–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2016.01.048
- Zabihiyeganeh MO, Jahed AD, Poormoghim HA. Reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy and splenic infarction in a patient with Wegener granulomatosis. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2010) 13:232. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-185X. 2010.01524.x
- Ohta T, Sakano T, Shiotsu M, Furue T, Ohtani H, Kinoshita Y, et al. Reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy in a patient with Wegener granulomatosis. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2004) 19:442–4. doi: 10.1007/s00467-0 03-1286-y
- 62. Pugnet G, Pagnoux C, Bézanahary H, Ly KH, Vidal E, Guillevin L. Progressive multifocal encephalopathy after cyclophosphamide in granulomatosis with polyangiitis (wegener) patients: case report and review of the literature. *Clini Exp Rheumatol.* (2013) 31(Suppl. 75):S62–4.
- 63. Peters JE, Gupta V, Saeed IT, Offiah C, Jawad ASM. Severe localised granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis) manifesting with extensive cranial nerve palsies and cranial diabetes insipidus: a case report and literature review. *BMC Neurol.* (2018) 18:59. doi: 10.1186/s12883-018-1058-8
- 64. Cattaneo L, Chierici E, Pavone L, Grasselli C, Manganelli P, Buzio C, et al. Peripheral neuropathy in Wegener's granulomatosis, Churg-Strauss syndrome and microscopic polyangiitis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr.* (2007) 78:1119–23. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.111013
- Sehgal M, Swanson JW, DeRemee RA, Colby TV. Neurologic manifestations of Churg-Strauss syndrome. *Mayo Clini Proc.* (1995) 70:337–41. doi: 10.4065/70.4.337
- Hattori N, Ichimura M, Nagamatsu M, Li M, Yamamoto K, Kumazawa K, et al. Clinicopathological features of Churg-Strauss syndrome-associated neuropathy. *Brain.* (1999) 122(Pt 3):427–39. doi: 10.1093/brain/122. 3.427
- Guillevin L, Cohen P, Gayraud M, Lhote F, Jarrousse B, Casassus P. Churg-Strauss syndrome. Clinical study and long-term follow-up of 96 patients. *Medicine*. (1999) 78:26–37. doi: 10.1097/00005792-199901000-00003
- Decker ML, Emery DJ, Smyth PS, Lu JQ, Lacson A, Yacyshyn E. Microscopic polyangiitis with spinal cord involvement: a case report and review of the literature. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. (2016) 25:1696– 704. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2016.01.034
- Camara-Lemarroy CR, Cruz-Moreno MA, Gamboa-Sarquis RN, Gonzalez-Padilla KA, Tamez-Perez HE, Galarza-Delgado DA. Goodpasture syndrome and posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome. *J Neurol Sci.* (2015) 354:135–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.05.002
- Lahmer T, Kuchle C, Schirmer L, Heemann U, Lutz J, Thurmel K. Kidney transplant after preexisting posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome induced by Goodpasture's syndrome. *Exp Clini Transplant.* (2012) 10:299–301. doi: 10.6002/ect.2011.0177
- Ozkok A, Elcioglu OC, Bakan A, Atilgan KG, Alisir S, Odabas AR. Reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy in the course of Goodpasture syndrome. *Renal Failure.* (2012) 34:254–6. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2011.647211
- 72. Cha B, Kim DY, Jang H, Hwang SD, Choi HJ, Kim MJ. Unusual case of posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome in a patient with antiglomerular basement membrane antibody glomerulonephritis: a case report and review of the literature. *Electrolyte Blood Pressure*. (2017) 15:12– 6. doi: 10.5049/EBP.2017.15.1.12
- Gutiérrez-Sánchez MJ, Petkov-Stoyanov V, Martín-Navarro JA. Reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome in Goodpasture syndrome. *Nefrologia*. (2012) 32:540–3. doi: 10.3265/Nefrologia.pre2012.Mar.11427
- Terrier B, Cacoub P. Cryoglobulinemia vasculitis: an update. Curr Opinion Rheumatol. (2013) 25:10–8. doi: 10.1097/BOR.0b013e32835b15f7
- Terrier B, Krastinova E, Marie I, Launay D, Lacraz A, Belenotti P, et al. Management of noninfectious mixed cryoglobulinemia vasculitis: data from 242 cases included in the CryoVas survey. *Blood.* (2012) 119:5996– 6004. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-12-396028
- Ferri C, La Civita L, Cirafisi C, Siciliano G, Longombardo G, Bombardieri S, et al. Peripheral neuropathy in mixed cryoglobulinemia: clinical and electrophysiologic investigations. *J Rheumatol.* (1992) 19:889–95.
- 77. Ortiz-Sanjuán F, Calvo- Río V, Loricera J, Mata C, Penagos LM, Alvarez L, et al. Henoch-schönlein purpura: clinical spectrum of the disease in 417 patients from a single center. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2013) 65:S1122. doi: 10.1002/art.38216
- Garzoni L, Vanoni F, Rizzi M, Simonetti GD, Simonetti BG, Ramelli GP, et al. Nervous system dysfunction in Henoch-Schönlein syndrome: systematic review of the literature. *Rheumatology.* (2009) 48:1524– 9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kep282
- 79. Soydemir Ö, Dotan Ak P, Aktan Z, Gözke E. Peripheral neuropathy: rare manifestation in Henoch-Schönlein purpura. *Eur J Neurol.* (2014) 21:711.
- De Luna G, Vasco PG, Terrier B, Calleja JL, Fraile G. Henoch Schönlein purpura at diagnosis in 3 adult patients: acute onset with peripheral nervous system dysfunction. *Eur J Intern Med.* (2013) 24:e116. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2013.08.294
- Fukushima K. Severe intestinal lesions and neuropathy associated with henoch-schonlein purpura. *Intern Med.* (2013) 52:2009– 10. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.52.0616

- Campbell SB, Hawley CM, Staples C. Mononeuritis multiplex complicating Henoch-Schonlein purpura. Aust N Z J Med. (1994) 24:580. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-5994.1994.tb01767.x
- Fiaux E, Benhamou Y, Cailleux N, Levesque H. A rare case of Henoch-Schönlein purpura with neurological involvement. *Intern Med J.* (2010) 40:795–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-5994.2010. 02298.x
- Karamadoukis L, Ludeman L, Williams AJ. Henoch-Schönlein purpura with intracerebral haemorrhage in an adult patient: a case report. *J Med Case Rep.* (2008) 2:200. doi: 10.1186/1752-1947-2-200
- Chuah J, Meaney T. Anterior ischaemic optic neuropathy secondary to Henoch-Schönlein Purpura. *Eye.* (2005) 19:1028. doi: 10.1038/sj.eye. 6701764
- Fielding RE, Hawkins CP, Hand MF, Heath PD, Davies SJ. Seizures complicating adult Henoch-Schonlein purpura. *Nephrol Dialysis Transplant*. (1998) 13:761–2. doi: 10.1093/ndt/13.3.759
- Perez C, Maravi E, Olier J, Guarch R. MR imaging of encephalopathy in adult Henoch-Shonlein purpura. Am J Roentgenol. (2000) 175:922– 3. doi: 10.2214/ajr.175.3.1750922a
- Filosto M, Cavallaro T, Pasolini G, Broglio L, Tentorio M, Cotelli M, et al. Idiopathic hypocomplementemic urticarial vasculitis-linked neuropathy. J Neurol Sci. (2009) 284:179–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2009. 03.027
- Lieberman J, Gephardt G, Calabrese LH. Urticaria, nephritis, and pseudotumor cerebri. *Cleve Clin J Med.* (1990) 57:197– 210. doi: 10.3949/ccjm.57.2.197
- Koul PA, Wahid A, Shah SU, Koul AN, Saleem SM. Hypocomplementemic urticarial vasculitis and lower cranial nerve palsies. *J Assoc Physicians India*. (2000) 48:536–7.
- Al-Araji A, Kidd DP. Neuro-Behçet's disease: epidemiology, clinical characteristics, and management. *Lancet Neurol.* (2009) 8:192–204. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70015-8
- Akman-Demir G, Serdaroglu P, Tasçi B. Clinical patterns of neurological involvement in Behcet's disease: evaluation of 200 patients. *Brain.* (1999) 122:2171–81. doi: 10.1093/brain/122.11.2171
- Siva A, Kantarci OH, Saip S, Altintas A, Hamuryudan V, Islak C, et al. Behçet's disease: diagnostic and prognostic aspects of neurological involvement. J Neurol. (2001) 248:95–103. doi: 10.1007/s004150170242
- Farah S, Al-Shubaili A, Montaser A, Hussein JM, Malaviya AN, Mukhtar M, et al. Behcet's syndrome: a report of 41 patients with emphasis on neurological manifestations. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr.* (1998) 64:382–4. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.64.3.382
- Davatchi F, Chams-Davatchi C, Shams H, Nadji A, Faezi T, Akhlaghi M, et al. Adult Behcet's disease in Iran: analysis of 6075 patients. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2016) 19:95–103. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.12691
- 96. Kidd DP. Neurological complications of Behcet's syndrome. J Neurol. (2017) 264:2178–83. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8436-9
- Siva A, Saip S. The spectrum of nervous system involvement in Behçet's syndrome and its differential diagnosis. J Neurol. (2009) 256:513– 29. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-0145-6
- Kurtuncu M, Aydin BN, Gunduz T, Ala S, Akman-Demir G. Neuro-Behcet's disease: analysis of 430 patients. J Neurol Sci. (2017) 381:121– 2. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2017.08.376
- 99. Al-Fahad SA, Al-Araji AH. Neuro-Behcet's disease in Iraq: a study of 40 patients. J Neurol Sci. (1999) 170:105– 11. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(99)00165-3
- 100. Kidd D, Steuer A, Denman AM, Rudge P. Neurological complications in Behçet's syndrome. *Brain.* (1999) 122:2183– 94. doi: 10.1093/brain/122.11.2183
- Hirohata S. Histopathology of central nervous system lesions in Behcet's disease. J Neurol Sci. (2008) 267:41–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2007.09.041
- 102. Kurt EA, Kocer N, Ozguler Y, Ucar D, Uygunoglu U, Islak C, et al. An outcome survey of 100 patients with cerebral venous sinus thrombosis due to Behcet's syndrome followed up at a single, dedicated center. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* (2016) 68:3966–7. doi: 10.1002/art.39977
- 103. Kutlu G, Semercioglu S, Ucler S, Erdal A, Inan LE. Epileptic seizures in Neuro-Behcet disease: why some patients develop seizure and others not? *Seizure*. (2015) 26:32–5. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2015.01.013

- Gluth MB, Baratz KH, Matteson EL, Driscoll CL. Cogan syndrome: a retrospective review of 60 patients throughout a half century. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2006) 81:483–8. doi: 10.4065/81.4.483
- 105. Van DS, Mccoll G, Walter M, Jennens I, Bhathal P, Wicks IP. Prolonged prodrome, systemic vasculitis, and deafness in cogan's syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (2001) 60:69–71. doi: 10.1136/ard.60.1.69
- 106. Antonios N, Silliman S. Cogan syndrome: an analysis of reported neurological manifestations. *Neurologist.* (2012) 18:55–63. doi: 10.1097/NRL.0b013e31823fa3a0
- 107. Grasland A, Pouchot J, Hachulla E, Blétry O, Papo T, Vinceneux P. Typical and atypical Cogan's syndrome: 32 cases and review of the literature. *Rheumatology*. (2004) 43:1007. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/ keh228
- Bicknell JM, Holland JV. Neurologic manifestations of Cogan syndrome. Neurology. (1978) 28:278–81. doi: 10.1212/WNL.28.3.278

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhang, Yuan and Tan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Hashimoto's Encephalopathy and Seizure Disorders

Jie Li^{1,2*} and Fengzhen Li¹

¹ Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Xinxiang Medical University, Weihui, China, ² Xinxiang Medical University, Xinxiang, China

Hashimoto's encephalopathy (HE) is a rare, clinically heterogeneous condition associated with positive thyroid autoantibodies. It is increasingly recognized as an important and treatable cause of autoimmune encephalopathy. Thyroid-associated antibodies such as thyroperoxidase (TPO) antibody, thyroglobulin (TG) antibody, and thyrotropin receptor (TR) antibody were found in HE patients with seizure disorders. Although antithyroid antibodies are required for the diagnosis of HE, their role in the pathogenesis of HE remains uncertain. Instead of playing a key role in the pathophysiology processes of HE, it is suggested that thyroid-associated antibodies are hallmarks of HE. Seizure disorders were found in approximately two-thirds of HE patients, and common anticonvulsant therapy alone is usually ineffective. Some patients did not respond to any antiepileptic drugs. The use of immunotherapy can effectively control seizure disorders. Electroencephalography and imaging findings are not specific to HE patients and can also be seen in other causes of encephalopathies. However, the prognosis in the majority of patients with HE was usually good if it is diagnosed and treated correctly.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patrick Kwan, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Fabio Grizzi, Humanitas Research Hospital, Italy Sheffali Gulati, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, India

*Correspondence:

Jie Li I.j.lijie@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 10 August 2018 Accepted: 10 April 2019 Published: 08 May 2019

Citation:

Li J and Li F (2019) Hashimoto's Encephalopathy and Seizure Disorders. Front. Neurol. 10:440. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00440 Keywords: Hashimoto's encephalopathy, seizure, immunotherapy, autoimmune encephalopathy, diagnosis

INTRODUCTION

Hashimoto's encephalopathy (HE) is a rare clinical condition first described by Lord Brain (1). The prevalence of HE in the adult population is estimated to be 2.1/100,000 subjects in a study examining patients with unexplained encephalopathy with detectable antithyroid antibodies (2). It has become increasingly recognized in the last few years as an important and treatable cause of autoimmune encephalopathy.

The incidence of HE is higher in female (about 70–88% of female patients). The average age of onset is about 40 years old (3). Clinically, there may be various manifestations such as seizure disorders, rapidly progressive cognitive impairment, and stroke-like attack. The course of the disease may be recurrence–remission or gradual progression. Characteristically, these patients usually have high titers of thyroperoxidase antibody (TPOAb) and respond well to corticosteroid therapy. Because of these features, an acronym, steroid-responsive encephalopathy associated with autoimmune thyroiditis (SREAT), was used in some research articles (4, 5). It was also called NAIM (non-vasculitic autoimmune inflammatory meningoencephalitis) because of the absence of cerebral vasculitis seen on brain biopsies in affected individuals (6). In fact, HE lacks a clear definition, and the symptoms often overlap with other neuronal antibody-associated autoimmune encephalopathies (7).

HE can be regarded as a possible immune encephalopathy due to its possible immune-mediated mechanism. The diagnosis criteria for HE remain a diagnosis of exclusion because its antibodies are not specific to HE patients. Thyroid antibodies and α -enolase antibodies (anti-NAE) have been detected in healthy people and patients with other autoimmune diseases. Although hundreds of HE

74

patients have been reported in the literature, the specific mechanism of HE is not fully understood.

It is suggested that HE is better termed autoimmune encephalopathy associated with thyroid antibodies because antithyroid antibodies are essential laboratory features of the diagnosis of HE (8). Seizure disorders were seen in about 60– 70% patients, and many of them showed as the first manifestation of the disease. HE was often misdiagnosed with other diseases by the neurologist and pediatrician, especially doctors not majored in epilepsy. Awareness of HE has increased in the last few years, but it is still rather uncommon. HE is easy to be misdiagnosed because of the low incidence and the atypical symptoms. However, if it is diagnosed and treated correctly, the prognosis of the disease is good. Therefore, it is important to recognize the characteristics of HE. In this article, we review the characteristics of seizure disorders and the diagnostics of HE.

CLINICAL PRESENTATION OF SEIZURE DISORDERS IN HE

HE is a rare, clinically heterogeneous condition with increased antithyroid autoantibodies (9). One report divided HE into two classes: vasculitic type and indolent progressive type; the former manifested with repetitive stroke-like events, such as transient hemiparesis, aphasia, and ataxia with no or only slightly cognitive impairment. The latter shows an insidious onset of altered consciousness, seizure attacks, hallucinations, or psychotic disorders. Seizures, tremors, myoclonus, and stupor can occur in both types (10). Unusual presentations of HE like headache and peripheral neuropathy were also reported in some cases (7, 11).

Seizures are common in patients with HE. Approximately two-thirds of patients of HE experience seizure disorders. Seizure presentations include progressive focal or generalized onset seizures and new-onset status epilepticus (SE) (12-14). SE includes epilepsia partialis continua (EPC), and non-convulsive SE (NCSE) has been reported in 12% of HE patients (9, 14, 15). The most common seizure pattern was focal onset seizures with secondary generalization (4, 16). Seizure disorders are more common in children (present with seizures about 80%) than in adults and change in level of consciousness (17, 18). The type of epileptic manifestation may be generalized or focal, convulsive as well as myoclonic. EPC, a form of SE characterized by recurrent seizures that can last for hours, days, or even longer can also be found in HE individuals (19). Varassi et al. (20) describe a man with recurrent episodes of unilateral left-sided auditory hallucinations. The patient did not respond to antiepileptic drugs, such as diazepam, levetiracetam, lacosamide, and phenytoin. The patient later developed a refractory NCSE presenting with a stuporous state. Visual hallucinations were also reported before the onset of seizures in HE patients (21). Presentation of faciobrachial dystonic seizures was reported in a 58-year-old patient diagnosed with HE. Screening of autoimmune antibodies especially voltage-gated potassium channels (VGKCs)/leucinerich glioma inactivated 1 (LGI1) antibodies were negative. Instead, the finding of high titer of serum antithyroid and the dramatic response to steroid therapy led to the diagnosis of HE (9).

POSSIBLE MECHANISMS OF SEIZURE DISORDERS IN HASHIMOTO'S ENCEPHALOPATHY

The mechanisms of seizure disorders in HE are still not fully understood. Possible mechanisms including autoimmune mechanisms may play a variety of roles in the pathophysiology of epilepsy because HE belongs to a spectrum of autoimmune encephalitis (22). Thyroid-associated antibodies such as TPOAb, thyroglobulin antibody (TgAb), thyrotropin [thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH)] receptor antibody (TRAb or TSHRAb), and αenolase antibody targets for cortical neurons and endothelial cells were found in HE patients with epilepsy. Although antithyroid antibodies are important when HE is diagnosed, the role in the underlying pathogenesis mechanism remains unclear, and no direct correlation between serum antibody titers and clinical state of disease severity is found. The pathogenic roles of antibodies in HE have been questioned. Rather than playing a direct role in the pathophysiology of HE, it is suggested that thyroid-associated anti-TPO is a hallmark of HE (23). Yuceyar et al. reported a case with a family history, and they hypothesized that a genetic factor may participate in the pathogenesis of HE (24). Besides, other research suggested that toxic effects of TSH, brain hypoperfusion, and edema-induced cerebral dysfunction due to autoimmunemediated vasculitis may also play a role in the mechanisms of seizure disorders (8, 25).

EVALUATION OF SEIZURE DISORDERS IN PATIENTS WITH SUSPECTED HE

For patients with suspected HE, diagnostic testing of blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), electroencephalography, and neuroimaging such as brain computed tomography (CT) scan and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are important in differential diagnosis from other causes of neurologic disease, such as inflammation diseases, electrolyte and metabolic disturbances, multiple sclerosis, toxins, and tumors.

LABORATORY

Thyroid hormone dysfunction ranging from hypothyroid to thyrotoxic was found in HE. Most cases occur under euthyroid and hypothyroid metabolic conditions. TPOAb in serum is one of the most frequent signs of HE, ranging from several times to several 100 times higher than normal controls. Serum TgAb also increased (71%) in some patients; however, high-titer thyroid antibodies are not HE specific. They present in about 13% of healthy subjects and even higher (27%) in white women older than 60 years. Thyroid antibodies were also found increased in patients with other autoimmune encephalitis. Some scholars found NAE autoantibodies in the serum of patients with HE and considered that it may be a specific serological biomarker for the diagnosis of HE (25).

CSF examination may be needed in order to exclude other infectious or autoimmune encephalitis. Ilias et al. found that about 75% of individuals with HE presented with CSF antibodies, which are absent in the healthy individuals (26). The main changes of cerebrospinal fluid in patients were mild to moderate increase in protein and normal or elevated cerebrospinal fluid pressure. The increased rates in two studies were 78 and 66%, respectively (27). Lymphocytes can be slightly higher, sometimes with oligoclonal bands. Some patients might have other antibodies in addition to anti-TPO. Thus, it is necessary to detect all autoimmune antibody such as gamma-aminobutyric acid A receptor (GABAAR), N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), LGi1, and antinuclear antibodies (ANA) (28).

NEUROIMAGING

MRI findings of HE varied from normal to diversified appearance, including ischemic lesions, white matter demyelination, and focal vasogenic edema (29). Many studies showed that the CT/MRI imaging of HE may sometimes simulate an ischemic stroke, multiple tumors, granulomas, or even a degenerative disease (30–32). The diverse neuroimaging features of HE may be due to different or diverse pathological process stages of HE when performing CT/MRI scan. Various and mostly unspecific abnormalities were found by MR and/or CT in about 50%. Single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) examinations showed attenuated cerebral perfusion in cortical areas or basal ganglia (33).

ELECTROENCEPHALOGRAPHY

The etiology of epileptic seizures includes structural metabolism, immunity, inflation, trauma, and endocrine and degeneration causes, among others. To clarify the causes of seizure disorders in patients with suspected HE, electroencephalography (EEG), laboratory examination of serum and CSF, MRI, SPECT, and neuropsychological examinations need to be used.

EEG is a useful tool in the evaluation of patients suspected of HE. Abnormal EEG results were recorded in 98% of patients with HE (27). Repeated EEG or long-term video EEG increased the positive rate of examination. EEG findings usually show moderate to severe abnormalities, which are often in parallel with clinical improvement after appropriate treatment (34). The EEG abnormalities seen in HE include non-specific diffuse slowing of the background activity (delta or theta frequency wave), interictal epileptiform discharges, repetitive focal spikes or sharps, photomyogenic response, photoparoxysmal response, and generalized biphasic or triphasic waves (35). Diffuse slowing of the background activity is the most common abnormality in HE individuals. The location of epileptic activity is not always consistent with the site of lesions shown on neuroimaging or physical examination (33, 36). Myoclonus seizures were found in about half of the patients with steroid-responsive encephalopathy associated with autoimmune thyroiditis in one study (36). None of these EEG findings were specific for the diagnosis of HE and can be seen in encephalopathy due to other causes. Because of the non-specificity of the EEG examination, it seems to be a limited tool in differential diagnosis of seizure disorders and/or encephalopathy with other possible causes of encephalopathy (37). However, EEG is helpful in reflecting changes in brain functions during hospitalization and follow-up.

DIAGNOSIS

Generally, the diagnostic criteria of HE are based on the clinical features with elevated antithyroid antibodies and good response to steroids (9).

When there are unexplained episodes of focal or generalized seizures, refractory to common antiepileptic drugs, with cognitive impairment and/or neuropsychiatric symptoms, Hashimoto encephalopathy may be considered. Before the diagnosis of HE is suspected on a patient with seizure disorders, detection of neural autoantibodies, lumbar puncture for CSF examination, and brain MRI/CT are needed to exclude other etiologies such as metabolic, infectious, vascular, and other inflammatory etiologies.

We should know that positive thyroid peroxidase antibodies and good response to steroid therapy are not sufficient criteria to establish the diagnosis of HE. Diagnostic criteria of HE have been proposed by Graus et al. (38) (**Table 1**) and Castillo et al. (4). These two criteria suggested that the diagnosis of HE remains a diagnosis of exclusion.

DIFFERENTIAL DIAGNOSIS

Seizures are an extremely common symptom in HE and deserve consideration in the differential diagnosis of patients with newly onset epileptic seizures.

As all the diagnostic criteria have suggested, if the patients were diagnosed with HE, all the specific clinical syndromes of autoimmune encephalitis (with and without positive autoantibodies) and those accompanied by well-defined autoantibodies should be excluded. Due to the diversity of clinical manifestations of HE, some patients are prone to be misdiagnosed as having viral encephalitis because of their prominent psychiatric symptoms. Prominent symptoms of cognitive dysfunction, tremor, and seizure are easily misdiagnosed as Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (CJD). If HE is characterized by a stroke-like episode, it needs to be differentiated from central nervous system vasculitis. Therefore, when clinically highly suspected to be CJD, the possibility of HE should be considered. In the literature, 53% of patients initially diagnosed with CJD were eventually diagnosed with HE (8); at the same time, HE should be distinguished from primary mental disease, metabolism, poisoning, and paraneoplastic encephalopathy. If the patients combined with peripheral nerve

 TABLE 1 | Diagnostic criteria for Hashimoto's encephalopathy, from

 Graus et al. (38).

Diagnosis can be made when all six of the following criteria have been met:

1. Encephalopathy with seizures, myoclonus, hallucinations, or stroke-like episodes

- 2. Subclinical or mild overt thyroid disease (usually hypothyroidism)
- 3. Brain MRI normal or with non-specific abnormalities
- 4. Presence of serum thyroid (thyroid peroxidase, thyroglobulin) antibodies
- 5. Absence of well-characterized neuronal antibodies in serum and CSF
- 6. Reasonable exclusion of alternative causes

damage, Guillain–Barre syndrome should be excluded. Patients with HE may also have a positive ANA, thus often causing confusion with neuropsychiatric involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus. We should pay attention to the fact that psychiatric symptoms can also occur in patients diagnosed with hypothyroidism.

TREATMENT

Once the diagnosis of HE is made, immunotherapy usually brings a dramatic recovery. Seizure disorders accompanied with HE are usually refractory to antiepileptic drugs unless immunotherapy was used. Common anticonvulsant therapy alone is usually ineffective; some patients did not respond to any antiepileptic drugs, including valproic acid, phenytoin, levetiracetam, lacosamide, topiramate, midazolam, and even propofol (20). The use of immunotherapy in the acute stage of HE not only can effectively control seizure disorders but also can assist in the diagnosis of immune epilepsy.

High-dose glucocorticoids and intravenous immunoglobulin are the first-line treatment of HE. First-line treatment also includes plasma exchange. When the first-line treatment regimen is ineffective or has a poor response, second-line treatment (including rituximab and cyclophosphamide) can be used. Patients who received early immunotherapy usually had a better prognosis. Study showed that patients receiving second-line treatment also had a better prognosis than those who did not receive second-line treatment when the first-line treatment was ineffective (7). When the disease is in a stable state, the immunosuppressive agent will be kept in the lowest effective dose for a while and then tapered slowly (39). Steroid treatment leads to complete neurological recovery in most patients, but patients will not always be responsive to corticosteroids. For these patients, other alternative forms of immunity therapy should be tried.

Seizures and other neurological features can also improve dramatically after intravenous immunoglobulin and plasmapheresis, alone or in combination (9, 33). Cyclophosphamide or rituximab can be used as a second-line medication when it is encountered in patients with refractory epilepsy. In recent years, it has been found that T cell inhibitors (cyclosporine A, tacrolimus, and sirolimus) successfully applied to control seizures. Others such as methotrexate, azathioprine, and hydroxychloroquine also showed effectiveness in reported cases (40).

Often, antiepileptic drug therapies that control seizures do not need to be used in the long term in patients with HE. It should be mentioned that seizure disorders can recur especially when steroids were tapered; hence, in some patients,

REFERENCES

- 1. Brain L, Jellinek EH, Ball K. Hashimoto's disease and encephalopathy. *Lancet.* (1966) 2:512–4.
- Ferracci F, Moretto G, Candeago RM, Cimini N, Conte F, Gentile M, et al. Antithyroid antibodies in the CSF: their role in the pathogenesis of Hashimoto's encephalopathy. *Neurology*. (2003) 60:712–4.

maintenance immunotherapy is necessary (21). For patients with recurrent symptoms, reuse of glucocorticoids, plasma exchange, or immunoglobulin therapy is still effective (33). In order to prevent recurrence, it is recommended that glucocorticoid therapy should be done in sufficient maintenance doses and tapered slowly. Second-line immunosuppressant drugs mentioned above can be used if necessary. It is inappropriate to use serum TPOAb as a marker to determine when steroid therapy should be stopped because the effect of corticosteroids on TPOAb serum levels remains controversial (2, 41). For those patients with severe sequelae, including cognitive impairment and refractory seizures, immunotherapy, and antiepileptic drugs should be used longer (42, 43). Use of immunotherapy requires a close follow-up and regular measures for prevention of side effects.

CONCLUSION

Seizure disorders are common manifestations of HE. The diagnosis of HE still mainly depends on clinical presentation and supplementary examinations (including EEG, CT and/or MRI, and neuroelectrophysiology). The exact molecular mechanism that leads to seizures is still not clear. This type of immune-related seizures is not sensitive to conventional antiepileptic drugs, but has obvious effects on immunomodulatory therapy. Immunosuppressive therapy should be used in addition to antiepileptic drugs to control seizure disorders when HE is diagnosed. However, a better prognosis can be achieved when diagnosed early and treated with immunotherapy. We suggest that the diagnosis of HE should be considered in patients with unexplained encephalopathy presenting with uncontrolled seizures because steroid therapy is highly efficacious in these patients and is reversible.

The clinical spectrum of autoimmune epilepsy syndromes is expanding. HE is a rare, progressive, and relapsing multiform disease. Numerous challenges remain with the diagnosis and exploring the mechanisms of HE. A better understanding of the specific mechanisms underlying autoimmune epilepsy in HE is needed in the future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81671289).

- Ferracci F, Carnevale A. The neurological disorder associated with thyroid autoimmunity. J Neurol. (2006) 253:975–84. doi: 10.1007/s00415-006-0170-7
- Castillo P, Woodruff B, Caselli R, Vernino S, Lucchinetti C, Swanson J, et al. Steroid-responsive encephalopathy associated with autoimmune thyroiditis. *Arch Neurol.* (2006) 63:197–202. doi: 10.1001/archneur.63.2.197
- 5. Mahad DJ, Staugaitis S, Ruggieri P, Parisi J, Kleinschmidt-Demasters BK, Lassmann H, et al. Steroid-responsive encephalopathy associated with

autoimmune thyroiditis and primary CNS demyelination. J Neurol Sci. (2005) 228:3-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2004.08.015

- Caselli RJ, Boeve BF, Scheithauer BW, O'Duffy JD, Hunder GG. Non-vasculitic autoimmune inflammatory meningoencephalitis (NAIM): a reversible form of encephalopathy. *Neurology*. (1999) 53:1579–81.
- Montagna G, Imperiali M, Agazzi P, D'Aurizio F, Tozzoli R, Feldt-Rasmussen U, et al. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: a rare proteiform disorder. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:466–76. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.01.014
- Chaudhuri A, Behan PO. The clinical spectrum, diagnosis, pathogenesis and treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy (recurrent acute disseminated encephalomyelitis). *Curr Med Chem.* (2003) 10(19):1945–53. doi: 10.2174/0929867033456873
- Gul Mert G, Horoz OO, Herguner MO, Incecik F, Yildizdas RD, Onenli Mungan N, et al. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: four cases and review of literature. *Int J Neurosci.* (2014) 124:302–6. doi: 10.3109/00207454.2013.836706
- Kothbauer-Margreiter I, Sturzenegger M, Komor J, Baumgartner R, Hess CW. Encephalopathy associated with Hashimoto thyroiditis: diagnosis and treatment. J Neurol. (1996) 243:585–93.
- Beckmann YY, Top D, Yigit T. Unusual presentations of Hashimoto's encephalopathy: trigeminal neuralgiaform headache, skew deviation, hypomania. *Endocrine*. (2011) 40:495–6. doi: 10.1007/s12020-011-9506-x
- Aydin-Ozemir Z, Tuzun E, Baykan B, Akman-Demir G, Ozbey N, Gurses C, et al. Autoimmune thyroid encephalopathy presenting with epilepsia partialis continua. *Clin EEG Neurosci.* (2006) 37:204–9. doi: 10.1177/155005940603700308
- Arya R, Anand V, Chansoria M. Hashimoto encephalopathy presenting as progressive myoclonus epilepsy syndrome. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2013) 17:102–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2012.07.001
- Chaigne B, Mercier E, Garot D, Legras A, Dequin PF, Perrotin D. Hashimoto's encephalopathy in the intensive care unit. *Neurocrit Care.* (2013) 18:386– 90. doi: 10.1007/s12028-013-9834-1
- Mocellin R, Walterfang M, Velakoulis D. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: epidemiology, pathogenesis and management. CNS Drugs. (2007) 21:799–811. doi: 10.2165/00023210-200721100-00002
- Devinsky O, Schein A, Najjar S. Epilepsy associated with systemic autoimmune disorders. *Epilepsy Curr.* (2013) 13:62– 8. doi: 10.5698/1535-7597-13.2.62
- Alink J, de Vries TW. Unexplained seizures, confusion or hallucinations: think Hashimoto encephalopathy. *Acta Paediatr.* (2008) 97:451–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.00686.x
- Vasconcellos E, Pina-Garza JE, Fakhoury T, Fenichel GM. Pediatric manifestations of Hashimoto's encephalopathy. *Pediatr Neurol.* (1999) 20:394–8.
- Monti G, Pugnaghi M, Ariatti A, Mirandola L, Giovannini G, Scacchetti S, et al. Non-convulsive status epilepticus of frontal origin as the first manifestation of Hashimoto's encephalopathy. *Epileptic Disord.* (2011) 13:253–8. doi: 10.1684/epd.2011.0457
- Varrasi C, Vecchio D, Magistrelli L, Strigaro G, Tassi L, Cantello R. Auditory seizures in autoimmune epilepsy: a case with anti-thyroid antibodies. *Epileptic Disord*. (2017) 19:99–103. doi: 10.1684/epd.2017.0904
- Lee MJ, Lee HS, Hwang JS, Jung DE. A case of Hashimoto's encephalopathy presenting with seizures and psychosis. *Korean J Pediatr.* (2012) 55:111– 3. doi: 10.3345/kjp.2012.55.3.111
- Ong MS, Kohane IS, Cai T, Gorman MP, Mandl KD. Population-level evidence for an autoimmune etiology of epilepsy. *JAMA Neurol.* (2014) 71:569–74. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.188
- Mamoudjy N, Korff C, Maurey H, Blanchard G, Steshenko D, Loiseau-Corvez MN, et al. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: identification and longterm outcome in children. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2013) 17:280– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2012.11.003
- 24. Yuceyar N, Karadeniz M, Erdogan M, Copur A, Akgun A, Kumral E, et al. Thyrotoxic autoimmune encephalopathy in a female patient: only partial response to typical immunosuppressant treatment and remission after thyroidectomy. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg.* (2007) 109:458–62. doi: 10.1016/j.clineuro.2007.02.006
- Yoneda M, Fujii A, Ito A, Yokoyama H, Nakagawa H, Kuriyama M. High prevalence of serum autoantibodies against the amino terminal of alphaenolase in Hashimoto's encephalopathy. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2007) 185:195– 200. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2007.01.018

- 26. Ilias I, Karagiorga V, Paraskevas G, Bougea A, Bourbouli M, Pappa A, et al. Thyroid autoantibodies in the cerebrospinal fluid of subjects with and without thyroid disease: implications for Hashimoto's encephalopathy. *J Thyroid Res.* (2015) 2015:819072. doi: 10.1155/2015/819072
- Chong JY, Rowland LP, Utiger RD. Hashimoto encephalopathy: syndrome or myth? Arch Neurol. (2003) 60:164–71. doi: 10.1001/archneur.60.2.164
- Lancaster E, Martinez-Hernandez E, Dalmau J. Encephalitis and antibodies to synaptic and neuronal cell surface proteins. *Neurology.* (2011) 77:179– 89. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318224afde
- Kelley BP, Patel SC, Marin HL, Corrigan JJ, Mitsias PD, Griffith B. Autoimmune encephalitis: pathophysiology and imaging review of an overlooked diagnosis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2017) 38:1070– 8. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A5086
- Chen N, Qin W, Wei C, Wang X, Li K. Time course of Hashimoto's encephalopathy revealed by MRI: report of two cases. J Neurol Sci. (2011) 300:169–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2010.09.019
- Su TH, Jin EH, He W. Hashimoto encephalopathy: a case report with proton MR spectroscopic findings. *Chin Med J.* (2011) 124:3420–2. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.2011.20.039
- 32. Song YM, Seo DW, Chang GY. MR findings in Hashimoto encephalopathy. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2004) 25:807–8.
- 33. Pari E, Rinaldi F, Premi E, Codella M, Rao R, Paghera B, et al. A followup (1)(8)F-FDG brain PET study in a case of Hashimoto's encephalopathy causing drug-resistant status epilepticus treated with plasmapheresis. *J Neurol.* (2014) 261:663–7. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-7228-0
- Marshall GA, Doyle JJ. Long-term treatment of Hashimoto's encephalopathy. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2006) 18:14–20. doi: 10.1176/jnp. 18.1.14
- Ma RC, Leung H, Kwan P, So WY, Yap F, Chow CC. A 50-yearold woman with recurrent generalised seizures. *PLoS Med.* (2008) 5:e186. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050186
- Schauble B, Castillo PR, Boeve BF, Westmoreland BF. EEG findings in steroid-responsive encephalopathy associated with autoimmune thyroiditis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2003) 114:32–7. doi: 10.1016/s1388-2457(02) 00343-7
- Baysal-Kirac L, Tuzun E, Altindag E, Ekizoglu E, Kinay D, Bilgic B, et al. Are there any specific EEG findings in autoimmune epilepsies? *Clin EEG Neurosci.* (2016) 47:224–34. doi: 10.1177/15500594155 95907
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Maroz N, Bernhardt N, Chow RD. Autoimmune encephalopathy associated with thyroid autoantibodies as the cause of reversible cognitive impairment. J Community Hosp Intern Med Perspect. (2012) 2. doi: 10.3402/jchimp.v2i1.11453
- Fatourechi V. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: myth or reality? An endocrinologist's perspective. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2005) 19:53–66. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2004.11.006
- Fatemi S, Bedri J, Nicoloff JT. Encephalopathy associated with Hashimoto's thyroiditis: use of serum immunoglobulin G as a marker of disease activity. *Thyroid*. (2003) 13:227–8. doi: 10.1089/105072503321319576
- Watemberg N, Greenstein D, Levine A. Encephalopathy associated with Hashimoto thyroiditis: pediatric perspective. J Child Neurol. (2006) 21:1– 5. doi: 10.1177/08830738060210010201
- Berger I, Castiel Y, Dor T. Paediatric Hashimoto encephalopathy, refractory epilepsy and immunoglobulin treatment—unusual case report and review of the literature. *Acta Paediatr.* (2010) 99:1903–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2010.01967.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Li and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Clinical Features, Treatment, and Outcomes Among Chinese Children With Anti-methyl-D-aspartate Receptor (Anti-NMDAR) Encephalitis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xin Tian, First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, China

Reviewed by:

Ming Lim, Guy's and St. Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom Margherita Nosadini, University of Padova, Italy

*Correspondence:

Yi Wang yiwang@shmu.edu.cn Linmei Zhang linmeizhang@outlook.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 01 February 2019 Accepted: 20 May 2019 Published: 06 June 2019

Citation:

Zhang M, Li W, Zhou S, Zhou Y, Yang H, Yu L, Wang J, Wang Y and Zhang L (2019) Clinical Features, Treatment, and Outcomes Among Chinese Children With Anti-methyl-D-aspartate Receptor (Anti-NMDAR) Encephalitis. Front. Neurol. 10:596. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00596 Min Zhang^{1†}, Wenhui Li^{1†}, Shuizhen Zhou¹, Yuanfeng Zhou¹, Haowei Yang², Lifei Yu¹, Ji Wang¹, Yi Wang^{1*} and Linmei Zhang^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, Children's Hospital of Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ² Department of Radiology, Children's Hospital of Fudan University, Shanghai, China

Objective: Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (anti-NMDAR) encephalitis is the most common form of autoimmune encephalitis in pediatric patients. In this study, we aimed to investigate the clinical features and long-term outcomes of pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis in China.

Methods: We conducted a retrospective study of children (age range: 0–18 years) with anti-NMDAR encephalitis treated at Children's Hospital of Fudan University between July 2015 and November 2018. Demographic characteristics, clinical features, treatment, and outcomes were reviewed.

Results: Thirty-four patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis were enrolled (age range: 5 months to 14 years; median age: 7 years; female: 18). The median follow- up duration was 20 months (range: 6–39 months). Eighteen (52.9%) patients initially presented with seizures and 10 (29.4%) with abnormal (psychiatric) behaviors or cognitive dysfunction. Thirty (88.2%) patients exhibited more than two symptoms during the disease course. No neoplasms were detected. Twelve (35.2%) patients had abnormal cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) findings, including leukocytosis, and increased protein concentration. Eighteen (52.9%) patients exhibited normal brain MRI findings. Electroencephalography revealed abnormal background activity in 27 (79.4%) patients, and epileptiform discharges in 16 (47.0%) patients prior to immunotherapy. All patients received first-line immunotherapy, with 30 (88.2%) and four (11.8%) patients achieving good (Modified Rankin Scale [mRS] score of 0-2) and poor outcomes (mRS score of 3-5), respectively. Initial mRS scores differed significantly between the good and poor outcome groups. Fourteen out of 18 patients (77.7%) with seizures accepted anti-epileptic drug (AED) administration, and seizure freedom was achieved in 12 out of 14 (85.7%) patients at the last follow-up. Ten of these 12 (83.3%) patients withdrew from AED treatment within 1 year.

79

Conclusions: Most patients achieved seizure freedom, so long-term use of AEDs may not be necessary for pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Among our patients, 83.3% were sensitive to first-line immunotherapy and achieved good outcomes. Higher mRS scores before immunotherapy predicted poor outcomes, highlighting the need for a comprehensive assessment of patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis.

Keywords: anti-NMDAR encephalitis, autoimmune encephalitis, anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, children, immunotherapy

INTRODUCTION

Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate (anti-NMDAR) receptor encephalitis is a recently recognized autoimmune disorder in which auto-antibodies mainly target the NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor, leading to a series of complex neuropsychiatric symptoms (1, 2). Reports of anti-NMDAR encephalitis have become more frequent over recent years, shedding light on the clinical characteristics of the disease. Anti-NMDAR encephalitis is a form of autoimmune encephalitis. Patients typically present with psychiatric symptoms, behavioral dysfunction, seizures, speech impairment, cognitive impairment, movement disorders, decreased consciousness, autonomic instability, and central hypoventilation. The disease is observed in patients of different ages and genders and may or may not be accompanied by ovarian teratomas or other tumors. Increased clinical recognition of this disease has led to an increase in the number of patients diagnosed with anti-NMDAR encephalitis.

Some research groups have summarized the clinical features of autoimmune encephalitis, providing a practical clinical approach to early diagnosis of the disease, rather than completely relying on the detection of autoantibodies (3, 4). Moreover, a meta-analysis found that earlier treatment of anti-NMDAR encephalitis leads to better outcomes among children (5). However, the clinical symptoms of anti-NMDAR encephalitis are complex, especially in younger pediatric patients, and many clinicians cannot promptly distinguish them from those of other diseases such as viral encephalitis or psychological conditions. Therefore, this study aimed to summarize the demographic characteristics, clinical features, ancillary examination results, treatments, and outcomes of Chinese children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This retrospective study included 34 pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, who were diagnosed at the Department of Neurology at Children's Hospital of Fudan University (Shanghai, China) between July 2015 and November 2018. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Children's Hospital of Fudan University, which waived the requirement for informed consent owing to the retrospective nature of the study.

All patients met the following inclusion criteria: (a) met the diagnostic criteria for definite anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis (3); (b) treatment with first-line immunotherapy during the acute phase, including methylprednisolone and/or immunoglobulin and/or plasma exchange; (c) age between 0 and 18 years; and

(d) duration of follow-up exceeding 6 months, with complete medical records. We excluded patients with other possible etiologies such as viral encephalitis or psychological conditions.

Medical information was collected from medical records or via telephone interviews and follow-up was continued until the patient died or was lost to follow-up. We reviewed patients' clinical data, including age, gender, age at disease onset, follow-up duration, initial symptoms, duration between symptom onset and diagnosis, duration between symptom onset and immunotherapy, CSF examination results, brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) results, results of screenings for systemic neoplasms, electroencephalography (EEG) findings, and treatment strategies. Serum and CSF samples from each patient were sent to Oumeng Biotechnology Corporation (Shanghai, China) to screen for antibodies against the NMDA receptor. All samples were evaluated for anti-NMDAR IgG antibodies via indirect immunofluorescence using EU 90 cells transfected with the NMDAR1 subunit (NR1) of the NMDAR complex and immobilized on BIOCHIPs (Euroimmun AG, Lubek, Germany). CSF leukocytosis was defined as white cell count $>5/mm^3$ while elevated CSF proteins 450 > mg/L. Tumor screening (MRI and/or CT and/or ultrasound of the chest, abdomen, and pelvic cavity) was performed once each patient was diagnosed with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. All patients were screened for tumors regularly after discharge, including MRI of the chest, abdomen, and pelvic cavity (once a year for children >12 years and biennial for children <12 years of age).

Digital-video EEG records were obtained at least once before immunotherapy, three to 6 months after immunotherapy, and at the last available follow-up. EEG data were recorded for at least 30 min. All EEG recordings were retrospectively evaluated by a pediatric epileptologist familiar with the patient's age and diagnosis, but not with his/her clinical state, symptoms, or signs. EEG data were categorized as follows: background activity (normal, generalized slowing, focal slowing, and extreme delta brushes [EDB]); interictal epileptic paroxysms such as sharp waves, spike waves, polyspike waves, or generalized discharges; focal discharges; and multifocal interictal epilepticdischarges.

Brain MRI findings were obtained from all patients before immunotherapy. Abnormal brain MRI findings were defined as hyper intensities on T2-weighted images (T2WI), fluidattenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) images and/or hypo intensities on T2-weighted images (T1WI). The same pediatric neurologist reviewed all the brain MRI results.

Outcomes were evaluated based on mRS scores. After discharge, outcome evaluations were performed during clinical

TABLE 1	Patients'	demographic and	l clinical	characteristics
---------	-----------	-----------------	------------	-----------------

Item	All patients	Age under	Age under
	(%)	12 (%)	6 (%)
Number	34	30	14
Female: male	18:16	16:14	8:6
Median age, range(months)	86 (5–171)	81 (5–136)	32 (5–67)
INITIAL SYMPTOMS			
Psychiatric/behavior	8 (23.5%)	8 (26.7%)	4 (28.6%)
Seizure	16 (47.1%)	13 (43.3%)	10 (71.4%)
Others	10 (29.4%)	9 (30%)	0

visits to the neurologist or via telephone follow-up. The evaluation standards were as follows: full recovery, mRS score of 0; mild deficits, mRS scores of 1–2; severe deficits, mRS scores of 3–5; or death, mRS score of 6.

We used SPSS version 19.0 for all statistical analyses (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous variables such as age, the interval from symptom onset to definitive diagnosis, and the interval from symptom onset to immunotherapy were analyzed using independent *t*-tests. Categorical variables were analyzed using Fisher's exact test, and ordinal variables were analyzed using Fisher–Freeman–Halton tests. P < 0.05 (two-sided) were considered significant.

RESULTS

Clinical Characteristics

Clinical characteristics of the 34 included patients are presented in Table 1. Patients' ages ranged from 5 months to 14 years (median age: 20 months), and 18 were female (52.9%; a femaleto-male ratio of 1.125). Thirty patients (88.2%) were younger than 12 years of age, and 14 patients (41.2%) were younger than 6 years of age at symptom onset. The median follow-up duration was 20 months, ranging from 6 to 39 months. The initial presentation included seizures in 18 patients (52.9%), abnormal (psychiatric) behaviors or cognitive dysfunction in 10 patients (29.4%), a movement disorder in 3 patients (8.8%), and a decreased level of consciousness in 3 patients (8.8%). Thirty patients (88.2%) developed at least two of the six symptom categories over the course of their disease. Three patients (8.8%) were hospitalized in intensive care unit (ICU) due to central hypoventilation, coma, or refractory seizures, respectively. Each of the 18 patients who experienced seizures had onset during the acute phase of anti-NMDAR encephalitis, which was defined as <3 months after symptom onset. Seizure types included repetitive seizures (16/18, 88.8%), single seizures (2/18, 11.1%), and status epileptics (9/18, 50%) (Figure 1). Generalized and focal seizures were noted in 5 (27.7%) and 11(61.1%) of 18 patients, respectively (Figure 2). Only two (11.1%) patients reported seizures at the last follow-up. No patients developed tumors or died during follow-up.

Ancillary Examination Results

Initial CSF findings before immunotherapy are shown in **Table 2**. Eleven patients (32.4%) had CSF pleocytosis, seven (20.6%) had





increased protein concentrations only, and six (17.6%) had both. Anti-NMDAR antibodies were identified in CSF obtained from 9 patients (26.5%) and both serum and CSF of 25 patients (73.5%). No patients were positive for anti-NMDAR antibodies in serum only. Brain MRI findings were normal in 19 (55.9%) of 34 patients. The remaining 15 patients (44.1%) exhibited abnormalities that included increased signal on T2WI or FLAIR images (n = 14, two in the temporal lobes, one in the frontal cortex, three in the thalamus, one in the parietal lobe, seven in the cerebral cortex/gray matter) and encephalomalacia (n = 1).

The first available EEG findings detected before immunotherapy included generalized slowing in 25/34 (73.5%) patients and focal slowing in 2/34 (5.9%). Normal background activity was observed in only 7/34 (20.6%) patients, and in 32/34 (94.1%) patients 3 months post-immunotherapy, and in all patients 9 months post-immunotherapy. Sixteen of 34 (47.1%) patients reported interictal epileptic paroxysms during the acute stage of anti-NMDAR encephalitis. This rate decreased to 14.7% (n = 5) 3–6 months after immunotherapy and 2.9% (n = 1) at the last follow-up. EDB patterns were recorded in 2/34 (5.9%) patients (**Figure 3**) and disappeared 6 months after immunotherapy (**Figure 4**).

TABLE 2 | Results of ancillary examinations.

Examinations	All patients
Brain MRI	Numbers (%)
Total abnormal findings	18 (52.9%)
EEG	
Abnormal background	
Before immunotherapy	27(79.4%)
3–6months after immunotherapy	2(5.9%)
Last follow up	0(0%)
Interictal Epileptiform Discharge	
Before immunotherapy	16 (47.0%)
3–6months after immunotherapy	5 (14.7%)
Last follow up	2 (5.8%)
EDB	2 (5.8%)
CSF Results	
Abnormal findings	12 (35.3%)
Pleocytosis	11 (32.4%)
Increased protein concentration	7 (20.6%)
Pleocytosis and increased protein concentration	6 (17.6%)
Positive OB(Total number 11)	1 (9.1%)

EEG, electroencephalogram; EDB, extreme delta brush; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; OB, Oligoclonal band.

Treatments and Outcomes

All patients received first-line immunotherapy, including intravenous methylprednisolone, intravenous immunoglobulin, plasma exchange, or an arbitrary combination of these treatments. The median interval between symptom onset and the start of immunotherapy treatment was 23.9 days, ranged from 7 to 42 days. The median duration of follow-up was 20 months, with a range of 6 to 39 months. Twenty-five of the 34 (73.5%) patients were treated within 30 days of first symptom appearance. Three patients (8.8%) were exclusively treated with intravenous methylprednisolone (15-30 mg/kg per day for 3-5 days), 29 patients (85.3%) with both intravenous methylprednisolone and intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG, 0.4 g/kg per day for 5 days or 1 g/kg per day for 2 days), and two patients (5.9%) with a combination of intravenous methylprednisolone, IVIG, and plasma exchange. The median mRS score before immunotherapy was 5, which decreased to zero following 3-6 months of initial immunotherapy (Figure 5). By the last follow-up, 29 patients (85.2%) had fully recovered, one patient (2.9%) exhibited mild deficits (weakness on one side of the body), and four patients (11.8%) exhibited severe deficits (one with speech disturbances and memory deficits, one with dyskinesia, and two with intractable epilepsy). No deaths were noted at the last follow-up.

Comparison Between the Good and Poor Outcome Groups

Table 3 shows between-group comparisons of the good and poor outcome groups. The initial median mRS score was significantly higher in the poor outcome group than in the good outcome group (p = 0.014). Initial symptoms, CSF findings, the median age at the appearance of initial symptoms, the median interval between onset and diagnosis, the median interval between onset and immunotherapy, MRI findings, EEG findings, and ICU admission showed no significant between-group differences.

Comparison Between Patients Younger and Older Than 6 Years old

Table 4 shows the comparison between patients younger than 6 years old and older than 6 years. We observed no significant between-group differences for initial symptoms, CSF findings, median initial mRS score, the median interval between onset and diagnosis (d), the median interval between onset and immunotherapy (d), MRI findings, interictal epileptic discharges, or ICU admission.

DISCUSSION

Previous research has demonstrated that there are more cases of anti-NMDAR encephalitis than other kinds of autoimmune encephalitis, and that early diagnosis and aggressive medical management decrease the likelihood of morbidity and mortality (6–9). Therefore, if anti-NMDAR encephalitis is suspected and other diseases can be ruled out, treatment should begin as early as possible (10). However, there are significant differences in clinical features between pediatric and adult patients. Here we retrospectively analyzed the clinical characteristics, ancillary examination results, and outcomes of Chinese pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis.

We observed no significant differences in sex in the present study. These findings correspond to the findings of a previous study that focused on pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis in south-central China (11). In children, psychiatric syndromes can present as abnormal behaviors or cognitive dysfunction. This is particular true for preschoolaged children, because it is difficult for them to describe their symptoms and emotional states. Therefore, we could not make objective judgments regarding cognitive function, including the presence of memory deficits, which are independently associated with poorer outcomes (12). Instead, we attributed psychiatric symptoms and abnormal behaviors or cognitive dysfunction to a single category of symptoms. Eighteen of the 34 included patients (52.9%) initially presented with seizures, while 10 (29.4%) presented with abnormal (psychiatric) behaviors or cognitive dysfunction. We concluded that seizures and abnormal (psychiatric) behaviors and cognitive dysfunction are the most common symptoms of pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis, in agreement with previous findings (13-16).

Armangue et al. (9, 14) reported that younger children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis typically presented with neurologic symptoms, whereas adolescents more often presented with psychiatric symptoms. However, in our study, 75% (3/4) of adolescents presented with seizures as their initial symptom, and there was no significant difference in initial symptoms between older and younger patients (**Table 4**). This difference may be attributed to the relatively small sample of adolescents in our



FIGURE 4 | Normal EEG was recorded six months after immunotherapy (Case 8).

study. According to the literature, adult patients more frequently present with focal seizures, while children more frequently present with generalized seizures that develop into the dominant seizure type over the course of the disease (17). In a recent study of 17 pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis,

generalized seizures were reported in 5/16 patients (31%), while focal seizures were reported in 4/16 (25%) patients, another 7/16 (44%) patients had both generalized, and focal seizures (16). In our study, among 18 patients experienced seizures, 11 (61.1%) presented with focal seizures, five (27.7%) with generalized



seizures, and two (11.1%) with both types. Age-related differences in patients' constitutions and the use of video-EEG to determine seizure type may explain these differences.

Of the 14 patients treated with AEDs, 12 (85.7%) got seizure free during the acute stage of anti-NMDAR encephalitis, and 10 patients (71.4%) were able to withdraw from AEDs within 1 year. At the final follow-up, only two patients (14.3%) with ongoing epilepsy were treated with AEDs, indicating that longterm use of AEDs may not be necessary for pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Similar results have been reported in previous studies involving both adult and pediatric patients (18). No tumors were detected in our study, which demonstrates that younger age is associated with a lower rate of teratomas (2, 11).

Although not generally helpful in diagnosing anti-NMDAR encephalitis, imaging studies play a key role in the workup of patients with suspected anti-NMDAR encephalitis because these modalities can rule out other conditions that could create a similar neurologic picture (19). A recent study demonstrated that anti-NMDA encephalitis is an autoimmune-mediated disease without specific brain MRI features. The authors categorized the brain MRI findings of patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis into four types. Of these, hippocampal lesions were the most common brain abnormalities and were identified as risk factors contributing to poor prognosis (20), consistent with previous reports (21, 22). However, as with our results, some research has indicated that abnormal MRI findings do not affect prognosis as indicated by mRS scores (23). In our study, 55.9% of patients had normal brain MRI findings, and none exhibited hioppocampal lesions. This discrepancy may be due to differences between pediatric and adult patients, or to the relatively small sample size of our study. Therefore, future studies with larger samples are needed to compare brain MRI features between pediatric and adult patients.

TABLE 3 | Comparison of the good and poor outcome groups.

Item	Good outcome	Poor outcome	P-value
Patient number	30	4	/
Initial syndrome			/
Seizure	15	3	0.9467
Abnormal (psychiatric) behavior or cognitive dysfunction	9	1	0.7723
Others	6	0	0.5289
Abnormal CSF finding	12	2	0.8219
Median age(m)	99	24	0.1772
Median initial mRS	5	5	0.0141
Median interval between onset and diagnosis(d)	22	30	1.0000
Median interval between onset and immunotherapy(d)	20	29	0.6721
Abnormal MRI findings	12	3	0.3891
Abnormal EEG background	25	2	1.0000
Abnormal interictal epileptic discharges	14	2	0.5671
ICU stay	3	0	0.9290

Previous studies have indicated that the parietal aEEG bandwidth may separate patients with favorable and poor longterm outcomes in the early disease stages (24). In our study, the first available EEG findings that obtained before immunotherapy showed generalized slowing in 14/18 patients (77.7%), focal slowing in 2/18 patients (11.1%), and no abnormalities in 2/18 patients (11.1%), consistent with the findings of previous reports (25, 26). No patients exhibited abnormal background activity

TABLE 4 Comparison of patients younger than 6 years old with those older that	n
6 years old.	

Item	Age under 6 y	Age older than 6 y	P-value
Patient number	14	20	/
Initial syndrome			/
Seizure	10	8	0.6835
abnormal (psychiatric) behavior or cognitive dysfunction	4	6	1.0000
Others	0	6	0.0717
Abnormal CSF finding	4	8	0.7477
Median age(m)	36.5	110	0.0000
Median initial mRS	5	5	0.9830
Median interval between onset and diagnosis(d)	29.5	19	0.1010
Median interval between onset and immunotherapy(d)	27.5	17	0.0980
Abnormal MRI findings	7	8	0.8204
Abnormal EEG background	11	16	1.0000
Abnormal interictal epileptic discharges	9	7	0.1820
ICU stay	2	1	0.7450

at the final follow-up. These findings suggest that generalized slowing of EEG background activity is an important clue to diagnosing anti-NMDAR encephalitis during the acute stage, but it is not specific to anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Recent studies have demonstrated that the presence of EDB patterns is a marker of more severe disease among patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis and corresponding with worse outcomes (27). Past researchers observed EDB patterns on EEG in 33% of patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis (28). However, in our study, EDB patterns were detected in only 2/18 (11.1%) patients, likely due to differences in the time of EEG recording and individual differences in patients within the various study groups. Since prompt diagnosis is crucial (29), we recommend use of video-EEG monitoring for all patients with suspected anti-NMDAR encephalitis (30). Nonetheless, a recent study suggested that EDB is also not unique to anti-NMDAR encephalitis and can occur (albeit rarely) in patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. While the presence of EDB should prompt suspicion of anti-NMDAR encephalitis, other possible etiologies should not be ignored (31).

Some previous studies have suggested that the prognosis is poor among patients with severe anti-NMDAR encephalitis (2, 32), but the long-term prognosis of anti-NMDAR encephalitis is good (33, 34), even in patients whose diagnoses were missed or in those with prolonged diagnostic delays who eventually recovered or substantially improved (35). Predictors of poor outcomes included younger age, decreased consciousness, memory deficits, ICU admission, treatment delay >4 weeks, lack of clinical improvement within 4 weeks, abnormal MRI, and CSF white blood cell count >20 cells/ μ L, etc. (2, 36–38). In our study, higher initial mRS scores predicted poor outcomes, in accordance with Anastasia Zekeridou et al. (39). However, our sample size was relatively small and further studies involving larger sample sizes are required to determine the risk factors for poor prognosis in this patient population.

According to our experience, most patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis continue to improve within 2 years or longer, even when treated with first-line immunotherapy alone. For patients with slow clinical improvement, first-line immunotherapy can be re administered. In this study, some caretakers refused secondline immunotherapy because of cost concerns or concerns over clinical side effects, so all our patients were treated with firstline immunotherapy. Although no patients attained mRS scores of 0–2 (0%) before immunotherapy, 83.3% of them attained such scores at the final follow-up. This result indicated that first-line immunotherapy is an effective measure for pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Besides, our patients' good outcomes may be associated with admission to the less intensive care unit and prompt immunotherapy after diagnosis with anti-NMDAR encephalitis.

In a recent study involving 111 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 39 (35.1%) patients were included in the severe group. Even patients with the most severe forms of anti-NMDAR encephalitis can eventually achieve good long-term outcomes after receiving early, positive, and unremitting combined immunotherapy and life support (25). Another study (40) involving 19 children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis in Thailand revealed that IVIG treatment, was associated with greater improvements in mRS scores. These findings underscore the benefits of IVIG treatment for this condition. Zhang et al. (13) analyzed the individual outcomes associated with three first-line immunotherapies and combinations of any two immunotherapies. Their findings revealed that patients treated with a combination of corticosteroids and IVIG plus secondline immunotherapy more frequently achieved full recovery than patients treated with a combination of corticosteroids and IVIG. Second-line immunotherapy with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, or both significantly improved outcomes in patients who did not respond to first-line therapy and decreased the frequency of relapses (2). Therefore, second-line immunotherapy may be necessary when patients do not achieve full recovery with firstline immunotherapy only.

Nonetheless, some recent studies have reported substantial deficits across multiple cognitive domains and behavioral problems in both adult and pediatric patients (41–44). These findings indicate that, even when good outcomes are achieved, full recovery may not be possible. Alternatively, while mRS scores are effective tools for assessing disability in patients with stroke, these scores may not be the most suitable tool for evaluating outcomes in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis who present with seizures and abnormal (psychiatric) behaviors or cognitive dysfunction. This is particularly true for infants who cannot walk or express their emotions. Future studies should seek to determine the most appropriate method for comprehensively assessing cognitive and social functions in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis at different ages.

Our study had several limitations. The functional status assessment may be susceptible to recall bias given the retrospective nature of the study. Our cohort only included patients diagnosed and treated at the Children's Hospital of Fudan University in Shanghai, which may also have introduced a selection bias. All patients were treated with first-line immunotherapy so we could not assess differences in the effects between first-line immunotherapy and other immunotherapy measures. The relationship between anti-NMDAR antibody titers and clinical symptom severity or outcomes was not examined and should be a focus of future studies.

CONCLUSION

In our study, seizure freedom was typically achieved by the final follow-up, indicating that long-term use of AEDs may not be necessary for patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. More than half of the patients exhibited normal brain MRI findings. Our results further indicated that generalized slowing of EEG background activity is the main characteristic of pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis during the acute stage. In addition, 83.3% of our patients were sensitive to first-line immunotherapy and achieved good outcomes. Higher mRS

REFERENCES

- Gleichman AJ, Spruce LA, Dalmau J, Seeholzer SH, Lynch DR. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis antibody binding is dependent on amino acid identity of a small region within the GluN1 amino terminal domain. *J Neurosci.* (2012) 32:11082–94. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0064-12.2012
- Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangue T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Irani SR, Gelfand JM, Al-Diwani A, Vincent A. Cell-surface central nervous system autoantibodies: clinical relevance and emerging paradigms. *Ann Neurol.* (2014) 76:168–84. doi: 10.1002/ana.24200
- Byrne S, Walsh C, Hacohen Y, Muscal E, Jankovic J, Stocco A, et al. Earlier treatment of NMDAR antibody encephalitis in children results in a better outcome. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2015) 2:e130. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000130.
- Byrne S, McCoy B, Lych B, Webb B, King MD. Does early treatment improve outcomes in N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis? *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2014) 56:794–6. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12411
- Nijmeijer S, Bontemps S, Naeije L, Coutinho J. Anti-N-methyl- D-aspartate receptor encephalitis in a pre-teenage girl: a case report. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2014) 173:681–3. doi: 10.1007/s00431-013-2042-3
- Salvucci A, Devine IM, Hammond D, Sheth RD. Pediatric anti-NMDA. (Nmethyl D-Aspartate) receptor encephalitis. *Pediatric Neurol.* (2014) 50:507– 10. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2014.01.012
- Sartori S, Nosadini M, Cesaroni E, Falsaperla R, Capovilla, Beccaria F, et al. Paediatric anti-N-methyl- D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: the first Italian multicenter case series. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2015) 19:453– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2015.02.006
- Hong S, Klein-Gitelman M, Wainwright MS. Recognition and treatment of Nmethyl- D- aspartate receptor encephalitis. *Clini Pediatric Emerg Med.* (2015) 16:3–10. doi: 10.1016/j.cpem.2015.02.003
- Wang Y, Zhang W, Yin J, Lu Q, Yin F, He F, et al. Anti-N-methyl-daspartate receptor encephalitis in children of Central South China: clinical features, treatment, influencing factors, and outcomes. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2017) 312:59–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.09.005

scores before immunotherapy predicted poor outcomes among pediatric patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Future studies should aim to determine the most appropriate methods for comprehensively assessing cognitive and social functions in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, particularly infants.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Children's Hospital of Fudan University, who waived the requirement for informed consent due to the retrospective nature of the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MZ and WL wrote the initial draft of the paper. JW and LY acquired patients' demographic and clinical data through medical records and telephone interviews. YZ guided the analysis of EEG signals. HY guided the analysis of MRI and CT results, SZ guided the study design, and LZ and YW made critical revisions to the manuscript.

- Wang W, Li JM, Hu FY, Wang, R., Hong, Z, He L, Zhou D. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: clinical characteristics, predictors of outcome and the knowledge gap in southwest China. *Eur. J. Neurol.* (2016) 23:621– 9. doi: 10.1111/ene.12911
- Zhang L, Wu MQ, Hao ZL, Chiang SM, Shuang K, Lin MT, et al. Clinical characteristics, treatments, and outcomes of patients with anti-N-methyl-daspartate receptor encephalitis: a systematic review of reported cases. *Epilepsy Behav*. (2017) 68:57–65. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.12.019
- Armangue T, Titulaer MJ, Malaga I, Bataller L, Gabilondo I, Graus F. Pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis: clinical analysis and novel findings in a series of 20 patients. J Pediatrics. (2013) 162:850–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.10.011
- Haberlandt E, Ensslen M, Gruber-Sedlmayr U, Plecko B, Brunner-Krainz M, Schimmel M, et al. Epileptic phenotypes, electroclinical features, and clinical characteristics in 17 children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2017) 21:457–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2016.11.016
- Brenton JN, Goodkin HP. Antibody-mediated autoimmune encephalitis in childhood. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2016) 60:13– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2016.04.004
- Irani SR, Bera K, Waters P, Zuliani L, Maxwell S, Zandi MS, et al. Nmethyl-D-aspartate antibody encephalitis: temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic disorder of both sexes. *Brain*. (2010) 133:1655–67. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq113
- Liu X, Yan B, Wang R, Li C, Chen C, Zhou D, et al. Seizure outcomes in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis: a follow-up study. *Epilepsia*. (2017) 58:2104–11. doi: 10.1111/epi.13929
- Zaborowski MP, Spaczynski M, Nowak-Markwitz E, Michalak S. Paraneoplastic neurological syndromes associated with ovarian tumors. *J Cancer Res Clini Oncol.* (2015) 141:99–108. doi: 10.1007/s00432-014-1745-9
- Zhang T, Duan Y, Ye J, Xu W, Shu N, Wang C, et al. Brain MRI characteristics of patients with Anti-N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis and their associations with 2-year clinical outcome. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2018) 39:824–29. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A5593
- Dalmau J, Lancaster E, Martinez-Hernandez E, Rosenfeld MR, Balice-Gordon R. Clinical experience and laboratory investigations in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2011) 10:63–74. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70253-2
- GÜnther A, Brodoehl S, Witte OW, Freesmeyer M, Dalmau JO, Redecker C. Atypical posthypoxic MRI changes in hypermetabolic regions in anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis. *Neurology.* (2012) 79:720–21. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182648bdc

- Wang R, Lai XH, Liu X, Li YJ, Chen C, Li C, et al. Brain magnetic resonanceimaging findings of anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: a cohort follow-up study in Chinese patients. J Neurol. (2018) 265:362– 9. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8707-5
- 24. Jiang N, Guan H, Lu Q, Ren H, Peng B. Features and prognostic value of quantitative electroencephalogram changes in critically ill and non-critically Ill Anti-NMDAR encephalitis patients: a pilot study. *Front Neurol.* (2018) 9:833. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00833
- Zhang Y, Liu G, Jiang M, Chen W, He Y, Su Y. Clinical characteristics and prognosis of severe anti-N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor encephalitis patients. *Neurocrit Care.* (2018) 29:264–72. doi: 10.1007/s12028-018-0536-6
- da Silve-Junior FP, Castro LH, Andrade JQ, Bastos CG, Moreira CH, Valerio RM, et al. Serial and prolonged EEG monitoring in anti-Nmethyl-d-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2014) 125:1541– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.01.001
- Schmitt SE, Pargeon K, Frechette ES, Hirsch LJ, Dalmau J, Friedman D, et al. Extreme delta brush: a unique EEG pattern in adults with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *Neurology*. (2012) 79:1094–100. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182698cd8
- Huang Q, Wu Y, Qin R, Wei X, Ma M. Clinical characteristics and outcomes between children and adults with anti-N-methyl-D receptor encephalitis. J Neurol. (2016) 263:2446–55. doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8282-1
- Sulentic V, Petelin Gadze Z, Derke F, Santini M, Bazadona D, Nankovic S. The effect of delayed anti-NMDAR encephalitis recognition on disease outcome. J NeuroVirol. (2018) 24:638–41. doi: 10.1007/s13365-018-0648-y
- Di Capua D, García-Ptacek S, García-García ME, Abarrategui B, Porta-Etessam J, García-Morales I. Extreme delta brush in a patient with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Epileptic Disord.* (2013) 15:461–4. doi: 10.1684/epd.2013.0622
- Baykan B, Gungor Tuncer O, Vanli-Yavuz EN, Baysal Kirac L, Gundogdu G, Bebek N, et al. Delta brush pattern is not unique to NMDAR encephalitis: evaluation of two independent long-term EEG cohorts. *Clin EEG Neurosci.* (2018) 49:278–84. doi: 10.1177/1550059417693168
- Chi X, Wang W, Huang C, Wu M, Zhang L, Li J., et al. Risk factors for mortality in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2017) 136:298–304. doi: 10.1111/ane.12723
- Mittal MK, Rabinstein AA, Hocker SE, Pittock SJ, Wijdicks EF, McKeon A. Autoimmune encephalitis in the ICU: analysis of phenotypes, serologic findings, and outcomes. *Neurocrit Care.* (2016) 24:240–50. doi: 10.1007/s12028-015-0196-8
- Harutyunyan G, Hauer L, Dünser MW, Moser T, Pikija S, Leitinger M, et al. Risk factors for intensive care unit admission in patients with autoimmune encephalitis. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:835. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017. 00835
- Iizuka T, Sakai F, Ide T, Monzen T, Yoshii S, Iigaya M, et al. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis in Japan: long-term outcome without tumor removal. *Neurology*. (2008) 70:504–11. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000278388.90370.c3

- Lim JA, Lee ST, Jung KH, Kim S, Shin JW, Moon J, et al. Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis in Korea: clinical features, treatment, and outcome. J Clin Neurol. (2014) 10:157–61. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2014.10.2.157
- Balu R, McCracken L, Lancaster E, Graus F, Dalmau J, Titulaer MJ. A score that predicts 1-year functional status in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *Neurology.* (2019) 92:e244–52. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000006783
- Sai Y, Zhang X, Feng M, Tang J, Liau H, Tan L. Clinical diagnosis and treatment of pediatric anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: a single-center retrospective study. *Ex Ther Med.* (2018) 16: 1442– 8. doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.6329
- Zekeridou A, Karantoni E, Viaccoz A, Ducray F, Gitiaux C, Villega F, et al. Treatment and outcome of children and adolescents with N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. J Neurol. (2015) 262:18592:185. doi: 10.1007/s00415-015-7781-9
- Sakpichaisakul K, Patibat L, Wechapinan T, Sri-Udomkajrorn S, Apiwattanakul M, Suwannachote S. Heterogenous treatment for anti-NMDAR encephalitis in children leads to different outcomes 6–12 months after diagnosis. J Neuroimmunol. (2018) 324:119–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.09.007
- de Bruijn MAAM, Aarsen FK, van Oosterhout MP, van der Knoop MM, Catsman-Berrevoets CE, Schreurs MWJ, et al. Long-term neuropsychological outcome following pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Neurology.* (2018) 90:e1997–2005. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000005605
- Matricardi S, Patrini M, Freri E, Ragona F, Andreetta F, Narcoddi N, et al. Cognitive and neuropsychological evolution in children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. J Neurol. (2016) 263:765–71. doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8056-9
- McKeon GL, Robinson GA, Ryan AE, Blum S, Gillis D, Finke C, et al. Cognitive outcomes following anti-N-methyl- D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: a systematic review. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. (2018) 40:234– 52. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2017.1329408
- McKeon GL, Scott JG, Spooner DM, Ryan AE, Blum S, Gillis D. Cognitive and social functioning deficits after anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: an exploratory case series. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc.* (2016) 22:828– 38. doi: 10.1017/S1355617716000679

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhang, Li, Zhou, Zhou, Yang, Yu, Wang, Wang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Analysis of Clinical Characteristics and Poor Prognostic Predictors in Patients With an Initial Diagnosis of Autoimmune Encephalitis

Xiaowei Qiu^{1,2†}, Haiqing Zhang^{3†}, Dongxu Li^{1,2}, Jing Wang⁴, Zhigang Jiang⁵, Yuanzhong Zhou⁵, Ping Xu¹, Jun Zhang¹, Zhanhui Feng⁶, Changyin Yu^{1,2*} and Zucai Xu^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Neurology, Affiliated Hospital of Zunyi Medical University, Guizhou, China, ² Key Laboratory of Brain Science, Zunyi Medical University, Guizhou, China, ³ Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ⁴ Department of Preventive Health Care, Affiliated Hospital of Zunyi Medical University, Guizhou, China, ⁵ School of Public Health, Zunyi Medical University, Guizhou, China, ⁶ Department of Neurology, Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University, Guizhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patrick Kwan, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Edgar Carnero Contentti, Hospital Alemán, Argentina Ricardo Constantino Ginestal, Hospital Clínico San Carlos, Spain

*Correspondence:

Changyin Yu yuchangyin68@163.com Zucai Xu docxzc@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 10 October 2018 Accepted: 20 May 2019 Published: 07 June 2019

Citation:

Qiu X, Zhang H, Li D, Wang J, Jiang Z, Zhou Y, Xu P, Zhang J, Feng Z, Yu C and Xu Z (2019) Analysis of Clinical Characteristics and Poor Prognostic Predictors in Patients With an Initial Diagnosis of Autoimmune Encephalitis. Front. Immunol. 10:1286. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01286 **Purpose:** We aimed to retrospectively analyze the clinical features, laboratory and imaging results, and predictors of poor prognosis for patients with an initial diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis (AE) at the Affiliated Hospital of Zunyi Medical University.

Methods: Fifty patients with an initial diagnosis of AE who were admitted to our hospital from May 2014 to May 2018 were enrolled retrospectively. Clinical characteristics and experimental test data, including the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), were collected from medical records within 24 h of admission. Independent prognostic factors were determined by multivariate logistic regression analysis. A good or poor prognosis for patients was defined based on the modified Rankin Scale (mRS). The correlation between the immunotherapy latency and prognostic mRS score was determined using the Spearman rank correlation test.

Results: Univariate analysis indicated that increased NLR (P = 0.001), decreased lymphocyte counts (P = 0.001), low serum albumin (P = 0.017), consciousness disorders (P = 0.001), epileptic seizures (P = 0.007), extrapyramidal symptoms (P = 0.042), abnormal electroencephalogram (EEG) findings (P = 0.001), abnormal brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings (P = 0.003), and pulmonary infection complications (P = 0.000) were associated with the poor prognosis of AE. Multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that NLR (odds ratio [OR] 2.169, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.029–4.570; P < 0.05) was an independent risk factor for predicting the poor prognosis of AE. NLR > 4.45 was suggested as the cut-off threshold for predicting the adverse outcomes of AE. In addition, we revealed that there was a positive correlation between immunotherapy latency and mRS score ($r_s = 0.535$, P < 0.05).

Conclusions: NLR may have predictive value for the poor outcomes of AE. Early initiation of immunotherapy is associated with a good prognosis.

Keywords: autoimmune encephalitis, predictor, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, immunotherapy, modified Rankin Scale, prognosis

88

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune encephalitis (AE) is a severe inflammatory disorder of the brain that is mediated by autoimmune mechanisms and characterized by prominent neuropsychiatric symptoms. AE, which is thought to be associated with antibodies against neuronal cell-surface proteins, ion channels, or receptors (1), accounts for about 20% of all adult encephalitis cases (2). Typical clinical manifestations include epileptic seizures, psychiatric and behavioral disorders, decreased levels of consciousness, memory and cognitive impairment, extrapyramidal symptoms, and central hypoventilation (3, 4). Since the discovery of anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (anti-NMDAR) antibodies by Dalmau et al. (5), more than a dozen new types of autoantibodies have been identified (6). Anti-NMDAR encephalitis is the most common type of AE, followed by anti-leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1 (anti-LGI1) encephalitis (7) and anti-yaminobutyric acid B receptor (anti-GABA_BR) encephalitis. Other types of antibodies include anti-contactin-associated proteinlike 2 (anti-CASPR2) antibody and anti-a-amino-3-hydroxy-5methyl-4-isoxazole propionate receptor (anti-AMPAR) antibody. The presence of corresponding autoantibodies contributes to diagnosis; however, because existing criteria for AE rely on antibody testing and the response to immunotherapy, delays in diagnosis, and missed diagnosis of antibody-negative patients can occur (8). A clinical approach to the diagnosis of AE was put forward jointly by international experts, providing a basis for the early diagnosis of this disease (8). In addition, AE is a severe neurological disorder that is characterized by complicated clinical manifestations and frequent complications. Some cases are associated with tumors. Immunotherapy, intensive care unit (ICU) support, and multidisciplinary treatments can be combined to mitigate the disease (9). At present, the efficacy of immunotherapy and factors that affect patients' poor prognosis have not been determined. Thus, research on the prognostic factors of AE has great clinical and social significance.

AE is recognized as a chronic autoimmune disease characterized by the presence of antigen-specific antibodies in serum and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) resulting from dysfunction of the immune system regulation and persistent inflammation (10). The neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) is a commonly used and very significant systemic inflammation biomarker. NLR is calculated as the absolute count of neutrophils divided by the absolute count of lymphocytes (11). Moreover, NLR has been suggested as a marker for the general immune response to various stress stimuli. Prior studies have shown that increased NLR is a prognostic marker in patients with various cancers, including pancreatic cancer, lung cancer, gastric cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, prostate cancer, and malignant mesothelioma (12-16). In addition, several reports have demonstrated that altered NLR has prognostic value in diabetes mellitus, hypertension, acute myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral arterial disease, and chronic kidney disease (17-20). Recent studies have also shown that an abnormal NLR level is associated with some autoimmune diseases (21, 22). However, to our knowledge, the relationship between NLR and AE has not been studied so far. Therefore, in this study, we evaluated the association between NLR and prognosis in AE patients and whether NLR is an independent risk factor for predicting the poor prognosis of AE.

METHODS

Research Subjects

This retrospective study complied with the recommendations of the Ethics Committee of Affiliated Hospital of Zunyi Medical University. The protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Affiliated Hospital of Zunvi Medical University. All patients or their relatives were informed of the study and signed written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. We reviewed all the medical records of patients with an initial diagnosis of AE admitted to the Department of Neurology, Affiliated Hospital of Zunyi Medical University, from May 2014 to May 2018. We reassessed the diagnosis basis and followed up with patients by telephone every 3 months after discharge. The inclusion criteria were based on the clinical diagnostic criteria for AE suggested by Mittal and Graus in 2016. Patients were categorized as "definite," "probable," or "possible" according to the adapted criteria (8). The diagnostic criteria for the "definite" group were the detection of antibodies against neuronal membrane or synaptic proteins in CSF and/or serum. Autoantibody-negative but "probable" AE did not meet the diagnostic criteria of the "definite" group but fulfilled all four other criteria supporting AE. Correspondingly, the following exclusion criteria were considered: other acute neurological diseases found during follow-up; not meeting the clinical diagnostic criteria for AE; loss to follow-up; other autoimmune diseases; and incomplete clinical data.

Data Collection

The following basic clinical data were collected: age at onset, sex, clinical manifestations, interval from onset to admission, immunotherapy latency (the time interval from onset to the initiation of immunotherapy), prodromal symptoms, pulmonary infection complications, treatment methods, and hospital stay. In addition, cranial magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings, electroencephalogram (EEG) data, laboratory tests, CSF examination (pressure, white blood cell [WBC] counts, and protein, glucose and chloride levels), and autoantibody tests of serum and CSF were reviewed from medical records and electronic databases. The laboratory tests included the following: WBC counts, neutrophil counts, lymphocyte counts, platelet counts, NLR, and the levels of hemoglobin, sodium (Na), potassium (K), chlorine (Cl), calcium (Ca), and albumin. These experimental examinations were recorded within 24 h of admission. NLR was defined as a simple ratio between the absolute neutrophil count and the absolute lymphocyte count. Laboratory tests except NLR were divided into low, normal, and high values based on reference intervals.

Based on previous reports on AE (3), the main symptoms were divided into the following categories: consciousness disorders; epileptic seizures; mental and psychiatric and behavior disorders; and extrapyramidal symptoms. The inflammatory CSF needed to meet at least 2 of the following criteria: an increase in



the number of CSF cells (\geq 5 leukocytes/mm³), an increase in the rate of immunoglobulin G (IgG) synthesis, or the appearance of CSF-specific oligoclonal bands. Supportive cranial MRI included T2-weighted fluid-attenuated inversion recovery (FLAIR) hyperintensity on one or both sides of the mesial temporal lobes, multiple inflammatory lesions, or demyelination involving gray and white matter. Supportive EEG included abnormal slow-wave activity and epileptiform discharges (8). Patient serum and CSF samples were simultaneously obtained and sent to Beijing Kindstar Global Company for testing.

Disease Prognosis Evaluation

The modified Rankin Scale (mRS) was used to evaluate neurological function at the time of admission, at discharge from the hospital, and during the follow-up period. The mRS score includes 6 categories (23, 24): if patients had a full recovery (mRS 0 point); if patients had no significant functional impairment and were able to complete all daily duties and activity despite some symptoms (mRS 1 point); if patients had mild-moderate disability and were unable to complete all previous activities but could independently take care of their own affairs (mRS 2-3 points); if patients had severe disability and required others to take care of them (mRS 4 points); if patients had severe disability and required intensive care (mRS 5 points); and death (mRS 6 points). According to the mRS during the follow-up period, we divided all patients into two groups: patients with an mRS score of 0-1 were defined as "good prognosis"; patients with an mRS score of 2-6 were defined as "poor prognosis."

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS statistical software (version 22.0). Measurement data were presented in the

form of "mean \pm standard deviation" and/or "median (range)," whereas count data were presented as number (percentage). Univariate analysis was performed to compare the differences between the two groups. Independent Student's *t*-test was used for normally distributed variables, while the Mann-Whitney test was used for non-normally distributed variables. Categorical variables were compared using the chi-squared test. Logistic regression analysis was performed to determine the independent predictors of poor prognosis. The correlation between the immunotherapy latency and prognostic mRS score was determined using the Spearman rank correlation test. The optimal cutoff value for the NLR to serve as a prognostic marker for AE was determined from receiver operating curve (ROC) analysis. *P*-values < 0.05 (two-sided) were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patient Profile

The search of the electronic database resulted in 225 potential encephalitis cases. A total of 50 patients with AE were included in the study (**Figure 1** provides the flowchart of patient selection). Nine cases with positive antibodies were considered "definite AE," including 7 patients positive for anti-NMDAR antibody, 1 patient positive for anti-GABA_BR antibody, and 1 patient positive for anti-AMPAR antibody. Sixteen cases negative for antibodies were considered "probable AE," and 25 cases were categorized as "possible AE." All patients showed acute or subacute onset, and 33 (66%) exhibited prodromal symptoms such as headache and other clinical symptoms. The average time from onset to admission was 10 days. Thirty-nine patients (78%)

were initially misdiagnosed with viral encephalitis, psychosis, cerebrovascular disease, or other diseases. Among these patients, 2 had lung tumors, 1 had thymoma, and 1 had multiple myeloma. During the entire course of the disease, 19 patients (38%) developed fever, 9 patients (18%) had central hypoventilation, 13 patients (26%) had pulmonary infection complications, and 4 (8%) had been treated in the ICU. One patient died of small cell lung cancer during follow-up. The clinical characteristics and demographic information of the subjects are summarized in **Table 1**.

Auxiliary Examinations

The brain MRI, EEG, and CSF results of all patients were available. EEG findings were abnormal in 33 patients (66%), including 10 patients with epileptiform discharges (such as spike waves, sharp waves, spike slow wave complex, or sharp slow wave complex), 22 patients with unilateral or bilateral nonspecific slow waves, and 1 patient with δ brushes. Brain MRI findings showed that the lesions were located in the frontal lobes, temporal lobes, parietal lobes, occipital lobes, insular lobes, hippocampus, basal ganglia, thalamus, cerebellum, cortex, and white matter. Twenty-one patients (42%) had specific T2-signal hyperintensities. These affected brain regions mainly included the medial temporal lobes, frontal and parietal lobes, and/or subcortical regions. Non-specific changes/demyelinating lesions were present in 13 patients (26%), whereas 16 patients had no abnormalities (32%). CSF findings revealed that 21 patients (42%) displayed pleocytosis, and 29 patients (58%) had high concentrations of total protein.

Treatment and Outcome

Twenty (40%) patients received immunotherapy, including eight patients with methylprednisolone (intravenous infusion, 1 g/day; 5 days); two patients with immunoglobulin (intravenous infusions, 0.4 g/kg; 5 days); nine patients with a combination treatment of IVIg and intravenous methylprednisolone; and one patient with a combination therapy of plasma exchange, IVIg, and intravenous methylprednisolone. None of our patients received second-line therapy (rituximab, cyclophosphamide, or other) due to medical insurance restrictions or drug side effects. The median follow-up time was 11 months (8-27 months). At the end of the follow-up period, 33 patients (66%) attained a good prognosis, whereas 17 patients (34%) had poor prognosis. Among all patients, 33 patients (66%) had mRS scores of 0 or 1. Meanwhile, 8 patients (16%) had mRS scores of 2, and 4 patients (8%) had mRS scores of 3. Additionally, 2 patients (4%) reached 4 points, and 2 patients (4%) received 5 points. Unfortunately, 1 patient (2%) died by the end of the study (mRS 6). Three patients relapsed during follow-up. Two patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis also achieved a good prognosis without immunotherapy.

Predictors of Prognosis

Univariate analysis indicated that there were significant differences between the good and poor outcome groups in laboratory values, including the NLR (P = 0.001), lymphocyte counts (P = 0.001), and albumin (P = 0.017). We found

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the study population (n = 50).

Characteristics	Patients (%)
Sex (male/female)	31/19
Age mean, range (years)	39,14–74
Prodromal symptoms	33 (66%)
Interval between onset and Hospitalization mean, range (days)	10,1–60
Fever	19 (38%)
Initial symptoms	
Consciousness disorders	8 (16%)
Epileptic seizures	16 (32%)
Psychiatric and behavior disorders	19 (38%)
Extrapyramidal symptoms	3 (6%)
Other	4 (8%)
Consciousness disorders	25 (50%)
Epileptic seizures	25 (50%)
Psychiatric and behavior disorders	34 (68%)
Extrapyramidal symptoms	17 (34%)
Speech disturbances	5 (10%)
Memory deficits	7 (14%)
Autonomic dysfunction	1 (2%)
Mechanical ventilation	9 (18%)
Abnormal EEG results	33 (66%)
Abnormal brain MRI results	21 (42%)
Increased CSF pressure	9 (18%)
Increased CSF protein	29 (58%)
Increased CSF WBC counts	21 (42%)
Neutrophil count (10 ⁹ /L) (median IQR)	5.30 (3.73–8.20
Lymphocyte count (10 ⁹ /L) (median IQR)	1.66 (1.14–2.03
NLR (median IQR)	3.72 (2.16–5.56
Pulmonary infection complications	13 (26%)
Tumor	4 (8%)
Immunotherapy	20 (40%)
Average hospital stay, range (days)	22.5, 5–99

IQR, interquartile range; EEG, electroencephalogram; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; CSF, cerebral spinal fluid; NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio.

that the median NLR was significantly higher in the poor prognosis group than in the good prognosis group. In addition, consciousness disorders (P = 0.001), epileptic seizures (P = 0.007), extrapyramidal symptoms (P = 0.042), abnormal EEG findings (P = 0.001), abnormal MRI findings (P = 0.003), and pulmonary infection complications (P = 0.000) were associated with worse prognosis of AE (**Table 2**).

All factors with a *P*-value < 0.20 in **Table 2** were included in a multivariate logistic regression model. Multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that NLR (odds ratio [OR] 2.169, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.029–4.570; *P* < 0.05) was an independent risk factor associated with poor prognosis of AE (**Table 3**). ROC analysis of NLR to predict poor prognosis of AE showed that the area under the curve was 0.866 (95% CI, 0.759–0.974; *P* < 0.001). Based on the ROC curve, the optimal cutoff value was 4.45 (sensitivity, 0.824; specificity, 0.879; shown in **Table 4** and **Figure 2**).

TABLE 2 | Univariate analysis of prognostic factors associated with AE.

Variables	Good prognosis (n = 33)	Poor prognosis $(n = 17)$	P-value
Age (years),	39.06 ± 17.74	38.06 ± 19.33	0.855
(mean \pm SD)			
Sex			
Male	19 (57.6%)	12 (70.6%)	0.369
Female	14 (42.4%)	5 (29.4%)	
Duration from onset	to admission		
≤2 wk	26 (78.8%)	13 (76.5%)	0.851
>2 wk	7 (21.2%)	4 (23.5%)	
Fever			
$\leq 37.5^{\circ}C$	21 (63.6%)	10 (58.8%)	0.740
>37.5°C	12 (36.4%)	7 (41.2%)	
Consciousness disor	ders		
Yes	11 (33.3%)	14 (82.4%)	0.001
No	22 (66.7%)	3 (17.6%)	
Epileptic seizures			
Yes	12 (36.4%)	13 (76.5%)	0.007
No	21 (63.6%)	4 (23.5%)	
Psychiatric and beha	vior disorders		
Yes	22 (66.7%)	12 (70.6%)	0.778
No	11 (33.3%)	5 (29.4%)	
Extrapyramidal symp	otoms	. ,	
Yes	8 (24.2%)	9 (52.9%)	0.042
No	25 (75.8%)	8 (47.1%)	
Brain MRI results		- (
Abnormal	9 (27.3%)	12 (70.6%)	0.003
Normal	24 (72.7%)	5 (29.4%)	
EEG results	_ (, . , . ,	- ()	
Abnormal	17 (48.5%)	16 (94.1%)	0.001
Normal	16 (51.5%)	1 (5.9%)	
CSF pressure, mmH ₂		. (0.070)	
≥230	5 (15.2%)	4 (23.5%)	0.465
<230	28 (84.8%)	13 (76.5%)	0.100
CSF WBC count	20 (04.070)	10 (10.070)	
Normal	19 (57.6%)	10 (58.8%)	0.933
High	14 (42.4%)	7 (41.2%)	0.000
CSF protein level, mg		7 (41.270)	
≤400	13 (39.4%)	8 (47.1%)	0.603
>400	20 (60.6%)	9 (52.9%)	0.000
	20 (00.070)	3 (32.370)	
CSF glucose level	1 (3.0%)	1 (5.9%)	0.655
Normal	27 (81.8%)	12 (70.6%)	0.000
High	5 (15.2%)	4 (23.5%)	
CSF chloride level	1 (9 00/)	1 /5 00/)	0.000
Low	1 (3.0%)	1 (5.9%)	0.830
Normal	29 (87.9%)	15 (88.2%)	
High	3 (9.1%)	1 (5.9%)	
Blood potassium leve		E (00 401)	0.005
Low	5 (15.2%)	5 (29.4%)	0.232
Normal	28 (84.8%)	12 (70.6%)	

Variables	Good prognosis (n = 33)	Poor prognosis $(n = 17)$	P-value
Blood sodium level			
Low	6 (18.2%)	5 (29.4%)	0.221
Normal	27 (81.8%)	11 (64.7%)	
High	0 (0.0%)	1 (5.9%)	
Blood chlorine level			
Low	2 (6.1%)	2 (11.8%)	0.277
Normal	31 (93.9%)	14 (82.4%)	
High	0 (0%)	1 (5.9%)	
Blood calcium level			
Low	12 (36.4%)	8 (47.1%)	0.465
Normal	21 (63.6%)	9 (52.9%)	
Albumin			
Low	18 (54.5%)	15 (88.2%)	0.017
Normal	15 (45.5%)	3 (11.8%)	
WBC count			
Normal	26 (78.8%)	12 (70.6%)	0.520
High	7 (21.2%)	5 (29.4%)	
Neutrophil count			
Normal	24 (72.7%)	9 (52.9%)	0.162
High	9 (27.3%)	8 (47.1%)	
Lymphocyte count			
Low	2 (6.1%)	8 (47.1%)	0.001
Normal	31 (93.9%)	9 (52.9%)	
Hemoglobin			
Low	10 (30.3%)	7 (41.2%)	0.603
Normal	22 (66.7%)	10 (58.8%)	
High	1 (3.0%)	0 (0%)	
Platelet count			
Low	1 (3%)	2 (11.8%)	0.203
Normal	22 (66.7%)	13 (76.5%)	
High	10 (30.3%)	2 (11.8%)	
NLR (median IQR)	2.92 (1.87-4.01)	5.60(4.56-11.49)	0.001
Mechanical ventilation			
Yes	4 (12.1%)	5 (29.4%)	0.236
No	29 (87.9%)	12 (70.6%)	
Pulmonary infection co	mplications		
Yes	3 (9.1%)	10 (58.8%)	0.000
No	30 (90.9%)	7 (41.2%)	

AE, autoimmune encephalitis; SD, standard deviation; IOR, interquartile range; EEG, electroencephalogram; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; CSF, cerebral spinal fluid; WBC, white blood cell; NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio. Reference interval: CSF WBC count: $0-5 \times 10^6/L$; CSF protein level, 200-400 mg/L; CSF glucose level, 2.5-4.4 mmol/L; CSF chloride level, 120–130 mmol/L; blood potassium level, 3.5–5.3 mmol/L; blood sodium level, 137–147 mmol/L; blood chlorine level, 99–110 mmol/L; blood calcium level, 2.20–2.65 mmol/L; albumin, 40–55 g/L; WBC count, 3.5–10 $\times 10^9/L$; neutrophil count, 1.1–3.2 $\times 10^9/L$; hemoglobin, 115–150 g/L; platelet count, 101–320 $\times 10^9/L$. P values < 0.05 are considered statistically significant.

The Spearman rank correlation test was performed to analyze the correlation between the immunotherapy latency and prognostic mRS scores of 20 patients who received

Variables	OR	95% CI	P-value
Consciousness disorders	11.995	0.173-833.456	0.251
Epileptic seizures	1.003	0.31-32.757	0.999
Extrapyramidal symptoms	10.157	0.529-195.094	0.124
EEG results	18.206	0.209–1586.043	0.203
Brain MRI results	1.189	0.53-26.628	0.913
Pulmonary infection complications	1.071	0.029-40.049	0.970
Albumin	1.792	0.100-32.115	0.692
Neutrophil count	0.089	0.002-3.640	0.201
Lymphocyte count	6.918	0.059-812.704	0.426
NLR	2.169	1.029-4.570	0.042

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; EEG, electroencephalogram; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio.

Prediction	AUC	95% CI	Р
NLR	0.866	0.759–0.974	<0.001

NLR, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio; AUC, area under the curve; CI, confidence interval.



immunotherapy. There was a positive correlation between the immunotherapy latency and mRS score ($r_s = 0.535$, P < 0.05; Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we retrospectively analyzed patients with an initial diagnosis of AE. We focused on clinical features, laboratory



and imaging examinations, and EEG findings; moreover, we evaluated which factors are related to a poor prognosis. This study revealed that an increase in NLR was an independent risk factor for predicting the poor prognosis of AE. Prior to our study, the role of NLR in AE had not been examined, and this study presented a novel finding to predict the poor prognosis of AE.

AE is an increasingly recognized immune-mediated brain disease (10). This disease includes a heterogeneous group of encephalitic syndromes, which is divided into the following categories: new-type AE associated with antibodies to neural surface antigens and classic paraneoplastic limbic encephalitis (LE) associated with onconeural antibodies against intracellular antigens (25). It is reported that cases with surface antigen antibodies present a different immune reaction than that of cases with intracellular antigen antibodies. T cells are thought to play a cytotoxic role in cases with intracellular antigen antibodies (26), whereas antibody and/or complement-mediated mechanisms are considered to be responsible for neurodegeneration in encephalitis with surface antigen antibodies (10). Chronic inflammation, which is triggered by the overproduction of autoantibodies, inflammatory cytokine release, and deposition of the immune complex, plays an important role in the disease development process of AE (25). Abnormal immune regulation and persistent inflammation are critical pathological manifestations in the disease development process of AE.

NLR has been suggested as an indicator of systemic inflammation (11, 27). Compared with independent neutrophils, lymphocytes, and total white blood cell counts, NLR is less affected by various physiological and pathological conditions. NLR is an inexpensive, easily measurable, and widely available blood test affected by both innate immune response (mediated by neutrophils) and adaptive immune response (mediated by lymphocytes) (20). Changes in NLR may reflect the shifting balance between inflammatory activity and immune activity

(28). Inflammation is a response to acute or chronic tissue damage caused by infection, ischemic injury, physical injury, and other types of trauma. When these conditions occur, the immune system will lead neutrophils, lymphocytes and other inflammatory cells to accumulate in the site of damage (14). Under inflammatory conditions, neutrophil and lymphocyte counts present temporary changes. High levels of neutrophil infiltration may result from cytotoxicity in response to changes in the balance of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines (29). The reason why NLR can predict prognosis may be summarized in two aspects: neutrophils are associated with a much quicker response, while lymphocytes are involved with more adaptive, chronic responses of the immune system (30). In the process of inflammation and immunity, neutrophils can destroy tissue directly by producing the enzyme myeloperoxidase and free radicals, and regulating the activity of other cell types (31). Moreover, some treatments such as immunotherapy can cause changes in NLR. Therefore, the routine blood results in our study were recorded within 24h of admission to avoid interference from immunotherapy.

As an indicator of systemic inflammation, NLR has been frequently used to predict outcomes in many diseases. Prior studies have shown that altered NLR is related to decreased overall survival (OS) in various cancers. For example, Ma et al. detected that NLR is a significant predictor for recurrence in stage III melanoma patients (32). Shimada et al. suggested a high preoperative NLR as a biomarker to identify patients with a poor prognosis after resection for primary gastric cancer (33). Azab et al. found that NLR level >3.3 is an independent significant predictor of mortality in patients with breast cancer (34). Some studies have also reported that increased NLR is associated with higher rates of mortality in patients with acute heart failure or acute coronary syndrome (31, 35). In addition, a high NLR is also associated with a risk of death in critically ill patients, including patients with severe sepsis or septic shock (27, 36). Kim et al. demonstrated that NLR is a stronger independent predictor of postoperative acute kidney injury (AKI) (37). Another retrospective study of prognostic factors in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) suggested that a high NLR (>14) independently predicts a poor prognosis in patients with ARDS (38). Based on recent studies, NLR is increased in patients with autoimmune diseases. In a previous study on the relationship between NLR and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), a high NLR was independently associated with SLE (39). In a meta-analysis on the relationship between hematological indices and autoimmune rheumatic diseases (ARDs), including ankylosing spondylitis (AS), Behçet's disease (BD), and rheumatoid arthritis (RA), NLR was recommended as a diagnostic biomarker for ARDs (22). Our study results extended previous reports on the prognostic role of NLR.

In fact, in clinical work, antibody-positive AEs are the minority, while most AEs are probable AEs or possible AEs. Several previous studies on prognostic factors of AE also evaluated different AEs, including "definite" and "probable" AE cases, in the same study (2, 40). In our study, among patients who received antibody testing, the proportion of patients with a definite diagnosis of AE (36%) was in the range

reported in the literature (2, 40, 41). AE can appear as several different syndromes, classically presenting with decreased levels of consciousness (symptoms progress over a period of days or weeks) that eventually develops into coma (42). Extrapyramidal symptoms, such as dystonic seizures, chorea, or abnormal posture of the limbs, occur with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. In adults with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, facial, and limb writhing movements may be most notable in the comatose phases of the disease (43). In our data, 71% (5/7) of patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis developed extrapyramidal symptoms. Seizures are common in AE and may occur at any stage of the disease, and studies have revealed that status epilepticus can predict a poor outcome for encephalitis (44, 45). Several studies on the death factors of encephalitis in the ICU have shown that status epilepticus, central hypoventilation, and complications (such as multiple organ dysfunction or severe pulmonary infection) are predictors of poor prognosis of encephalitis (44, 46, 47). However, in our study, consciousness disorders, epileptic seizures, extrapyramidal symptoms, and pulmonary infection complications were associated with adverse outcomes but were not independent predictors of poor prognosis. This result may be attributed to the following reason. With the development of diagnostic techniques and the availability of effective treatments, the predictors of poor prognosis may change. For example, a retrospective study of anti-NMDAR encephalitis also found that disturbance of consciousness, central hypoventilation, and complications are not independent predictors of poor prognosis (48). Another French study reported that status epilepticus in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis is unrelated to poor prognosis (49). Our results were essentially consistent with the results of previous related studies.

Serum albumin has been suggested as a prognostic factor in various diseases, including Guillain-Barre syndrome (GBS) (50). Jang et al. reported that low albumin levels are a significant indicator of AE prognosis (51). In our study, low albumin was associated with poor prognosis in univariate analysis but not in multivariate logistic regression analysis. This result may be because albumin levels in patients with low albumin have been improved during hospitalization without affecting patients' prognosis.

In most cases of AE, brain MRI shows normal or only non-specific inflammation changes (52). Some abnormal cases may present with increased signal on T2-weighted images, especially in the medial temporal lobe. In our study, abnormal MRI findings were associated with poor prognosis of AE in univariate analysis. The reason for this finding may be related to the anatomy and physiological functions of the involved brain regions. Frontal and temporal lobe lesions can easily lead to psychiatric symptoms and secondary epilepsy seizures; parietal lobe lesions are susceptible to sensory disturbances, and basal ganglia lesions are prone to causing extrapyramidal symptoms or paralysis, among other nervous system sequelae. EEG often exhibits focal or diffuse slow-wave activity associated with one or more epileptic foci in all types of AE. In addition to what may be called an "extreme triangle brush" pattern in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, there are no characteristic EEG abnormalities for other forms of AE (53). However, in the acute

phase of encephalitis, aggravation of slow-wave activity is often accompanied by disturbance of consciousness, indicating that the injury is severe. Some studies have reported that EEG can predict prognosis in autoimmune or infective encephalitis, and normal EEG is a predictor of good prognosis (54). In our study, abnormal EEG was associated with poor prognosis of AE in univariate analysis. This study demonstrated that inflammatory changes in CSF are not related to prognosis. Although some patients with AE have moderately increased CSF lymphocytes, a lack of increase in cell numbers does not rule out this diagnosis (52). Most patients with AE have detectable neuronal autoantibodies in the CSF even if the CSF test is normal (8).

Immunotherapy for AE includes first-line therapy (steroids, IVIg, plasma exchange, or all) and second-line therapy (rituximab, cyclophosphamide, or other). Steroids are always the first option. Two weeks or more should be allowed for firstline therapies to work. If the patient remains very ill after firstline treatments, second-line therapy is typically administered (43). In the present study, early initiation of immunotherapy was associated with a good prognosis. Correspondingly, previous studies suggested that early immunotherapy improves the outcome of AE. A multi-institutional observational study of the prognosis of 577 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis showed a correlation between early immunotherapy and good prognosis, and it took more than 18 months for patients to recover (55). Another study suggested that patients who received immunotherapy within 40 days of onset had a better outcome than those who started immunotherapy after 40 days of onset (56). Our results were consistent with those of previous studies. Notably, not all patients with AE will respond to immunotherapy, but this does not mean that patients with AE cannot achieve a good outcome without immunotherapy. For example, in our study, two patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis also achieved a good prognosis without immunotherapy. Therefore, considering the response to immunotherapy as a part of the diagnostic criteria of AE is not unreasonable. The speed of recovery, degree of residual deficit, and frequency of relapse differ greatly in different types of AE (8).

There is no known laboratory marker that predicts the poor prognosis of AE. Our study is the first to investigate the prognostic value of NLR in patients with AE. NLR has the advantage of low economic cost, no damage, and convenience. However, our study has several limitations. First, the present study was a retrospective design, thus, controlling for confounding factors was difficult. Prospective validation of NLR is required. Second, this study was conducted in a single

REFERENCES

- Lancaster E, Dalmau J. Neuronal autoantigens-pathogenesis, associated disorders and antibody testing. *Nat Rev.* (2012) 8:380–90. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2012.99
- Harutyunyan G, Hauer L, Dunser MW, Moser T, Pikija S, Leitinger M, et al. Risk factors for intensive care unit admission in patients with autoimmune encephalitis. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:835. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00835

institution, and the sample size of this study was small. Third, other inflammatory biomarkers, such as C-reactive protein (CRP), were not investigated, and the relationship between NLR and other inflammatory biomarkers could not be evaluated. Finally, there is still no consensus on the cutoff values to define the levels of NLR. The optimal cutoff value found in our study was 4.45, which is different from the values used in prior studies. The difference in cutoff points may be due to differences in the study population.

In conclusion, our study found that NLR may have predictive value for the poor outcomes of AE. Prospective validation of NLR is required. In addition, we revealed that early initiation of immunotherapy was associated with a good prognosis.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethical guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XQ, HZ, CY, and ZX contributed to the conception and design of the work. XQ, HZ, and DL contributed to the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the data. HZ, DL, JW, PX, and JZ prepared figures and tables. XQ and HZ contributed to drafting the manuscript. XQ, ZJ, YZ, and CY contributed to statistical analysis. XQ, HZ, ZF, and ZX discussed the results. XQ and ZX revised the manuscript. XQ and HZ contributed equally and share first authorship.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No: 81660227 and 81560224), the Guizhou Provincial Science and Technology Foundation (No: [2015] 7471), and the Zunyi City Science and Technology Foundation (No: [2018] 64).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are sincerely grateful for the support of the Department of Neurology, Affiliated Hospital of Zunyi Medical University. In addition, we thank all of the subjects who participated in this study.

5. Dalmau J, Tuzun E, Wu HY, Masjuan J, Rossi JE, Voloschin A, et al. Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated

Lim M, Hacohen Y, Vincent A. Autoimmune encephalopathies. *Pediatr Clin* NAm. (2015) 62:667–85. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2015.03.011

Granerod J, Ambrose HE, Davies NW, Clewley JP, Walsh AL, Morgan D, et al. Causes of encephalitis and differences in their clinical presentations in England: a multicentre, population-based prospective study. *Lancet.* (2010) 10:835–44. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70222-X

with ovarian teratoma. Ann Neurol. (2007) 61:25-36. doi: 10.1002/ana. 21050

- Graus F, Dalmau J. CNS autoimmunity: new findings and pending issues. Lancet. (2012) 11:17-9. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(11)70280-0
- van Sonderen A, Petit-Pedrol M, Dalmau J, Titulaer MJ. The value of LGI1, Caspr2 and voltage-gated potassium channel antibodies in encephalitis. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2017) 13:290–301. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2017.43
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Mittal MK, Rabinstein AA, Hocker SE, Pittock SJ, Wijdicks EF, McKeon A. Autoimmune encephalitis in the ICU: analysis of phenotypes, serologic findings, and outcomes. *Neurocritic Care.* (2016) 24:240–50. doi: 10.1007/s12028-015-0196-8
- Bien CG, Vincent A, Barnett MH, Becker AJ, Blumcke I, Graus F, et al. Immunopathology of autoantibody-associated encephalitides: clues for pathogenesis. *Brain J Neurol.* (2012) 135:1622–38. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws082
- 11. Zahorec R. Ratio of neutrophil to lymphocyte counts-rapid and simple parameter of systemic inflammation and stress in critically ill. *Bratislavske Lekarske Listy*. (2001) 102:5–14.
- Xiao Y, Xie Z, Shao Z, Chen W, Xie H, Qin G, et al. Neutrophil and lymphocyte counts at diagnosis are associated with overall survival of pancreatic cancer: a retrospective cohort study. *Medicine*. (2016) 95:e5024. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000005024
- Feng F, Sun L, Zheng G, Liu S, Liu Z, Xu G, et al. Low lymphocyteto-white blood cell ratio and high monocyte-to-white blood cell ratio predict poor prognosis in gastric cancer. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:5281–91. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14136
- Wang L, Liang D, Xu X, Jin J, Li S, Tian G, et al. The prognostic value of neutrophil to lymphocyte and platelet to lymphocyte ratios for patients with lung cancer. *Oncol Lett.* (2017) 14:6449–56. doi: 10.3892/ol.2017.7047
- Okamura Y, Sugiura T, Ito T, Yamamoto Y, Ashida R, Mori K, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio as an indicator of the malignant behaviour of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Br J Surg.* (2016) 103:891–8. doi: 10.1002/bjs.10123
- Tural Onur S, Sokucu SN, Dalar L, Iliaz S, Kara K, Buyukkale S, et al. Are neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio and platelet/lymphocyte ratio reliable parameters as prognostic indicators in malignant mesothelioma? *Ther Clin Risk Manage*. (2016) 12:651–6. doi: 10.2147/TCRM.S104077
- Meng LB, Yu ZM, Guo P, Wang QQ, Qi RM, Shan MJ, et al. Neutrophils and neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio: Inflammatory markers associated with intimal-media thickness of atherosclerosis. *Thrombosis Res.* (2018) 170:45–52. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2018.08.002
- Demirkol S, Balta S, Unlu M, Arslan Z, Cakar M, Kucuk U, et al. Neutrophils/lymphocytes ratio in patients with cardiac syndrome X and its association with carotid intima-media thickness. *Clin Appl Thrombosis/Hemostasis*. (2014) 20:250–5. doi: 10.1177/1076029612467227
- Pichler M, Hutterer GC, Stoeckigt C, Chromecki TF, Stojakovic T, Golbeck S, et al. Validation of the pre-treatment neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic factor in a large European cohort of renal cell carcinoma patients. *Br J Cancer*. (2013) 108:901–7. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.28
- Sawant AC, Adhikari P, Narra SR, Srivatsa SS, Mills PK, Srivatsa SS. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio predicts short- and long-term mortality following revascularization therapy for ST elevation myocardial infarction. *Cardiol J.* (2014) 21:500–8. doi: 10.5603/CJ.a2013.0148
- Hu ZD, Sun Y, Guo J, Huang YL, Qin BD, Gao Q, et al. Red blood cell distribution width and neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio are positively correlated with disease activity in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Clin Biochem*. (2014) 47:287–90. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2014.08.022
- Hao X, Li D, Wu D, Zhang N. The relationship between hematological indices and autoimmune rheumatic diseases (ARDs), a meta-analysis. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:10833. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-11398-4
- van Swieten JC, Koudstaal PJ, Visser MC, Schouten HJ, van Gijn J. Interobserver agreement for the assessment of handicap in stroke patients. *Stroke*. (1988) 19:604–7. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.19.5.604
- Lim JA, Lee ST, Jung KH, Kim S, Shin JW, Moon J, et al. Anti-Nmethyl-d-aspartate receptor encephalitis in Korea: clinical features, treatment, and outcome. *J Clin Neurol.* (2014) 10:157–61. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2014. 10.2.157

- Dalmau J, Rosenfeld MR. Autoimmune encephalitis update. *Neuro-oncology*. (2014) 16:771–8. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nou030
- Graus F, Saiz A, Dalmau J. Antibodies and neuronal autoimmune disorders of the CNS. J Neurol. (2010) 257:509–17. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-5431-9
- Salciccioli JD, Marshall DC, Pimentel MA, Santos MD, Pollard T, Celi LA, et al. The association between the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and mortality in critical illness: an observational cohort study. *Critic Care*. (2015) 19:13. doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0731-6
- Yang HJ, Guo Z, Yang YT, Jiang JH, Qi YP, Li JJ, et al. Blood neutrophillymphocyte ratio predicts survival after hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma: a propensity score-based analysis. World J Gastroenterol. (2016) 22:5088–95. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i21.5088
- Summers C, Singh NR, White JF, Mackenzie IM, Johnston A, Solanki C, et al. Pulmonary retention of primed neutrophils: a novel protective host response, which is impaired in the acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Thorax.* (2014) 69:623–9. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-204742
- Dunn GP, Okada H. Principles of immunology and its nuances in the central nervous system. *Neuro-oncology*. (2015) 17(Suppl 7):vii3-vii8. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nov175
- Benites-Zapata VA, Hernandez AV, Nagarajan V, Cauthen CA, Starling RC, Tang WH. Usefulness of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in risk stratification of patients with advanced heart failure. *Am J Cardiol.* (2015) 115:57–61. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.10.008
- Ma J, Kuzman J, Ray A, Lawson BO, Khong B, Xuan S, et al. Neutrophil-tolymphocyte Ratio (NLR) as a predictor for recurrence in patients with stage III melanoma. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:4044. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-22425-3
- 33. Shimada H, Takiguchi N, Kainuma O, Soda H, Ikeda A, Cho A, et al. High preoperative neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio predicts poor survival in patients with gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer*. (2010) 13:170–6. doi: 10.1007/s10120-010-0554-3
- Azab B, Bhatt VR, Phookan J, Murukutla S, Kohn N, Terjanian T, et al. Usefulness of the neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in predicting short- and long-term mortality in breast cancer patients. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2012) 19:217– 24. doi: 10.1245/s10434-011-1814-0
- 35. Acet H, Ertas F, Bilik MZ, Akil MA, Ozyurtlu F, Aydin M, et al. The relationship between neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio, platelet to lymphocyte ratio and thrombolysis in myocardial infarction risk score in patients with ST elevation acute myocardial infarction before primary coronary intervention. *Adv Int Cardiol.* (2015) 11:126–35. doi: 10.5114/pwki.2015.52286
- Riche F, Gayat E, Barthelemy R, Le Dorze M, Mateo J, Payen D. Reversal of neutrophil-to-lymphocyte count ratio in early versus late death from septic shock. *Critic Care.* (2015) 19:439. doi: 10.1186/s13054-015-1144-x
- Kim WH, Park JY, Ok SH, Shin IW, Sohn JT. Association between the neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio and acute kidney injury after cardiovascular surgery: a retrospective observational study. *Medicine*. (2015) 94:e1867. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000001867
- Wang Y, Ju M, Chen C, Yang D, Hou D, Tang X, et al. Neutrophilto-lymphocyte ratio as a prognostic marker in acute respiratory distress syndrome patients: a retrospective study. *J Thoracic Dis.* (2018) 10:273–82. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.12.131
- Li L, Xia Y, Chen C, Cheng P, Peng C. Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in systemic lupus erythematosus disease: a retrospective study. *Int J Clin Exp Med.* (2015) 8:11026–31.
- Harutyunyan G, Hauer L, Dunser MW, Karamyan A, Moser T, Pikija S, et al. Autoimmune encephalitis at the neurological intensive care unit: etiologies, reasons for admission and survival. *Neurocritic Care*. (2017) 27:82– 9. doi: 10.1007/s12028-016-0370-7
- Hacohen Y, Wright S, Waters P, Agrawal S, Carr L, Cross H, et al. Paediatric autoimmune encephalopathies: clinical features, laboratory investigations and outcomes in patients with or without antibodies to known central nervous system autoantigens. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2013) 84:748– 55. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-303807
- Hoftberger R, Titulaer MJ, Sabater L, Dome B, Rozsas A, Hegedus B, et al. Encephalitis and GABAB receptor antibodies: novel findings in a new case series of 20 patients. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:1500–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a9585f
- Lancaster E. The diagnosis and treatment of autoimmune encephalitis. J Clin Neurol. (2016) 12:1–13. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2016.12.1.1

- Thakur KT, Motta M, Asemota AO, Kirsch HL, Benavides DR, Schneider EB, et al. Predictors of outcome in acute encephalitis. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:793–800. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a2cc6d
- Kalita J, Mani VE, Bhoi SK, Misra UK. Spectrum and outcome of acute infectious encephalitis/encephalopathy in an intensive care unit from India. QJM. (2017) 110:141–8. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcw132
- Venkatesan A. Epidemiology and outcomes of acute encephalitis. Curr Opin Neurol. (2015) 28:277–82. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000199
- Chi X, Wang W, Huang C, Wu M, Zhang L, Li J, et al. Risk factors for mortality in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2017) 136:298–304. doi: 10.1111/ane.12723
- Wang W, Li JM, Hu FY, Wang R, Hong Z, He L, et al. Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: clinical characteristics, predictors of outcome and the knowledge gap in southwest China. *Eur J Neurol.* (2016) 23:621–9. doi: 10.1111/ene. 12911
- 49. de Montmollin E, Demeret S, Brule N, Conrad M, Dailler F, Lerolle N, et al. Anti-N-Methyl-d-aspartate receptor encephalitis in adult patients requiring intensive care. *Am J Respir Critic Care Med.* (2017) 195:491–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201603-0507OC
- Fokkink WR, Walgaard C, Kuitwaard K, Tio-Gillen AP, van Doorn PA, Jacobs BC. Association of albumin levels with outcome in intravenous immunoglobulin-treated guillain-barre syndrome. *JAMA Neurol.* (2017) 74:189–96. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.4480
- Jang Y, Lee ST, Kim TJ, Jun JS, Moon J, Jung KH, et al. High albumin level is a predictor of favorable response to immunotherapy in autoimmune encephalitis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:1012. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19490-z
- Dalmau J, Graus F. Antibody-mediated encephalitis. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:840–51. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1708712

- Schmitt SE, Pargeon K, Frechette ES, Hirsch LJ, Dalmau J, Friedman D. Extreme delta brush: a unique EEG pattern in adults with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *Neurology*. (2012) 79:1094–100. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182698cd8
- Sutter R, Kaplan PW, Cervenka MC, Thakur KT, Asemota AO, Venkatesan A, et al. Electroencephalography for diagnosis and prognosis of acute encephalitis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2015) 126:1524–31. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.11.006
- Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangué T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1
- Irani SR, Bera K, Waters P, Zuliani L, Maxwell S, Zandi MS, et al. Nmethyl-D-aspartate antibody encephalitis: temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic disorder of both sexes. *Brain*. (2010) 133:1655–67. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq113

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Qiu, Zhang, Li, Wang, Jiang, Zhou, Xu, Zhang, Feng, Yu and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Pediatric Autoimmune Encephalitis: Case Series From Two Chinese Tertiary Pediatric Neurology Centers

Jianzhao Zhang^{1†}, Taoyun Ji^{1†}, Qian Chen², Yanan Jiang¹, Huan Cheng¹, Ping Zheng², Wenqiang Ma¹, Ting Lei¹, Yao Zhang¹, Yiwen Jin¹, Cuijie Wei¹, Ye Wu¹, Xingzhi Chang¹, Xinhua Bao¹, Yuehua Zhang¹, Hui Xiong¹, Xinna Ji², Shuo Feng², Haitao Ren³, Jian Yang^{2*} and Yuwu Jiang^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patrick Kwan, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Bonaventura Casanova, University and Polytechnic Hospital of La Fe, Spain Margherita Nosadini, University of Padova, Italy

*Correspondence:

Jian Yang yangjian1306@sina.com Yuwu Jiang jiangyuwu@bjmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 10 October 2018 Accepted: 05 August 2019 Published: 22 August 2019

Citation:

Zhang J, Ji T, Chen Q, Jiang Y, Cheng H, Zheng P, Ma W, Lei T, Zhang Y, Jin Y, Wei C, Wu Y, Chang X, Bao X, Zhang Y, Xiong H, Ji X, Feng S, Ren H, Yang J and Jiang Y (2019) Pediatric Autoimmune Encephalitis: Case Series From Two Chinese Tertiary Pediatric Neurology Centers. Front. Neurol. 10:906. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00906 ¹ Division of Pediatric Neurology, Pediatrics Department, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China, ² Department of Pediatric Neurology, Children's Hospital Affiliated to the Capital Institute of Pediatrics, Beijing, China, ³ Department of Neurology, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Science, Beijing, China

Background and purpose: We retrospectively analyzed the clinical characteristics of children with autoimmune encephalitis (AE) in two Chinese tertiary pediatric neurology centers. We also compared anti-NMDAR encephalitis with and without co-positive MOG antibody, as well as specific autoantibody-positive AE and autoantibody-negative but probable AE.

Methods: A retrospective study of children (0–18 years old) with AE in Peking University First Hospital and Children's Hospital Affiliated to Capital Institute of Pediatrics was carried out from May 2012 to January 2017. Demographics, clinical features, laboratory, and imaging findings, outcome, and co-positivity with MOG antibody were analyzed.

Results: A total of 103 children had AE, 89 (86.4%) had anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 2 (1.9%) had anti-LGI1 encephalitis, 1 (0.9%) had anti-CASPR2 encephalitis, and 11 (10.7%) were diagnosed as autoantibody-negative but probable AE. Among the 89 children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 35 were males and 54 were females. The follow-up time was 1–3 years. A total of 15 cases (15/89, 16.9%) with anti-NMDAR encephalitis had co-positive MOG antibody (serum or cerebrospinal fluid or both). These patients were more likely to experience relapse later in life (P = 0.014). We had two cases with anti-LGI1 encephalitis, that is, one with sleep disorder onset, and the other one with seizure onset, both of whom recovered after treatment. One case with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis was treated with an antiepileptic drug and fully recovered. There were 11 cases diagnosed as autoantibody-negative but probable AE who had relatively poorer outcome than those with autoantibody-positive AE (15.2%, 14/89). However, the difference was not significant (P = 0.08). Only one 12-year-old girl with NMDAR-antibody AE had ovarian teratoma.

Conclusion: Most subjects with AE in our Chinese cohort had anti-NMDAR AE, which had relatively good prognosis. Children with anti-LGI1 or anti-CASPR2 encephalitis were

98

rare and showed good response on immunotherapy. Co-positive MOG antibody was relatively common in anti-NMDAR encephalitis, which was related to high relapse rate. In our study, the prognosis of autoantibody-negative but probable AE seemed worse than that of specific autoantibody-positive AE.

Keywords: NMDAR, autoimmune encephalitis, child, prognosis, MOG

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune encephalitis (AE) is a brain disease caused by antibodies targeting neurons in the central nervous system to generate specific immune responses. Although immune encephalitis can occur at all ages, children's AE has unique characteristics. AE associated with cell surface antigens is more common in children, the most common of which is anti-NMDAR encephalitis, and other types of AE, such as LGI1 antibody-related AE, have also been reported (1-3). The common clinical manifestations of AE include abnormal mental behavior, seizure, abnormal memory and cognitive function, and motor and consciousness disorders. Cerebrospinal fluid and serum antibody detection is crucial to determine the specific type of AE. However, some patients were diagnosed with AE clinically but were autoantibody negative. In 2016, the new diagnostic criteria about autoantibody-negative but probable AE was established (4). The immunotherapy should be given as early as possible for AE. Although there is much in the literature about AE (5-7), regarding specifically for children's AE it is still limited. Therefore, we analyze the clinical characteristics, treatment, and prognosis of children with AE in two Chinese tertiary pediatric neurology centers herein.

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Subjects

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Peking University First Hospital.

The data of children with AE who were hospitalized from May 2012 to January 2017 in the of Peking University First Hospital and children's hospital affiliated to the Capital Institute of Pediatrics were collected.

Methods

The diagnostic criteria for autoantibody-negative but probable AE and definite antibody encephalitis was proposed by Graus et al. (4) in 2016. AE was diagnosed by pediatric neurologists in each hospital on the basis of clinical findings and the presence of specific antibodies in CSF. The flow diagram of this study is shown in **Figure 1**.

The serum and CSF samples of each patient were sent to Oumeng Biotechnology Corporation, Beijing, China, or Neurological Lab, Peking University First Hospital, China, for the antibodies against the NMDA receptor and other AE-related antibodies. All samples were analyzed by indirect immunofluorescence assay using the EU 90 cells transfected method (BIOCHIPs, Euroimmun AG, Lubek, Germany). We summarized the symptoms, such as psychiatric symptoms, seizures, speech disturbance, sleep disturbance, dyskinesia, and movement disorders, consciousness disturbance, memory deficit, and autonomic instability. Clinical data including age, gender, symptoms, CSF analysis, brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), electroencephalography (EEG), treatment, and follow-up were reviewed. First-line immunotherapy included intravenous (IV) methylprednisolone or intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIG), or a combination of these. Rituximab or cyclophosphamide treatment was defined as second-line immunotherapy.

All patients were followed for at least 1 year (in the range of 1– 5). Epilepsy was diagnosed when seizure lasted for more than 24 months after the encephalitis (post-encephalitis epilepsy). Good outcome was defined as no sequela, and poor outcome as having any sequela.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using SPSS 25.0. Data conformance to normal distribution is described by mean \pm SE. Fisher's exact test was used to compare the categorical data. All predictors were tested in univariate models, the statistically significant indicators of the univariate analysis were added to the multivariate analysis, and the indicators considered probably to be clinically meaningful based on previous literature were also included in the multivariate analysis.

Associations were described as odds ratio used in developing the outcome in patients with each predictor relative to those without the predictor with 95% confidence interval and *P*-value. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Clinical Demographics

A total of 103 children with AE, including 89 with anti-NMDAR encephalitis, two with anti-LGI1 encephalitis, one with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis, and 11 with autoantibody-negative but probable AE, were followed up (**Figure 2**).

Characteristics of Children With Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis (Table 1)

The characteristics of anti-NMDAR encephalitis are as follows: 72 patients (80.9%) presented psychiatric symptoms, 65 (73.0%) experienced seizures, 65 (73.0%) had movement disorders, 60 (67.4%) had language disorders, 57 (64.0%) had memory disorders, and 43 (48.3%) had sleep disorders, followed by consciousness disturbance, paralysis, ataxia, sensory disturbance, and central hypoventilation. All patients underwent cranial MRI.





Radiologists reported that 29 patients (32.6%) were abnormal. The abnormal locations of cranial MRI in 21 (23.6%), 7 (7.9%), 7 (7.9%), and 5 patients (5.6%) were found in the temporal lobe, frontal lobe, parietal lobe, and basal ganglia, respectively. EEG was performed in all patients, and 79 patients (88.8%) obtained abnormal findings; 42 patients (47.2%) had generalized slowwave, 33 (37.1%) had focal slow-wave, 55 (61.8%) had epileptic discharge, and 15 patients (16.8%) exhibited extreme delta brush. The CSF of all patients was positive for NMDAR-IgG, but 60 patients (67.4%) had positive NMDAR-IgG in serum. A total 41 patients (46.1%) had CSF leukocytosis (>5/mm³). A total of 52 patients (58.4%) had oligoclonal band positive in CSF. MOGpositive serum or CSF was found in 15 patients (16.9%). For treatment, glucocorticoid therapy was performed in 87 patients (97.8%), intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) treatment was performed in 77 patients (86.5%), second-line drugs (rituximab and cyclophosphamide) were used in 32 patients (35.9%), and two children (2.2%) did not use immunotherapy because their parents refused to use it. Prognosis showed that 75 patients (84.3%) had complete recovery, six patients (6.7%) had epilepsy, six (6.7%) had cognitive dysfunction, one (1.1%) exhibited ataxia, and one (1.1%) died. A total of 12 patients (13.5%) experienced relapse.

Analysis of Factors Regarding Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis Outcome (Tables 2, 3)

The results of univariate analysis are shown in **Table 2**. On multivariate regression analysis, the factors associated with anti-NMDAR encephalitis outcome were admission to ICU (P = 0.016) and status epilepticus (P = 0.023, **Table 3**).

Comparison Between Combined MOG Antibody-Positive and -Negative Children With Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis (Table 4)

A higher proportion of precursor infection and relapse was found in MOG antibody-positive children than those in MOG antibody-negative ones, and the difference was statistically significant (P < 0.05).

Clinical Analysis of Children With Anti-LGI1 Encephalitis (Table 5)

Two patients had anti-LGI1 encephalitis, one of which was an 8-year-old boy with clinical manifestation mainly for insomnia. The cranial MRI of this patient showed left hippocampal lesions and showed positive CSF and serum LGI1 antibody. Without ICU admission, video EEG showed focal slow waves. The number of cerebrospinal fluid cells was normal. After 2 weeks of treatment with IVIG, the clinical manifestations and cranial MRI significantly improved. The second patient was a 15-year-old boy with seizure. Anti-LGI1-IgG antibody was positive (1:100) in the serum. No memory loss, cognitive impairment, mental disorder, sleep disorder, or movement disorders were reported. The prognosis was good by using IVIG (2 g/kg, for 5 days) and levetiracetam for 1 year.

TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics of children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis.

Demographic and clinical characteristics	0-3 years old	3–6 years old	6–12 years old	12–18 years old	Total
Total	11	24	39	15	89
Seizures	8 (72.7%)	20(83.3%)	27 (69.2%)	10 (66.7%)	65(73.0%
Seizures as initial symptom	6 (54.5%)	15(62.5%)	13 (33.3%)	7 (46.7%)	41(46.1%
Psychiatric symptom	8 (72.7%)	21(87.5%)	31 (79.5%)	12 (80.0%)	72(80.9%
Psychiatric as initial symptom	3 (27.3%)	8 (33.3%)	14 (35.9%)	6 (40.0%)	31(34.8%
Movement disorders Movement disorder as initial symptom	7 (63.6%) 1 (9.1%)	20(83.3%) 2 (8.3%)	27 (69.2%) 4 (10.3%)	11 (73.3%) 2 (13.3%)	65(73.0% 9 (10.1%)
Speech dysfunction	3 (27.3%)	17(70.8)	30 (76.9%)	10 (66.7%)	60(67.4%
Speech dysfunction as initial symptom	0	2 (8.3%)	5 (12.8%)	2 (13.3%)	9 (10.1%)
Sleep disorder	4 (36.4%)	14(58.3)	18 (46.2%)	7 (46.7%)	43(48.3%
Memory disorder	5 (45.5%)	13(54.2%)	28 (71.8%)	11 (73.3%)	57(64.0%
Consciousness disturbance	5 (45.5%)	7 (29.2%)	11 (28.2%)	6 (40.0%)	29(32.6%
Ataxia	1 (9.1%)	4 (16.7%)	8 (20.5%)	2 (13.3%)	15(16.9%
Sensory disorder	0	0	4 (10.3%)	0	4 (4.5%)
Paralysis	6 (54.5%)	5 (20.8%)	5 (12.8%)	1 (6.7%)	17(19.1%
Hypoventilation	0	0	2 (5.1%)	0	2 (2.2%)
Cranial MRI with abnormal findings			29 (32.6%)		
Temporal lobe	1 (9.1%)	6 (25.0%)	12 (30.8%)	2 (13.3%)	21(23.6%
Frontal lobe	1 (9.1%)	2 (8.3%)	4 (10.3%)	0	7 (7.9%)
Parietal lobe	0	2 (8.3%)	5 (12.8%)	0	7 (7.9%)
Basal ganglia	1 (9.1%)	2 (8.3%)	2 (5.1%)	0	5 (5.6%)
Brain stem	0	1 (4.2%)	2 (5.1%)	1 (6.7%)	4 (4.5%)
Cerebellum	0	1 (4.2%)	1 (2.6%)	1 (6.7%)	3 (3.4%)
Thalamus	0	0	1 (2.6%)	1 (6.7%)	2 (2.2%)
Occipital lobe	0	0	2 (5.1%)	0	2 (2.2%)
Deep white matter	2 (18.2%)	4 (16.7%)	1 (2.6%)	1 (6.7%)	8 (9.0%)
Subcortical white matter	1 (9.1%)	5 (20.8%)	3 (7.7%)	1 (6.7%)	10(11.2%
EEG with abnormal findings			79 (88.8%)		
Focal slowing	2 (18.2%)	8 (33.3%)	16 (41.0%)	7 (46.7%)	33(37.1%
Generalized slowing	6 (54.5%)	12(50.0%)	18 (46.2%)	6 (40.0%)	42(47.2%
Epileptic form discharge	7 (63.6%)	16(66.7%)	24 (61.5%)	8 (53.3%)	55(61.8%
Extreme delta brush	4 (36.4%)	3 (12.5%)	5 (12.8%)	3 (20.0%)	15(16.9%
CSF pleocytosis (>5/mm ³)	2 (18.2%)	11(45.8%)	21 (53.8%)	7 (46.7%)	41(46.1%
CSF Oligoclonal band	8 (72.7%)	13(54.2%)	24 (61.5%)	7 (46.7%)	52(58.4%
MOG-positive (serum or CSF)	2 (18.2%)	5 (20.8%)	7 (17.9%)	1 (6.7%)	15(16.9%
Immunotherapy	10(00.0)	0.4(4.0.00())	00 (100 00()		07/07 00/
Steroid only	10(90.9)	24(100%)	39 (100.0%)	14 (93.3%)	87(97.8%
IVIG only	8 (72.7%)	20(83.3%)	35 (89.7%)	14 (93.3%)	77(86.5%
Second-line drugs (rituximab or cyclophosphamide)	5 (45.5%)	11(45.8%)	14 (35.9%)	2 (13.3%)	32(35.9%
No immunotherapy	1 (9.1%)	0	0	1 (6.7%)	2 (2.2%)
Relapse	1 (9.1%)	2 (8.3%)	7 (17.9%)	2 (13.3%)	12(13.5%
Prognosis	10/00 00/)	17/70 00/)	OF (00 70/)	10 (00 70/)	75/04 00/
Complete recovery	10(90.9%)	17(70.8%)	35 (89.7%)	13 (86.7%)	75(84.3%
Epilepsy	0	4 (16.7%)	0	2 (13.3%)	6 (6.7%)
Cognitive dysfunction	1 (9.1%) 0	2 (8.3%) 0	3 (7.7%)	0	6 (6.7%)
Ataxia			1 (2.6%)	0	1 (1.1%)
Death	0	1 (4.2%)	0	0	1 (1.1

Anti-CASPR 2 Encephalitis (Table 5)

One of the children was a 5-year-old boy who was admitted to the hospital for 1 day due to paroxysmal headache and vomiting for 2 months was diagnosed with anti-CASPR 2 encephalitis. During the course of the disease, convulsions lasted for 1 h and 30 min. Cranial MRI showed no abnormality, and EEG indicated slow waves in the occipital region. CSF test was normal, and serum anti-CASPR 2-IgG was positive. There was no ICU admission.

TABLE 2 Factors a	associated with	outcome of	anti-NMDAR	encephalitis:	univariate analysis.

	Complete recovery	Incomplete recovery	OR (95% CI) or <i>t</i> -value	P-value
Potential predictors	75	14		
Age (mean \pm SE, year)	7.92 ± 3.89	6.85 ± 4.96	-1.112	0.664
Female (%)	45 (60.0%)	9 (64.3%)	0.881 (0.269–2.891)	0.835
Status epilepticus	22 (29.3%)	9 (64.3%)	4.336 (1.305–14.411)	0.017
Consciousness disturbance	22 (29.3%)	7 (50.0%)	4.07 (1.228-13.489)	0.022
Movement disorder	52 (69.3%)	13 (92.9%)	5.396 (0.665–43.795)	0.115
CSF pleocytosis (≧5/mm ³)	34 (45.3%)	7 (50.0%)	1.072 (0.327–3.522)	0.908
Anti-NMDAR body titer ≥ 100	30 (40.0%)	10 (71.4%)	3.75 (1.076–13.065)	0.038
Abnormal cranial MRI	23 (30.7%)	6 (42.8%)	1.594 (0.497–5.106)	0.433
EEG with abnormal findings slow wave or epileptic form discharge)	66 (88.0%)	13 (92.8%)	1.773 (0.207–15.217)	0.602
Extreme delta brush	12 (16.0%)	3 (21.4%)	1.97 (0.460-8.435)	0.361
CU admission	3 (4.0%)	4 (28.6%)	9.6 (1.869)	0.007

TABLE 3 | Factors associated with anti-NMDAR encephalitis outcome:

 multivariate analysis.

	Odds ratio	95% CI	P-value
Status epilepticus	5.329	1.26–22.529	0.023
Consciousness disturbance	1.235	0.319–22.529	0.760
Movement disorder	2.944	0.302–28.696	0.353
Abnormal cranial MRI	1.455	0.331-6.388	0.619
Abnormal EEG	2.113	0.177–25.219	0.554
Anti-NMDAR antibody titer ≥ 100	1.821	0.447-7.415	0.403
ICU admission	11.494	1.569–84.2	0.016

No convulsions were observed for more than 2 years after the levetiracetam treatment, and the cognitive function of this patient was normal. Parents refused immunotherapy for this child.

Analysis of Autoantibody-Negative but Probable AE

A total of 11 patients were diagnosed with autoantibody-negative but probable AE. All patients were followed up for 1–2 years. Six patients were female, and their mean age was 6.18 ± 2.09 years old. Seizures were observed in all patients, mental symptoms were found in nine patients, and dyskinesia was presented in two patients. EEG showed generalized or focal slow-wave in all patients. Five patients exhibited epilepsy discharge, and all patients had cranial MRI abnormalities. Two patients did not receive immunotherapy. In terms of prognosis, two patients experienced epilepsy, one patient had dyskinesia, and one patient exhibited irritability. In this group, seven patients were cured, and four had sequelae.

Comparison Between Children With Autoantibody-Negative but Probable AE and With Antibody-Positive AE (Table 6)

In contrast to the antibody-positive encephalitis group, the proportions of movement disorders and CSF oligoclonal band

were higher than those of the antibody-negative group (P < 0.05). The number of cluster seizures in the autoantibody-negative but probable AE group was higher than that in the antibody-positive encephalitis group (P < 0.05).

AE in Children With Tumor

All the children underwent chest- and abdomen-enhanced CT examination, and the boys underwent testicular ultrasound examination. Only one 12-year-old girl with anti-NMDAR encephalitis had ovarian teratoma (0.9%, 1/103). No tumors were found in children younger than 12 years old, and no patient with other AE had a tumor.

DISCUSSION

With the discovery of relevant antibodies, the etiology of some unknown causes of encephalitis has been clarified, and AE has become a topic receiving considerable interest in research. However, most of the published works on AE focus upon adult patients. Studies on children with AE are relatively few, or the analysis was not specific enough (5–8). Therefore, we analyze the cases of AE (including AE with known and unknown antibodies) in two Chinese tertiary pediatric neurology centers, of which both hospitals had patients from all over the country, thereby representing Chinese children with AE to some extent.

The most common clinical features of anti-NMDAR AE as the initial symptoms in our study were seizures, psychiatric symptoms, language disorders, movement disorders, and sleep disorders. Seizure is also the most common symptom in children, which is consistent with much literature (4, 5, 9–11). Children always manifested with neurological symptoms onset, adults with psychiatric symptoms (11). In the children's anti-NMDAR AE, the onset of epilepsy as the initial symptom reached 72%, and the form of epileptic attack was the most common (58%) and comprehensive attack (42%) (11). In adult patients, only 14% (12, 13) of patients are onset of seizures presented as the initial symptom. Other symptoms, such as psychiatric

BLE 4 Comparison between combined MOG antibody-positive and -negative children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis.

	MOG-positive	MOG-negative	X^2 or <i>t</i> -value	P-value
īotal	15	74		
Age (mean \pm SE, year)	6.31 ± 3.82	7.60 ± 3.92	-1.162	0.248
Preceding infection	8 (53.3%)	18 (24.3%)	5.075	0.024
Status epilepticus	5 (33.3%)	26 (35.1%)	1.103	0.218
consciousness disturbance	6 (40.0%)	23 (31.1%)	0.452	0.502
SF pleocytosis (≧5/mm ³)	7 (46.7%)	34 (43.2%)	0.002	0.964
nti-NMDAR antibody titer ≥ 100	7 (46.7%)	33 (44.6%)	0.003	0.959
SF Oligoclonal band	9 (60.0%)	43 (58.1%)	0.018	0.892
ranial MRI with abnormal white matter	4 (26.7%)	14 (18.9%)	0.464	0.496
xtreme delta brush	1 (6.7%)	14 (18.9%)	1.336	0.248
CU admission	1 (6.7%)	6 (8.1%)	0.036	0.850
lelapse	5 (33.3%)	7 (9.5%)	6.094	0.014
econd-line immunology	6 (40.0%)	26 (35.1%)	0.066	0.797
equela	2 (13.3%)	12 (16.2%)	0.078	0.780

TABLE 5 | Clinical characteristics of anti-LGI1 and anti-CASPR2 AE.

Patients	Anti-LGI1 patient 1	Anti-LGI1 patient 2	Anti-CASPR2
Age	8 years old	15 years old	5 years old
Gender	Male	Male	Male
Seizures	No	Yes	Yes
Status epilepticus	No	No	No
Psychiatric symptom	No	No	No
Movement disorders	No	No	No
Speech dysfunction	No	No	No
Sleep disorder	Yes	No	No
Memory disorder	No	No	No
Ataxia	No	No	No
Paralysis	No	No	No
Hypoventilation	No	No	No
Cranial MRI with abnormal findings	Yes	No	No
EEG with abnormal findings	Yes (focal slo waves)	w Yes (focal slow waves and Epileptic form discharge)	w Yes (focal slow waves)
CSF pleocytosis (>5/mm ³)	No	No	No
CSF Oligoclonal band	No	No	No
MOG-positive (serum or CSF) Immunotherapy	No	No	No
Steroid	No	No	No
IVIG	Yes	Yes	No
Second-line drugs (rituximab or cyclophosphamide	No)	No	No
Anti-epilepsy drugs	No	Yes	Yes
ICU admission	No	No	No
Complete recovery	Yes	Yes	Yes

symptoms, involuntary movements, language disorders, and sleep disturbances, are as common as reported in other literature.

The predictors of poor outcome were status epilepticus and ICU admission. In previous studies, the predictors of poor outcome included delayed treatment, young age, decreased consciousness, memory deficiency, high antibody titers, and ICU admission (11, 14, 15). ICU admission was a predictor of poor outcome, which was consistent with our study, whereas the status epilepticus as a predictor of poor outcome in our study is different from previous literature.

The concomitancy of anti-NMDAR antibody and MOG antibody has been reported recently (16, 17). In our cases, one patient was diagnosed with acute disseminated encephalomyelitis due to acute multiple demyelinating disease, and the test showed that the patient was NMDAR antibody-positive. Thus, we should pay attention in identifying demyelinating or acute demyelinating diseases combined with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. In the study of Titulaer et al. (18), the cohorts were divided into three groups. Group 1 included 12 patients whose anti-NMDAR encephalitis was preceded or followed by independent neuromyelitis or demyelinating syndromes (seven cases, all anti-MOG antibody-positive). Group 2 included 11 patients whose anti-NMDAR encephalitis occurred with MRI abnormality and symptoms compatible with demyelination (two MOG antibody-positive cases). Group 3 included 50 randomly selected patients with typical anti-NMDAR encephalitis (three MOG antibody-positive cases). In our cohort, MOG antibodypositive serum or CSF in 15 (16.9%) patients in anti-NMDAR encephalitis was higher than those in other reports. The reason may be that measuring positive for MOG-antibody is considerably high in children. The incidence of MOG-Ab often occurs in East Asia (19). Our patients also had increased risk of relapse later in life (P = 0.014) and a high proportion of preceding infection (P = 0.024). MOG is a specific glycoprotein in the white matter of the central nervous system. Anti-MOG antibodies can cause demyelinating lesions. In this study, 18 patients had MRI demyelinating lesions, of which 4 were positive for MOG antibodies, but 14 patients did not find any demyelinating related antibodies, including MOG and AQP4. In addition, there were 11 patients with positive MOG antibodies, but no demyelinating lesions were found on MRI. The mechanism by which MOG antibodies and NMDA antibodies are simultaneously positive is still unknown.

	Negative	Positive	X ² or <i>t</i> -value	P-value
Total	11	92		
Age (mean \pm SE year)	6.20 ± 2.26	7.29 ± 2.87	0.017	0.334
Female (%)	6 (54.5%)	54 (58.7%)	0.227	0.634
Psychiatric symptom	8 (72.7%)	72 (78.3%)	0.109	0.742
Novement disorder	4 (36.3%)	65 (70.7%)	4.828	0.028
Cluster seizures	9 (81.8%)	42 (45.7%)	5.141	0.023
Status epilepticus	4 (36.4%)	31 (33.7%)	0.063	0.802
Consciousness disturbance	4 (36.4%)	29 (31.5%)	0.106	0.745
CSF pleocytosis ≧5/mm ³)	5 (45.5%)	41(44.6%)	0.003	0.955
CSF Oligoclonal band	2 (18.2%)	52 (56.5%)	5.791	0.016
CU admission	1 (9.1%)	7 (7.6%)	0.03	0.862
Relapse	1 (9.1%)	12 (13.0%)	0.057	0.746
Second-line immunology	3 (27.3%)	32 (34.8%)	0.247	0.619
Sequelae	4 (36.4%)	14 (15.2%)	3.046	0.081

A previous study Dalmau et al. (9) reported that 55% of those with anti-NMDAR encephalitis had abnormal cranial MRI, and the lesions were located in the temporal lobe, hippocampus, corpus callosum, cerebellum/cerebellum cortex, basal ganglia, and brainstem. A multicenter study Schimmel et al. (1) of 540 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis showed that 33% of the patients had cranial MRI abnormalities, and 80% of the abnormal signals were found in the temporal and frontal lobes. A total of 29 cases (32.6%) of children with cranial MRI abnormalities located in the temporal, frontal, and parietal lobes were reported in our study. The high proportion of basal ganglia, the incidence of cranial MRI abnormalities, and lesions in the study of this area were consistent with the results in the literature. but the pathological feature and specificity of the lesion site are lacking. A total of 79 out of the 89 patients had abnormal EEGs (88.7%), which were mainly composed of diffused slowwave, followed by focal slow-wave. However, the extreme delta brush was rare. This finding was also reported in some previous studies (6, 20).

Autoimmune encephalitis (AE) therapy mainly includes firstline and the second-line immunotherapy. A previous work Zekeridou et al. (12) and this study showed that glucocorticoid is still the most frequently used first-line drug. Second-line drugs are always used in children with severe illness or relapse, around 20-30% of total patients. Most of the children with anti-NMDAR encephalitis had relatively good prognosis. Seventy-five patients (84.3%) achieved good outcomes, while 15 patients had poor outcomes in our study. The ratio of good outcomes was lower than those in previous research because we considered cognitive impairment an indicator of poor outcome, which was less used in previous studies. Only one (1.1%) patient died in our study, which was similar to that in previous studies, that is, the death rate in young children is low (2.7%) (11). This finding may be associated with the low proportion of cancer and autonomic instability. Twelve patients (13.5%) relapsed and improved after second-line treatment, which was consistent with the results of a previous report (12%) (11). Relapse rate can also reach 20-24% (21, 22), but the patients in those studies were adults only or both adults and children.

Our study found two cases with anti-LGI1 encephalitis and one case with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis. For two cases with LGI1 encephalitis, their first symptom was only sleep disturbance or seizure, their cranial MRI had typical characteristics, and they both responded well to immunotherapy. Only one case with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis was found, which was mainly manifested as consciousness disturbance and seizure. The seizure was controlled after antiepileptic treatment.

Some patients can be diagnosed with AE in clinical manifestation without specific antibodies. According to the proposed diagnosis criteria (4) for autoantibody-negative but probable AE, we diagnosed 11 patients [10.7% (11/103)], which was higher than that reported previously (7%) (23). These patients were given immunotherapy and were observed for 1-2 years. The outcomes showed that two cases had epilepsy, one had dyskinesia, and one had a sharp temper. The comparison between antibody-positive and -negative encephalitis groups showed that the proportion of dyskinesia and CSF oligoclonal band was higher than those of the autoantibody-negative but probable AE group (P < 0.05). The cluster seizures in the autoantibodynegative but probable AE group were more frequent than in the antibody-positive encephalitis group (P < 0.05), which were not reported in the previous study. Compared with the other AE types in this study, the prognosis of patients with autoantibodynegative but probable AE was poor. Regarding the pathogenesis of antibody-negative encephalitis, some antibodies may have not yet been discovered. However, these patients may not be associated with autoantibody but related to abnormal cellular or innate immune process (24).

In all children with AE in our study, only one 12-year-old girl had ovarian teratoma in anti-NMDAR encephalitis, thereby suggesting that children were less likely to develop tumors than older people, which was consistent with the results of a previous report on a multicenter study (9) showing that the incidence of teratoma in patients with an age of >18 years old is 56%, thereby accounting for 31% of women with the age of <18 years old and 9% in women with the age of <14 years old. In our study, we only had one case of teratoma (1.1%). Thus, in the children with AE, the incidence of tumors is low, especially for young children. Therefore, according to the characteristics of childhood illness, infectious factors may be a major inducing factor in children.

In conclusion, AE in children has its own characteristics regardless of the first sign of the disease or the condition of tumor concomitant. The shortcoming of this study is that it is not a prospective study and does not use mRS to evaluate the function. Additional research, especially prospective studies to clarify the diagnosis and treatment of anti-NMDAR encephalitis in some subgroup of children, such as the treatment of anti-NMDAR encephalitis-related epileptic seizures, is still needed in the future.

REFERENCES

- Schimmel M, Frühwald MC, Bien CG. Limbic encephalitis with LGI1 antibodies in a 14-year-old boy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2018) 22:190– 3. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2017.08.004
- Steriade C, Mirsattari SM, Murray BJ, Wennberg R. Subclinical temporal EEG seizure pattern in LGI1-antibody-mediated encephalitis. *Epilepsia*. (2016) 57:e155–60. doi: 10.1111/epi.13436
- Gadoth A, Pittock SJ, Dubey D, McKeon A, Britton JW, Schmeling JE, et al. Expanded phenotypes and outcomes among 256 LGI1/CASPR2-IgG-positive patients. ANN Neurol. (2017) 82:79–92. doi: 10.1002/ana.24979
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Ho AC, Chan SH, Chan E, Wong SS, Fung ST, Cherk SW, et al. Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis in children: incidence and experience in Hong Kong. *Brain Dev.* (2018) 40:473–9. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2018.02.005
- Wang Y, Zhang W, Yin J, Lu Q, Yin F, He F, et al. Anti-N-methyl-Daspartate receptor encephalitis in children of Central South China: clinical features, treatment, influencing factors, and outcomes. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2017) 312:59–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.09.005
- de Bruijn MAAM, Aarsen FK, van Oosterhout MP, van der Knoop MM, Catsman-Berrevoets CE, Schreurs MWJ, et al. Long-term neuropsychological outcome following pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Neurology*. (2018) 90:e1997–2005. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000005605
- Granata T, Matricardi S, Ragona F, Freri E, Zibordi F, Andreetta F., et al. Pediatric NMDAR encephalitis: a single center observation study with a closer look at movement disorders. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2018) 22:301– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2018.01.012
- Dalmau J, Lancaster E, Martinez-Hernandez E, Rosenfeld MR, Balice-Gordon R. Clinical experience and laboratory investigations in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2011) 10:63–74. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70253-2
- Favier M, Joubert B, Picard G, Rogemond V, Thomas L, Rheims S, et al. Initial clinical presentation of young children with N-methyl-Daspartate receptor encephalitis. *Euro J Paediatr Neurol.* (2018) 22:404– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2017.12.014
- 11. Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangué T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethics approval for this study was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Peking University First Hospital. The parents of the patients signed written informed consent and agreed with the participation of their children in this study and allowed the use of the relevant data and information for scientific research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ and TJ contributed in preparing the draft manuscript of this article and prepared the text. PZ and XJ prepared the figure. YJia and JY were responsible for all supervision and are the guarantor of the article. HR was responsible for the detection of specimens. Other authors have been involved in the management of the children.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the physicians, patients, and families who provided clinical information.

anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate (NMDAR) receptor encephalitis: a cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1

- Zekeridou A, Karantoni E, Viaccoz A, Ducray F, Gitiaux C, Villega F, et al. Treatment and outcome of children and adolescents with N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *J Neurol.* (2015) 262:1859–66. doi: 10.1007/s00415-015-7781-9
- Viaccoz A, Desestret V, Ducray F, Picard G, Cavillon G, Rogemond V., et al. Clinical specificities of adult male patients with NMDA receptor antibodies encephalitis. *Neurology*. (2014) 82:556–63. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000126
- Lim JA, Lee ST, Jung KH, Kim S, Shin JW, Moon J., et al. Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis in Korea: clinical features, treatment, and outcome. J. Clin. Neurol. (2014) 10:157–61. doi: 10.3988/jcn.2014.10. 2.157
- Gresa-Arribas N, Titulaer MJ, Torrents A, Aguilar E, McCracken L, Leypoldt F, et al. Antibody tiers at diagnosis and during follow-up of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: a retrospective study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:167– 77. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70282-5
- Zhou J, Tan W, Tan SE, Hu J, Chen Z, Wang K. An unusual case of anti-MOG CNS demyelination with concomitant mild anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2018) 320:107–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.03.019
- Zhou L, Zhang B, Li X, Li X, Huang Y, Wang M, et al. Cerebral cortical encephalitis followed by recurrent CNS demyelination in a patient with concomitant anti-MOG and anti-NMDAR receptor antibodies. *Mult Scler Relat Disord*. (2017) 18:90–2. doi: 10.1016/j.msard.2017.09.023
- Titulaer MJ, Höftberger R, Iizuka T, Leypoldt F, McCracken L, Cellucci T., et al. Overlapping demyelinating syndromes and anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *Ann Neurol.* (2014) 75:411–28. doi: 10.1002/ana. 24117
- Asgari N, Owens T, Frøkiaer J, Stenager E, Lillevang ST, Kyvik KO. Neuromyelitis optica (NMO)-an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS). *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2011) 123:369–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2010.01416.x
- da Silva-Júnior FP, Castro LH, Andrade JQ, Bastos CG, Moreira CH, Valério RM, et al. Serial and prolonged EEG monitoring in anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2014) 125:1541– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.01.001
- Irani SR, Bera K, Waters P, Zuliani L, Maxwell S, Zandi MS., et al. Nmethyl-D-aspartate antibody encephalitis: temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic

disorder of both sexes. Brain. (2010) 133:1655-67. doi: 10.1093/brain/awg113

- Gabilondo I, Saiz A, Galán L, González V, Jadraque R, Sabater L., et al. Analysis of relapses in anti-NMDAR encephalitis. *Neurology*. (2011) 77:996–9. doi: 10. 1212/WNL.0b013e31822cfc6b
- Graus F, Escudero D, Oleaga L, Bruna J, Villarejo-Galende A, Ballabriga J., et al. Syndrome and outcome of antibody-negative limbic encephalitis. *Eur J Neurol.* (2018) 25:1011–6. doi: 10.1111/ene.13661
- Dale RC, Gorman MP, Lim M. Autoimmune encephalitis in children: clinical phenomenology, therapeutics, and emerging challenges. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2017) 30:334–44. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000 0000443

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zhang, Ji, Chen, Jiang, Cheng, Zheng, Ma, Lei, Zhang, Jin, Wei, Wu, Chang, Bao, Zhang, Xiong, Ji, Feng, Ren, Yang and Jiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Epidemiology of Antibody-Positive Autoimmune Encephalitis in Southwest China: A Multicenter Study

Yixue Gu^{1†}, Min Zhong^{2†}, Liang He^{3†}, Wei Li⁴, Yuanyuan Huang⁵, Jing Liu⁶, Yangmei Chen³ and Zheng Xiao^{1*}

¹ Department of Neurology, First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ² Department of Neurology, Children's Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ³ Department of Neurology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, ⁴ Department of Neurology, Daping Hospital & Research Institute of Surgery, The Army Military Medical University, Chongqing, China, ⁶ Department of Neurology, Southwest Hospital, The Third Military Medical University (Army Medical University), Chongqing, China, ⁶ Department of Neurology, Chongqing, China, ⁶ De

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Patrick Kwan, Monash University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Timea Berki, University of Pécs, Hungary Tianfu Li, Capital Medical University, China Bo Yan, Jining Medical University, China

> *Correspondence: Zheng Xiao xiaozhenghf@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Multiple Sclerosis and Neuroimmunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 03 October 2018 Accepted: 21 October 2019 Published: 12 November 2019

Citation:

Gu Y, Zhong M, He L, Li W, Huang Y, Liu J, Chen Y and Xiao Z (2019) Epidemiology of Antibody-Positive Autoimmune Encephalitis in Southwest China: A Multicenter Study. Front. Immunol. 10:2611. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02611 In recent years, as an increasing number of neuronal autoantibodies have been detected and used for clinical diagnosis, clinicians have become more aware of autoimmune encephalitis, causing its reported incidence to trend upward over several years. To date, however, there has been no large-scale epidemiological survey of autoimmune encephalitis in adults and children, and its epidemiological characteristics remain unclear. Six main types of antibodies are detected and used to diagnose autoimmune encephalitis in Chongqing, Southwestern China: anti-NMDA receptor antibody, anti-GABA_B receptor antibody, anti-LGI1 antibody, anti-CASPR2 antibody, anti-AMPA1 receptor antibody, and anti-AMPA2 receptor antibody. From January 2012 to February 2018, 189 patients at six general hospitals in Chongqing were diagnosed with autoimmune encephalitis and were positive for neuronal autoantibodies. In this report, the epidemic situation and the antibody distribution among these patients are analyzed and described in detail. The differences in disease severity among different ages and between the sexes are evaluated, and the correlation between antibody titer and disease severity is also assessed.

Keywords: autoimmune encephalitis, epidemiology, age, sex, neuronal autoantibodies

INTRODUCTION

Encephalitis has high incidence and mortality rates worldwide (1), with a reported mortality rate of 8–18.45% (2–4). The term autoimmune encephalitis (AE) refers in general to a large group of diseases caused by an antigen-antibody reaction by the immune system to the central nervous system (5). The main clinical characteristics of AE are acute or subacute seizures of epilepsy, cognitive impairment, and mental symptoms. The disease spectrum of AE has been expanding since the first case of teratoma-related anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor encephalitis was reported in 2007 (6). With the continuous progress and implementation of detection methods, a growing number of cases of AE with positivity for different autoantibodies have been diagnosed and reported. As an important cause of encephalitis, autoimmunity is receiving increasing attention from medical staff.

Investigations have shown that AE affects the quality of life of those affected and imposes a serious economic burden on both patients and society (7). Because the clinical manifestations of AE are very complex, the condition is difficult to diagnose, although early intervention is important for improving the prognosis of these patients (8). Neuronal autoantibodies are key for the diagnosis of AE, and changes in antibody titer are closely related to the clinical course (9). Neuronal autoantibodies identify subtypes of AE and help clinicians detect cases with atypical clinical manifestations. Therefore, antibody measurement is a critical step in the diagnosis of AE (5).

To date, there have been few epidemiological investigations of AE, and there are currently no data from large-scale epidemiological investigations. Thus, the epidemiological characteristics of the condition are still unclear. Six main types of antibodies are detected and used for the diagnosis of AE in Chongqing, Southwestern China: anti-NMDA receptor (NMDAR) antibody, anti-gamma-aminobutyric acid-B receptor (GABA_BR) antibody, anti-leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1 (LGI1) antibody, anti-contactin-associated protein-like 2 (CASPR2) antibody, anti-a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid 1 (AMPA1) receptor antibody, and anti-a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid 2 (AMPA2) receptor antibody. In this study, the epidemiological characteristics of 189 patients with AE and antibody positivity were analyzed according to the diagnostic criteria of AE (5). The findings will provide clinicians with an improved understanding of the epidemiological characteristics of AE and contribute to speeding the diagnostic process and improving patient prognosis.

METHODS

Study Population

Data were collected from six large general hospitals in Chongqing, Southwestern China. From January 2012 to February 2018, 189 patients with AE were diagnosed with antibody positivity. The patients' medical records, laboratory results, cost information, and prognoses were reviewed and registered by a neurologist.

Inclusion Criteria

According to the AE diagnostic criteria published in *The Lancet Neurology* (5), the following four criteria were used, along with positivity for neuron surface antibodies: (1) subacute onset (rapid progression over <3 months); working memory deficits, epilepsy, or psychiatric symptoms related to the limbic system; (2) bilateral brain abnormalities highly restricted to the medial temporal lobe on T2-weighted fluid-attenuation inversion recovery MRI; (3) at least one of the following: 1) an increase in the number of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) cells (white blood cell count exceeding 5/mm³) 2) EEG indicating epilepsy or slow-wave activity in the medial temporal lobe; and (4) reasonable exclusion of other diseases.

Exclusion Criteria

The exclusion criteria for the study were as follows: (1) no lumbar puncture CSF examination performed or incomplete clinical data from the period of hospitalization; (2) central nervous system infection caused by specific intracranial pathogens; (3) thyroid disease, a recent history of thyroid hormone replacement, or a lack of test results on thyroid function and antibodies; (4) an immunosuppressed state (including longterm immunosuppressive therapy due to chemotherapy, organ transplantation, or cancer); and (5) loss to follow-up.

This study was approved by the ethics committees of the six participating hospitals. All patients or their families were informed of the study and gave signed consent to allow the use of their medical records for the study.

Antibody Detection Methods

Six hospitals sent CSF and serum to the same laboratory, which began to detect AE-related antibodies in June 2011. Six types of antibodies were detected: anti-NMDAR antibody, anti-GABA_BR antibody, anti-LGI1 antibody, anti-CASPR2 antibody, anti-AMPA1 receptor antibody, and anti-AMPA2 receptor antibody. The laboratory used indirect immunofluorescence (IIF) assays for antibody detection. A cell-based assay (CBA) with high specificity and sensitivity was used to analyze the CSF and serum of each patient. The initial dilution titers of CSF and serum were 1:1 and 1:10, respectively. Serum antibody titers were considered weakly positive at 1:10, positive at 1:32 to 1:100, and strongly positive at 1:320. The titers of CSF antibodies were considered weakly positive at 1:1, positive at 1:3.2 to 1:10, and strongly positive at 1:32 or above.

Statistical Analysis

The classification variables are described as percentages, and the characteristics of each subgroup are represented by the median. The chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test was used to compare differences among the subsets of classification variables. An independent-sample *t*-test was employed to compare differences among subgroups of continuous variables. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was applied to compare differences among subgroups of hierarchical data. Spearman correlation analysis was used to analyze correlations among classified variables. SPSS 25.0 software was utilized to analyze and sort the data, with P < 0.05 indicating a significant difference.

RESULTS

Baseline Demography and Incidence Trends

From January 2012 to 2018, 189 patients with AE and neuronal autoantibody positivity were diagnosed at six large general hospitals in Southwestern China. Samples from 457 patients with suspected AE were analyzed for antibodies, with a positivity rate of 41.36%. Five patients died, giving a mortality rate of 2.65%. In terms of prognosis, the Glasgow Outcome Scale (GOS) was used for evaluation. Those discharged with a score of >4 had a good prognosis, those discharged with a score of 2–3 had a poor prognosis, and those with a score of 1 died.

Gu et al.



The prognosis was good in 161 cases (85.19%). There were 41 cases (21.69%) in spring, 42 cases (22.22%) in summer, 59 cases (31.22%) in autumn, and 44 cases (24.87%) in winter. The median hospitalization time was 21 days, and the median hospitalization expenses were 4623.35 USD.

Among the 189 patients, females (116, 61.38%) outnumbered males (73, 38.62%) by a statistically significant margin ($\chi^2 =$ 9.783, P = 0.002). The youngest patient was 1 year and 6 months old, and the oldest was 70 years old; the median age was 16 years. Among all patients, 99 (52.38%) were under 18 years old, 58 (30.69%) were 18–44 years old, 26 (7.72%) were 45–59 years old, and 6 (3.17%) were aged 60 years or older. The vast majority (83.07%) of patients were children and young adults ($\chi^2 =$ 213.556, P = 0.000).

Of the 189 patients, 4 were diagnosed in 2012, accounting for 2.12% of all patients; 5 in 2013, accounting for 2.65%; and 32 in 2014, accounting for 16.93%; there were 34 cases (17.99%) in 2015 and 46 (24.34%) in 2016. In 2017, there were 65 cases, accounting for 34.39%. Three cases were confirmed in January and February 2018. The annual number of confirmed cases trended upward, as shown in **Figure 1**. With the development of diagnostic methods, an increasing number of autoimmune antibodies are used in clinical diagnosis. Using non-NMDAR antibodies, 1 case was diagnosed in 2014, 5 in 2015, 12 in 2016, 17 in 2017, and 2 in 2018, as shown in **Figure 1**.

Antibody Distribution

Among the 189 patients, 153 (80.95%) were positive for anti-NMDAR antibody, 14 (7.41%) for anti-GABA_BR antibody, 9 (4.76%) for anti-LGI1 antibody, 5 (2.65%) for anti-CASPR2 antibody, 3 (1.59%) for both anti-NMDAR and anti-GABA_BR antibodies, 3 (1.59%) for both anti-LGI1 and anti-CASPR2 antibodies, 1 (0.53%) for both anti-NMDAR and anti-CASPR2 antibodies, and 1 (0.53%) for both anti-AMPA2 receptor and anti-CASPR2 antibodies. Most of the patients were positive for anti-NMDAR antibody ($\chi^2 = 72.429$, P = 0.000).

Regarding the 153 patients with anti-NMDAR antibody positivity, 146 (95.42%) were CSF positive, and 123 (80.39%) were seropositive. The titer for the antibody is shown in **Table 1**.

TABLE 1 Details of antibody titers in the CSF and serum of one
antibody-positive patient.

		Negative	Weakly positive	Positive	Strongly positive
NMDAR	CSF	7	6	112	28
	Serum	30	17	98	8
GABA _B R	CSF	1	2	7	4
	Serum	1	4	7	2
LGI1	CSF	3	2	4	0
	Serum	1	1	7	0
CASPR2	CSF	4	0	1	0
	Serum	1	4	0	0

CSF testing was more sensitive than serum testing ($\chi^2 = 16.264$, P = 0.000), and the antibody titers were higher in the CSF than in the serum ($\chi^2 = 16.264$, P = 0.000). Among the 14 patients with anti-GABA_BR antibody positivity, 13 (92.86%) were CSF positive, and 13 (92.86%) were seropositive. There was no difference in the positivity rate or titer of anti-GABA_BR antibody between CSF and serum. Among the 9 LGI1-positive patients, 6 (66.67%) were CSF positive, and 8 (88.89%) were seropositive. The positive rate of serum was higher than that of CSF, but the difference was not significant. Among the 5 CASPR2-positive patients, 1 (20.00%) was CSF positive, and 4 (80%) were seropositive. Although the number of samples was small, the anti-CASPR2 positivity rate of serum was significantly higher than that of CSF.

Concurrent positivity for two types of antibodies was found in 8 patients. Further details on double-positive cases are shown in **Table 2**. Among the patients with LGI1 + CASPR2 positivity, 1 was strongly positive for CASPR2 in the CSF, whereas the antibody titers in the other patients were weakly positive or positive. In addition, only one of the five patients with anti-CASPR2 antibody positivity was CSF positive. All five patients with anti-CASPR2 antibody positivity were also positive for other antibodies, and only one of the five patients was CSF positive for anti-CASPR2 antibody. Presumably, the rate of CSF positivity for anti-CASPR2 antibody is low among AE patients in general.

Analysis of Factors Correlated With Disease Severity

Differences in Disease Severity Between the Sexes

We found that there were differences between males and females with regard to comorbid tumors and prognosis (**Table 3**). Male patients had tumors in 6 cases (8.22%), and female patients had tumors in 5 cases (4.31%). In the past, it was believed that women were more likely than men to have tumors as a comorbidity with AE, especially given the strong relationship between teratoma and anti-NMDAR encephalitis. However, in our study, male AE patients were more likely than females to have tumors, and 1/2 of males with tumors had GABA_BR-positive pulmonary tumors. Fifty-six male patients (76.71%) had a good prognosis, and 105 female patients (92.92%) had a good prognosis; thus, more women than men had a good prognosis, and the difference was significant ($\chi^2 = 6.766$, P = 0.009). Among the patients who died, 3 were (4.11%) male and 2 (1.72%) female. Although the **TABLE 2** | Details of antibody titers in the CSF and serum of patients who were positive for two antibody types concurrently.

Serum GABA _B R: positive Case 2 CSF NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Serum NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Case 3 CSF NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Case 3 CSF NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive LGI1+ CASPR2 Case 1 CSF LGI1: positive CASPR2: strongly positive Serum Negative Case 2 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive Case 3 CSF Negative NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive CASPR2: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive CASPR2: positive AMPA2 receptor + Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: positive			
Serum GABA _B R: positive Case 2 CSF NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Serum NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Case 3 CSF NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Case 3 CSF NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Case 3 CSF NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive LGI1+ CASPR2 Case 1 CSF LGI1: positive CASPR2: strongly positive LGI1: positive Case 2 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive Case 3 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive Case 3 CSF NMDAR: positive CASPR2: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive CASPR2: positive AMPA2 receptor + Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: positive CASPR2	Antibodies	Cases	Antibody titer
Serum NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Case 3 CSF NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive Serum NMDAR: positive GABA _B R: positive LGI1+ CASPR2 Case 1 CSF LGI1: positive CASPR2: strongly positive Serum Negative Case 2 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive Case 3 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive CASP 2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive CASPR2 Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: positive CASPR2 Case 1	NMDAR + GABA _B R	Case 1	CSF NMDAR: weakly positive GABA _B R: positive Serum GABA _B R: positive
LGI1+ CASPR2 Case 1 CSF LGI1: positive CASPR2: strongly positive Serum Negative LGI1+ CASPR2 Case 1 CSF LGI1: positive CASPR2: strongly positive Serum Negative Case 2 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive Case 3 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive AMPA2 receptor + Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: positive CASPR2 Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: weakly positive CASPR2		Case 2	
Serum Negative Case 2 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive Case 3 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive Serum NMDAR + caspra Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive Serum NMDAR: weakly positive CASPR2: weakly positive AMPA2 receptor + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: positive CASPR2		Case 3	
Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive Case 3 CSF Negative Serum LGI1: weakly positive CASPR2: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive Serum NMDAR: weakly positive CASPR2: weakly positive AMPA2 receptor + CASPR2 CASPR2	LGI1+ CASPR2	Case 1	
NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive CASPR2: positive NMDAR + CASPR2 Case 1 CSF NMDAR: positive CASPR2: weakly positive AMPA2 receptor + Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: positive CASPR2 Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: weakly positive		Case 2	
Serum NMDAR: weakly positive CASPR2: weakly positive AMPA2 receptor + Case 1 CSF AMPA2 receptor: positive CASPR2 Serum AMPA2 receptor: weakly positive CASPF		Case 3	0
CASPR2 Serum AMPA2 receptor: weakly positive CASPF	NMDAR + CASPR2	Case 1	Serum NMDAR: weakly positive CASPR2:
	1 1	Case 1	Serum AMPA2 receptor: weakly positive CASPR2

TABLE 3 | Details regarding disease severity indicators in males and females.

	Male	Female
ICU (no.)	25	41
Ventilator use (no.)	9	9
Tumor (no.)	6	5
Surgery (no.)	1	2
Median hospitalization days	21	23
Median hospitalization costs (USD)	4622.27	5005.11
Prognosis		
$GOS \ge 4$	56	105
2–3	14	9
1	3	2

mortality rate of males was higher than that of females, there was no significant difference ($\chi^2 = 0.990$, P = 0.376). Moreover, despite being more susceptible than males to AE, females had a better prognosis.

Differences in Disease Severity Among Different Age Groups

We found that there were differences in antibody distribution, combined tumors, ICU occupancy, and ventilator use between adults and children (**Table 4**). There were 34 AE cases with non-NMDAR antibody positivity (37.78%) in adults and 2 cases (2.02%) in children. Therefore, non-NMDAR antibody-positive encephalitis was more common among adults than children (χ^2 = 38.272, *P* = 0.000). There were 11 adult patients and no child patients with cancer; accordingly, adults were more likely than children to have tumors (χ^2 = 12.848, *P* = 0.000). Additionally, a greater number of adults (56, accounting for 62.22% of all adults) than children (fewer than 10, accounting for 10.10% of all children) were admitted to the ICU. This difference was statistically significant (χ^2 = 65.253, *P* = 0.000). Among adults, 13 used ventilators, accounting for 14.44% of all adults; among

TABLE 4 | Details regarding disease severity indicators in different age groups.

	Adult	Children
ICU (no.)	56	10
Ventilator use (no.)	13	5
Tumor (no.)	11	0
Surgery (no.)	3	0
Median hospitalization days	22	22
Median hospitalization costs (USD)	5005.11	4623.35
Prognosis		
$GOS \ge 4$	80	81
2–3	8	15
1	2	3

children, 5 used ventilators, accounting for 5.05% of all children. Overall, adult patients used ventilators at a higher rate than children did ($\chi^2 = 4.828$, P = 0.028).

Relationship Between Antibody Titer and Disease Severity

Because the antibody status of the double-positive patients was complex, those 8 out of 189 patients were excluded from this subgroup analysis. Among the 181 patients with single antibody positivity (**Table 5**), correlation analysis showed that the antibody titer in the CSF was positively correlated with ICU admission (rs = 0.234, P = 0.002), with ventilator use (rs = 0.254, P = 0.001), and with the presence of tumors (rs = 0.200, P = 0.007). There was also a positive correlation between CSF antibody titers and prognosis, but it was not significant (P = 0.135). In addition, our analysis found that the serum antibody titer was negatively correlated with ICU admission (rs = -0.329, P = 0.000). Conversely, there was no significant correlation between the serum antibody titer and other indicators, such as ventilator use and prognosis.

DISCUSSION

Since Dalmau et al. (10) proposed the condition of anti-NMDAR encephalitis, an increasing number of AE-related autoantibodies have been detected and used for clinical diagnosis. To date, however, there has been no large-scale epidemiological survey of AE in adults and children, and its epidemiological characteristics remain unclear. In 2016, *The Lancet Neurology* published diagnostic criteria for AE, emphasizing the diagnostic significance of AE-related autoantibodies (5). The epidemiological characteristics of 189 patients with AE and autoimmune antibody positivity in the CSF or serum were retrospectively analyzed in this study.

The most commonly detected synaptic receptor antibodies in Southwestern China are the anti-NMDAR, anti-AMPA1 receptor, anti-AMPA2 receptor, anti-GABA_BR, anti-LGI1related, and anti-CASPR2-related antibodies. In the present study, 457 patients with suspected or confirmed AE were examined for serum and CSF antibodies. The positivity rate for antibodies was 41.36%. In a study by Lai et al. (11), 35.78% of patients with AE were positive for antibodies.

_	CSF				Serum			
	Negative	Weakly positive	Positive	Strongly positive	Negative	Weakly positive	Positive	Strongly positive
ICU (no.)	4	5	29	19	21	16	19	5
Ventilator use (no.)	0	1	7	9	6	2	6	2
Tumor (no.)	0	0	5	5	3	0	6	1
Surgery (no.)	0	0	1	2	1	0	1	1
Median hospitalization days	14	19.5	22	30	21	20	23	24.5
Median hospitalization costs (USD)	2439.89	5041.56	4676.74	6391.01	4802.69	4919.42	4700.65	4535.96
Prognosis								
GOS ≥4	13	9	107	24	28	22	95	8
2–3	2	1	14	6	5	2	15	1
1	0	0	3	2	2	1	3	1

TABLE 5 | Details regarding disease severity indicators in relation to different antibody titers in the CSF and serum.

The rate of good prognosis was 85.19%, and the mortality rate was 2.65%. This finding is consistent with previous studies, indicating that the overall prognosis of AE is good. One study of 571 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis by Kayser et al. (12) reported that 83% of the patients recovered completely or partially. However, in a study by Yeshokumar et al. (13), the mortality rate was 12%; the rate of good prognosis was only 53%, and the rate of poor prognosis was 34%. The differences in the results of that study and of ours may be due to differences in prognosis prediction. The previous study scored prognosis using the modified Rankin scale (mRS), whereas we used the GOS. Moderately disabled patients were classified in our study as having a good prognosis, while the study by Yeshokumar et al. classified such patients as having a poor prognosis. Some scholars have found that among all cases of encephalitis, AE has an especially poor prognosis, with 56% of AE patients dying or having severe disabilities (2, 3). The reason why patient prognosis in previous studies differs so greatly from that in the present study may be that the prognosis of AE associated with tumors is worse than that of non-tumor-related AE. As our study did not involve paraneoplastic AE, the overall prognosis was good.

In terms of the time distribution of AE, there is no previous literature specifying the incidence by season. This study found that autumn (September-November) was the most common season, accounting for 31.22% of all cases, although there was no significant difference among seasons.

With regard to sex distribution, women (61.38%) were significantly more likely than men (38.62%) to have AE. This sex distribution is consistent with previously reported statistics for AE (13). Some possible mechanisms are that estrogen enhances humoral immunity (14) and that mutation of X chromosome-linked genes leads to differential expression of pathogenic genes, leading to the occurrence of autoimmune diseases (15, 16).

In our analysis of age distribution, we observed that the majority of patients were under 45 years old (83.07%). This result is consistent with reported data on other autoimmune diseases in children and young adults. In a study by Titulaer et al. (17), 577 patients had antibody-confirmed anti-NMDAR encephalitis, 95% of whom were under 45 years old, and 37% of

whom were children. However, the effect of age on autoimmune diseases is unclear. Some studies suggest that the connection may be related to changes in hormone levels after middle age and that the decrease in estrogen in females weakens the immune response (14).

From 2012 to present, the number of confirmed cases of AE has increased annually, which may be related to increasing awareness of AE among clinicians. In 2007, Dalmau et al. (10) first reported anti-NMDAR encephalitis and found that it was closely related to teratoma. In 2009, Lai et al. (11) reported anti-AMPA receptor encephalitis for the first time, presenting 10 cases associated with type 1 and type 2 glutamate receptors. In 2010, Lancaster et al. (18) first reported and described GABABR encephalitis and found that it may be associated with small cell lung cancer. In the same year, Lai et al. (19) first reported anti-LGI1 antibody-related encephalitis and anti-CASPR2 antibodyrelated encephalitis associated with voltage-gated potassium channels in The Lancet Neurology. Since then, a variety of neuronal autoantibodies have been reported. According to the results of our study, the number of confirmed cases of non-NMDAR encephalitis is also increasing yearly, which may be related to the expansion of the known neuronal autoantibody spectrum and the gradual adoption of antibody detection.

In this study, 189 patients were diagnosed with AE and were antibody positive. The majority were positive for anti-NMDAR antibody (80.95%), followed by anti-GABA_BR (7.41%), LGI1-related (4.76%), CASPR2-related (2.65%), NMDAR+GABA_BR (1.59%), LGI1+CASPR2 (1.59%), NMDAR+CASPR2 (0.53%), and AMPA2 receptor+CASPR2 antibodies (0.53%). The distribution of antibodies in this study is fundamentally consistent with that of previous studies. In a study by McCracken (20), 78.82% of patients were positive for antibodies against NMDAR, followed by GABA_BR (4.71%), LGI1 (4.71%), CASPR2 (2.35%), and others (9.41%). In addition, Guan et al. (21) found 12.9% of 4,106 encephalitis patients to be positive for anti-NMDAR antibody, 12.8% for anti-LGI1 antibody, 5.6% for anti-GABA_BR antibody, 1.3% for anti-CASPR2 antibody, and 0.6% for anti-AMPA receptor antibody.

The present study found that CSF detection was 15.03% more sensitive than serum detection for patients with anti-NMDAR

encephalitis and that the antibody titer in the CSF was higher than that in the serum (P = 0.000), which was consistent with previous studies. For example, Gresa-Arribas et al. (9) found that in NMDAR encephalitis, CSF was a more sensitive sample type than blood for detecting anti-NMDAR antibodies. By comparing matched serum and CSF samples, Titulaer et al. (17) also found that the detection sensitivity of CSF was ~15% higher than that of serum for anti-NMDAR encephalitis. However, there was no difference in sensitivity or antibody titer between serum and CSF in other types of antibody-positive AE.

In addition, although the number of CASPR2 antibodypositive patients was small, only 5 cases were CSF positive, and simultaneous detection of CASPR2 and other antibodies in the CSF was found for only one of the five patients. Thus, the positivity rate for CASPR2 in the CSF appears to be low. Bien et al. (22) found that 5 (33.33%) of 15 patients with CASPR2 receptor encephalitis were positive for anti-CASPR2 antibody in the CSF. The sensitivity of the CSF in the previous study was higher than that observed in the present study.

When we analyzed factors related to disease severity, we found that, despite significantly outnumbering male patients, female patients had a better prognosis. In a study by Harutyunyan (23), 16 (59.26%) of 27 AE patients admitted to the ICU were male whereas 11 (40.74%) were female, suggesting that males have more severe disease than females. Additionally, Murphy et al. (24) reported that when BXSB mice developed spontaneous lupus syndrome as an autoimmune disease, males tended to exhibit more severe clinical symptoms than females; the average survival time of male mice was also significantly shorter than that of female mice. Subramanian et al. (25) found that the Toll-like receptor 7 (TRL7) gene, which is related to immunogenesis and development, was heterotopic from the X chromosome to the Y chromosome and was overexpressed, which may explain the autoimmune symptoms in male mice.

The present study found that adult patients with AE are more likely than children to suffer from non-NMDAR encephalitis and to have tumors. Previous studies have shown that anti-AMPA receptor encephalitis may be associated with thymoma, small cell lung cancer, and breast cancer (19, 26, 27); anti-GABA_BR encephalitis was also associated with small cell lung cancer in another report (18). These reports were consistent with the three cases of GABA_BR encephalitis with lung tumors found in this study. Anti-LG11 antibody-related encephalitis and anti-CASPR2 antibody-related encephalitis may also be associated with thymoma (19, 28). In general, adults are more likely to have non-NMDAR encephalitis because they have a higher incidence of tumors than children have (29).

In our analysis of the relationship between antibody titers and disease severity, we found that antibody titers in the CSF were positively correlated with ICU admission, ventilator use, and tumors, which reflect the severity of the disease. Gresa-Arribas et al. (9) have also indicated that antibody titers are higher in severe and teratoma patients. In addition, there was no direct correlation between CSF antibody titers and prognosis in our study, whereas Gresa-Arribas et al. (9) reported that the CSF and serum titers of patients with a poor prognosis were higher than those of patients with a good prognosis. Regardless, Broadley

et al. (30) believe that the relationship between CSF titer and prognosis is not exact.

Our study has the following limitations. First, the sample size of the present study was insufficient. Nonetheless, as the number of cases is small for certain low-incidence types of AE, such as anti-CASPR2 antibody-related encephalitis, it is difficult to carry out a statistical analysis. Second, many more autoimmune antibodies are currently tested than the six antibodies mentioned in this paper. However, from 2012 to 2018, the main antibodies detected in Southwestern China were the six described herein. Therefore, we evaluated only these six antibodies. Additional antibodies could be assessed in follow-up studies.

CONCLUSION

AE is an inflammatory disorder of the brain that has very complex clinical manifestations and is difficult to diagnose. In recent years, the number of confirmed cases of AE has been increasing annually. Early intervention is very important to improve the prognosis of patients. Neuronal autoantibodies are often a key diagnostic basis in the diagnosis of AE. In our study, 41.36% of patients with suspected AE tested positive for antibodies, and their overall prognosis was good. Women outnumbered men in our sample. There were slightly more children than adults, and children and young adults accounted for the vast majority. Anti-NMDAR encephalitis accounted for the majority of cases; for this type, the sensitivity of antibody detection was higher in the CSF than in the serum, and the antibody titer was also higher in CSF than in serum. It is worth mentioning that the positivity rate for the anti-CASPR2 antibody was higher in serum than in CSF in anti-CASPR2positive encephalitis cases, with or without concurrent positivity for other antibodies. Analysis of the factors related to the severity of the disease showed that the prognosis of women was better than that of men, that adults were more likely than children to suffer from non-NMDAR encephalitis, and that adults were more likely than children to have tumors. CSF antibody titers were positively correlated with ICU admission, ventilator use, and tumor complications, which may reflect the severity of the disease. However, there was no direct correlation between CSF antibody titers and prognosis. Understanding the epidemiological characteristics of AE can help increase the speed of diagnosis and improve the prognosis of AE patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant numbers 81071040, 81471320), and Natural Science Foundation of Chongqing, China (cstc2016jcyjA0337; cstc2018jscx-msybX0121). None of the institution or individual influence the study design, the collection, analysis and interpretation of data, the writing of the report or the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

REFERENCES

- Venkatesan A, Tunkel AR, Bloch KC, Lauring AS, Sejvar J, Bitnun A, et al. Case definitions, diagnostic algorithms, and priorities in encephalitis: consensus statement of the international encephalitis consortium. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2013) 57:1114–28. doi: 10.1093/cid/cit458
- Granerod J, Ambrose HE, Davies NW, Clewley JP, Walsh AL, Morgan D, et al. Causes of encephalitis and differences in their clinical presentations in England: a multicentre, population-based prospective study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2010) 10:835–44. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70222-X
- Mailles A, Stahl JP. Steering Committee and Investigators Group. Infectious encephalitis in france in 2007: a national prospective study. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2009) 49:1838–47. doi: 10.1086/648419
- Thakur KT, Motta M, Asemota AO, Kirsch HL, Benavides DR, Schneider EB, et al. Predictors of outcome in acute encephalitis. *Neurology*. (2013) 81:793–800. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182a2cc6d
- Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2016) 15:391–404. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00401-9
- Sansing LH, Tüzün E, Ko MW, Baccon J, Lynch DR, Dalmau J. A patient with encephalitis associated with NMDA receptor antibodies. *Nat Clin Pract Neurol.* (2007) 3:291–6. doi: 10.1038/ncpneuro0493
- Cohen J, Sotoca J, Gandhi S, Yeshokumar AK, Gordon-Lipkin E, Geocadin RG, et al. Autoimmune encephalitis: a costly condition. *Neurology*. (2019) 92:e964–72. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006990
- Vollmer TL, McCarthy M. Autoimmune encephalitis: a more treatable tragedy if diagnosed early. *Neurology*. (2016) 86:1655–6. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002641
- Gresa-Arribas N, Titulaer MJ, Torrents A, Aguilar E, McCracken L, Leypoldt FLancet, et al. Antibody titres at diagnosis and during follow-up of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: a retrospective study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:167–77. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70282-5
- Dalmau J, Tüzün E, Wu HY, Masjuan J, Rossi JE, Voloschin A, et al. Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. *Ann Neurol.* (2007) 61:25–36. doi: 10.1002/ana.21050
- Lai M, Hughes EG, Peng X, Zhou L, Gleichman AJ, Shu H, et al. AMPA receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis alter synaptic receptor location. *Ann Neurol.* (2009) 65:424–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.21589
- Kayser MS, Titulaer MJ, Gresa-Arribas N, Dalmau J. Frequency and characteristics of isolated psychiatric episodes in anti-N-methyl-daspartate receptor encephalitis. *JAMA Neurol.* (2013) 70:1133–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.3216
- Yeshokumar AK, Gordon-Lipkin E, Arenivas A, Cohen J, Venkatesan A, Saylor D, et al. Neurobehavioral outcomes in autoimmune encephalitis. J Neuroimmunol. (2017) 312:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2017.08.010
- 14. Cutolo M, Sulli A, Straub RH. Estrogen metabolism and autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2012) 11:A460-4. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.11.014
- Selmi C. The X in sex: how autoimmune diseases revolve around sex chromosomes. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol.* (2008) 22:913–22. doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2008.09.002
- Voskuhl RR, Sawalha AH, Itoh Y. Sex chromosome contributions to sex differences in multiple sclerosis susceptibility and progression. *Mult Scler*. (2018) 24:22–31. doi: 10.1177/1352458517737394
- Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangué T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, et al. Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: an observational cohort study. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:157–65. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70310-1
- Lancaster E, Lai M, Peng X, Hughes E, Constantinescu R, Raizer J, et al. Antibodies to the GABA(B) receptor in limbic encephalitis with seizures:

case series and characterisation of the antigen. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:67–76. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70324-2

- Lai M, Huijbers MG, Lancaster E, Graus F, Bataller L, Balice-Gordon R, et al. Investigation of LGI1 as the antigen in limbic encephalitis previously attributed to potassium channels: a case series. *Lancet Neurol.* (2010) 9:776– 85. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70137-X
- McCracken L, Zhang J, Greene M, Crivaro A, Gonzalez J, Kamoun M, et al. Improving the antibody-based evaluation of autoimmune encephalitis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm*. (2017) 4:e404. doi: 10.1212/NXI.00000000000404
- Guan HZ, Ren HT, Cui LY. Autoimmune encephalitis: an expanding frontier of neuroimmunology. *Chin Med J.* (2016) 129:1122–7. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.180514
- 22. Bien CG, Mirzadjanova Z, Baumgartner C, Onugoren MD, Grunwald T, Holtkamp M, et al. Anti-contactin-associated protein-2 encephalitis: relevance of antibody titres, presentation and outcome. *Eur J Neurol.* (2017) 24:175–86. doi: 10.1111/ene.13180
- 23. Harutyunyan G, Hauer L, Dünser MW, Karamyan A, Moser T, Pikija S, et al. Autoimmune encephalitis at the neurological intensive care unit: etiologies, reasons for admission and survival. *Neurocrit Care*. (2017) 27:82–9. doi: 10.1007/s12028-016-0370-7
- Murphy ED, Roths JB. A Y chromosome associated factor in strain BXSB producing accelerated autoimmunity and lymphoproliferation. *Arthritis Rheum.* (1979) 22:1188–94. doi: 10.1002/art.1780221105
- Subramanian S, Tus K, Li QZ, Wang A, Tian XH, Zhou J, et al. A Tlr7 translocation accelerates systemic autoimmunity in murine lupus. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci USA. (2006) 103:9970–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0603912103
- 26. Joubert B, Kerschen P, Zekeridou A, Desestret V, Rogemond V, Chaffois MO, et al. Clinical spectrum of encephalitis associated with antibodies against the α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor: case series and review of the literature. *JAMA Neurol.* (2015) 72:1163–9. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.1715
- Spatola M, Dalmau J. Seizures and risk of epilepsy in autoimmune and other inflammatory encephalitis. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2017) 30:345–53. doi: 10.1097/WCO.00000000000449
- Irani SR, Alexander S, Waters P, Kleopa KA, Pettingill P, Zuliani L, et al. Antibodies to Kv1 potassium channel-complex proteins leucine-rich, glioma inactivated 1 protein and contactin-associated protein-2 in limbic encephalitis, Morvan's syndrome and acquired neuromyotonia. *Brain*. (2010) 133:2734–48. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq213
- Engels EA. Epidemiology of thymoma and associated malignancies. J Thorac Oncol. (2010) 5(10 Suppl. 4):S260–5. doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3181f 1f62d
- Broadley J, Seneviratne U, Beech P, Buzzard K, Butzkueven H, O'Brien T, et al. Prognosticating autoimmune encephalitis: a systematic review. J Autoimmun. (2019) 96:24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2018. 10.014

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Gu, Zhong, He, Li, Huang, Liu, Chen and Xiao. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

